

Provided by the author(s) and University of Galway in accordance with publisher policies. Please cite the published version when available.

Title	Characterisation of triple negative breast carcinoma and identification of the value of immunohistochemical markers and stromal tumour infiltrating lymphocytes
Author(s)	Shalaby, Aliaa Adel Salah-Eldin Mahmoud
Publication Date	2017-10
Publisher	NUI Galway
Item record	http://hdl.handle.net/10379/7399

Downloaded 2024-05-14T18:04:11Z

Some rights reserved. For more information, please see the item record link above.



CHARACTERISATION OF TRIPLE NEGATIVE BREAST CARCINOMA AND IDENTIFICATION OF THE VALUE OF IMMUNOHISTOCHEMICAL MARKERS AND STROMAL TUMOUR INFILTRATING LYMPHOCYTES

Aliaa Adel Salah-Eldin Mahmoud Shalaby

Discipline of Pathology, School of Medicine National University of Ireland, Galway

A dissertation submitted to the National University of Ireland, Galway, in candidature for the degree of MD

> Supervisor: Professor Grace Callagy Head of School: Dr. Carmel Malone

> > October 2017

TABLE OF CONTENTS

CONTENTS	ii
ACKNOWLEDGMENTS	vi
PRESENTATIONS ARISING FROM THIS THESIS	viii
LIST OF FIGURES	xi
LIST OF TABLES	xiii
ABBREVIATIONS AND SYMBOLS	xvi
COMPANY ABBREVIATIONS	XX
ABSTRACT	XXII
1. INTRODUCTION	1
1.1. Breast cancer incidence/epidemiology	1
1.2. BC pathogenesis	1
1.3. Aetiology and risk factors	5
1.3.1. Genetic factors	5
BRCA1 and BRCA2	5
Other Genes	6
1.3.2. Multifactorial causes	7
1.4. Inflammation and cancer (tumour microenvironment)	8
1.4.1. Pro-tumourigenic effect of inflammation	8
1.4.2. Anti-tumourigenic effect of inflammation	11
1.4.3. Tumour-infiltrative lymphocytes	11
T-Lymphocytes	12
B-Lymphocytes	13
1.4.4. COX-2	15
Cyclooxygenase enzymes	15
Carcinogenic role of COX-2	16
COX-2 and BC	17
1.4.5. Nitric oxide synthease 2 (NOS2/1NOS)	20
1.5. Histo-morphological types	21
1.6. Grading	23
1.7. Staging & other prognostic factors	23
Nottingham Prognostic Index	24
1.8. Molecular Classification of BC	24
1.8.1. Luminal Subtypes	25
1.8.2. HER2 positive subtype	26
1.8.3. Normal Breast-like subtype	27
1.8.4. Basal-like subtype	27
1.9. INDU	20 20
1.9.1. Epidemiology and fisk factors	20 21
1.9.2. Unifical features of TNDC phenotype	21
Matanlastia brasst carainoma	22
Metaplastic ofeast caremonia Medullary careinoma	22
Apocrine carcinoma	33
Invasive lobular carcinoma	21
Saliyary gland-type neonlasms	2/
1.9.4 TNRC stratification and reconstruction	25
1.9.5. Prognostic markers in TNRC	<i>4</i> 0
	τu

1.9.5.1. Lymph node metastasis	40
1.9.5.2. Response to the NACT	41
1.9.5.3. TILs	41
1.9.5.4. Histological subtype	42
Other biomarkers	42
1.9.6. TNBC outcome	43
1.9.7. Treatment of TNBC	43
1.9.7.1. Systemic treatments	43
Chemotherapy	43
PARP inhibitors	44
AR inhibitors	44
EGFR inhibitors	45
VEGF inhibitors	45
mTOR inhibitors	45
1.9.7.2. Surgery	46
1.9.7.3. Radiotherapy	46
1.10. Roadmap of this thesis	47
1.10.1. Aims	47
1.10.2. Overview of approach	47
1.10.2.1. Construction of a TNBC database and TMA	47
1.10.2.2. Evaluation of the prognostic role of sTILs	
and other biomarkers in TNBC	47
1.10.2.3. Characterization of COX-2 and iNOS	
expression in BC	48
2. MATERIALS AND METHODS	49
2.1. Patient material	49
2.1.1. TNBC Series	49
2.1.1.1. Study cohort and database creation	49
2.1.1.2. Exclusion criteria	52
2.1.1.3. TMA construction	53
2.1.1.4. Validation of the TMA	55
2.1.1.5. Histological assessment of the tumour type,	
grade and sTILs	57
2.1.2. WOI BC database	58
2.1.2.1. WOI BC series	58
2.2. IHC	60
2.2.1. Staining	60
2.2.1.1. Staining of the TNBC TMA	60
2.2.1.2. COX-2 and iNOS Staining of the BC TMA	62
2.2.2. Evaluation of IHC	63
2.3. Fluorescence in situ hybridization (FISH) for HER2	65
2.4. Statistical analysis	66
3. CHARACTERISATION OF A TNBC SERIES AND EVALUATION	
OF PROGNOSTIC ROLE FOR HISTOPATHOLOGICAL AND	
IMMUNOHISTOCHEMICAL VARIABLES	67
3.1. Introduction	67
3.2. Characteristics of the TNBC series	67
	57

3.2.2. BRCA mutation status	70
3.2.3. Tumour size and nodal status	72
3.2.3.1. Tumour size and nodal status in chemotherapy	
naive cases	72
3.2.3.2. Tumour size and nodal status in post NACT	
cases (Response to NACT)	74
3 2 4 Tumour grade	78
3.2.5 Histopathological tumour type	78
3.2.5.1 Prognostic value of the histological subtype	81
3.2.5.2. Special histologic subtypes of TNBC	82
3.2.5.2.1 Medullary-like carcinoma	82
3 2 5 2 2 Basaloid carcinomas	84
3 3 Patient management	85
3 3 1 Surgical treatment	86
3.3.2. Management of the axilla	87
3 3 2 1 Diagnostic nodal assessment procedures	87
3 3 2 2 Sentinel node biopsy practice	90
3 3 3 Adiuvant Radiotherany	91
3 3 4 Chemotherapy	92
3 3 4 1 NACT	93
3 3 4 2 Nodal status in NACT treated cases	93
3.4 The outcome in the TNBC cohort	94
3.5. Expression of the biomarkers in TNBC	95
3.5.1. AR in TNBC	96
3.5.2. Basal status	102
3.5.3. Bcl-2	103
3.6. Summary	106
	100
4. THE ROLE OF STILS IN TNBC	108
4.1. Introduction	108
4.2. Study of stills in TNBC $(1, 2, 1, 2, 2, 3, 3, 4, 2, 3, 3, 4, 2, 3, 4, 3, 4, 3, 4, 3, 4, 3, 4, 3, 4, 3, 4, 3, 4, 4, 4, 4, 4, 4, 4, 4, 4, 4, 4, 4, 4,$	110
4.2.1. Characteristics of TNBC series for sTILs assessment 4.2.2. Evaluation of sTILs in the therapeutic resection of	110
1 NDU 4.2.2. Approximations between aTH - and methods in 11	115
4.2.5. Associations between sTILs and pathological variables	110
4.2.4. Associations between STILs and outcome	119
4.5. Comparison of stills in pre-NAC needle-core diopsies and	126
4.2.1. Correlation of aTH a propertions in pro-treatment	120
4.5.1. Contention of STILS proportions in pre-treatment	
resolution speciments	126
4.4 Discussion	120
4.4. DISCUSSION	120 120
4.4.1. Reported frequencies of sTILs in TNPC	130
4.4.2. Reported alinia anthological and prograstic	132
4.4.5. Reported childopathological and prognostic	132
4.4.4. Limitations of our study and future directions	138
5. CHARACTERIZATION OF COX-2 AND INOS EXPRESSION IN RC	147
	1-T <i>L</i>

IN BC

iv

5.1 Introduction	140
5.1. Introduction 5.2. Evolution of COV 2 and NOS ILIC in DC	142
5.2. Evaluation of COX-2 and INOS IFC In BC	143
5.2.1. Expression of COX-2 in BC	143
5.2.2. Associations between COX-2 expression and	1.45
pathological parameters in BC	145
5.2.3. Association between COX-2 and patient outcome in	
BC	149
5.2.4. Expression of iNOS in IBC	149
5.2.5. Association between iNOS and pathological parameters	5
in BC	150
5.2.6. Association between iNOS and patient outcome in BC	154
5.3. Discussion	154
5.3.1. COX-2 expression in BC	154
5.3.2. COX-2 and its relation to oestrogen in BC	156
5.3.3. COX-2 and its association with other biomarkers	
and the possible role in BC carcinogenesis	157
5.3.4. COX-2 and outcome in BC	158
5.3.5. iNOS in BC	159
5.3.6. Limitations of our study and future directions	161
6. SUMMARY AND PERSPECTIVE	162
7. REFERENCES	164
Appendix I	201
Appendix II	202
Appendix III	203
Appendix IV	204
Appendix V	205
Appendix VI	206
Appendix VII	207
Appendix VIII	208
Annendix IX	209
Appendix X	210
Annendix XI	211
Appendix XII	212
Appendix XIII	213
Annendix XIV	212
Annendiy XV	217
Annendiy XVI	215
Annendiv XVII	210
Annandiy VVIII	21/ 210
Арренціх лупп	210

Acknowledgements

ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

First and foremost I would like to express my appreciation and deepest respect to Prof. Grace Callagy, for giving me the opportunity to pursue this degree at the Discipline of Pathology, NUI Galway. I am very grateful for her tremendous help, generous supervision and care to accomplish this work that could not have been done without her support. Great thanks are also extended to my cosupervisor Dr. Helen Ingoldsby for her continuous encouragement and guidance.

I was fortunate to work alongside a fantastic friendly group of people at the Discipline of Pathology who helped in accomplishing this work and building an advantageous research resource that can be used in several future studies.

I am very grateful to Dr. Sharon Glynn for her valuable input and recommendations during the tissue microarray construction; providing the research ideas; and for making time to carry out statistical analysis for this thesis and explaining the findings. I am very thankful to my colleague and friend Dr. Elaine Walsh, who contributed hugely in constructing the database and provided the patients' clinical and follow-up data. It was a great pleasure to work with her for long hours, collecting the pathological data, discussing the database and exchanging research ideas. I would also like to acknowledge Mr. Mark Webber and Ms Nessa Keane, for their help in constructing the tissue arrays and manual immunostaining of histological slides. I would like to thank Terri Muldoon and Karen Scahill in the Department of Histopathology, Galway university hospital, who provided access to archival material and cut and automatically stained the histological slides. Drs. Helen Ingoldsby and Emer Caffrey gave me valuable advice on how to write a thesis. Laura Moran and Lorraine Murphy provided support and encouragement and many great chats.

I convey special acknowledgments for Dr. Laura Murillo, Dr. Celine Inderhaug, Mr. Mark Webber, Prof. Grace Callagy and Dr. Helen Ingoldsby who previously constructed the West of Ireland TMA series and database, that was used for evaluation of the COX-2 and iNOS.

I would like to acknowledge the funding from Breast Cancer Now.

In addition, I am also extremely grateful to Dr. Margaret Sheehan and Dr. Caroline Brodie for their continuous encouragement to finish this work.

Finally, I want to thank my family and my friends who helped me in various aspects to be able to accomplish this thesis in order to be awarded this degree. In particular my mother Prof. Shafika Zaki, my husband Dr. Wael Tawfick and my friends Dr. Abeer Shehata and Dr. Basma Salah who were very supporting throughout the stages of this research. Words are difficult to describe the love, help and support demonstrated by them in assisting me to complete this thesis. Not to miss my three lovely daughters who had provided a lot of laughs and filled my life with happiness and joy that gave me the power to achieve my goal.

This thesis is dedicated to the memory of my father; Prof. Adel Shalaby who had a great desire to see me awarded this degree. I miss you dad.

PRESENTATIONS ARISING FROM THIS THESIS

Publication Accepted

- Impact of iNOS inducible nitric oxide synthase (iNOS) expression on triple negative breast cancer outcome and activation of EGFR and ERK signaling pathways. Garrido P, Shalaby A, Walsh E, Keane N, Webber M, Keane M, Sullivan FJ, Kerin M, Callagy G, Ryan A, Glynn S. Oncotarget, 2017; 8: 80568-80588.
- Reproducibility and predictive value of scoring stromal tumour infiltrating lymphocytes in triple-negative breast cancer: a multi-institutional study. O'Loughlin M, Andreu X, Bianchi S, Chemielik E, Cordoba A, Cserni G, Figueiredo P, Floris G, Foschini MP, Heikkilä P, Kulka J, Liepniece-Karele IL, Regitnig P, Reiner A, Ryska A, Sapino A, Shalaby A, Stovgaard AS, Quinn C, Walsh EM, Zolota V, Glynn SA, Callagy G. Breast Cancer Res Treat; 2018, doi: 10.1007/s10549-018-4825-8.

Published abstract

- Triple negative breast carcinoma arising in Microglandular Adenosis (MGA). A. Shalaby, S. Phelan. Virchows Arch., 2016; 469 (Suppl1): S49.
- Stromal tumour lymphocyte infiltration as a prognostic tool in triple negative breast cancer. 29th European Congress of Pathology, Amsterdam, The Netherlands (September 2017). Aliaa Shalaby, Elaine Walsh, Sharon Glynn, Grace Callagy. Virchows Arch., 2017; 471 (Suppl1): S57.
- Association between stromal tumour lymphocyte infiltration in the needle core biopsies and paired post-neoadjuvant chemotherapy excisional resection specimens in triple negative breast cancer. 29th European Congress of Pathology, Amsterdam, The Netherlands (September 2017). Aliaa Shalaby, Sharon Glynn, Grace Callagy. Virchows Arch., 2017; 471 (Suppl1): S62.
- Stromal tumour lymphocyte infiltration as a prognostic marker in triple negative breast cancer. Breast Cancer Res Treat, 2018; 167:337.

Poster presentations

• Elevated cyclooxygenase (COX-2) expression correlates with low grade hormone-dependent breast cancer in Irish female. Postgraduate research day, NUIG, Galway, Republic of Ireland (May 2016). Aliaa Shalaby, Celine Inderhaug, Laura S. Murillo, Mark Webber, Helen Ingoldsby, Sharon Glynn, Grace Callagy.

• Triple negative breast carcinoma arising in Microglandular Adenosis (MGA). 28th European Congress of Pathology, Cologne, Germany, (September 2016). Aliaa Shalaby, Sine Phelan.

• The prognostic relevance of stromal tumour lymphocyte infiltration in triple negative breast cancer. 14th Annual Meeting of the Irish Society of Surgical Pathology, Wexford, Republic of Ireland (October 2016). Aliaa Shalaby, Elaine Walsh, Sharon Glynn, Grace Callagy.

• Reproducibility and prognostic importance of tumour infiltrating lymphocytes in triple negative breast cancers. 14th Annual Meeting of the Irish Society of Surgical Pathology, Wexford, Republic of Ireland (October 2016). Mark O'Loughlin, Katie de Jong, Rawan Elhelali, Aliaa Shalaby, Sharon Glynn, Grace Callagy.

• Assessment of the association of FOXP3 positive tumour infiltrating lymphocytes with therapeutic response in triple negative breast cancer. Third annual atlantic corridor medical student research conference, Galway, Republic of Ireland (November 2016). Rawan Elhelali, Sharon Glynn, Grace Callagy, Aliaa Shalaby, Mark Webber, Mark O'Loughlin, Katie de Jong.

• Stromal tumour lymphocyte infiltration as a prognostic tool in triple negative breast cancer. 29th European Congress of Pathology, Amsterdam, The Netherlands (September 2017). Aliaa Shalaby, Elaine Walsh, Sharon Glynn, Grace Callagy.

• Association between stromal tumour lymphocyte infiltration in the needle core biopsies and paired post-neoadjuvant chemotherapy excisional resection specimens in triple negative breast cancer. 29th European Congress of

Pathology, Amsterdam, The Netherlands (September 2017). Aliaa Shalaby, Sharon Glynn, Grace Callagy.

• Stromal tumour lymphocyte infiltration as a prognostic marker in triple negative breast cancer. UK Interdisciplinary breast cancer symposium 2018, Manchester, United Kingdom (January 2018). Aliaa Shalaby, Elaine Walsh, Sharon Glynn, Grace Callagy.

LIST OF FIGURES

Figure 1.1. Hierarchical relationship between stem cells and BC types	3
Figure 1.2. Different hypothesis for BC development	4
Figure 1.3. Pathways that connect inflammation and cancer	9
Figure 1.4. Pro- and anti-tumourigenic roles in T-cell lymphocytes	13
Figure 1.5. Pro- and anti-tumourigenic roles in B-cell lymphocytes	14
Figure 1.6. COX-2 and BC pathogenesis	17
Figure 1.7. COX-2/aromatase/oestrogen relationship	19
Figure 1.8. Initial molecular classification of BC	25
Figure 1.9. Classification of BC subtypes according to	29
immunohistochemical marker profile	
Figure 1.10. TNBC subtypes as identified by genomic profiling	38
Figure 2.1. Summary of the steps of TMA construction	54
Figure 2.2. Flow chart of TNBC cohort, and strategy for tumour	56
selection and exclusions	
Figure 3.1. Re-classification of tumour type	80
Figure 3.2. Distribution of histologic tumour types in the TNBC cohort	80
Figure 3.3. Kaplan Meier curve for DFS in TNBC according to the final	81
histological subtypes	
Figure 3.4. Kaplan Meier curve for OS in TNBC according to the final	82
histological subtypes	
Figure 3.5. The final therapeutic surgical procedures rates for the TNBC	86
cohort	
Figure 3.6. Diagnostic lymph node procedures across the years of the	89
study	
Figure 3.7. Management of cases with positive sentinel lymph nodes	91
Figure 3.8. Pattern of chemotherapy administration for the TNBC	92
Figure 3.9. Kaplan Meier curves for DFS, MFS and BCSS in TNBC	105
according to BCL-2 expression	
Figure 4.1. Distribution of cases according to four sTIL categories	114
Figure 4.2. Representative areas for lymphocyte-low TNBC and	114
lymphocyte-high TNBC	
Figure 4.3. Distribution and frequency of sTILs low (sTILs<25%) and	115
sTILs high (sTILs $\geq 25\%$)	
Figure 4.4. Kaplan Meier curves for DFS and OS in TNBC according	122
to sTILs four category groups	
Figure 4.5. Kaplan-Meier curves for DFS and OS in TNBC according to	124
the sTILs high (sTILs >25%)	
Figure 4.6. Kaplan-Meier curves for DFS and OS in TNBC according to	125
the sTILs predominance (sTILs >50%)	
Figure 4.7. Parallel boxplots of sTILs counts in biopsy and resection	127
samples	

Figure 4.8. Differences in paired biopsy and resection sTILs	128
percentages	
Figure 5.1. COX-2 cytoplasmic staining in BC	144
Figure 5.2. COX-2 expression in BC	144
Figure 5.3. iNOS expression in BC	149
Figure A.9. Kaplan-Meier curves for DFS and OS in TNBC four	209
subtype	
Figure A.15. Kaplan-Meier curves for DFS in BC according to COX-2 expression	215
Figure A.16. Kaplan-Meier curves for OS in BC according to COX-2 expression	216
Figure A.17. Kaplan-Meier curves for DFS in BC according to iNOS expression	217
Figure A.18. Kaplan-Meier curves for OS in BC according to iNOS expression	218

LIST OF TABLES

Table 1.1. Characteristics of Basal-like and Claudin-low BC subtypes	36
Table 1.2. Characteristics of the TNBC subtypes	37
Table 2.1. Number of tumour cores on each TMA	55
Table 2.2. Clinico-pathological features of the WOI BC series	58
Table 2.3. Primary (routine) antibodies: sources and optimization protocol	61
Table 2.4. Primary (novel) antibodies: sources and optimization protocols	63
Table 3.1. Demographics, TNM stage and outcome of the TNBC cohort	68
Table 3.2. Pathological characteristics for the TNBC tumours	71
Table 3.3. Univariate analysis of the association between tumour size and nodal status with DFS in TNBC patients not treated with NACT	73
Table 3.4. Multivariate survival analysis for TNBC patients not treated with NACT	74
Table 3.5. Univariate analysis of the association between tumour sizepost-NACT and outcome	75
Table.3.6. Univariate analysis of the association between nodal status post-NACT and outcome	76
Table 3.7. Univariate and multivariate survival analysis in NACT patients	77
Table 3.8. Treatment plans for the TNBC series	85
Table 3.9. Diagnostic nodal assessment procedures	88
Table 3.10. Expression of biomarkers in TNBC series	95
Table 3.11. Association between AR expression and clinicopathological features in TNBC	97
Table 3.12. Reports of associations between AR expression and clinicopathological parameters and outcome in TNBC.	100
Table 3.13. Univariate and multivariate analysis of association of Bcl-2with survival	104
Table 4.1. Characteristics of TNBC series for sTILs assessment	111
Table 4.2. Pathological characteristics of the TNBC series for sTILs assessment	112
Table 4.3. Distribution and frequency of LPBC	115
Table 4.4. Association between sTILs high and tumour variables in TNBC	117
Table 4.5. Association between LPBC and tumour variables in TNBC	118
Table 4.6. Univariate and multivariate analysis of association of sTILs (per 10% increase) with DFS and OS	120

Table 4.7. Univariate and multivariate analysis of association of sTILs	121	
Table 4.8. Multivariate analysis of association of sTILs high (sTILs <25%) with DFS and OS	123	
Table 4.9. Multivariate analysis of the association of LPBC (sTILs >50%) with DFS and OS	125	
Table 4.10. Reports of association between sTILs (on H&E) and outcome in TNBC	136	
Table 5.1. Association between COX-2 and tumour variables in BC	145	
Table 5.2. Association between COX-2 and other biomarkers in BC	147	
Table 5.3. Association between COX-2 and tumour variables in ER- negative BC	148	
Table 5.4. Association between iNOS and tumour variables in BC	150	
Table 5.5. Association between iNOS and other biomarkers in BC	151	
Table 5.6. Association between iNOS and tumour variables in ER- negative BC	152	
Table 5.7. Association between iNOS expression and tumour variables in ER-nositive BC		
Table 5.8. Reports of associations between COX-2 IHC expression and clinicopathological parameters and outcome in BC	155	
Table A.1. Summary of the TNM staging system (7 th edition)	201	
Table A.2. Source and dilution of the antibodies used and the biomarker	202	
profile of the WOI BC series Table A.3.1. Univariate analysis of association between tumour grade		
and survival in TNBC	• • •	
Table A.3.2. Univariate analysis of association between tumour tubule	203	
Table A.4. Follow-up of cases who had positive result on diagnostic	204	
Table A.5. Association between EGFR expression and	205	
clinicopathological features in TNBC		
TableA.6.AssociationbetweenCK5/6expressionand	206	
clinicopathological features in TNBC	2 0 7	
Table A.7. Association between CK14 expression and	207	
Table A.8.1. Univariate analysis of association between EGFR	208	
Table A 8.2 Univariate analysis of association between biomarkers	208	
expression with BCSS in TNBC	200	
Table A.9. Univariate analysis of the association between the four TNBC	209	
Table A 10 Association between Bcl-2 expression and	210	
clinicopathological features in TNBC		

Table A.11. Association between p53 expression and clinicopathological211features in TNBC

Table A.12. Associations between sTILs high and biomarkers in TNBC212

Table A.13. Associations between sTILs LPBC and biomarkers in TNBC 213

Table A.14. Association between COX-2 and tumour variables in ER- 214 positive BC

ABBREVIATIONS AND SYMBOLS

ACC	adenoid cystic carcinoma
ADH	atypical ductal hyperplasia
ALH	atypical lobular hyperplasia
AR	androgen receptor
ATM	ataxia-telangiectasia mutated
bACC	breast-derived adenoid cystic carcinoma
BC	breast cancer
Bcl-2	B cell lymphoma 2 protein
BCL-2	B cell lymphoma 2 gene
BCSC	breast cancer stem cells
BCSS	Breast cancer specific survival
BL1, BL2	basal-like 1, 2
BLIA	basal-like immune-activated
BLIS	basal-like immunosuppressed
BMI	body mass index
BRCA 1, 2	breast cancer gene 1, 2
BRIP1	BRCA1-interacting protein 1
CCC	columnar cell change
ССН	columnar cell hyperplasia
CDH1	cadherin-1
cILC	classical invasive lobular carcinoma
CK 5/6, 7, 8, 14, 18, 19	cytokeratin 5/6, 7, 8, 14, 18, 19
cLCIS	classical lobular carcinoma in situ
cNOS	constitutive NOSs
COX-2	cyclooxygenase-2
DC	dendritic cell
DCIS	ductal carcinoma in situ
DFS	disease-free survival
EGFR	epidermal growth factor
eNOS/NOS3	endothelial nitric oxide synthase
ER	oestrogen receptor
FEA	flat epithelial atypia

FFPE	formalin fixed paraffin embedded
GUH	Galway University Hospital
Н&Е	haematoxylin and eosin
HER-2	human epidermal growth factor receptor 2
HG	high grade
HIF1a	hypoxia-inducible factor 1α
HR	hazard ratio
IARC	International Agency for Research on Cancer
IDC	invasive ductal carcinoma
IDC-NST	invasive ductal carcinoma of no special type
IFNβ	interferon beta
IHC	immunohistochemistry
IL-2, 10	Interleukin-2, 10
ILC	invasive lobular carcinoma
IM	immunomodulatory
iNOS, NOS2	inducible nitric oxide synthase
IPC	invasive papillary carcinoma
LAR	luminal AR
LCIS	lobular carcinoma in situ
LG	low grade
LN	lobular neoplasia
М	mesenchymal
M1, 2	type 1, 2 macrophage
MFS	metastases free survival
MGA	microglandular adenosis
MMP/s	matrix metalloproteinase/s
MSL	mesenchymal stem-like
mTOR	mammalian target of rapamycin
MYC	myelocytomatosis gene
NACT	neoadjuvant chemotherapy
NCB	needle-core biopsies
NF-ĸB	nuclear factor kappa-light-chain-enhancer
nNOS, NOS1	neuronal nitric oxide synthase

NO	nitric oxide
NOS	nitric oxide synthase family
NPI	Nottingham Prognostic Index
NSAID	non-steroidal anti-inflammatory drug
NUIG	National University of Ireland, Galway
OS	overall survival
P53	protein 53
PALB2	partner and localizer of BRCA2
PARP	poly (ADP-ribose) polymerase
pCR	pathologic complete response
PDGF	platelet-derived growth factor
PGE2	prostaglandin E2
PgR	progesterone receptor protein
PI3K	Phosphatidylinositol 3-kinase
pILC	pleomorphic invasive lobular carcinoma
pLCIS	pleomorphic lobular carcinoma in situ.
pN	nodal stage
PTEN	Phosphatase and tensin homologue
RCSI	Royal College of Surgeons of Ireland
RNS	reactive nitrogen species
ROS	reactive oxygen species
SC FNAC	supraclavicular fine needle aspiration cytology
sTILs	stromal tumour infiltrative lymphocytes
STAT3	signal transducer and activator of transcription 3
SLN excision	sentinel lymph node excision
SLNB	sentinel lymph node excisional biopsy
TGF-β	transforming growth factor beta
THE	therapeutic resections
Th1	T helper 1 cells
TILs	tumour infiltrative lymphocytes
TMA	tissue microarray
TN	triple negative
TNBC	triple negative invasive breast cancer

VEGF	vascular endothelial growth factor
WHO	World Health Organization
WOI BC	west of Ireland breast cancer

COMPANY ABBREVIATIONS

Abcam plc,		
330, Cambridge, CB4 OFL, UK.		
BD Transduction Laboratories,		
BD Biosciences, The Danby Building,		
Edmund Halley Rd.,		
Oxford Science Pk., OX4 4DQ Oxford, UK		
BioGenex Life Sciences Pvt Ltd		
49026 Milmont Drive		
Fremont, CA 94538, California, USA		
Cayman Chemical		
1180 East Ellsworth Road		
Ann Arbor, Michigan 48108 USA		
Dako Ltd., 16, Manor Courtyard, Hughenden		
Ave., High Wycombe, HP13 5RE, UK.		
Leica Microsystems, Pamaron House, Ballybin		
Rd., Ashbourne, Ireland.		
Lab Vision Products,		
Thermo Fisher Scientific, 46360, Fremont		
Blvd., Fremont, California 94538, USA.		
Novocastra, Leica Biosystems Newcastle Ltd.,		
Balliol Business Park West, Benton Lane,		
Newcastle Upon Tyne NE12 8EW, UK		
Kingdom.		

Roche	Roche Ireland Ltd., Clarecastle, Co. Clare,		
	Ireland.		
Santa Cruz	Santa Cruz Biotechnology, Inc. 2145,		
	Delaware Ave., Santa Cruz, California 95060,		
	USA.		
Thermo Scientific	Thermo Scientific, Gerhard Menzel GmbH,		
	Saarbrückener Str. 248, D-38116		
	Braunschweig, Deutschland.		
Zymed/Fisher Scientific	Zymed Laboratories, Inc. 561 Eccles Avenue		
	South San Francisco, California 94080, USA.		

ABSTRACT

Breast cancer is a complex disease that encompasses multiple molecular subtypes that have different clinical behavior. The behavior can be influenced by both the characteristics of the cancer cells as well as the surrounding microenvironment. Triple negative breast cancer (TNBC), is a breast cancer subgroup with important clinical implications, as its treatment remains problematic despite the recent advances in cancer therapy. The pathological, molecular and clinical diversity within this subgroup has hindered standardization of a targeted therapy and prognostication of its outcome as an entire group. Therefore, the aim of this work is to review and characterize TNBCs diagnosed and managed in Galway University Hospital over a 15 year period with reference to outcome, clinicopathological features and candidate markers with a view to identify any determinants of outcome.

A database of 355 TNBC patients managed at Galway University Hospital was constructed with detailed clinicopathological and outcome data. After a follow up of 42 months, 22% of patients experienced a recurrence of disease and 21% died from their disease. Only the traditional parameters of nodal status and tumour size were independent predictors of disease free, metastases free and breast cancer specific survival. In patients treated with neoadjuvant chemotherapy, a complete pathological response (pCR) was an independent predictor of outcome. Tumour type, tumour grade, age at diagnosis, breast cancer gene (BRCA) mutation status, basal status, androgen receptor status and other markers were not independent predictors of any outcome endpoint. Only B cell lymphoma-2 (Bcl-2) showed a potential independent prognostic role for metastases free and breast cancer specific survival; TNBC tumours with high expression of Bcl-2 were associated with longer survival rates on univariate and multivariate analysis, but not with nodal status or tumour size were included in the model.

A detailed evaluation of stromal tumour infiltrating lymphocytes (sTILs) was performed. sTILs was an independent predictor of disease free survival (DFS) and overall survival (OS) on univariate and multivariate analysis. The strongest

xxii

association with outcome was observed when sTILs was tested in 10% increments and was dichotomized with a cut-off of 25%.

The expression of two inflammation associated enzymes, cyclooxygenase-2 (COX-2) and inducible nitric oxide synthase (iNOS), was evaluated in a consecutive series of invasive breast cancers that included hormone receptor positive and negative tumours. Expression of COX-2 and iNOS was associated with well-differentiated tumours and with oestrogen and progesterone receptors positivity but not with outcome either in the entire series or in the hormone receptor positive or negative groups.

TNBC is a biologically diverse group of cancers with poor outcomes. Traditional parameters of nodal status, tumour size and pCR, where neoadjuvant chemotherapy (NACT) has been given, are independent determinants of outcome. This work highlights a potential independent prognostic role for sTILs in TNBCs. Further work is required to validate sTILs as a robust biomarker for prognostication of TNBC.

1. INTRODUCTION

1.1. Breast cancer incidence / epidemiology

The breast is the most frequent non-cutaneous site diagnosed with primary malignant neoplasm among females worldwide. Approximately 1.68 million breast cancer (BC) cases were diagnosed in 2012 globally. Of all new cancers diagnosed among females, one in every four women suffers from BC.¹ Similar to the global trend, the incidence rates of BC among European and American females are superior to any other cancer.² The highest frequency of BC among European countries was recorded in Belgium (148/100,000 women), while the lowest frequency was recorded in Bosnia. With identical incidence rates, Ireland and Germany rank the seventh highest in Europe (122/100,000 women).³ Approximately 3000 Irish women are diagnosed with invasive breast carcinoma annually.⁴ Despite the introduction of breast screening programs in many countries including Ireland, BC remains the second most frequent cause of cancer-related deaths in women worldwide and in Ireland, following lung cancer. In 2012, it was responsible for the death of 521,900 women worldwide and 690 Irish women.^{1,4}

1.2. BC pathogenesis

BC is a complex and heterogeneous disease that retains various differences regarding its histological and molecular features. These variables can be used as predictors and/or prognostic indicators,⁵ while a number of variables also reflect the cell of origin of the BC.⁶ The mammary gland is made up of a mixture of epithelial and mesenchymal tissue with different proportions influenced by personal differences, age and hormonal factors. The mesenchymal component is formed from the interlobular stroma constituted from fibrovascular and fatty tissue, while the epithelial components form the main functional unit of the breast defined as the terminal ducto-lobular unit, lined by two layers of cells. The inner luminal layer comprises of ductal or lobular cells resting on a layer of basal/myoepithelial cells.⁷

The cell layer populations can be recognized by their location, immunophenotype, and global gene expression profile.^{8, 9} The luminal cells and the luminal cancer tumours express the oestrogen receptor (ER) protein, along with low molecular

Introduction

weight cytokeratins (CKs), CK7, CK8, CK18 and CK19, the progesterone receptor protein (PgR), and other ER-induced genes. The resting layer of basal/myoepithelial cells is named as such for displaying features of epithelial and smooth muscle cells simultaneously.¹⁰ The myoepithelial cells have distinct transcriptomes,¹¹ and proteomes,¹² when compared with the luminal layer of cells. and express high molecular weight CKs including CK 5/6 and CK14, in addition to other markers such as alpha-smooth muscle actin which is related to the myoid apparatus.^{8,9} Although BCs that express basal CKs have been named as such, their actual cell-of-origin is still debatable. Some authors suggest that they arise from the basal/myoepithelial cells^{13, 14} while others indicate that BC is driven by cells that exhibit stem cell properties, such as in BC stem cells (BCSC). These cells can occur in multiple states, both epithelial and mesenchymal. The epithelial-like state is associated with expression of epithelial markers, establishment of cell polarity, and extensive proliferation. The mesenchymal-like state is associated with expression of mesenchymal markers, a state of cell dormancy, and a capacity to be highly invasive.¹⁵

Significant differences between the BC cells are noted. Heterogeneity within populations of tumour cells can be explained using two models: the clonal evolution model and the hierarchical model. In the former model, arbitrary mutations produce subpopulations, allowing particular subpopulations to be more invasive.^{16, 17} Figure 1.1. shows the hierarchical relationship between stem cells and BC types. The self-repeating BCSC, the mammary stem cell, gives rise to a common progenitor. This progenitor then follows a structure to each cell subtype, either luminal or basal. The quantity of the cell types in the mammary gland dictates the frequency of the BC subtypes.



Figure 1.1. Hierarchical relationship between stem cells and BC types (adapted from Lim et al.¹⁷)

Various hypotheses have been proposed with regard to the evolution of BC. Previously, the standard model of step-wise tumour initiation and progression due to sequential accumulation of genetic mutations was adopted in BC,¹⁸ similar to that described in other types of cancer.¹⁹ In the breast, this was represented by epithelial hyperplasia, atypical hyperplasia, in-situ carcinoma and invasive carcinoma in successive sequence.¹⁸ There is a general consensus that the aggressiveness of the invasive BC corresponds to the grade of the pre-invasive lesion only, with differing carcinogenesis pathways experienced by low-grade and high grade tumours.²⁰⁻²² Some authors still debate that a proportion of lower-grade breast tumours can progress and de-differentiate into higher grade types.²³⁻²⁵ Figure 1.2. illustrates the two above hypotheses.



В		Precursor lesions	In situ carcinoma	Invasive BC histologic type	Invasive BC molecular subtype
	Oestrogen stimulation 16q loss 1q gain CDH1 loss	ADH FEA ALH	LG DCIS LN	Ductal, grade 1 Tubular Mucinous Lobular	Luminal A
		→		→	
Normal tissue	HER-2 gene amplification 11q13 amplification		Pleomorphic LCIS IG DCIS	Pleomorphic lobular Apocrine Ductal, grade 2	Luminal B
		→		→	
	17q12 amplification BRCA 1	17q12 mplification BRCA 1 Duc	Ductal, grade 3	HER-2 enriched	
	dysfunction PTEN		HG DCIS Medullar Metaplas	Medullary Metaplastic	Basal-like
	mutations P13K, p53				Claudin-low

Figure 1.2. Different hypothesis for BC development (A adapted from Bombonati²⁵, B adapted from Masuda²²) BC: breast cancer; CDH1: cadherin-1; ADH: atypical ductal hyperplasia: FEA: flat epithelial atypia; ALH: atypical lobular hyperplasia; DCIS: ductal carcinoma in situ (LG- low grade, HG- high grade); LN: lobular neoplasia; HER-2: human epidermal growth factor receptor 2; LCIS: lobular carcinoma in situ; PTEN: phosphatase and tensin homolog; CCC: columnar cell change; CCH: columnar cell hyperplasia; cILC: classical invasive lobular carcinoma; cLCIS: classical lobular carcinoma in situ; IDC: invasive ductal carcinoma; pLCIS: pleomorphic lobular carcinoma in situ

Introduction

1.3. Aetiology and risk factors

1.3.1. Genetic factors

BC, similar to other tumours, is a polygenic disorder caused by an accumulation of genetic alterations (mutations) with subsequent activation of oncogenes, incapacitation of tumour suppressor genes and/or deregulation of DNA repair genes or cell-cycle genes.^{26, 27} These genetic mutations can occur at any level and can be either inherited or acquired (sporadic) after exposure to causative factors.²⁶ Inherited BC with germline mutation is suspected to be responsible for up to a quarter of BC cases,²⁸ although the inherited susceptibility genes breast cancer 1 (BRCA1) and 2 (BRCA2) are identified in 10% of BC cases.²⁹

BRCA1 and BRCA2

BRCA1 and BRCA2 account for 80% of highly invasive hereditary BC.³⁰ Families with mutations in both the BRCA1 and BRCA2 genes have an increased risk of BC of 85% over their lifetime.^{30, 31} According to the National Comprehensive Cancer Network, to merit further examination, particular features must be present in the familial history: early-age-onset (<50 years) including both invasive or insitu BC; two breast primaries or breast and ovarian/fallopian tube/primary peritoneal cancer in a single individual, or two or more breast primaries or breast and ovarian/fallopian tube/primary peritoneal cancers in close (first-, second-, and third-degree) relative(s).³²

BRCA1-type tumours often display poor differentiation histologically and frequently exhibit the features of the medullary subtype.³³ Moreover, there is an increased probability of BRCA1 type tumours being ER-negative, PgR-negative, and a decreased probability that they display human epidermal growth factor receptor 2 (HER-2)/neu overexpression. Therefore, they are categorized as triple-negative (TN).³⁴ Moreover, studies indicate that BRCA1 BCs are more likely to originate from the basal epithelial layer of the mammary gland and thus usually stain positive for CK5/6.^{35, 36} In patients with versus patients without a BRCA1 mutation, a number of similarities exist with regard to morphology, immunophenotype and molecular makeup.³³ Contrastingly, there is a dearth of published data with regard to BRCA2 tumours; however they do not seem to

display a distinctive histopathology and may appear as sporadic BC. BRCA2 mutated BCs are often associated with ER-positive tumours.^{37, 38}

BRCA1 is located on the long arm of Chromosome 17 at 17q21.^{39, 40} BRCA1 is involved in a number of cellular pathways, including cell cycle regulatory checking gene transcription regulation and DNA damage repair.^{39, 40} Studies indicated that BRCA1 and p53 together maintain genomic integrity. The loss of this function during BRCA1 dysfunction or p53 mutation, allows other abnormalities to manifest as cancer growth. The dysfunction of BRCA1 results in missing or non-functional proteins, which translates into defects in DNA repair, dysregulation of the cell cycle checkpoints and chromosome damage.^{41, 42}

BRCA2 is located on the long arm of the Chromosome 13 at 13q12.3 and contains 27 coding exons. As mentioned, BRCA2 does not seem to display a distinctive histopathology, however does share a number of functional similarities to BRCA1. Similar to BRCA1, BRCA2 maintains genomic integrity.⁴³ BRCA2 appears to be involved in the DNA repair process; therefore cells lacking BRCA2 are unable to repair the DNA breaks.⁴² Previous studies show that lobular carcinoma, tubular carcinomas and pleomorphic lobular carcinomas are associated with BRCA2.⁴⁴⁻⁴⁶ However, larger cohort studies have not supported this finding.^{47, 48}

Other Genes

Other genes have also been proven to be associated with inherited BC such as p53, phosphatase and tensin homolog (PTEN), ataxia-telangiectasia mutated (ATM), BRCA1-interacting protein 1 (BRIP1), partner and localizer of BRCA2 (PALB2) and many others. These genes show different penetrance levels.^{49, 50} The presence of inheritable faulty genes of those stated above is typically associated with a strong family history of BC or vice-versa. The relative risk of BC is almost doubled in women who have a first-degree relative affected with BC, and tripled if the relative was diagnosed prior to menopause with unilateral disease. The relative risk of BC increases nine-fold if the relative was diagnosed premenopausal with bilateral BC.⁵¹

Many other genes are involved in tumourigenesis of sporadic BC, in addition to

those involved with inherited BC. For instance, the amplification of genes such as HER-2, myelocytomatosis (MYC), and cyclin D1 have been well documented.²⁶ The p53 gene is a type of tumour suppressor protein, and is located on the short arm of chromosome 17.⁵² As a tumour suppressor, it is involved in cell cycle regulation. Additionally, it provokes apoptosis or autophagy when unrepairable cell damage is existent.^{26, 53} Inherited mutated p53 leads to a rare cancer predisposition syndrome/disorder associated with the development of several types of neoplasms and named 'Li-Fraumeni syndrome'.⁵⁴ Nearly one in every two affected women with this syndrome will develop BC by the age of 60.⁵² p53 mutations are more common in high-grade, large-size, node-positive cases and in both ER-negative and PgR-negative tumours,⁵⁵ and HER-2-positive tumours.⁵²

1.3.2. Multifactorial causes

Previous studies have proven that various risk factors are associated with increased incidence for development of BC, such as advanced age, excessive or prolonged exposure to oestrogens, reduced parity and exposure to ionising radiation.^{5, 57, 58} Behavioural and lifestyle factors exemplified in diet, body mass index (BMI), physical inactivity, alcohol intake and smoking have also been suggested to be modifiable risk factors for BC.^{59, 60} Postmenopausal diabetic women with a higher body weight are at an increased BC risk.⁶⁰ After menopause, oestrogen biosynthesis occurs via enzymatic conversion of androstenedione, and occurs mainly in adipose tissue. Dietary-induced chronic inflammation in breast adipose tissue in obese women associated with the elevated aromatase activity and greater production of oestrogen, increase the BC risk.^{61, 62}

Other reports have also indicated that the presence of certain benign epithelial proliferative and non-proliferative lesions within the breast is an additional predisposing factor for developing BC with variable degrees of risk.^{58, 63} Previous studies demonstrated that women with a proliferative benign condition, including usual epithelial hyperplasia and radial scar, have a 1.5-1.9 fold increased risk of BC, while women with atypical hyperplasia (lobular or ductal) have a relative risk of 4-6 fold increase of developing BC.⁶³⁻⁶⁶ Interestingly, several studies

documented that microglandular adenosis (MGA), a rare benign glandular lesion, is associated with invasive carcinoma, specifically of the TN phenotype.⁶⁶⁻⁶⁸

1.4. Inflammation and cancer (tumour microenvironment)

Tumour development and subsequent progression depends on both the genes that control cell proliferation, and non-tumour cells surrounding the tumour called the tumour microenvironment.^{69, 70} Inflammation occurs in response to a site of infection or injury. At this site inflammatory mediators are released such as growth factors, cytokines, reactive nitrogen species (RNS), and reactive oxygen species (ROS).^{71, 72} Numerous studies have noted a correlation between specific cancers and chronic inflammation, resulting from infectious agents or inflammatory conditions. This observation was first hypothesised by Rudolf Virchow in the mid-19th century,^{73, 74} but only recently researchers provided a scientific basis to this theory.⁷⁴ An inflammatory process has been observed as a causative factor in up to 25% of cancers worldwide.⁷⁵ This has been proven in colon cancer caused by long-term ulcerative colitis,⁷⁶ and hepatocellular carcinoma caused by viral hepatitis.⁷⁷ Contrariwise, generation of tumour cell derived antigens aids in stimulation of the natural killer (NK) cells and the cytotoxic T-cells to attack the tumour cells.^{78, 79, 71} Currently, there is an agreement that the inflammatory microenvironment can play pro-tumourigenic and antitumourigenic roles.

1.4.1. Pro-tumourigenic effect of inflammation

Inflammation and cancer are linked by two pathways (Figure 1.3.): an extrinsic pathway driven by inflammatory conditions, and an intrinsic pathway driven by oncogenes.⁷⁴



Figure 1.3. Pathways that connect inflammation and cancer (adapted from Mantovani et al.⁷⁴)

Both the extrinsic and intrinsic pathways result in transcription factor activation i.e., nuclear factor- κ B (NF- κ B), signal transducer and activator of transcription 3 (STAT3) and hypoxia-inducible factor 1 α (HIF1 α) in tumour cells. These factors regulate pro-inflammatory factors in tumour cells, such as prostaglandins, chemokines, and cytokines. Pro-inflammatory factors also activate transcription factors (NF- κ B, STAT3, HIF1 α) in cells of the tumour microenvironment (stromal cells, leucocytes and tumour cells) that will result in increased pro-inflammatory signalling. In BC, the NF- κ B pathway has been shown to promote the invasion of BC cells by regulating the expression of matrix metalloproteinases.⁸⁰ Cross-talk between the ER and NF- κ B, which is regulated by estradiol and the inflammatory cytokine TNF- α , stimulates BC cells to become aggressive, and ER-positive but antioestrogen-resistant, with activation of NF- κ B and a susceptibility for distant metastasis.⁸¹ NF- κ B regulates immune cell function and promotes inflammation, expressing cytokines, chemokines, and their receptors, and inhibits cell death by stimulating the transcription of antiapoptotic genes.⁸² NF- κ B may also cause cell cycle arrest. In normal epidermal cells, NF- κ B and oncogenic Ras trigger cell cycle arrest, whereas inhibition of NF- κ B results in malignant alterations in normal cells.⁸³

Within the tumour microenvironment different types of inflammatory and immune cells are present including neutrophils, macrophages and T cells.^{71, 84, 85} Neutrophils show pro-tumoural activity by releasing ROS and RNS, induce genetic instability, and promote angiogenesis.^{71, 84} There are two types of macrophages that differentiate from monocytes, through activation by different stimuli.⁸⁵ Type 2 macrophages (M2) contribute to tumour progression and growth by releasing chemokines, cytokines, growth and transcriptional factors such as Vascular endothelial growth factor (VEGF), platelet-derived growth factor (PDGF) and interferon beta.⁷¹ VEGFs, interleukin-8, and cyclooxygenase-2 (COX-2), among others, promote angiogenesis and hence support the tumour vascularity.⁸⁶

Different functional and phenotypical types of T-cells are detailed in the literature. Among these, T regulatory cells (CD4⁺ CD25⁺ T_{reg} cells) which promote immunosuppression through effector elements such as Interleukin-10 (IL-10), transforming growth factor beta (TGF- β), prostaglandin E2 (PGE2) and others promote immunosuppression via T_{reg} cells.^{87, 88}

Chronic inflammation can occur in adipose tissue in the breast, with augmented production of cytokine by associated macrophages.^{89, 90} Chronic inflammatory conditions can be subtle in the breast but commonly associated with obesity and diabetes. Also systemic inflammatory conditions can influence the microenvironment within the breast by increasing cytokine production.⁹¹

10

1.4.2. Anti-tumourigenic effect of inflammation

Conversely, inflammation may also be antitumourigenic. Previous studies have shown that nod-like receptor inflammasomes aid resistance to colon and colorectal cancer development.^{92, 93} APR-associated neutrophilia may also be antitumourigenic and anti-metastatic, where neutrophils generate tumour cell derived antigens, influence dendritic cell (DC) maturation, and secrete alarmins, cytokines, and chemokines.^{78, 79} Type 1 macrophages (M1) assist in the war against the tumour mainly through production of IL-12 which in turn stimulates the NK cells and the cytotoxic T-cells.⁷¹

Tumour-promoting inflammation and antitumour immunity can exist concomitantly during tumour progression.^{94, 95} Endoplasmic reticulum stressinduced inflammation influences tumour-promoting cytokine production.^{94, 95} However, other processes activated by endoplasmic reticulum stress may have a greater influence on antitumour immunity. ROS and endoplasmic reticulum stress together can reinforce antitumour immunity via immunogenic apoptosis induction in the cancer cells. However apoptosis may become inflammatory if there is a delayed clearance of apoptotic cells.⁹⁶⁻⁹⁸ The type of inflammation produced i.e. cancer-provoking or cancer-preventing is dependent upon the target cell type, the stage of the disease and the type of endoplasmic reticulum stressor.

1.4.3. Tumour-infiltrating lymphocytes

The tumour microenvironment consists of both pro-tumourigenic and immunosuppressive abilities, which provide tumour cell survival, proliferation, and a simultaneous hostile environment for immune cells. Antitumour activity is encouraged via cytotoxic T cells (such as CD8+ T cells), CD4⁺ T helper 1 (Th1) cells, NK cells, M1 macrophages, and dendritic cells while M2 macrophages and T_{reg} cells (CD4⁺ forkhead box P3 (FOXP3⁺)), CD4⁺ Th2 cells and myeloid-derived suppressor cells suppress antitumour activity.^{99, 100} Therapies that augment immune cell activity strengthen antitumour reaction or prevent inhibitory activity. The effect these therapies have via immune cell penetration has a prognostic indicator,¹⁰¹ such as measuring various types of tumour infiltrating lymphocytes (TILs).^{101, 102} TILs are present either within the stroma (stromal TILs: sTILs) or

within the tumour cell islets (intratumoural TILs: iTILs).¹⁰³ It is important to note that TILs include all mononuclear inflammatory cells and are not exclusively restricted to lymphocytes. The major components (75%) of TILs are T lymphocytes, either CD4+ or CD8+ or NK cells, with smaller percentages of B lymphocytes and monocytes.¹⁰⁴⁻¹⁰⁶ In general, compared to normal breast tissue, DCIS and invasive BC show higher levels of lymphocytes. This was highlighted in a study by DeNardo et al. using CD45 staining.⁸⁸ Recent studies suggest that the different molecular subtypes of BC have different quantities and types of TILs.¹⁰⁷⁻¹⁰⁹ Moreover, the percentage of TILs has been proposed to reflect an association with the outcome for BC patients. This prognostic importance has been reported for patients with triple negative BC (TNBC)¹¹⁰ and HER-2-positive tumours.¹¹¹ Moreover, a predictive role for neoadjuvant chemotherapy (NACT) has been linked to the existence of TILs in preoperative BC biopsies. This has been validated by Denkert et al. in their study of 1,058 specimens.¹¹²

T-Lymphocytes

In the thymus, T cells mature and differentiate to express either CD4 or CD8 glycoprotein on their surface, and are hence named CD8+ and CD4+ T cells. CD4+ T cells comprise different subsets with opposing functions and cytokine profiles: including Th1, Th2, T_{reg} and others. Naïve CD4+ cells differentiate into Th1 upon immunogenic stimulation by IL-12 and IFN- $\gamma^{113, 114}$ which in turn augment the anti-tumourigenic environment by activation of M1 macrophages, NK and CD8+ cells.⁷¹ On the contrary, Th2 cells which emerge under the effect of IL-4 on the naïve CD4+ cell,^{113,114} subdue the cytotoxic CD8+ cells through IL-4, IL-10 and IL-13 hence diminishing the antitumour response.⁸⁸ Furthermore, T_{reg} are also generated from the immature CD4+ cells when stimulated by TGF-B and IL-2.¹¹³ In addition to expression of CD4 on the T_{reg} cells surface, they also express CD25, CTLA4 and FOXP3. They attain immunosuppressive characteristics through the existence of the transcription factor FOXP3, and secretion of various substances including IL-10, IL-35 and TGF-B. Of interest, direct cellular interaction through ligation of CTLA4 molecule on the surface of Treg, CD86 and CD80 on the dendritic cells (DC) leads to cessation of the maturation of the DC.^{115, 116, 117} The diverse activities of various types of T-
lymphocytes are illustrated in Figure 1.4. Studies show that a build-up of TILs, particularly T_{reg} cells, is associated with progressive tumour growth and a subsequent poor prognosis,¹¹⁸ while those characterized by cytotoxic T cells can improve prognosis.¹⁰⁰



Figure 1.4. Pro- and anti-tumourigenic roles in T-cell lymphocytes (adapted from Sharma et al.¹⁰⁰)

B-Lymphocytes

The role of B-lymphocytes is still debatable as well as changeable during the course of the disease, with both anti-tumour and pro-tumour roles reported. Regarding their tumour-suppressive action, plasma cells (differentiated B-lymphocytes) fight the cancer cells through secretion of antigen-specific immunoglobulins, with subsequent immune cell activation for dendritic cells (DCs) and CD8+ T cells. Paradoxically, their tumour-promoting action emerges through secretion of IL-10 and expression of activated IgA on the surface of B-cells under the effect of certain stimulants such as TGF- β (Figure 1.5).¹¹⁹



Figure 1.5. Pro- and anti-tumourigenic roles in B-cell lymphocytes (adapted from Zitvogel and Kroemer¹¹⁹)

Few reports have evaluated the tumour infiltrating B-lymphocytes in BC. They have been reported to be present in 24%^{120, 121} up to 55% of BCs.¹²² Some authors have noted that B-lymphocytes can infiltrate the tumour and display a nodular aggregate configuration surrounding the vessels¹²³ while others have noted a diffuse pattern of infiltration.¹²² In response to the recognition of tumour autoantigens, antagonist autoantibodies produced by mature B-cells (plasma cells) can be identified in the serum of less than half of cancer patients.¹²⁴ Antibodies directed against HER-2 have been detected in 20%¹²⁵ and 40% of the HER-2-positive patients.¹²⁶ Promising research has been done on animal models, to support the anti-tumourigenic role of the autoantibodies produced by the B-cells. Immunization of experimental mice with HER-2 antigen preparation prevented the development¹²⁷ and halted the progression of established HER-2-positive BC.¹²⁸ A recent study assessed CD19+ B-lymphocytes and investigated their relationship to PDL1 within 134 cases of BC and 31 cases of fibroadenomas by immunohistochemistry (IHC), immunofluorescence and flow cytometric analysis.

A higher proportion of BC expressed PDL1 paired with infiltration by CD19+ Blymphocytes compared with the fibroadenomas. Hence the authors proposed a link between PDL1, CD19+ B lymphocytes and immune system escape leading to BC.¹²⁹ Taken together, this evidence suggests a link between BC and the immune response elicited by B-lymphocytes. However, there are still missing chains within this link that warrant more exploratory studies.

There are other factors to consider, especially in the context of developing different cell-targeted treatments for BC. The microenvironment also consists of type-2 tumour-associated macrophages (M2), myeloid-derived suppressor cells, and T_{regs} , all of which support a pro-tumourigenic environment consistent with growth.^{71, 87, 88} Therefore therapies must be specifically targeted to combine both anti-tumour mediators that ensure TIL infiltration and activate specific cell cytotoxicity.

The immune suppressive properties of M2 are used to infiltrate a tumour where they support metastasis by remodelling and forming blood vessels.^{71, 130, 131} During tumour growth, various types of cells are used to trigger immune system activation such as M1. However, depending on microenvironmental factors, macrophages can be reprogrammed to differentiate into different types of tumour associated macrophages, effectively circumventing the immune system.⁷¹

1.4.4. COX-2

Cyclooxygenase enzymes

There are three types of COX enzyme: COX-1, COX-2 and COX-3.¹³²⁻¹³⁶ However, COX-3 is merely a spliced variant of COX-1 and lacks any enzymatic activity.¹³⁵ Therefore the COX family is mainly classified into two groups: constitutive COX (COX-1) and inducible COX (COX-2). Ultrastructural localization of the COX enzymes indicates their presence on the endoplasmic reticulum membrane as well as on the nuclear envelope membranes.¹³⁷ While the COX-1 is expressed constitutively in almost all normal tissues at a constant and low concentration, COX-2 is not normally expressed in tissues and is tightly regulated. COX-2 is a highly inducible enzyme. Pro-inflammatory cells, cytokines, growth factors, bacterial endotoxins and tumour promoters induce

transient expression of COX-2.^{134, 136} Also, it had been reported that COX-2 production can be stimulated through specific genetic mutations in Wnt, Ras and HER-2/neu.^{138, 139}

COX-1 and COX-2 act on the arachidonic acid that is liberated from the membrane phospholipids upon their stimulation by phospholipase A2. They produce different types of prostanoids as an end-product of a multi-stepped reaction.^{134, 140} COX-1 is predominantly involved in physiological reactions and has a substantial role in protection of gastric mucosa and maintaining homeostasis via prostaglandin levels.¹⁴¹ On the other hand, the up-regulation of COX-2 directly influences tumourigenesis.^{72, 132}

Carcinogenic role of COX-2

The tumourigenic effect of COX-2 is complex and multifaceted. Studies showed that COX-2 upregulation, as well as other inflammation-related genes, lead to activation of a survival pathway regulated by NF-kB transcription factor. The inappropriate activation of NF-κB subsequently results in alterations in many genes. Of importance, the dysregulated NF- κ B has a positive regulatory effect on anti-apopototic genes such as BCL-2 and a negative regulatory effect on apoptosis-inducing genes such as p53.^{72, 142} Therefore, COX-2 inhibits programmed cell death through several pathways. Additionally, COX-2 activates macrophages to secrete several cytokines that help in the development of cancer, including BC, as shown in Figure 1.6.¹⁴³ Of emphasis, the COX-2 induced PGE2 triggers the expression of vascular endothelial growth factor (VEGF) and beta fibroblast growth factor (bFGF) which turn on neovascularization needed for the tumour growth.^{72, 144} Moreover, some studies described that COX-2 can induce increased cell proliferation through activation of either the EGFR/AKT pathway or the Src kinase/STAT3/cyclin D1.¹⁴⁵ It was proposed that there is an actual cause effect relationship between COX-2 and metastases. Yin and Toker showed that induction of COX-2 promoted cell migration in BC cells in vitro.¹⁴⁶ Selective blockage of COX-2 was associated with suppressed metastases in colorectal cancer cells, both in vitro¹⁴⁷ and in vivo on experimental rodent models.¹⁴⁸ There is evidence that the decreased production of matrix metalloproteinase enzymes and/or upregulation of E-cadherin were the mechanisms by which the COX-2

expressing cells acquire their invasive capabilities.^{149, 150}

Its precise role in promoting the development and progression of neoplasia was best demonstrated in the gastrointestinal tract. COX-2 expression is increased in the carcinomatous as well as the adenomatous colorectal lesions.^{72, 151} Similarly, COX-2 predisposes different organs including the mammary gland to carcinogenesis. ^{72, 143}



Figure 1.6. COX-2 and BC pathogenesis (adapted from Jiang¹⁴³)

COX-2 and BC

Liu et al. studied transgenic mice that overexpressed the human COX-2 gene in the mammary glands. The authors demonstrated that enhanced COX-2 expression induced mammary gland tumourigenesis via decreased apoptosis of mammary epithelial cells and enhanced synthesis of PGE2, prostaglandin-D and prostaglandin-F.¹⁵² This was also demonstrated by Rozic et al.¹⁵³ and Mayoral et al.¹⁵⁴ Moreover, a close link was observed, in ER-negative and HER-2-positive breast tumours, between COX-2 expression and AKT phosphorylation with subsequent suppression of apoptosis and induction of tumour vasculature.

There is inconsistency in data found in previous studies with regard to the prevalence of the expression of COX-2 in BC.¹⁵⁵⁻¹⁵⁷ Holmes et al. reported that

Introduction

positive expression of COX-2 was detected in 28% of the studied 2001 BC samples.¹⁵⁷ Conversely, Nassar et al. found that 95% of the breast carcinomas showed COX-2 expression.¹⁵⁶ In in vitro studies, a gradual increase in COX-2 protein quantity was observed, using western blot, with progression from benign breast cells (MCF-10F) to insitu and then to invasive ER-positive BC cells (MCF-7).¹⁵⁸

Studies are contradictory regarding the relationship of COX-2 and hormone receptor expression in BC. Holmes et al. and Mirson et al. perceived that the positivity of BCs for COX-2 was parallel to positivity for ER and PR.^{157, 159} However, others have described an association between COX-2 expression and ER negativity.^{160, 161} Additional studies found no correlation between COX-2 expression and hormone receptor status.^{156, 162, 163} Of interest, an increased mRNA expression in hormone receptor positive BC and BC with positive progesterone receptors has also been established.^{164, 165} It has been described that there is a significant correlation between COX-2 and aromatase expression, responsible for the synthesis of oestrogen.¹⁶⁶⁻¹⁶⁸ Generally, the aromatase enzyme is found in many tissues including adipose tissue, particularly in postmenopausal women. Stimulation of aromatase enzyme occurs under the effect of different motivators including PGE2 that is produced from COX-2. Active aromatase enzyme is responsible for the following aromatization of androgens into oestrogens.¹⁶⁹ COX-2/aromatase/oestrogen positive BC connection is illustrated in Figure 1.7.



Figure 1.7. COX-2/aromatase/oestrogen relationship (adapted from Falandry et al.¹⁷⁰)

Blocking or hindering aromatase expression in breast tumours can therefore accomplish suppression of oestrogen synthesis. Aromatase synthesis also occurs in normal breast tissue. O'Neill et al. provided evidence of a significant relationship between breast adipose tissue and BC.¹⁷¹ While previous studies have suggested that aromatase expression in breast tumours showed an increased response to aromatase inhibitors,^{172, 173} they have yet to be proven in the prevention of BC, and additional studies are necessary to establish reproducible evidence. Selective ER modulators have been developed which selectively target the ER, blocking production in the breast, and hence blocking COX-2 expression. Due to their relationship, COX-2 inhibitors therefore reduce aromatase expression with subsequent prevention of development of oestrogen dependant BC.¹⁷⁴

COX-2 inhibitors are a type of non-steroidal anti-inflammatory drug (NSAID). There is a direct relationship between their use and decreased incidence of cancer, including breast,^{175, 176} which also supports the tumourigenic role of the COX-2. In contrast, the evidence suggesting a link between COX-2 inhibitors and their effect

on aromatase expression may lead to promising results with regard to BC development.¹⁷⁷ Masferrer et al. evaluated the anti-angiogenic activity of celecoxib, a type of COX-2 inhibitor, in the rat corneal model of angiogenesis, and found that it was a very potent inhibitor of angiogenesis. However they also noted that this potency was very much dose dependent.¹⁷⁸ Forced COX-2 expression subsequently treated with a highly selective COX-2 inhibitor (SC-58125) decreased the growth of human colonic cancer xenografts.¹⁷⁹ Prevention of BC in women using COX-2 inhibitors is therefore dependent on a combination of apoptosis promotion, down-regulation of COX-2 to reduce tumourigenisis, and inhibition of oestrogen synthesis.

1.4.5 Nitric oxide synthease 2 (NOS2/iNOS)

Three isoenzymes make up the nitric oxide synthase (NOS) family: neuronal (nNOS, NOS1), inducible (iNOS, NOS2), and endothelial (eNOS, NOS3). These isoenzymes catalyse the hydroxylation and oxidation of L-Arginine to produce citrulline and nitric oxide (NO).¹⁸⁰ The NOS family are classified into two groups: constitutive NOSs (cNOS) and inducible NOS (iNOS). Unlike the cNOS, iNOS activity is not dependent on intracellular calcium concentration but on the presence of certain inflammatory cytokines and bacterial wall constituents.¹⁸¹

NO regulates blood flow, iron homeostasis and neurotransmission at lower concentrations, while it has a cytotoxic effect at high concentrations.¹⁸² Its cytotoxic effects can target bacteria, viruses¹⁸³ and tumour cells.^{184, 185} Reactive nitrogen species of NO can also result in gene mutation, loss of protein function, necrosis and apoptosis.¹⁸⁶ Depending on the concentration of NO, proliferation of cells may be stimulated or inhibited. NO has been shown to inhibit tumour growth at higher concentrations, while at lower concentrations it can stimulate cell proliferation.^{187, 188} NO concentration has been found in higher quantities associated with infection-related cancers, such as HPV-related cervical carcinoma and H-pylori related gastric cancer.^{189, 190} Previous studies show that iNOS has a prognostic value and is a predictor of poor survival in ER-negative breast tumours, and is associated with vascularisation, p53 mutations, and activated EGFR.¹⁹¹ A number of studies on NO have revealed contrasting results. For example, some studies propose that biosynthesis of NO originating in the tissue, hinders tumour

growth and metastases,^{192, 193} and that biosynthesised NO encourages cells such as macrophages and endothelial cells to destroy tumour cells.^{194, 195} On the other hand, other authors have shown that the presence of iNOS in tumour cells has been associated with tumour grading and metastasis in some cancers.^{196, 197} Therefore NOS inhibitors may moderate tumour size and its ability to metastasise.^{197, 198}

In summary, abnormal production of COX-2 and iNOS, in turn leads to overproduction of pro-inflammatory mediators, prostaglandins and NO and are found in many precancerous and malignant lesions.¹⁹⁹ Previous animal studies on both COX-2 and iNOS have revealed that targeted inhibition of COX-2 and iNOS can prevent inflammation-associated carcinogenesis.²⁰⁰⁻²⁰²

1.5. Histo-morphological types

Histopathological typing of BC has important implications for management. Currently, according to the 2012 WHO classification, twenty histological subtypes, are recognized,²⁰³ reliant on the tumour's cytomorphological and architectural appearance.²⁰⁴ The most frequent subtypes of BC are invasive ductal carcinomas of no special type (IDC-NST),²⁰³ followed by invasive lobular carcinoma (ILC), which accounts for 40-80% and 5-15% of diagnosed tumours respectively in most of the published literature²⁰⁵⁻²⁰⁷ and they show similar clinical outcomes.²⁰⁸

The special invasive tumour types are less common and knowledge related to their prognostic significance has been based on studies including a relatively small patient cohort compared to IDC-NST studies. Diverse clinical outcomes are linked to different special subtypes of invasive breast carcinomas. For instance, favourable prognosis has been conferred to many uncommon and rare subtypes, which include mucinous, tubular, medullary, cribriform, secretory and adenoid cystic carcinomas.^{207, 209-214} In contrast, a morphological variant that is constantly reported to be associated with aggressive behaviour and poor prognosis is metaplastic carcinoma.^{215, 216} Uncertainty of the prognostic value is still questioned for the invasive micropapillary carcinoma and carcinomas with neuroendocrine features. Earlier studies conducted on small cohorts of invasive micropapillary

Introduction

carcinoma highlighted its poor prognosis.^{217, 218} However, a more recent study of 624 patients showed that it is associated with similar outcomes to that of IDC-NST.²¹⁹ A characteristic feature that was consistently described with this subtype is angio-invasion with a high propensity for lymph node metastases.²¹⁷⁻²¹⁹ Similarly, reported prognosis of carcinomas with neuroendocrine features varies, ^{220, 221} and exclusively depends on tumour grade and stage and not on the neuroendocrine differentiation itself.^{220, 222} Furthermore, no specific prognostic significance was linked to invasive papillary carcinoma.^{222, 223}

"Pure" invasive apocrine carcinoma is rare, and characterized as a special form with an incidence as low as 0.5%.²²⁴ According to Japaze et al.,²²⁵ criteria for its diagnosis consisting of 75% of cells with apocrine features, large cells with eosinophilic granular cytoplasm, a nucleus to cytoplasmic ratio of 1:2 or a large round nucleus with pleomorphic vesicles, and sharply defined borders. While apocrine carcinomas are usually ER and PgR negative, and androgen receptor (AR) positive,²²⁵ they can inconsistently express HER-2 and/or EGFR.²²⁶ The prognosis for IAC is similar to IDC-NST, with no statistical significance found in one over the other.^{224, 225}

Case reports for exceptionally unusual special types conveyed further subtypes such as polymorphous carcinoma, oncocytic carcinoma, sebaceous carcinoma of the breast, lipid-rich carcinoma, glycogen-rich clear cell carcinoma, and acinic cell carcinoma.^{203, 222}

Clinical data on specialist types of BC has not facilitated specialist targeted therapy,²²⁷ however they respond differently to NACT, e.g. various sub-types of BC were reduced with treatment (mucinous carcinoma, ILC and apocrine carcinoma) and increased despite treatment (metaplastic carcinoma subcategories squamous carcinoma and spindle cell carcinoma).^{203, 222}

1.6. Grading

BC is graded using the Nottingham grading system (Elston-Ellis modification of Scarff-Bloom-Richardson grading system). This system has validated a prognostic significance. Mitotic index, tubular differentiation, and nuclear pleomorphism are evaluated individually on a scale from 1 to 3, then a composite total score for the results from the 3 categories is calculated.²²⁸ Finally, the composite score is allocated to the tumour grade, with scores 3-5 assigned to grade 1 (well differentiated); scores 6-7 assigned to grade 2 (moderately differentiated); and scores 8-9 assigned to grade 3 (poorly differentiated).²²⁸

1.7. Staging and other prognostic factors

Tumour stage is an accepted prognostic indicator in BC. The American Joint Committee on Cancer (AJCC) stages cancer according to tumour extent/size, lymph node status and distant metastases.

Tumour size used for TNM staging refers to the invasive tumour size, which is one of the most extremely influential prognostic factors of BC.²²⁹ Studies confirmed that adverse outcomes are associated with larger invasive tumours.²²⁹⁻²³¹ Whole tumour size refers to the size of the invasive tumour in addition to the size of extra-tumoural extension of DCIS.²³² However, it is reported that the whole tumour size is inferior to the invasive tumour size as a predictive factor for BC.²³³ Lymph node status is proven to be superior to any other histological factor in the prediction of disease-free and overall survival in BC patients,²³⁴⁻²³⁶ even after neo-adjuvant systemic therapy.²³⁷ Lymph node metastasis leads to a decrease in five-year survival from 98.8% to 85.2%.²³⁴ The survival rates have been linked to the absolute number of the involved axillary lymph nodes,^{238, 239} as well as the size of the metastatic tumour.^{240, 241} Nodal involvement of four lymph nodes was used in various studies as a cut-off to predict poorer outcomes.²³⁶⁻²³⁸ Lymphovascular invasion is an additional independent prognostic factor.^{242, 243} The summary of the TNM staging system (7th edition) is shown in Appendix I.²⁰³

Nottingham Prognostic Index

Some institutions use other prognostic indices e.g. the Nottingham Prognostic Index (NPI) in the management of BC. NPI incorporates three prognostic factors: lymph node status, tumour size and histological grade into a single index that gives a numerical score for each patient that separates patients into three and potentially five prognostic groups. The prognostic power of NPI has been validated.²⁴⁴

1.8. Molecular Classification of BC

For many decades, clinical decisions relied on the categorization of BC into ERpositive and ER-negative subgroups by utilizing hormone receptor expression.^{245,} ²⁴⁶ At least 1% of the tumour cells show nuclear staining for ER protein to be assigned to the ER-positive subgroup, which represents nearly 75% of BC tumours.^{247, 248} More recently, studies on the prediction of therapeutic response based on molecular analysis are being conducted to examine its potential to provide additional useful information. Perou et al.²⁴⁹ were the first group to propose the initial taxonomy of BC based on gene expression pattern. Complementary DNA microarray experiments involving 8,102 genes were carried out on 65 breast specimens from 42 patients. These included 38 invasive carcinomas (36 IDC and 2 ILC), 1 ductal carcinoma in situ, 1 fibroadenoma and 3 normal breast samples. A hierarchical clustering algorithm was used to group the samples based on the homogeneity of their gene expression patterns. Four major BC subtypes were defined (Figure 1.8). The relationship between the BC genetic subtypes and patient outcome has also been studied, and uncovered heterogeneous outcomes among the major subtypes and among the luminal subtype.^{250, 251}



Figure 1.8. Initial molecular classification of invasive BC (Adapted from Perou et al.²⁴⁹)

1.8.1. Luminal Subtypes

Luminal subtype is the most prevalent form of BC within the classification, and is predominantly characterised by hormone receptor expression.^{250, 249} Further analysis by Sorlie et al. identified a further subdivision of the luminal subtype into luminal A, luminal B and luminal C (Figure 1.9).²⁵⁰ The existence of luminal C is controversial. Few studies have successfully identified it,^{250, 252} while others failed to do so.^{253, 254} Luminal A and luminal B are inherent subtypes of BC, which are distinctive in both baseline prognosis and sensitivity to cytotoxic therapies.²⁵⁵ Initially, differentiation of luminal B tumours was defined by a higher expression of proliferative genes,³⁶⁴ util 14%,²⁵⁷ and 20%.²⁵⁸ Other studies subsequently observed that nearly a third of the luminal neoplasms showed amplification of HER-2 associated genes, and proposed separation of the luminal B subgroup according to HER-2 pathways in addition to oestrogen deprivation was recommended for their treatment.²⁶¹

Luminal B tumours express greater numbers of cell markers for proliferation such as Ki67 and aurora kinase A, and lower numbers of luminal cell related markers such as PgR and Forkhead box protein A1 (FOXA1), but not the ER.²⁵⁵ Luminal A tumours show an overall lower number of mutations and chromosomal copynumber changes compared to luminal B tumours.²⁵³ Luminal A tumours have a significantly better prognosis than luminal B tumours.²⁵³ This may be related to the overexpression of the HER-2 related genes, the faster proliferation rate translated with the high Ki67 expression or endocrine treatment resistance. Green et al.²⁶² used gene expression profiling and a panel of 25 specific immunohistochemical BC markers to identify a further luminal subtype known as luminal N. Luminal N subtype is characterized by high levels of ER and PgR, and negative/low expression of the HER (HER3 and HER4). When compared, both luminal A and luminal N demonstrated good prognostic factors. Luminal A and luminal B tumours showed high expression of CK7/8, ER, HER3 and HER4 but were distinguished by lower levels of PgR expression in luminal B compared with luminal A tumours. In contrast, luminal N tumours showed differential expression of HER3 and HER4. Luminal A and N had the lowest frequency of BC-specific death.²⁶² Over a period of 20 years, luminal B and HER-2-positive/ER-positive tumours showed the worst BC severity score. The use of immunohistochemical BC markers as a means of distinguishing luminal A and B tumours is inherently flawed. However, a definition of luminal A tumours as hormone-receptorpositive/HER-2-negative/Ki-67 <14% and PgR >20% will support patient classification to specific therapy modalities.²⁵⁴

1.8.2. HER-2 positive subtype

HER-2 positive BC, characterized by a deficiency in expression of luminal/ERrelated genes and HER-2 overexpression, is an aggressive type due to a high copy number of genes, has a poor response to treatment and a poor prognosis.^{263, 264} The HER-2 gene is located on chromosome 17q12 and encodes the tyrosine kinase receptor of EGFR. HER-2 is overexpressed in 15-30% of BC.²⁴ The amount of overexpression of HER-2 is determined via fluorescence in situ hybridization (FISH), or via IHC, which detects specific markers for overexpression. Previous studies propose that overexpression of HER-2 occurs during the initial onset of invasive carcinomas and is maintained during progression.²⁶⁶ It is generally highgrade with an elevated number of p53 mutations,¹³ and typically metastasises to the bone and brain.²⁶⁷

Up until recently, overexpression of HER-2 was associated with poor survival. Newer therapies such as trastuzumab, pertuzumab and lapatinib, which act by interfering with the HER-2/neu receptor or inhibiting tyrosine kinase improves prognosis, however there is continuous debate regarding its concomitant use with chemotherapy, the duration of its use and continuous use over time.²⁶⁸

In some instances, HER-2 overexpression is not detected in HER-2 overexpressing tumours. These subtypes are known as HER-2 enriched,²⁴⁹ and characterized by the high expression of HER-2 related proliferation-related genes and proteins, intermediate expression of luminal-related genes and proteins, and a low expression of basal-related genes and proteins.²⁶⁹

1.8.3. Normal Breast-like subtype

Normal breast-like subtypes have a gene expression profile that is analogous to normal breast tissue such as elevated expression of adipose cells and non-epithelial cells.^{249, 270} It is thought however that this subtype does not actually exist.^{270, 271}

1.8.4. Basal-like subtype

Basal-like subtypes account for 15% of BC.²⁷² They are not characteristic of oestrogen or HER-2 overexpression, are typically high grade, highly proliferative,^{206, 272} with frequent pushing margins and areas of geographic necrosis or fibrosis.²⁷³ They occur in younger women, often of African-American origin.^{206, 260} They are associated with poor survival and frequently metastasise to the lungs and brain.^{267, 270, 274} Basal-like carcinomas express basal CKs such as CK5 and CK5/6, and P-cadherin markers.²⁷⁵ The majority of BRCA1 related BC are TN, and exhibit basal-like profiles.²⁷⁶ As shown in Figure 1.1., basal-like refers to the basal/myoepithelial cells. CK5 and CK17 are fundamental markers of basal-like BC.^{249, 250, 277} CK17 is not sufficiently expressed unless CK14 and CK5 are absent.²⁷⁸ The expression of these basal-like genes augments cellular

proliferation, apoptosis, extracellular remodelling, cell migration, and invasion.²⁷⁹⁻²⁸¹ Similar to HER-2-related BC, basal-like tumours have an elevated number of mutations across the genome (i.e., p53 and PIK3CA). Basal-like BCS also have elevated levels of EGFR/HER1 (18-60%).^{282, 283}

There has been some confusion in defining basal-like cancer (i.e., basal-like versus TN; ER-negative/PgR-negative/HER-2 negative).^{284, 285} One of the reasons for this might have been the use of different methodologies for defining each of these subtypes.²⁸⁶ The recent extensive review and research highlighted a continuous controversy and debate about the two subtypes. The basal subtype has been segregated through initial gene expression profiling segregated studies²⁴⁹ and also through immunohistochemical studies.²⁸⁷ However, studies show a discrepancy of up to 30% between the stated methods of assessment.^{284, 285} According to Banerjee et al.²⁷⁴ and Cheang et al.,²⁸⁷ immunohistochemical detection of basal-like BC includes expression of CK5/6, CK14, or CK17, in isolation or together; absence of expression of ER, PgR, and HER-2 (i.e., TN phenotype); concomitant absence of expression of ER and HER-2 with expression of CK5/6 and/or EGFR; and concomitant absence of expression of ER, PgR, and HER-2 with expression of CK5/6 and/or EGFR. Further studies show that not all basal subtypes that are detected using gene expression profiling lack RNA for ER, PgR and HER-2, while all TNBC do not display a basal-like phenotype using immunohistochemical marker panels.^{13, 34, 280, 285, 288-291} In-fact TN tumours are more varied, and can consist of both basal and non-basal subtypes.²⁹² More recently, TNBC has been classified into four subtypes, basal-like immune suppressed, basal-like immuneactivated, mesenchymal and apocrine.

Three terms have been introduced by Gazinska et al.²⁸⁶ who examined 142 invasive TNBC tumours for histological characteristics, immunohistochemical staining for basal markers (CK 5/6,CK14 and/or EGFR) and gene expression, and designated them as 'Path-Basal', 'Core-Basal' and 'PAM50-Basal' respectively. Less than 10% of the cases shared the assignment to the three categories. Only 64.7% of the 'Core-basal' tumours displayed the gene signature of basal tumours 'PAM50-Basal', with poor sensitivity (59%) between the two methods of assessment. Up to 50% of TNBC can be classified as 'core basal' with expression

of EGFR and/or CK 5/6²⁸⁷ and/or CK14,²⁸⁶ and are associated with considerably worse treatment outcomes.²⁸⁷ In summary, there is an overlap between the two types but they are not identical.

Based on the observation that the expression of basal markers is not restricted to the TNBC type, the Cambridge research group proposed that basal tumours are dispersed within other major BC molecular subtypes (Figure 1.9).²⁹³ This illustrates the highly distinctive molecular mechanisms and biological heterogeneity of basal-like tumours.



Figure 1.9. Classification of BC subtypes according to immunohistochemical marker profile (adapted from Blows et al.²⁹³)

1.9. TNBC

1.9.1. Epidemiology and risk factors

BC is considered to be TN when there is no positive immunohistochemical expression of ER, PgR and HER-2. This term was first characterised in the medical literature in 2005.²⁹⁴ Nearly one in every 5 to 7 women who develop BCs are victims of this aggressive phenotype, which is known by its unfortunate outcome and scarcity of effective targeted treatment.^{295, 296} Women of African ethnicity and African-Americans showed the highest incident rates of TN tumours, at 82%, 28.5% and 26.4% within Ghanaians, African-Americans and Egyptians respectively.^{297, 298} TNBC unusually presents in premenopausal females and has a unique pattern of disease with higher frequencies of disease progression and BC-related mortality 3 to 5 years after diagnosis, when compared to other BC types.²⁹⁵ The vast majority of women who had no evidence of disease progression after 8 years of TNBC did not have any recurrence thereafter.^{299, 300}

There are a number of risk factors associated with the development of TNBC. Studies show that patients aged 42 years or less and those with a body mass index (BMI) greater than 32.4 kg/m² have a greater incidence of developing TNBC.³⁰¹ Multiparity (>4 children) and younger age at which first pregnancy occurred increase the risk of TNBC, while breastfeeding decreases the risk of TNBC.³⁰²⁻³⁰⁴ Other factors such as oral contraceptives and their duration of use have shown a 2.5-fold increase in risk of development of TNBC.³⁰⁵ Unusually, a history of alcohol intake decreased the risk of development of TNBC when compared with non-alcoholics.³⁰⁶ Moreover, a relationship between metabolic syndromes such as insulin resistance and TNBC has also been reported.^{307, 308} Studies point at MGA as a probable precursor lesion for TNBC, with evidence of chromosomal alterations developing within MGA to progress to atypical MGA and then into invasive carcinoma.⁶⁶⁻⁶⁸ However, due to the infrequency of occurrence of the MGA, it is not likely to be the precursor for the majority of the TNBC.

Genetic impairment of the BRCA1 function is often detected in TNBC. A study of 1,824 patients with TNBC showed mutations of BRCA1 (8.5 %) and BRCA2 (2.7 %).³⁰⁹ Additional high number of molecular alterations has been identified in

TNBC. Some of these alterations involved the loss of negative regulators such as PTEN and/or mutations within oncogenes such as PIK3CA and AKT.³¹⁰ As mentioned before, BRCA1 mutant BCs are often associated with high-grade BC types and commonly classified as basal subtype within the TNBC due to expression of CK 5/6, one of the basal cellular markers,^{34, 35,36} while BRCA2 mutant BCs are often associated with ER-positive tumours.^{37, 38} Several additional chromosomal abnormalities are also detected with BRCA mutated tumours, including p53 mutation and c-myc amplification.³¹¹

1.9.2. Clinical features of TNBC phenotype

TNBCs are typically aggressive, with poor clinical outcomes reported in the literature.^{295, 296, 312} It has also been associated with pulmonary, hepatic and cerebral metastases, local recurrence and younger age of onset.^{267, 270, 274, 313} Commonly, the patients diagnosed with TNBC present with a palpable mass.³¹⁴ Of particular note, that TNBC is less frequently detected through mammogram or an ultrasound than with clinical examination.^{295, 315, 316} Among women who are part of a BC screening programme, TNBC are more likely to present between screening intervals (between two mammography screening rounds) known as 'Interval cancer'.^{314, 315} This might be a reflection of their rapid growth pattern.³¹⁶ Unfortunately, TNBC have been noticed to present with a larger tumour size and at a higher stage.³¹⁷ These factors, beside the lack of the targeted therapy, had contributed to a worse outcome than ER-positive tumours. In TNBC, there is a somewhat confusing relationship between tumour size development and respective lymph node involvement, and TNBC favours dispersion via the blood.^{314, 318} Initially, TNBC responds positively to various types of chemotherapies, but nonetheless has a low disease-free survival.319

Introduction

1.9.3. Histopathological features of TNBC phenotype

Approximately 90% of TNBC tumours are high-grade and classified as unifocal IDC-NST, with the remaining 10% classified as medullary, secretory, apocrine, adenoid cystic, metaplastic, ILC and those that develop from MGA.³¹⁴

TNBC is often accompanied by central necrosis, acellular fibrous zones and/or lymphocytic infiltration.³²⁰ TNBC is also characterised by its high metabolic activity resulting from poor differentiation and tumour necrosis.^{34, 321} On a cellular level, cells show noticeable nuclear pleomorphism and mitotic activity.³²² Those with successful pathological response to NACT, assessed on the therapeutic excision, with full eradication of the entire tumour tissue have an associated positive prognosis, while those with residual cancer have a worse prognosis.³²³

Metaplastic breast carcinoma

Up to 1% of all BC are metaplastic type, evident by neoplastic epithelium differentiating into squamous cell and/or mesenchymal-appearing elements.³²⁴ The World Health Organization (WHO) defines metaplastic carcinoma as a heterogeneous neoplasm with many distinctive subtypes, that demonstrates admixture of epithelial and mesenchymal components or can be completely epithelial or mesenchymal in nature.²⁰³ Where metaplastic carcinoma is purely epithelial it exhibits the morphology of squamous cell carcinoma, adenocarcinoma with spindle cells or adenosquamous carcinoma. Mesenchymal-looking elements e.g. chondroid or osseous matrix production are also often present.²⁰³ Due to its rarity, it was scarcely studied through several case reports and research studies on small numbers of cases, to be finally classified by the WHO as a distinct entity in 2000.

On the molecular level, metaplastic carcinoma demonstrates TN in over 90% of cases,³²⁵ and seemingly resembles the claudin-low type.^{326, 327} High-grade metaplastic BC can be resistant to chemotherapy with a poor prognosis, while lower-grade fibromatosis-like metaplastic BCs have relatively better prognosis.³²⁸ It has a specific gene profile including downregulation of genes involved in chemotherapy reaction, and upregulation of genes involved in adhesion and migration.³²⁹ The up/down regulation of these specific genes in metaplastic BC

could be responsible for the commonly poor prognosis in this type of cancer.

Medullary carcinoma

Medullary carcinoma accounts for less than 5% of all invasive BCs ^{211, 330}, and most medullary carcinomas are TNBC.²¹¹ There are three recognised current subsets of this special BC subtype; typical (classic) medullary carcinoma, atypical medullary carcinoma and carcinoma with medullary features.³³¹ Their classification depends on the presence of all or some of the following histological features: a predominant syncytial growth pattern, with defined margins that pushes towards the surrounding breast tissue, nuclear pleomorphism, a high mitotic rate, lymphoid infiltration of the tumour, and deficiency of glandular features or an in situ component.^{332, 333} Medullary carcinomas have an improved prognosis with a 10-year survival ranging from 61% to 92%.^{332, 333} Moreover, they have high radiosensitivity that further improves their outcome, even in incidences without adjuvant chemotherapy.³³⁴ Medullary BC has a specific gene profile and shows upregulation of specific immune response and tumour necrosis genes, and downregulation of genes involved in invasiveness and adhesion.335, 336 The up/down regulation of these specific genes in medullary carcinomas could be responsible for increased cytotoxic activity, and overall improved prognosis in this type of cancer. Additionally, significant proportions of medullary carcinomas immunohistochemically express one or more of the basal markers (CK14, CK5/6 and/or EGFR).335

Apocrine carcinoma

Less than 0.5% of all BCs are pure apocrine carcinoma type.^{224, 337, 338} This BC special subtype has an imprecise WHO definition. Vranic *et al.* proposed strict criteria to demarcate apocrine carcinoma, with combined morphologic, immunohistochemical and molecular characteristics. Apocrine carcinoma can demonstrate growth patterns of invasive ductal carcinoma of no special type. It is diagnosed via the presence of apocrine-type epithelial cells which constitute >90% of the tumour. Apocrine-type epithelial cells are characterized by having well-defined sharp borders, abundant eosinophilic granular to foamy vacuolated cytoplasm, round nuclei and conspicuous nucleoli.³³⁸ Sometimes the cells have

apical decapitation secretion pattern known as apical snouting. Apocrine carcinomas are hormone-receptor (ER and PgR) negative and this together with the expression of both gross cystic disease fluid protein 15 (GCDFP-15) and AR can be used to aid diagnosis of apocrine breast carcinoma.^{225, 339} However, apocrine carcinomas inconsistently express HER-2 and/or EGFR.²²⁶ Currently, there is no standardised diagnostic criteria for apocrine carcinoma, ²⁰³ which creates poor interobserver agreement for this subtype.

Invasive lobular carcinoma

ILC constitute 5-15% of all BCs.²⁰⁵⁻²⁰⁷ Although ILC have typically intermediate grade and ER positivity,^{340, 341} a small proportion of ILC demonstrate TN phenotype.³⁴² Compared to invasive lobular non-TNBC, ILC-TNBC is characterized by being higher grade with increased expression of galectin-3, a biomarker involved in inflammatory and fibrotic pathways.³⁴² Both types of ILC share the low frequency of expression of basal markers such as CK5, CK5/6 and EGFR.³⁴²

Salivary gland-type neoplasms

Salivary gland-type neoplasms are rare, constituting approximately 2% of all BC.³⁴³ Although they are characteristically TN, they are low-grade.³⁴³ Some salivary gland tumours also have genetic malfunctions similar to some types of BC.^{324, 344} Adenoid cystic carcinoma (ACC) is a common cancer of the salivary glands, and consists of differentiated basal/myoepithelial and luminal cells.³⁴⁵ As mentioned, this particular type of cancer can also occur in the breast, known as breast-derived adenoid cystic carcinoma (bACC),^{344, 346} and constitutes roughly 0.1% of all BC.³⁴⁷ Although bACC expresses markers of TNBC, bACC in contrast to aggressive TNBC has a 100% 5-year survival rate.³⁴⁶ bACC is thought to downregulate specific genes involved in migration and proliferation, leading to an improved overall survival.³⁴⁸ In recent years, the advent of specifically targeted hormone and/or receptor therapies has changed the face of BC, i.e. oestrogen, progesterone and HER-2 receptors. This allows specific classification of BC and hence specifically targeted treatment and prognosis.³⁴⁹

Secretory breast carcinomas are a rare subtype of BC, are often slow-growing, mimic benign lesions, and occur generally in a wider range of ages, with improved prognosis.³⁵⁰ Secretory BC contain a large amount of intracellular and extracellular, eosinophilic secretion material and stain negative for TN associated receptors. Secretory BC consists of an intraductal component, which can consist of comedo necrotic cells in rare cases.³⁵⁰

Dreyer *et al.* analysed the clinicopathological features of TNBC according to the histological subtypes in 476 tumours. Apocrine or lobular carcinomas were found to present in older age when compared to other tumour types. Metaplastic carcinoma showed a characteristic poor prognosis although lymph node metastases were seen only in 29.4% of cases.²¹⁵

1.9.4. TNBC stratification and reconstruction

Recent research unveiled that it should not be considered as a single disease as it shows molecular and clinical heterogeneity.^{326, 351} Efforts to subclassify TNBC have been attempted using gene expression, with the aim of defining prognostic and therapeutic targets for the diverse subsets within this group.^{326, 351} Studies by Perou *et al.* have identified three TNBC subtypes, which originate from epithelial cells at different stages of the cell development.²⁷² The two main studied subsets are the basal and claudin-low which are illustrated in the Table 1.1. The third subtype is the HER-2 enriched (HER-2 enriched but not HER-2 amplified), which comprise a small proportion of TNBC.²⁷² There is minimal knowledge about this minor subgroup within the literature.

	, ,		
	Basal	Claudin-low	
Percentage within	$I_{\rm into} 750/$	<10%	
TNBC	00107576		
Gene expression	Genes enriched with	-Low expression of cell-adhesion	
	myoepithelial/basal cells	proteins	
	p53 mutations	-Tumour-initiating (stem-cell)	
	RB loss	genes (ZEB1, TWIST, SNAIL)	
	Hypoxia signature genes (+/- benefit from angiogenesis inhibitors)		
ІНС	CK 5,6,17	E-cadherin & Claudin 3,4,7 –ve	
	Ki67,PCNA	CD44+, CD24-	
Other features		Intense immune response	
Other leatures		Epithelial-Mesenchymal transition	

Table 1.1. Characteristics of Basal-like and Claudin-low BC subtypes

(summarized from Perou, 2010)²⁷²

In 2011, Lehmann *et al.* analyzed 3,247 genes for 587 TNBCs through examining 21 invasive BC data sets and concluded that TNBC can be subcategorized into six unique subtypes which might be have prognostic and therapeutic implications: basal-like (BL1 and BL2), immunomodulatory (IM), mesenchymal (M), mesenchymal stem-like (MSL), and luminal AR (LAR).³²⁶ Each subtype is characterized by enrichment in certain cellular pathways and genes (Table 1.2.). The Basal subtypes and the M subtype express higher levels of basal CKs, while LAR expresses higher levels of luminal CKs and lacks basal CKs expression.³²⁶ By using gene expression, specific markers were identified with the aim of developing targeted therapies, e.g. cisplatin has a significant effect on BL1 and BL2 subtypes, dual Phosphatidylinositol 3-kinase (PI3K)/mammalian target of rapamycin (mTOR) and Src inhibitors are sensitive to mesenchymal and mesenchymal stem-like subtypes, and AR antagonists had a significant effect on LAR subtypes.²⁸²

Subset	Pathway enriched	Genes commonly	Other features	
		expressed	Other leatures	
BL1	Cell cycle, cell division	AURKA, AURKB,		
		CENPA, CENPF, BUB1,		
		TTK, CCNA2, PRC1,		
		MYC, NRAS,		
	DNA damage response (ATR/BRCA) pathways	CHEK1, FANCA,		
		FANCG, RAD54BP,		
		RAD51, NBN, EXO1,		
		MSH2, MCM10, RAD21,		
		MDC1		
BL2	Growth factor signalling (EGF	ECED MET and		
	pathway, NGF pathway, MET	EGFR, MET, and		
	path- way, Wnt/β-catenin &			
	IGF1R pathway)	P63, MME(CD10)		
	Glycolysis & gluconeogenesis			
IM	Immune cell signalling (CTLA4,		Similar gene	
	IL2, IL7 pathways)		signature as	
	Cytokine signalling		medullary BC	
М	Cell differentiation pathways			
MSL	Growth factor signalling	EGFR, PDGF		
	EMT-associated genes	TGFB1L1, BGN SMAD6,	Low levels of cell- cell adhesion	
		SMAD7, NOTCH1,		
		MMP2, ACTA2, SNAI2,		
		TWIST1, ZEB1,	Cloudin 2.48-7)	
		COL3A1, COL5A2,	Low levels of proliferation genes	
		ZEB2 & decreased E-		
		cadherin		
	Angiogenesis genes	VEGFR2, TIE1		
LAR	AD & downation	AR, FOXA1, KRT18,		
	AK & downstream genes	XBP1		

 Table 1.2. Characteristics of the TNBC subtypes (summarized from Lehmann et al.)³²⁶

In contrast, studies by Burstein *et al.* identified only four subtypes; including LAR and mesenchymal, and in addition basal-like immunosuppressed (BLIS), and basal-like immune-activated (BLIA) (Figure 1.10.).³⁵¹ Data regarding LAR and mesenchymal subtypes were more consistent and stable in the two classification systems. The basal subtype was further subgrouped according to immune-modulatory gene expression, into BLIS and BLIA. This classification drew a prognostic value, in which the BLIS was significantly associated with earlier relapse, followed by LAR and mesenchymal, while BLIA had the best prognosis with the longest disease free survival.³⁵¹ A recent study by Lehmann group³⁵² failed to reproduce the results from their original classification and adapted a classification which is consistent with Burstein classification of TNBC.^{351,352}



Figure 1.10. TNBC subtypes as identified by genomic profiling³⁵¹

The most popular form of TNBC is the basal subtype, constituting 15-20% of all types of BC²⁴⁹ and 75% of TNBC using gene expression analysis (Table 1.1.).³⁵³ As explained before in section 1.2.1., basal-like BC originates in the basal layer of normal breast tissue, from basal myoepithelial cells and expresses CK5/6, CK14, CK17, vimentin, p-cadherin, alpha B crystalline, caveolins 1 and 2 and EGFR genes. CD44+/CD24- are also sometimes expressed in basal-like BC,³⁵⁴ which are used to characterise claudin-low BC along with triple-negativity. Basal-like BC which is TN is identified by ER, PgR, and HER-2 negativity, CK5/6-positivity, and/or high amounts of expression of EGFR, known as the five-marker method as

defined by Nielsen *et al.*²⁸² However, classification of TNBC has shown via immunohistochemical methods that not all TNBC can be characterised as basallike, with non-TNBC being not basal-like the majority of the time.³⁵⁵ Studies show that almost 50% of BL1 BC patients who received chemotherapy achieved a pathological complete response (pCR), when compared to BL2 BC patients.³⁵² BL1 BC is more responsive to chemotherapy due to characteristic DNA signalling and repair function.³⁵² Although previous studies had linked the basal subtype with unfavourable prognosis,^{206, 282} there is recent evidence that some of the BL tumours which are associated with activated immune response have a good prognosis.³⁵¹

Claudin-low BC is usually TN, with very low levels or no expression of luminal cells, and high levels of epithelial-to-mesenchymal cells.³²⁷ The proteins and genes involved in tight junction and cell-cell adhesion are downregulated in this subtype, with low expression of claudin 3, 4 and 7,³⁵⁶ and E-cadherin³²⁷; hence the name 'Claudin-low'. It also has characteristics of cancer stem cells, with high amounts of medullary differentiation.^{269, 326} The possible origination from stem cells is illustrated with their exhibition of epithelial mesenchymal transition traits as the lack of cell-cell adhesion and expression of E- cadherin transcriptional repressors such as Zeb1/2, Twist1/2 and Snail 1/2.^{269, 357}

In summary, TNBC can also be classified as either basal-like types, molecular apocrine (LAR) or mesenchymal types.³⁵¹ Women with TNBC have poorer survival than other BC, irrespective of stage at diagnosis.^{295, 317} A previous study by Dent *et al.* on survival showed that patients with TN tumours had a higher risk of metastases, and associated deaths, when compared to those with non-TN tumours.²⁹⁵ Recent studies based on gene expression subclassified BL cancers into 2 distinctive groups, BL1 and BL2, which project opposite outcomes.³⁵¹ Particularly, it has been revealed that non-Hispanic black women with TNBC diagnosed at late-stage, have the poorest survival with a 5-year survival of 14%.³¹⁷

1.9.5. Prognostic markers in TNBC

In other BC subtypes, molecular assays and the tumour stage and size represent imperial markers for survival. However, these markers are not as useful in TNBC.^{358, 359} Moreover, the majority of TNBCs are high-grade tumours and as a result, the prognostic value of grade is lessened.⁴⁶⁴ However, lymph node metastases and pathological response to NACT³⁶⁰ retained their prognostic value in TNBC. Moreover, it is suggested that sTILs play an important role with an emerging prognostic impact and a promising predictive value for immunotherapy.¹⁰² Some authors observed a potential association between outcome and histological subtype in TNBC.

1.9.5.1. Lymph node metastasis

Spread of the malignant cells into the lymph nodes is considered an important prognostic factor in the management of the BC patients.^{235, 236} Unlike other BC subtypes that show a positive correlation between the primary tumour size and rate of the lymph node positivity, the nodal status in TNBC is not directly correlated to the local extent of the tumour.^{295, 318} Nevertheless, similar to other BC subtypes, cases with lymph node involvement in TNBC have a significantly worse outcome, with higher incidence of recurrences and death,^{234, 361} as opposed to those with negative lymph nodes.³⁶² Surprisingly, some authors suggest that the prognostic value of the nodal status in TNBC is independent of the number of the affected nodes.^{361, 363} Noteworthy, the increased recurrence and death risks remain associated with the nodal status after treatment in the neoadjuvant setting.^{364, 365}

Introduction

1.9.5.2. Response to the NACT

At the present time, TNBC is primarily treated with NACT³⁶⁶ as will be detailed later. Several authors had published grading systems for the response to NACT, with different approaches and thresholds for defining the categories of the pathological response to NACT.

pCR has been shown to be greatest when there is an absence of infiltrating residual disease in the breast and axillary lymph nodes.³⁶⁵ It had been suggested that hormone negativity is the strongest predictor of pCR in BC,³⁶⁷ with the better response in the TN.³⁶⁸ However, not all TNBC are chemosensitive as a recent meta-analysis noticed that the rate of pCR ranges from 14.3% to 67%.³⁶⁹ Predictability of pCR in TN tumours is one of the most powerful prognostic factors in TN cancer.^{368, 370-372} Those who achieve pCR have a relatively good prognosis, with survival rates similar to those of other BC subtypes.³²³ On the other hand, the remainder of the TNBC patients have a subpopulation of chemoresistant tumour cells that hinder the achievement of pCR. Studies showed that those who fail to achieve pCR have a worse prognosis, compared to those who attained pCR.³⁶⁹ Denkert *et al.* showed that elevated TILs, in pre-treatment tumour can predict pCR in TNBC.³⁷³ When TILs were occupying more than 60% of the tumour stroma or intratumoural area, the pCR rate was 74%. In contrast, with lesser amounts of TILs the pCR rate was 46%.³⁷³

1.9.5.3. TILs

There is evidence that the presence of high levels of TILs is an useful prognostic marker in different malignancies including cancers of the colon,^{374, 375} ovary,³⁷⁶ lung³⁷⁷ and in malignant melanomas.^{378, 379} As described first in melanoma, specific T-cell growth factors stimulate the immune system to fight the tumour cells and lead to tumour regression^{380, 381} and better survival.^{382, 383} Several studies confirmed that a prominent inflammatory response in BC was associated with better prognosis.³⁸⁴⁻³⁸⁶ It was noted that elevated TILs are more frequently associated with highly proliferative, poorly differentiated and more aggressive BCs.^{107, 110, 386-393} As BC is not a single disease, Stanton *et al.* analyzed the pooled data for sTILs in 13,914 BCs with special consideration on the BC molecular

subtypes.³⁹⁴ The median sTILs tended to be higher in TNBC and HER-2-positive BC than in ER-positive tumours (20% and 16% versus 6% respectively).³⁹⁴

1.9.5.4. Histological subtype

Histological type has prognostic implication in TNBC.^{295, 324, 332, 346, 350, 328} The majority of the TNBCs are IDC-NST and a smaller percentage constitute a variety of the other histological types that includes rare ones.³⁹⁵ These rare types, i.e. secretory, adenoid cystic and medullary carcinomas are associated with an excellent outcome and represent a form of 'low grade' TNBC,^{295, 332, 346, 350} while poorer outcome is seen with metaplastic carcinomas that are known to have poor response to chemotherapy.³²⁸

1.9.5.5. Other biomarkers

TNBC expresses greater amounts of the proliferation marker Ki67 and p53 mutation marker, when compared to non-TNBC. Nodal metastasis and p53 overexpression have been linked, which may contribute to the worse survival.^{396 55} A high pCR has been linked to Ki67 expression, showing Ki67 to be an independent predictor for pCR, overall survival, and distant disease free survival in BC patients concomitantly treated with a NACT.³⁹⁷

In the basal-like TNBC, amplified EGFR, CK 5/6 and diminished AR are proposed to be associated with nodal and distant metastasis, highlighting that anti-EGFR target specific therapies may be used.³⁹⁸

Rakha *et al.*³⁵⁹ proposed that the absence of AR expression in TNBC is linked with higher histological grades, development of recurrences and distant metastasis. Higher histological grade was in turn linked with negative E-cadherin expression and positive expression of P-cadherin and p53.³⁵⁹ Significantly, Rakha *et al.*³⁵⁹ concluded that assessment of the AR and basal phenotype, along with lymph node status and tumour size, can be used to classify high-risk and low-risk tumours and hence specific treatment regimes.

Introduction

1.9.6. TNBC outcome

TNBC does not behave clinically as a single disease. Recently, its heterogeneous nature with the discovery of several molecular subtypes had been studied and highlighted differences in response to treatment and outcomes. The majority of the TNBCs have an aggressive nature and generally TNBC have a worse outcome, with higher recurrence rates and shorter survival, than other BC subtypes. Recurrence of TN and basal BC is high initially but quickly decreases when compared to ER-positive BC.^{249, 295, 399} Patients with TNBC have a high risk of developing locoregional recurrence within two years of initial diagnosis,²⁹⁵ with a proclivity for metastasis into the brain and lungs.^{267, 270, 274} Dent *et al.* observed that after the first recurrence, the median time survival time for TNBC was only 9 months.²⁹⁵ Nearly two-thirds of the deaths from TNBC occur in the first five years following diagnosis.^{295, 321} On the other hand, a small proportion of the TNBC patients who have specific rare histological morphology e.g. medullary carcinoma and carcinomas of salivary gland origin tend to have a good prognosis. ^{295, 332, 346, 350} Dent et al. defined the characteristics of TNBC as an interval cancer with a weak correlation between tumour size and node status, a high risk of recurrence, increased mortality rate in the first 5 years, and a fast progression from distant recurrence to death.²⁹⁵

1.9.7. Treatment of TNBC

To date, TNBC is still treated as one disease, with a combination of surgery, radiotherapy and chemotherapy.

1.9.7.1 Systemic treatments

Chemotherapy

At present, chemotherapy is the only approved systemic treatment for TNBC.³⁶⁶ Chemotherapy can be administered as an adjuvant (after primary surgery) or as a neo-adjuvant (prior to the primary surgery) therapy.⁴⁰⁰ In addition to the decrease of the tumour size to avert mastectomy, other advantages to the application of chemotherapy prior to primary surgery is that it allows assessment of the treatment/drug efficacy through measurement of the degree of response to the

applied therapy, both clinically and histologically.^{401, 402} It has also been used as treatment of early micrometastatic nodal disease.⁴⁰² In TNBC, NACT has shown that pCR can be used as a marker for long-term response and survival.^{306, 368, 370-372} Those who do not achieve pCR demonstrated higher rates of reoccurrence and shorter periods of disease free survival.^{369, 403} Anthracycline and/or taxane-based therapies, cell proliferation inhibitors, are a part of the standard treatments for BC patients at present and are particularly effective in TNBC.^{291, 404} With using these two drugs combined, TNBC demonstrates higher chemo-sensitivity than non-TNBC and has a greater probability of achieving pCR.^{405, 406} Anthracycline or anthracycline and taxane chemotherapies show a 20% to 45% pCR in patients with TNBC, and an improved prognosis over those with non-TNBC, even when pCR is accomplished.^{360, 370}

Moreover, platinum agents can inhibit tumour growth and causes cell death through induction of toxic breaks in the double-stranded DNA. Therefore, sensitivity to platinum-based drugs is more evident in BRCA-mutated cells that are deficient in DNA repair mechanisms.^{404, 407} Upon addition of Platinum to neoadjuvant regimen consisting of anthracycline and taxane, higher pCR rates had been observed.⁴⁰⁸

Other specifically targeted treatments such as molecular-directed targeted therapies, therapies that target cytoskeleton, cell migration, vascular system and high proliferation gene pathways, immunotherapy and vaccines are currently under investigation.⁴⁰⁰ Molecular-directed targeted therapy is used as a means of inhibiting specific molecular pathways of cancer development. These include the inhibition of vascular endothelial growth factor (VEGF), poly (ADP-ribose) polymerase (PARP), epidermal growth factor (EGFR), mammalian target of rapamycin (mTOR), AR, and others.⁴⁰⁰

PARP inhibitors

PARPs are enzymes involved in DNA repair and programmed cell death. An artificial fatal interaction is generated upon PARP1 inhibition with the loss of BRCA1, which causes inability of the tumour cells to buffer oncogene-induced replicative stress.^{404, 409} PARP1 inhibitors, alone or combined with

chemotherapeutic agents, showed promising results in clinical trials enrolling BC patients with the BRCA mutation.^{410, 411}

AR inhibitors

Some TNBC tumours express AR as proved by gene expression profile and immunohistochemical experiments.^{326, 351, 352} Lehmann *et al.* identified the LAR subtype, characterised by a steroid hormone profile and high frequency of PIK3CA mutations.³²⁶ Although the efficacy of the anti-androgenic treatment within LAR subtype was demonstrated by different researchers, conflicting results for its exclusive anti-proliferative effects on LAR cell-line were found.¹⁵⁹⁻¹⁶¹ Published favourable results from a clinical trial by Triana *et al.*, who treated 118 LAR+ TNBC patients with an AR inhibitor revealed 42% of patients achieved a clinical benefit at 16 weeks.⁴¹²

EGFR inhibitors

EGFR can be blocked by either a monoclonal antibody that competitively binds to extracellular domain or by tyrosine kinase inhibitors that target the intracellular domain.⁴¹³ A clinical trial on 173 metastatic TNBC patients using the monoclonal antibody cetuximab, an EGFR inhibitor, in addition to cisplatin demonstrated modest improvements in progression free survival from 1.5 months to 3.7 month.⁴¹⁴

VEGF inhibitors

VEGF inhibitors, angiogenesis inhibitors, are used to slow the growth of newly formed blood vessels. They have been shown in a number of studies to strengthen both response rate and progression-free survival.⁴¹⁵⁻⁴¹⁷ However, they are not routinely used currently outside the clinical trials setting.

mTOR inhibitors

mTOR is part of the PI3K family, which regulates cellular metabolism, growth, and proliferation. Mutations in BC affect PI3K leading to increased mTOR.⁴¹⁸ When combined with platinum agents, mTOR inhibitors produce a synergistic effect with significant inhibition of cell proliferation, and provoke apoptosis.⁴¹⁹ A

28% increase in response rate and 36% clinical benefit rate was shown in patients receiving everolimus, an mTor inhibitor, combined with carboplatin in stage IV TNBC.⁴¹⁹

The advent of monoclonal antibodies which inhibit particular pathways in cancer development are under continuous investigation for treatment of TNBC.

1.9.7.2. Surgery

Factors such as patient age, tumour size and grade, and the patient's own preference impact surgical treatment choice of mastectomy versus lumpectomy.⁴²⁰ Previous studies show that surgery which conserves the breast remains the gold standard in patients with clinically T1 and T2 cancers, while mastectomy is reserved for larger tumours, multifocal/multicentric tumours and in tumours with positive margins after conservative surgery.³⁷⁰

1.9.7.3. Radiotherapy

Current treatment guidelines for BC recommend breast conserving surgery and concomitant radiotherapy if the tumour is less than 4cm, with negative surgical margins.³⁷⁰ With regard to TNBC, the specific radiotherapy treatment practice is directly correlated to the degree of surgery carried out and the lymph node status. Post-mastectomy, adjuvant radiotherapy is given in high risk patients as with tumours >5cm (pT3), metastatic axillary disease and/or presence of lymphovascular invasion.^{421, 422} Studies by the Early Breast Cancer Trialists' Collaborative Group show that radiotherapy received after breast conserving surgery and/or mastectomy improved long term survival,⁴²³ while a reduced rate of recurrence was found to be very much dose dependant.⁴²⁴

1.10. Roadmap of this thesis

1.10.1. Aims

The aims of this work were

- (i) To perform a comprehensive review of the clinicopathological features, treatment and outcome of patients diagnosed with TNBC at GUH over 15 years.
- (ii) To evaluate pathological features, sTILs and candidate biomarkers as prognostic factors in TNBC.
- (iii) To evaluate the prognostic role of iNOS and COX-2 in BC.

1.10.2. Overview of the approach

1.10.2.1. Construction of a TNBC database and TMA

- Creation of TNBC database from cases managed in GUH from January 2000- December 2015 to include pathological, clinical, and outcome data.
- Construction of a TNBC TMA from formalin fixed paraffin embedded (FFPE) tissue.
- Validation of TNBC status by IHC on the TMA.

1.10.2.2. Evaluation of the prognostic role of sTILs and other biomarkers in TNBC

- Assessment of sTILs on full-face tumour sections from the therapeutic excisions of TNBC.
- Determination of the association between sTILs and clinicopathological features and outcome.
- Testing of the correlation between sTILs in TNBC assessed pre- and post-NACT.
- Examination of the associations between expression of other routine biomarkers and clinicopathological variables and outcome.

1.10.2.3. Characterization of COX-2 and iNOS expression in BC

- Optimisation of COX-2 and iNOS antibodies for immunohistochemical staining in BC.
- To evaluate association between COX-2 and iNOS and clinicopathological features and outcome in IBC, including in ER-negative BC.
2. MATERIALS AND METHODS

2.1. Patient materials

Our work is based on a retrospective observational study, held in the Discipline of Pathology Department in NUI Galway.

Two series of invasive BCs were studied in this work.

1. The first is TNBC series, comprising 376 tumours of invasive BCs, diagnosed in 355 patients, managed in GUH between January 2000- December 2015.

2. The second is West of Ireland Invasive BC (WOI BC) series, comprising 666 cases of invasive BCs, managed in GUH from 1999 to 2005.

GUH Ethics Committee granted ethical approval for collection of patient data and the use of patient material, approval references C.A.41, C.A 489 and C.A.1012. All patient data was handled anonymously and confidentially.

2.1.1. TNBC Series

2.1.1.1. Study cohort and data collection

A database of BC cases reported with negative results for ER, PgR and HER-2 on pathological (diagnostic and/or therapeutic) examination was created by Dr. Elaine Walsh and Dr. Aliaa Shalaby (AS). The patients were managed in GUH, Mayo University Hospital and The Galway Clinic, between January 2000-December 2015. The eligible patients were retrieved from a search of patients with BC in the Department of Anatomical Pathology, GUH, through the Laboratory information system (Apex) from (January 2000 - December 2015). This was cross-referenced to a database of BC patients held in the Discipline of Surgery, NUI Galway. In total 365 patients were deemed eligible for inclusion in the study. There were 389 primary tumours that belong to these 365 patients. Multiple primary tumours were recorded separately and linked to the same patient data entry.

All relevant clinicopathological data, neoadjuvant oncologic treatment and follow up information were collected from patient medical records including the patient charts and hospital information system (PAS: Patient Administration System) which is a computerized up-to-date system with patient demographic data and health history. The patient identities were anonymised. The last patient follow-up update was performed in December 2016. The follow-up for patients who received NACT (n = 97) was updated again in March 2017.

Demographic and epidemiological parameters collected included:

- Hospital number
- Age at diagnosis
- Ethnicity
- Menopausal status at diagnosis
- Reproductive history including age of menarche, age of menopause, age of first live birth, number of full term pregnancies, history of breastfeeding regarding the number of children breastfeed and the duration of breastfeeding
- Smoking status and alcohol intake
- Previous medical history as well as history of any benign breast disease
- Medication in addition to use of oral contraceptive pills or hormone replacement therapy
- History of another cancer including previous BC
- Family history of cancer
- BRCA status
- Body weight, height and body mass index (BMI)

All pathological reports for all the surgical procedures for each patient were reviewed and the histopathological parameters were collected.

Where data was missing the slides for such cases were reviewed to generate data.

The pathological data was incomplete in many cases and, where possible, those cases were reviewed by (AS) and Prof. Grace Callagy (GC) and data was completed. Representative slides from all cases were also reviewed.

The Parameters collected from the histopathological reports included:

- Type of surgical procedure for the primary and axillary disease
- Tumour Site (laterality)
- Tumour histological type
- Tumour grade (using Elston and Ellis' modified Bloom Richardson system)²²⁸
- Tumour tubule formation score
- Tumour nuclear pleomorphism score
- Tumour mitotic count score
- Invasive tumour size
- Presence of in situ disease and its type, grade and percentage
- Whole tumour size
- Presence of lymphovascular invasion
- Nodal status including sentinel, axillary non-sentinel, intra-mammary and supraclavicular lymph nodes
- Pathological response to NACT within the tumour and the lymph nodes and if any reported change in tumour grade
- Presence of tumour necrosis or inflammatory infiltrate
- The TNM stage was recorded/modified according to the TNM classification of breast tumours (TNM: 7th edition)

Treatment and survival parameters:

- Details of NACT and clinical response.
- Details for adjuvant chemotherapy and radiotherapy.
- Any subsequent diagnoses of recurrence/metastasis and its date and site.
- Date of last follow-up
- Status at last follow-up

Disease-free survival (DFS) was calculated as the interval from the date of primary diagnosis to the first event whether it is a recurrence (loco-regional or distant) or development of a new primary TNBC. Metastases-free survival (MFS) was calculated as the interval from the date of primary diagnosis to the development of distant metastases. Overall survival (OS) was calculated as the interval from the date of primary diagnosis to until death. Breast cancer specific survival (BCSS) was calculated as the interval from the date of primary diagnosis to date of death due to BC. These parameters were measured in months.

2.1.1.2. Exclusion criteria

A total of 389 tumours from 365 patients were deemed eligible for this study. Immunohistochemical (IHC) positivity for ER/PgR and/or HER-2 or HER-2 positivity on fluorescence in situ hybridization (FISH) leads to exclusion of the tumour from the cohort. In total, fifteen tumours were excluded due to positivity of ER/PR/HER-2 either on IHC done on the tissue microarray (TMA) or on FISH for HER-2 done on whole tissue section. These cases were mostly diagnosed in earlier years where different IHC assays were used. Cases for which there was no material available for TMA were included in the database; the majority of these were diagnosed in recent years and/or had NACT, where pCR was achieved. The IHC was deemed to be reliable for these cases. Therefore the final TNBC database included 374 tumours from 355 patients. Four cases had bilateral synchronous TNBC, five patients had bilateral asynchronous TNBC, Seven cases had synchronous ipsilateral bifocal TNBC, one case had synchronous ipsilateral three foci of TNBC and one case had asynchronous ipsilateral TNBC primary tumours.

With regards to the inclusion of cases on the TMA, material from 300 cases of the cohort was available for TMA. The remainder of the cases could not be arrayed and these comprised cases that were unsuitable for punching (n=65), cases for which the therapeutic resection (THE) was unavailable (n=22), and cases with proven HER-2 positivity by FISH (n=2).

2.1.1.3. TMA construction

In our study, 300 archival TNBCs were assembled on TMA blocks according to Kononen *et al.*, 1998.⁴²⁵

The histology slides from the cases included in TNBC database (n=389), as described earlier were retrieved from the archives of the Department of Histopathology, GUH. For each case, all the slides were reviewed by AS, and the tumours were identified and marked. The corresponding areas on the FFPE tissue blocks were labelled and the availability of sufficient material for use in TMA creation was evaluated. Subsequent to the selection of the most appropriate representative (donor) block from each tumour, a map for each array was created and the co-ordinates for each core were recorded. To mark the position of the first sample on each TMA and ensure the precise positioning of the array, additional asymmetric sample spots were placed in the upper left hand corner of each recipient block. These assigned orientation cores were collected from normal multiple tissues.

Empty (recipient) paraffin wax blocks (34 x 23 x 4 mm) were constructed into which the donor cores were inserted. A tissue-arraying instrument (Beecher Instrument, Silver Springs) was utilized to extract cylindrical tissue cores from each tumour donor block (using a stainless steel needle-like tube) and inject it into the allocated pre-drilled hole on the mapped recipient TMA block. Cores at 1 mm in diameter (0.7857mm surface area) were punched. The choice of the core size was practical to maximize the number of tumour cells examined; minimize the possibility of cores devoid of cancer cells; with least possible damage to the tumour area on the donor block. As the donor blocks exhibit varying thicknesses, a depth stop was adjusted at 3mm height to increase the chance of height uniformity of the cores. The distance between the cores was 0.7 mm.

On completion of each recipient TMA block, it was then placed on a glass slide face down and heated for 30 minutes at 40°C followed by cooling it for 10 minutes. These last steps promote homogenization of the sampled cores with the recipient block paraffin wax.

53



Figure 2.1. Summary of the steps of TMA construction (A) An H&E-stained whole section in which the tumour area is labeled and matched into the corresponding FFPE block (B) A donor block and a TMA block during the construction of the TMA (C) Picture of H&E stained TMA array with 4 controls at the left top corner as an identifier.

For the majority of the cases, tumour was cored in quadruplicate onto the TMA on different recipient blocks. In minority of the cases, due to small tumour size or difficult nature of the tumour hindering punching, only one or two cores were obtained.

A maximum of 72 tissues cores were placed on a single block (Table 2.1.). The TMA was constructed in the Discipline of Pathology, NUIG by research assistant Ms Nessa Keane and Mr. Mark Webber.

Array	Number of TNBC cores	Number of control cores
TNBC TMA (1A, 1B, 1C, 1D)	58	5
TNBC TMA (2A, 2B, 2C, 2D)	58	5
TNBC TMA (3A, 3B, 3C, 3D)	61	2
TNBC TMA (4A, 4B, 4C, 4D)	60	3
TNBC TMA (5A, 5B, 5C, 5D)	71	1
TNBC TMA (6A)	51	4

Table 2.1. Number of tumour cores on each TMA

The presence of tumour was confirmed by review of the Hematoxylin and Eosin (H&E) stained sections. Finally, the TMAs were scanned using Olympus (VS120) slide scanner in Discipline of Pathology, NUI Galway.

2.1.1.4. Validation of TNBC status on the TMA

The TNBC status was confirmed on the TMA. To this end, a TMA of TNBCs was constructed. The process for including patients in the final cohort is outlined in figure 2.1. From a total of 389 tumours from 365 patients with TNBC, the TNBC status was confirmed in 287 of these.



Figure 2.2. Flow chart of TNBC cohort, and strategy for tumour selection and exclusions

2.1.1.5. Histological assessment of the tumour type, grade and sTILs.

Assessment of tumour type, grade and sTILs was done on full-face sections and on needle core biopsy (NCB) from those who had pCR. The following parameters were assessed: by two pathologists (AS and GC).

- Tumour histological type.
 - In cases diagnosed with medullary features, we assessed the proportion of the tumour with the following properties:
 - Pushing or circumscribed margin
 - Syncytial growth pattern/ solid sheets
 - High nuclear grade
 - Abundant lymphoplasmacytic infiltrate
 - In cases of diagnosed metaplastic carcinoma, assessment of the neoplastic cell phenotype was done according to the WHO classification.
- Tumour grade (using Elston and Ellis' modified Bloom Richardson system).²²⁸
- sTILs. Previous studies defined it as the percentage of the tumour stroma occupied by mononuclear cells (lymphocytes and/or plasma cells).^{110, 387, 426, 427} Using the recommendation of the TILs working group (2014), we examined TILs within the stroma of the invasive tumour, excluding the areas of necrosis, DCIS, cavity or previous biopsy sites.⁴²⁷ As the density and distribution of the mononuclear cells was heterogeneous throughout the tumour stroma, an average percentage was given on a continuous scale (0-100) then categorized on a scale 0-4 as follows (0= No mononuclear infiltrate, 1=>10%, 2= 10-25%, 3=25-50%, 4=>50%).
- Presence or absence of necrosis within the invasive tumour.

2.1.2. WOI BC series

2.1.2.1. WOI BC series

Both COX-2 and iNOS are novel markers and their expression across all BC subtypes is unknown, therefore expression of these markers was examined in a series of BCs that included all subtypes that had been previously constructed. For this purpose, a database comprising all BCs diagnosed at GUH from 1999 – 2005 was used. This database and TMA had been previously created in the Discipline of Pathology, NUI Galway.⁴²⁸ Tumour material comprised 666 invasive BCs, including 8 % TNBCs. The clinicopathological characteristics of the WOI series are detailed in Table 2.2. Routine biomarkers were previously done and scored. The details of the antibodies used and the biomarker profile of the WOI BC series are shown in Appendix II.

Parameter (n ^a)		Number (%)
	Ductal	509 (77)
	Lobular	102 (15)
	Mucinous	14 (2)
Investive Turnour type (661)	Tubular	5 (1)
invasive runiour type (001)	Microinvasive ductal	5 (1)
	Medullary	5 (1)
	Mixed ^b	8 (1.5)
	Others ^c	8 (1.5)
	1	82 (14)
Invasive tumour grade (601)	2	307 (51)
	3	212 (35)
	1	31 (5)
Tubule formation (583)	2	74 (13)
	3	478 (82)
	1	7 (1)
Nuclear pleomorphism (583)	2	287 (49)
	3	289 (50)

Table 2.2.	Clinicopathological	features of the	WOI BC series
------------	---------------------	-----------------	---------------

Parameter (n ^a =)			Number (%)
	1		367 (63)
Mitotic count (583)	2		103 (18)
	3		113 (19)
Investive tum our size (mm)	≤20		239 (38)
(625)	21-50		314 (50)
(025)	>50		72 (12)
	Present		203 (53)
Lymphovascular invasion (386)	Absent		174 (45)
	Probable		9 (2)
	Desitive	1-3 positive nodes	165 (28)
	Fositive	4-9 positive nodes	88 (15)
Noual status (390)	[n=302(51%)]	≥ 10 positive nodes	49 (8)
	Negative	294 (49)	
	Alive, no disease		301 (45)
	Alive, loco-regional disease		191 (29)
Patient outcome (663)	Alive, distant metastases		58 (9)
	Dead with disease progression		87 (13)
	Dead with no disease progression		26 (4)
ED (522)	Positive		344 (66)
EK (522)	Negative	178 (34)	
D D (714)	Positive		297 (56)
rgk (534)	Negative	237 (44)	
	Positive		85 (14)
HEK-2 (602)	Negative	517 (86)	
	Positive		42 (9)
CK5/0 (403)	Negative		421 (91)
	Positive		94 (21)
CK14 (444)	Negative		350 (79)
ECED (577)	Positive		77 (14)
EGFK (527)	Negative		450 (85)
D-12(524)	Positive		290 (54)
BCI-2 (334)	Negative		244 (46)
	Positive		105 (20)
pəə (523)	Negative	418 (80)	
	A <i>C</i> th 1 1	1 11 1 1 10(20/)	<u> </u>

Table 2.2. (cont'd.)

 $n^a = no. of cases with data available; Mixed^b: mixed ductal and lobular=10(2%) plus mixed$ Ductal and papillary or cribriform=3(0.5); Others^c: Apocrine n= 3; Invasive papillary n=2;Lymphoma n = 1; cribriform carcinoma n = 1 and metaplastic carcinoma n = 1.

2.2. IHC

2.2.1. Staining

Staining of the TNBC TMA

Sections from the TNBC TMAs were cut at 4µm and transferred onto polysine (VWR International) slides for immunohistochemical staining. Immunohistochemical assessment was carried out on the TNBC TMA series for routinely used biomarkers. Ms Karen Scahill performed immunostaining for the routine diagnostic antibodies ER, PgR, HER-2, AR, CK5/6, p53 and Bcl-2 in the Department of Anatomic Pathology, GUH using the Ultra Ventana Benchmark automated slide staining systems according to the manufacturer's protocol. Immunostaining for EGFR and CK14 was performed by Mr. Tony O'Grady in the Department of Histopathology, Royal College of Surgeons of Ireland (RCSI), using an automated immunostainer (BondTM III system – Leica MicroSystemsTM, Newcastle, U.K.) and according to the manufacturer's protocol. Standard indirect immunoperoxidase procedures were used. The list of primary antibodies, clones, source and the dilutions that were used in this work on the TNBC cohort are given in Table 2.3.

Ab	Source	Clone	Dilution	Detection Kit	Antigen retrieval
ER	Thermo- scientific	SP1 Rabbit monoclonal Ab	1:100 for 32 minutes at 37C	Ultraview DAB	CC1 ^a for 36 minutes
PgR	Leica	16/SAN27 Mouse monoclonal Ab	1:200 for 32 minutes	Ultraview DAB	CC1 ^a for 64 minutes
HER-2	Roche	4B5 Rabbit monoclonal Ab	Pre-filled dilution for 12 minutes at 37C	Ultraview DAB	CC1 ^a for 32 minutes
AR	Dako	AR441 Murine monoclonal Ab	1:50 for 32 minutes at 37C	Optiview DAB detection kit	CC1 ^a for 34 minutes
CK5/6	Dako	D5/16 B4 Mouse monoclonal Ab	1:100 for 24 minutes at 37C	Optiview DAB detection kit	CC1 ^a for 32 minutes
CK14	Leica	LL002 Mouse monoclonal Ab	1:400 for 30 minutes at 25C	Optiview DAB detection kit	ER1 ^c for 20 minutes
EGFR	Leica	EGFR.25	1:100 for 60 minutes at 25C	Optiview DAB detection kit	ER2 ^b for 20 minutes
p53	Roche	D0-7 Mouse monoclonal Ab	Pre-filled dilution for 32 minutes at 37°C	Optiview DAB detection kit	CC1 ^a for 64 minutes
Bcl-2	Dako	124 Mouse monoclonal Ab	1:100 for 32 minutes	Optiview DAB detection kit	CC1 ^a for 36 minutes
CC1 ^a : Ventar	na Antigen Ret	rieval Cell Con	ditioning Buffer	1 (Tris/Borate	/EDTA Buffer

Table 2.3. Primary (routine) antibodies: sources and optimization protocol

CC1^a: Ventana Antigen Retrieval Cell Conditioning Buffer 1 (Tris/Borate/EDTA Buffer pH8.4), ER2^b: EDTA based epitope retrieval ready to use solution (pH 9.0), ER1^c: Citrate based epitope retrieval ready to use solution (pH 6.0)

COX-2 and iNOS staining

We selected our COX-2 and iNOS antibodies according to published data for available commercially validated antibodies.^{191, 429} They were optimized for use on breast tissue, manually by Mr. M. Webber at the Discipline of Pathology, NUI Galway. Summary of antibodies, sources, clones, dilutions and optimization protocols are given in Table 2.4.

Sections of the TMA blocks of the WOI BC series were cut at 4µm and transferred onto prewashed polysine coated slides (VWR International) for immunohistochemical staining. Sections were dried overnight on a heated slide rack at 37°C, followed by incubation in an oven for 30 minutes at 60°C to liquify the wax. Then the slides were deparaffinised in xylene for 10 minutes, and subsequently hydrated by submersion in graded ethanol solutions and rinsed with distilled water. Antigen retrieval was performed as described in Table 2.4. using a Biocare NXGen Pressure Cooker, followed by administration of 2.5% horse serum for 20 minutes to block any non-specific binding sites of the antibodies. Afterwards, the appropriate concentration of the primary antibody (as mentioned in Table 2.4.) was added to the sections which were then incubated in a humidified chamber at room temperature overnight. ImmPRESSTM universal reagent (Vector) secondary antibodies complex solution which is bound to peroxidise, was then put on to the sections for 40 minutes succeeded by another rinse in PBS. For the development of chromogen, ImmPACTTM diaminobenzidine (DAB) (Vector) was utilised to visualise the colour reaction under the light microscope. The reaction was stopped by immersion of the slides in distilled water once the optimal staining is seen. The time needed for chromogen development was adjusted for each antibody on the first TMA slide then standardized on the rest of the TMA slides used for the same antibody. Finally, the sections were counterstained with hematoxylin, dehydrated and mounted.

		Primary antibody:		
Antibody	Pretreatment- antigen retrieval	Manfacturer, clone,	Incubation	
		type, dilution		
		Thermo-scientific		
COX-2	HIER Citrate buffer (pH: 6) for	SP21	Overnight @ 4C	
	15 minutes at 110C at PC	Rabbit monoclonal Ab		
		1:100		
		BD transduction		
NOS	HIER Citrate buffer (pH: 6) for	6/iNOS/NOS Type II	Overnight @ 10	
INUS	15 minutes at 110C at PC	Mouse monoclonal Ab	Overnight @ 4C	
		1:100		
PC: pressure	e cooker; RT: room temperature			

Table 2.4. Primary (novel) antibodies: sources and optimization protocols

2.2.2. Evaluation of IHC

Evaluation of staining for routine antibodies as well as additional research biomarkers on the TNBC TMA series was carried out manually by at least two observers (Dr. AS with Prof. GC and/or Dr. Helen Ingoldsby (HI)). Each was blinded to the other's results and to the clinicopathological data. A single observer (AS) scored all IHC on the series and a second observer (GC or HI) then independently reviewed ten to twenty percent of cases (randomly selected). To ensure reproducibility, scores given by both observers were compared and the Kappa coefficient calculated. Both observers (AS and GC or HI) reviewed any cases with discrepant scores together and agreed on a final score. For the tumours that had results from two or more cores, those cores were reviewed by AS again and a final score for each tumour on the array was determined by combining and averaging the results of all cores for that tumour.

For most markers, IHC was scored semi-quantitatively in which the unequivocal percentage of positive cells and the intensity of staining were recorded. The cutoff values and the categorizing scoring systems that were used to indicate positive versus negative staining were chosen in a different way for each of the markers according to the literature.

For Validation of the TNBC status, ER, PgR and HER-2 were evaluated on cases on the TMA. For ER and PgR, the percentage of tumour cells with nuclear staining and the intensity were recorded then categorized according to the Allred scoring method.⁴³⁰ The percentage of positive cells with nuclear staining was recorded then assigned a proportion score (score 0= no staining, score 1= <1%, score 2= 1-10%; score 3= 11-33%, score 4= 34-66% and score 5= > 66%) while the intensity of staining is scored on a tier of 0-3 as follows (score 0= no staining, score 1= weak, score 2= moderate; score 3= strong).⁴³¹

ER and PgR positivity was only considered when >1% of the tumour cells show nuclear expression for those markers, regardless of the intensity result.⁴³²

HER-2 expression was graded as recommended by the guidelines in 2013,⁴³³ as follows: Score 0: no staining or faint incomplete membranous staining in $\leq 10\%$ of the tumour cells; 1+: faint partial membrane staining in $\geq 10\%$ of the tumour cells; 2+: weak-or-moderate incomplete membrane staining in $\geq 10\%$ of the tumour cells or complete circumferential intense membrane staining in $\leq 10\%$ of the tumour cells; 3+: strong complete membrane staining in $\geq 10\%$ of the tumour cells.

For the remaining markers, the percentage of positive cells (either nuclear or cytoplasmic, depending on the antibody) and the staining intensity were recorded then categorized. The cut-off values were based on those reported in the literature and/or on statistical analysis. A cut-off for positivity of 10% cytoplasmic and/or membranous staining was used for CK5/6 and CK14, similar to the threshold implemented by other basal BC studies using IHC.^{286, 359, 434} Membranous stain was evaluated for EGFR immunohistochemical test and was scored in a scale (0-3) according to the scoring guidelines for HER-2 protein. However, score 2+ in addition to 3+ are regarded as positive.²⁸⁶

Nuclear expression was evaluated for AR and p53, while cytoplasmic expression for Bcl-2 was evaluated. For each of the above, the percentage of unequivocal positive tumour cells was estimated on a continuous scale (0-100%). The intensity was designated on a scale (0-3) similar to that used with ER and PgR scoring. The threshold for AR has varied in the literature but a value between 1% and 10% is most commonly reported.⁴³⁵⁻⁴³⁸ We segregated the cohort into 2 subgroups: AR negative (<10% expression), and AR positive tumours (\geq 10% expression). p53 was dichotomized at 10% similar to other studies done recently on BC.⁴³⁹⁻⁴⁴²

Cytoplasmic staining was evaluated for each of the COX-2 and iNOS on the WOI BC TMAs. The staining was scored as an absolute percentage from 0-100% and the intensity from 0-3. The result was then categorized according to the method used by Glynn *et al.*, 2010.^{191, 429} The scoring method was as follows: intensity (0 to 3): negative, weak, moderate, strong; distribution (0 to 4): <10%, 10% to 30%, >30% to 50%, >50% to 80%, >80%. Then, the total score was divided into four subgroups: negative (0 or 1), weak (2 or 3), moderate (4 or 5), and strong (6 or 7). Of note, where there was heterogeneity of the staining intensity, the intensity present in the greatest percentage is the one recorded.

2.3. Fluorescence in situ hybridization (FISH) for HER-2

FISH was performed for the cases with equivocal results (2+) for HER-2 immunohistochemical analysis on the TMA, by Dr. Allan O'Keeffe in the Anatomical Pathology Department, GUH. The test was performed on 4 μ m thick whole tissue sections using the HER-2 FISH-kit (PathVysion HER-2 06N46). FISH was scored according to ASCO/CAP guidelines (2013),⁴³³ which reports the average HER-2/neu count to average CEP17 count and calculated ratio.⁴³³

2.4. Statistical analysis

The majority of statistical analyses was done by Dr. Sharon Glynn, Lecturer of Pathology, School of Medicine, NUI Galway. Descriptional statistics were done by Dr. AS.

- Comparisons between the expression of each immunohistochemical antibody, clinicopathological features and sTILs were analyzed using either by Fisher's exact test or chi-squared test.
- A *t* test was used to analyze differences between between the means in two unrelated groups.
- Kaplan-Meier estimates were plotted for survival (DFS, MFS, BCSS, OS), and the log rank test was used to assess significance. Patients who died of causes not related to BC were excluded from BCSS.
- Cox regression univariate analysis (UVA) was used to calculate an adjusted hazard ratio (HR) and to evaluate any independent prognostic effect of the variables on patients' survival with 95% confidence interval (95% CI).
- Cox regression multivariate analysis (MVA) model was used to compute HR and 95% CI, adjusting for known prognostic variables (age, menopausal status, grade, tumour size, nodal status).
- To evaluate interobserver agreement and concordance of duplicated TMA cores for each of the markers, the κ agreement statistic was calculated.
- All statistical tests were two sided and p-values less than 0.05 were considered statistically significant.
- Data analysis was performed using the Stata/SE 14 (Stata Corp, College Station, TX), GraphPad Prism 5 (GraphPad Software, San Diego, CA) and SPSS (23) statistical software packages.

3. CHARACTERISATION OF A TNBC SERIES AND EVALUATION OF PROGNOSTIC ROLE FOR HISTOPATHOLOGICAL AND IMMUNOHISTOCHEMICAL VARIABLES

3.1. Introduction

The aims of this work are to generate a detailed pathological and clinical characterization of TNBCs diagnosed at GUH from January 2000 to December 2015 and to identify pathological features of prognostic significance. This analysis particularly focused on the evaluation of the histological types in TNBC and their assessment against clinical endpoints.

3.2. Characteristics of the TNBC series

There were 374 TNBC tumours included in the TNBC series, from 355 patients who were managed partially or fully in GUH between January 2000 and December 2015. This included four patients who had bilateral synchronous TNBC tumours; five patients with bilateral asynchronous TNBC tumours; eight patients with multiple synchronous ipsilateral TNBCs; and one patient possessed asynchronous ipsilateral TNBC primary tumours.

Clinical details, histopathological information, treatment, follow-up and outcome status were collected. Clinical features, TNM stage and outcome of the TNBC patients are summarised in Table 3.1. Pathological characteristics for the TNBC tumours are summarised later in Table 3.2.

Parameter		TNBC	NACT	Patients
		All patients	treated	not treated
			patients	with NACT
		(n=355)	(n=97)	(n= 258)
		n (%)	n (%)	n (%)
Age at	<45 years	82 (23)	39 (40)	43 (17)
diagnosis	\geq 45 years	273 (77)	58 (60)	215 (84)
Menopausal	Pre-menopausal	124 (35)	57 (60)	67 (26)
status	Post-menopausal	215 (61)	33 (34)	182 (71)
	Unknown	16 (4)	7 (7)	9 (3)
BRCA status	BRCA-1 Mutated	12 (3)	4 (4)	8 (3)
	BRCA-2 Mutated	7 (2)	2 (2)	5 (2)
	Unspecified mutation	1 (<1)	0 (0)	1 (<1%)
	No mutation	248 (70)	74 (76)	174 (67)
	Unknown status	87 (25)	17 (18)	70 (27)
Tumour	0		35 (36)	0 (0)
stage	Is		8 (8)	0 (0)
	1		27 (28)	86 (33)
	2		12 (12)	129 (50)
	3		5 (5)	14 (5)
	4		10 (10)	15 (6)
	Х		0 (0)	14 (5)
Nodal stage	0		63 (65)	151 (59)
	1		12 (12)	48 (19)
	2		13 (13)	19 (7)
	3		8 (8)	16 (6)
	Х		1 (1)	24 (9)
`Nodal status	Negative	214 (60)	63 (65)	151 (59)
	Positive	116 (33)	33 (34)	83 (32)
	Unknown	25 (7)	1 (1)	24 (9)
M1 at	No	338 (95)	93 (96)	245 (95)
diagnosis	Yes	17 (5)	4 (4)	13 (5)

Table 3.1. Demographics, TNM stage and outcome of the TNBC cohort

Parameter		TNBC	NACT	Patients
		All patients	treated	not treated
			patients	with NACT
		(n=355)	(n=97)	(n= 258)
		n (%)	n (%)	n (%)
Survival	Alive, with disease progression	15 (4)	3 (3)	12 (5)
	Alive, no disease progression	250 (7)	76 (78)	174 (67)
	Dead, disease progression	74 (20)	17 (17)	57 (22)
	Dead, unknown cause	9 (3)	1 (1)	8 (3)
	Dead, other type of cancer	7 (2)	0 (0)	7 (3)
New events*	Local recurrence	17 (5)	1 (1)	16 (6)
	Distant recurrence	46 (13)	10 (10)	36 (14)
	Local and distant recurrence	14 (4)	6 (6)	8 (3)
	Non-TNBC breast cancer	3 (1)	1 (1)	2 (<1)
	Other cancer	9 (3)	0 (0)	9 (3)
Number of	At 1 year	31 (9)	7 (7)	24 (9)
recurrence	At 2 years	65 (19)	15 (15)	40 (16)
events/time	At 5 years	05 (18)	15 (15)	40 (10)
Number of	At 1 year	18 (5)	6 (6)	12 (5)
distant				
metastases	At 3 years	53 (15)	15 (15)	38 (15)
events/time				
Number of	At 1 year	23 (6)	5 (5)	15 (6)
deaths/time	At 3 years	60 (17)	14 (14)	38 (15)
Number of	At 1 year	20 (6)	15 (15)	5 (2)
BC-specific	At 2 years	52 (15)	38 (30)	14 (5)
deaths/time	At 5 years	52 (15)	38 (39)	14 (3)
Site of	Bone	37 (10)	7 (7)	30 (12)
distant	CNS	36 (10)	7 (7)	29 (11)
metastases	Liver	33 (9)	5 (5)	28 (11)
	Lung	33 (9)	7 (7)	26 (10)
	Pleura/peritoneum	18 (5)	3 (3)	15 (6)
	Soft tissue	18 (5)	4 (4)	14 (5)
	Distant LN	37 (10)	11 (11)	26 (10)
	Unknown	9 (3)	1 (1)	8 (3)
* Data for 10 c	ases were unavailable			

Table 3.1. (Cont'd)

3.2.1. Age and menopausal status

The median age of diagnosis was 55 years (range: 24-92 years), which is consistent with other studies (51-58 years).⁴⁴³⁻⁴⁴⁵ TNBC was diagnosed in young females 'before the age of 35 years' only in 6.5% (n=23), which is lower than the ranges reported in other series ($22.2\%^{446}$ and $13.98\%^{447}$).

Sixty percent (215/355) of our cohort were diagnosed at post-menopausal status. This is consistent with other studies^{359, 448, 449} that reported that TNBC is slightly less common in pre-menopausal women. It was noted that NACT was given to younger patients. In the patients >45 years only a fifth (21.2%; n=58/273) underwent NACT while the rest were NACT naïve (78.7%; n=215/273).

3.2.2. BRCA mutation status

The Irish NCMG (National Centre for Medical Genetics) recommend testing for BRCA mutation if a BC diagnosis is made in a female before the age of 40 years old, bilateral disease or coexistence with ovarian cancer.⁴⁵⁰

BRCA mutations occur in different proportions in different ethnicities; these were detected only in 7.5% of the investigated cases in our cohort (n=20/268). This is nearly less than half of the proportion studied in Australian and Polish populations,⁴⁴³ and less than a quarter of that reported in American females.^{455,451} In this work, BRCA mutation carriers were diagnosed at a significantly younger age (median= 39.5 years; mean±SD= 40.72±8.449) than BRCA non-carriers (median= 55 years; mean±SD= 55.88±13.69) (p=<0.001; independent T-test). This corresponds with other studies.^{451,452} BRCA1 mutation was detected more often than BRCA2 in this cohort (n=12/355; 3.4% versus 7/355; 1.97%). This prevalence pattern, but in different proportions, was noted by other studies.^{445,452-455} Of the twelve BRCA1 carriers, five patients had multiple tumours (four had bilateral TNBC, while one had ipsilateral asynchronous TNBCs).

Parameter		TNBC	Post-NACT	NACT
		Clinical	TNBC	naïve
		cohort		TNBC
		(n=374)	(n=104)	(n= 270)
		n (%)	n (%)	n (%)
Tumour size	0 (pCR)	42 (11)	42 (40)	0 (0)
	<20	133 (36)	36 (35)	97 (36)
	21-50	152 (41)	18 (17)	134 (50)
	>50	29 (8)	8 (8)	21 (8)
	Unknown	18 (5)	0 (0)	18 (7)
Tumour grade	1	2 (<1)	0 (0)	2 (<1)
	2	68 (18)	28 (27)	40 (15)
	3	299 (80)	76 (73)	223 (83)
	Unknown	5 (1)	0 (0)	5 (2)
Tubule formation	1	3 (<1)	0 (0)	3 (1)
	2	27 (7)	8 (8)	19 (7)
	3	338 (90)	95 (91)	249 (90)
	Unknown	6 (2)	1 (1)	5 (2)
Nuclear	1	1 (<1)	0 (0)	1 (<1)
Pleomorphism	2	23 (6)	9 (9)	14 (5)
	3	344 (92)	94 (90)	250 (3)
	Unknown	6 (2)	1 (1)	5 (2)
Mitotic count	1	63 (167)	26 (25)	37 (14)
	2	92 (24)	33 (32)	59 (22)
	3	212 (57)	43 (41)	169 (63)
	Unknown	7 (2)	2 (2)	5 (2)
Tumour type	Ductal	276 (74)	86 (83)	190 (70)
	Lobular	15 (4)	1 (<1)	14 (5)
	Metaplastic	30 (8)	9 (9)	21 (8)
	Medullary	7 (2)	0 (0)	7 (3)
	Atypical medullary	24 (6)	6 (6)	18 (7)
	Apocrine	14 (4)	2 (2)	12 (4)
	Others	4 (1)	0 (0)	4 (1)
	Unknown	4 (1)	0 (0)	4 (1)
LVI	Yes	114 (31)	29 (28)	85 (31)
	No	253 (68)	74 (71)	179 (66)
	Unknown	7 (2)	1 (1)	6 (2)
pCR: pathological comp	lete response; LVI: lymp	hovascular inva	sion	

Table 3.2. Pathological characteristics for the TNBC tumours

3.2.3. Tumour size and nodal status

3.2.3.1. Tumour size and nodal status in chemotherapy naïve cases

For those who did not receive NACT, and for whom details of the pre-treatment tumour size and nodal status were available, the median invasive tumour size was 25mm (range: 5-110mm). This is similar to the tumour size of between 20 to 31mm reported by others.^{448, 449, 456} TNBC is known to be a fast-growing tumour that acquires a larger size at presentation.⁴⁴⁴ Only a third of the series were <20mm (n=133/374) (Table 3.2.). This is slightly more than other reports. Rakha *et al.*³⁵⁹ reported that only a fifth of 281 TNBCs were <15mm and Suresh *et al.* reported that a fifth of 171 TNBCs were <20mm.⁴⁵⁷

UVA of pathological variables against DFS were tested using Cox proportional hazards test, in which the baseline that was used for each analysis was the lower value for the parameter being tested, i.e. pT1 for NACT-naïve patients. As expected, tumour size pT was associated with adverse outcome (DFS) (Table 3.3.). Increasing tumour size was associated with reduced DFS and with a gradational increase in the hazard ratio. T4 tumours were associated with increased likelihood of disease recurrence by a factor of 4.27 (HR= 4.27, 95% CI: 1.73-10.55, p= 0.002) (Table 3.3.). There was no significant difference in hazard of adverse outcome for T1 tumours compared to T2 tumours.

Lymph node involvement is one of the most important prognostic factors in breast cancer patients.^{235, 458, 459} Lymph node status was classified according to the TNM 7th edition. Overall, the axillary status was assessed in 330/355 patients (93%), while it was unknown in 25/355 cases (7%) (Table 3.1.). The median number of the retrieved axillary nodes was 7 (range: 1-45). Axillary lymph node positivity was present in 35% (116/330) including 35% (83/234) of the chemotherapy naïve patients and 34% (33/96) of the post-NACT patients (Table 3.1). Hunag *et al.*⁴⁶⁰ reported that 38% of 504 TNBCs had axillary metastases while Sun *et al.* reported it in 27.9% of 86 chemotherapy naïve TNBCs.⁴⁶¹ The median number of positive axillary nodes was 3 (range: 1-37).

UVA of nodal stage against DFS were tested using Cox proportional hazards test. The baseline that was used for each analysis was nodal stage 0 (node negative disease). As expected, the higher pathological nodal stage was a poor prognostic factor in NACT-naïve TNBC (Table 3.3). Compared to N0 tumours, N1 tumours had 0.69 increased risk of recurrence (95% CI: 0.332-1.46, p= 0.34), and N2 tumours significantly doubled the HR for DFS (HR= 2.18, 95% CI: 1.28-5.59, p= 0.009) while N3 tumours were associated with a significant five-fold increase in the risk of recurrence (HR= 45.73, 95% CI: 2.87-11.4, p= <0.001) (Table 3.3.). This reflects that the increase in the number of positive lymph nodes was associated with reduction in DFS in a step-wise fashion, with substantial risk when nodal disease affect more than three lymph nodes.

	-				
Variable	HR	95% CI	p value	n	
DFS				226	
pN1	0.69	0.332-1.46	0.34		
pN2	2.68	1.28-5.59	0.009*		
pN3	5.73	2.87-11.4	<0.001*		
				234	
pT2	0.889	0.516 - 1.532	0.67		
pT3	2.18	0.97 - 4.9	0.059		
pT4	4.27	1.73 - 10.55	0.002*		
p values in bold indicate statistic	ally significa	int associations			

 Table 3.3. Univariate analysis of the association between tumour size and nodal status with DFS in TNBC patients not treated with NACT

MVA showed the tumour size (pT) as a significant independent predictor for MFS (HR= 1.67, 95% CI: 1.09-2.57, p= 0.018) and BCSS (HR= 2.07, 95% CI: 1.38-3.11, p= <0.001) but not for DFS (HR= 1.07, 95% CI=0.72-1.58, p=0.723) (Table 3.3.). Nodal stage also remained an independent prognostic factor for the DFS and MFS (HR= 1.77, 95% CI: 1.29-2.34, p= <0.001 and HR= 1.58, 95% CI: 1.15-2.22, p= 0.08 respectively) but not for BCSS (HR= 1.34, 95% CI: 0.94 - 1.90, p= 0.102) (Table 3.4.).

Variable	HR	95% CI	p value	n
DFS				206
Age at diagnosis	1.01	0.99-1.03	0.128	
Tumour grade	0.77	0.39-1.51	0.455	
pT stage	1.07	0.72 - 1.58	0.723	
pN	1.74	1.29-2.34	<0.0001*	
MFS				206
Age at diagnosis	1.01	0.98 - 1.03	0.298	
рТ	1.67	1.09 - 2.57	0.018*	
pN	1.58	1.12 - 2.22	0.008*	
BCSS				203
Age at diagnosis	1.01	0.99 - 1.04	0.154	
рТ	2.07	1.38 - 3.11	<0.0001*	
рN	1.34	0.94 - 1.90	0.102	

 Table 3.4. Multivariate survival analysis for TNBC patients not treated with

 NACT

3.2.3.2. Tumour size and nodal status in post NACT cases (Response to NACT)

NACT is increasingly used in TNBC patients, giving outcomes equivalent to adjuvant therapy. In addition, it has many benefits with reduction in the tumour size allowing more conservative surgical excision and permission of assessment of the tumour response to treatment histologically. However, the precise subcategorization of the different grades of pathological partial response (pPR) to NACT in this study was hindered because the reporting of response to therapy was not consistent throughout the years of the study. More recently, the post-NACT reporting became standardized with documentation of the presence of the tumour bed (including its size) and inclusion of a classification system for the grade.

For those who received NACT (n=97), a pCR was achieved in 42 cases (43%); in eight tumours, there was no residual invasive carcinoma but residual DCIS remained. Residual invasive disease was seen in 55 cases (57%). The median residual invasive tumour size was 17.5 mm (range: <1-100mm).

The survival data for those patients who received NACT was updated in March 2017 and this survival time was used for all survival analyses on these patients. UVA of ypT against survival was tested using Cox proportional hazards test, using ypT0 as the baseline for analysis. Increasing ypT size is associated with adverse DFS as highlighted by the increasing HR from 2.54 to 7.84, however significance was not attained for all ypT categories. Nonetheless, ypT4 was associated with an almost eight-fold increase in the hazard of an adverse DFS, MFS and BCSS (HR= 7.84, 95% CI=1.87 - 32.85, p=0.005; HR= 7.80, 95% CI= 1.86 - 32.67, p=0.005 and HR= 6.89, 95% CI= 1.72 - 27.60, p=0.006 respectively) (Table 3.5.).

Table 3.5. Univariate analysis of the association between tumour size post-NACT and outcome

Variable	HR	95% CI	p value	n	
DFS				93	
ypTis	8.66	0	1.00		
ypT1	2.54	0.63 - 10.15	0.188		
ypT2	4.44	1.06 - 18.6	0.041*		
урТ3	5.40	0.9 - 32.37	0.065		
ypT4	7.84	1.87 - 32.85	0.005*		
MFS				93	
ypTis	1.76	0	1.00		
ypT1	2.09	0.50 - 8.77	0.312		
ypT2	3.48	0.78 - 15.57	0.103		
урТ3	5.47	0.91 - 32.78	0.063		
ypT4	7.80	1.86 - 32.67	0.005*		
BCSS				96	
ypTis	4.20	0	1.00		
ypT1	2.13	0.51 - 8.91	0.302		
ypT2	1.61	0.27 - 9.63	0.603		
урТ3	5.20	0.87 - 31.18	0.071		
ypT4	6.89	1.72 - 27.60	0.006*		
p values in bold indicate statistically significant associations					

For those who received NACT, UVA showed that post-NACT nodal status was also significantly associated with a marked reduction in survival (DFS, MFS and BCSS) (Table 3.6). Compared to ypN0 tumours, ypN3 tumours were associated with a significant increase in the risk of recurrence (HR= 17.27, 95% CI: 5.48 - 54.46, p= <0.001), distant metastases (HR= 18.75, 95% CI: 5.82 - 60.43, p= <0.001) and BC related deaths (HR= 41.99, 95% CI: 10.99 - 160.30, p= <0.001) (Table 3.6).

Variable	HR	95% CI	p value	n		
DFS				92		
ypN1	3.44	1.05 - 11.21	0.041*			
ypN2	1.99	0.54 - 7.37	0.304			
ypN3	17.27	5.48 - 54.46	<0.001*			
MFS				92		
ypN1	3.85	1.16 - 12.86	0.028*			
ypN2	1.49	0.32 - 7.05	0.614			
ypN3	18.75	5.82 - 60.43	<0.001*			
BCSS				95		
ypN1	6.31	1.57 - 25.31	0.009*			
ypN2	3.58	0.80 - 16.06	0.095			
ypN3	41.99	10.99 - 160.30	<0.001*			
p values in bold indicate statistically significant associations						

 Table 3.6. Univariate analysis of the association between nodal status post

 NACT and outcome

For UVA and MVA analysis of tumour size post NACT, the ypT categories were collapsed such that ypT0/is (i.e. cases with no residual invasive carcinoma but with or without residual in situ disease) were classified as a pCR. Any case where there was any residual disease in the breast (ypT1-4) was regarded as a non-pCR. A pCR (ypT0/pTisN0) was reported in 36 cases (37%).

On UVA, pCR was a strong prognostic factor for DFS (HR= 6.66, 95% CI: 1.54 - 28.58, p=0.011), MFS (HR= 5.90, 95% CI: 1.36 - 25.56, p= 0.018) and BCSS (HR= 10.30, 95% CI: 1.37 - 77.38, p= 0.023) (Table 3.7.).

On MVA, the strength of pCR as an important independent predictor was maintained against DFS (HR= 6.23, 95% CI: 1.54 - 28.58, p=0.018), MFS (HR=

5.08, 95% CI: 1.09 - 23.65, p= 0.038) and BCSS (HR= 8.52, 95% CI: 1.09 - 66.64, p= 0.041) (Table 3.7.).

Variable	HR	95% CI	p value	n
DFS				
Univariate Analysis				93
pCR	6.66	1.54 - 28.58	0.011*	
Multivariate Analysis				85
pCR	6.23	1.36 - 28.50	0.018*	
Age at diagnosis	0.99	0.95 - 1.04	0.776	
Grade	1.05	0.39 - 2.81	0.926	
Tumour type	0.64	0.27 - 1.49	0.298	
Basal phenotype	1.61	0.36 - 7.20	0.530	
MFS				
Univariate Analysis				93
pCR	5.90	1.36 - 25.56	0.018*	
Multivariate Analysis				85
pCR	5.08	1.09 - 23.65	0.038*	
Age at diagnosis	0.99	0.95 - 1.04	0.841	
Grade	0.85	0.31 - 2.37	0.759	
Tumour type	0.67	0.30 - 1.52	0.343	
Basal phenotype	1.47	0.32 - 6.63	0.619	
BCSS				
Univariate Analysis				96
pCR	10.30	1.37 - 77.38	0.023*	
Multivariate Analysis				88
pCR	8.52	1.09 - 66.64	0.041*	
Age at diagnosis	1.01	0.96 - 1.06	0.714	
Grade	1.14	0.40 - 3.26	0.813	
Tumour type	0.77	0.40 - 1.49	0.441	
Basal phenotype	1.32	0.29 - 6.07	0.719	

Table 3.7. Univariate and multivariate survival analysis in NACT patients

* Treatment with platinum was included in the MVA model against DFS (HR= 0.68, 95% CI: 0.18 - 2.56, p= 0.566), MFS (HR= 0.69, 95% CI: 0.18 - 2.65, p= 0.590) and BCSS (HR= 0.310, 95% CI: 0.04 - 2.50, p= 0.272). p values in bold indicate statistically significant associations

3.2.4. Tumour grade

As expected, the majority of the TNBC tumours (n=299/374; 80%) were grade 3. Grade 1 was occasionally seen (n=2/374; <1%) (Table 3.2.). This is consistent with other reports.^{359, 462, 463}

In the TNBC cohort, there were 104 tumours from 97 patients who had an excision after NACT. In 40 of these, it was possible to assess tumour grade before and after NACT. In the remainder, there had either been a pCR, or the residual tumour after treatment was too small to grade, or the biopsy had been done in another centre. The overall grade did not change in 24 tumours (60%). The grade was lowered in 13 cases (32.5%), while raised in three cases (7.5%). These changes were due to a change in mitotic count score in all cases, which might be related to either the anti-proliferative chemotherapeutic effect or the unrepresentative biopsy for the mitotic count within the whole tumour. For statistical analysis, the final grade used was taken from the pre-treatment biopsy assessment. As the numbers of grade 1 tumours were very few, they were grouped with grade 2 for statistical analysis.

On Cox regression analysis, there was no association between tumour grade and outcome (Appendix III), which was also observed by others.^{358, 359} The association between the components of tumour grade and outcome were examined independently (Appendix III). Nuclear pleomorphism was marginally associated with adverse DFS (Grade 3 vs. Grade 1 and 2, HR= 0.402, 95% CI 0.055-2.89, p = 0.055) but there was no association between either tubule formation and mitotic score and DFS (Appendix III).

3.2.5. Histopathological tumour type

Previous studies highlighted that the morphological subtype of the TNBC tumour has an important prognostic role.^{324, 319, 464} Medullary carcinomas are recognized by their good outcome,²¹¹ while metaplastic carcinomas are known to have poor response to chemotherapy and worse outcome.³²⁸ Salivary gland-type tumours which arise in the breast are TN and have excellent prognosis.³⁴⁶ bACC had been reported to have 100% 5-year survival.³⁴⁶

The histological subtypes were reviewed. There was no case of adenoid cystic carcinoma (ACC) or secretory carcinoma in our series. As reported, the most common histological type was IDC-NST (81.5%), followed by metaplastic carcinoma (5%) and lobular carcinoma (5%). While the medullary (3%), apocrine (3%) and atypical medullary carcinoma (1%) were less common. Four cases were categorised as 'other type' for statistical purposes, as only one case belonged to each of the following categories: mixed ductal and lobular, papillary, micropapillary and mixed ductal and micropapillary.

Upon review, tumour type was changed in 40 cases (Figure 3.1.). Twenty nine cases that were typed as IDC-NST were re-typed to apocrine (n=4); medullary (n=3); atypical medullary (n=13) and metaplastic (n=11). Three ILCs were re-typed as ductal (n=2) and metaplastic (n=1). Seven medullary carcinomas were re-typed into atypical medullary. None of the metaplastic carcinomas or the 'other types' was changed.

After review, the most common histological subtype in the TNBC cohort remained the IDC-NST (73.79%) and metaplastic carcinoma (8%). The atypical medullary constituted 6.4% (n=24) while the lobular and apocrine subtypes showed nearly similar incidence (4%, n=15 and 3.7%, n=14 respectively). The typical medullary carcinoma comprised only 1.8% (n=7) (Figure 3.2.).



Figure 3.1. Re-classification of tumour type



Figure 3.2. Distribution of histologic tumour types in the TNBC cohort

3.2.5.1. Prognostic value of the histological subtype

Statistical analysis was done on the final reviewed histological subtype. UVA using the log rank test and Kaplan-Meier survival curves was done to estimate the cumulative survival rates according to the histotypes. The tumour type showed a significant influence on the DFS and a borderline effect on OS (p= <0.001 and p=0.04 respectively). Invasive lobular carcinomas showed the maximum risk of recurrence while medullary carcinomas had the minimum risk of recurrence (Figures 3.3. and 3.4).



Figure 3.3. Kaplan Meier curve for DFS in TNBC according to the final histological subtypes



Figure 3.4. Kaplan Meier curve for OS in TNBC according to the final histological subtypes

3.2.5.2. Special histologic subtypes of TNBC

3.2.5.2.1. Medullary-like carcinoma

Medullary carcinomas represent less than 5% of all invasive BC.^{211, 330} The diagnosis requires the presence of a lymphoplasmacytic infiltration, microscopic circumscription, syncytial growth pattern >75%, and grade 2 or 3 nuclei,^{332, 333} and has poor interobserver reproducibility.^{465, 466} Recently, the NHS guidelines recommend using a single term 'Invasive carcinoma with medullary features' for reporting classical medullary, atypical medullary and IDC with medullary characteristics as they mostly represent a continuum of a spectrum.³³¹ Although most of the studies showed that medullary carcinoma has a good prognosis, 332, 333 some authors reported a negative predictive effect.^{467, 468} A significant proportion of the diagnosed medullary carcinomas are TNBC, while approximately 30% hormone-receptor positivity nearly 10% show and show HER-2 overexpression.211

As the diagnosis of medullary carcinoma and its subtypes depends on the assessment of the entire tumour, all the available tumour slides were reviewed. The median number of slides examined per case was 3 (range, 1-8).

The following morphological features were assessed:

- The intensity of tumoural lymphocytic inflammation was assessed on a semi-quantitative scale as absent, mild, moderate or marked.
- The growth pattern whether syncytial or not, and if any tubular differentiation present.
- The nature of the margin whether circumscribed, pushing or infiltrative.
- Presence of a fine fibrotic band surrounding the tumour.

This result of the review of the 32 cases resulted in a re-classification of tumour type as follows;

- The diagnosis changed from IDC-NST to atypical medullary in 13 cases.
- The diagnosis changed from IDC-NST to medullary carcinoma in 3 cases.
- Four cases originally reported as medullary were reclassified as atypical medullary.
- A diagnosis an atypical medullary carcinoma in four cases that were treated with NACT and had a pCR was not changed.

The median age of the patients with medullary carcinoma was 56 years (range: 51-76 years), six were postmenopausal and none of them was a BRCA mutation carrier. The median size of the invasive tumour was 27mm (range 8 to 43 mm). Only one tumour was associated with DCIS. None of the cases had lymphovascular invasion or regional lymph node involvement. With a median follow-up period of 56 months (range: 5-161 months), there were no recorded distant metastases or deaths.

Twenty-four tumours were categorized as atypical medullary carcinoma. The feature that commonly precluded a diagnosis of medullary carcinoma was the presence of an infiltrative border. The median age was 49.5 years (range: 24-77 years), and half of them were postmenopausal (n=12/24). Five (20.8%) patients were carriers of BRCA mutation, of which four patients had BRCA1 mutation and one patient had BRCA2 mutation. The BRCA mutation carriers acquired the neoplasm at a younger age than BRCA non-carriers (median 44 years versus 52 years). The median size of the atypical medullary tumours was 24 mm (range 0 to 60 mm). One third of all cases (n=8/24) had associated DCIS. Lymphovascular invasion was seen in four tumours and regional lymph node involvement was recorded in five patients. A quarter of the patients (n=6/24) received NACT and three had a pCR. The median follow-up period was 49 months (range: 7-158 months). Distant metastases occurred only in one patient (BRCA non-carrier), six months after the initial diagnosis.

3.2.5.2.2. Basaloid carcinomas

Basaloid morphology is described in several neoplasms, in which the tumour cells portray dark enlarged nuclei and scant cytoplasm.^{469, 470} The differential diagnosis for the cytohistological basaloid features in invasive carcinoma in the breast includes adenoid cystic carcinoma (solid type), IDC with basaloid features, small cell carcinoma, endocrine tumour and solid variant of papillary carcinoma. Tumours originating from salivary glands commonly incorporate ductular structures with biphasic cell lining, however they are less frequently seen in the solid variant of ACC,⁴⁷¹ which also lacks the characteristic cribriform growth pattern. Whether these tumours should be categorised as a separate entity is still debatable, however reports suggest that the mammary solid ACC displays better survival rates than IDC-NST and worse than typical ACC.⁴⁷¹

TNBCs with this morphology were characterised in order to ascertain if this type of carcinoma had clinical relevance. On review of the six cases, all exhibited a basaloid cytomorphology with solid or trabecular growth pattern. All of the six tumours were devoid of ductular structures lined with dual cell population. Necrosis was only seen in one tumour. Three of the cases were associated with high grade DCIS. These tumours ranged in size from 21 to 44 mm (Median: 28.5
mm). The median age was 54 years (range: 33-69 years); none was in BRCAmutation carriers. The median follow-up period was 26 months (range: 9-48 months) and lymph node metastases were detected in two cases, which subsequently attained distant disease progression, with a median DFS of 34 months. One of those patients died 39 months after diagnosis. The other five are alive, four with no evidence of disease progression at a median follow-up of 13 months.

3.3. Patient management

Although it is now accepted that TNBC should not be treated in a uniform fashion, yet the cornerstones of treatment are a combination of surgery, chemotherapy and radiotherapy. The treatment plans for the TNBC series are shown in Table 3.8.

Parameter		TNBC	NACT	Patients	
		All patients	treated	not treated	
			patients	with NACT	
		(n=355)	(n=97)	(n= 258)	
		n (%)	n (%)	n (%)	
Surgery	Yes	340 (96)	97 (100)	243 (95)	
	No	12 (3)	0 (0)	12 (4)	
	Unknown	3 (<1)	0 (0)	3 (1)	
Chemotherapy	NACT	97 (27)	97 (100)	0 (0)	
	Adjuvant	174 (49)	6 (6)	168 (65)	
	None	68 (19)	0 (0)	68 (26)	
	Unknown	23 (6)	1 (1)	22 (9)	
Adjuvant	Yes	252 (71)	81 (84)	171 (66)	
radiotherapy	No	68 (19)	13 (13)	55 (21)	
	Unknown	35 (10)	3 (3)	32 (13)	

Table 3.8. Treatment plans for the TNBC series

3.3.1. Surgical treatment

The majority of patients (96%, n= 340/355) underwent surgical treatment (Table 3.8.), that was either breast conserving therapy (BCT), BCT followed by mastectomy or an initial mastectomy. The final therapeutic surgical procedure was documented, i.e. if a patient underwent a wide local excision followed by mastectomy then it is recorded as a mastectomy. Fifty-eight percent (197/340) of the patients had BCT, forty-one percent (141/340) had mastectomy and the data for the surgery type for two patients was unavailable.

Surgery was not performed in twelve patients (3.38%), including seven patients (1.97%) who presented with metastatic TNBC; one patient (0.28%) with an associated lung cancer; one patient (0.28%) who opted for no treatment; and four patients (1.12%) where documentation for the reason of no surgery was unavailable.

In total, 348 surgical procedures were done. Two-hundred breast conservation surgeries were performed and one hundred forty eight mastectomies were performed. Of note, nine patients had synchronous or asynchronous bilateral or multifocal tumours and had multiple surgeries. From 2004 onwards, there was a shift from mastectomies in favour of the more conservative wide local excision as shown in Figure 3.5.



Figure 3.5. The final therapeutic surgical procedures rates for the TNBC cohort

3.3.2. Management of the axilla

Axillary lymph nodes were conventionally assessed by axillary lymph node dissection.⁴⁷² However many complications have been documented following this type of intervention such as lymphoedema and neuropraxia.⁴⁷² The advancements of the lymphoscintigraphic techniques supported the hypothesis of the sentinel lymph node concept.⁴⁷³ Sentinel lymph nodes (SLNs) are the initial lymph nodes that receive lymphatic drainage from the primary tumour. Thus, in the presence of tumour nodal spread, they are the most likely to be involved by metastases.⁴⁷³ The choice of the axillary surgery depends on the clinical and radiological presentation of the patient's axilla. In recent years, the minimally invasive axillary sentinel lymph node excisional biopsy (SLNB) has been favoured. This shift was particularly augmented after the validation of SLNB as a reliable axillary mapping technique and non-inferior predictor of the disease prognosis. Z11 randomized study was done on early stage BC (T1-2) and showed that axillary lymph node dissection does not add beneficial effect in patients with low axillary burden (fewer than three affected nodes) detected by SLN excision.⁴⁷⁴ Therefore, we aimed to analyse the changing practice of management of the axilla in patients with TNBC over the time period of this study documented.

3.3.2.1. Diagnostic nodal assessment procedures

Upfront nodal assessment was performed in 26% (94/355) of patients. A summary of the diagnostic nodal assessment procedures and their results is presented in Table 3.9. The most common technique used was axillary lymph node needle core biopsy (ALN NCB) (55%; n=52/94) either alone or combined with another technique (Table 3.9.). A diagnostic axillary procedure was performed in 26% (93/355) of patients. Two-thirds of these patients (62/93) had axillary metastases (Table 3.9.). Follow-up of the cases who had a positive result on diagnostic lymph node procedure is summarized in the Appendix IV. Follow-up axillary procedure was done for 59 out of 62 patients (95%) with a positive diagnostic axillary procedure. Thirty-seven cases (63%) where there was positive nodal disease on diagnostic procedure were positive, while twenty-two cases (37%) were negative and 15 (68%) of these had NACT (Appendix IV).

Lymph node assessment	Number (9/)	Result		
Lymph node assessment	Number (76)	Positive	Negative	
None	261 (73)	-	-	
ALN NCB	49 (14)	40	9	
ALN FNAC	26 (8)	14	12	
ALN NCB & FNAC	2 (<1)	1	1	
ALN NCB & SLN excision	1 (<1)	1	0	
SLN excision	13 (4)	5	8	
SLN excision & ALN excision	2 (<1)	1	1	
SCLN FNAC	1 (<1)	1	0	
Total	355 (100)	63	31	

Table 3.9. Diagnostic nodal assessment procedures

ALN NCB: axillary lymph node needle core biopsy; ALN FNAC: axillary lymph node fine needle aspiration cytology; ALN excision: axillary lymph node excisional biopsy; SLN excision: sentinel lymph node excision; SC FNAC: supraclavicular fine needle aspiration cytology.

Mapping of the major axillary diagnostic procedures used across the course of the study is shown in Figure 3.6. Upfront nodal assessment was rarely done before the year 2004. While from 2004 onwards, there was a gradual increase in favour of performing axillary nodal NCB after 2004 and axillary lymph node fine needle aspiration cytology (ALN FNAC) from circa 2009.



Figure 3.6. Diagnostic lymph node procedures across the years of the study ALN FNAC: axillary lymph node fine needle aspiration cytology; ALN NCB: axillary lymph node needle core biopsy; SLN excision: sentinel lymph node excision; ALN excision: axillary lymph node excisional biopsy.

The positive predictive value for ALN NCB was slightly higher than that for ALN FNAC (97.5% versus 92.85%). In summary, our data highlights the beneficial value of the upfront diagnostic LN sampling and confirms that the incidence of inaccuracies, using NCB and FNAC, is very low (3.5%; n= 2/57) (Appendix IV).

3.3.2.2. Sentinel node biopsy practice

SLN excision was performed in 179/355 patients (50.4 %). In 17 cases (9.45%), it was done at the same time as the diagnostic procedure but the majority (90%, 162/180) were performed with the therapeutic procedure for the primary tumour. For those who had a SLN excision, the median number of SLNs sampled was 3 (range: 0-12). SLN metastases were reported in 24 of 179 patients (13.4%). The SLN nodal burden was predominantly low with <3 LN affected (n=22/24; 91.6%); and the median number of positive SLN was 1 (range: 1-4). Five patients (2.79%) had isolated tumour cells and were classified as negative (TNM 7th edition).

The subsequent management and results for the cases with positive SLN are illustrated in Figure 3.7. Out of the twenty-four cases with metastatic SLN, axillary clearance was done for nineteen patients (79.2%), while no further management was done for the remaining five cases (20.8%). Half of the cases who underwent axillary clearance (9/18) had residual axillary disease (Figure 3.7). With a median follow up of 43 months, five of those nine cases acquired recurrence (median DFS= 36 months) and three of them died (median OS = 43 months). On the other hand, no events (recurrence or death) occurred in the nine cases with negative axillary clearance or in the four cases with minimal nodal burden who had no further management.

Although our numbers are small and statistical analysis was not done, our retrospective results suggest that the SLN is beneficial in the management of TNBC, and that axillary dissection can be avoided in cases where the SLN disease burden is low.



Figure 3.7. Management of cases with positive sentinel lymph nodes

n= number of the patients who had the specified amount of positive lymph nodes.

3.3.3. Adjuvant Radiotherapy

Adjuvant radiotherapy is usually given post-mastectomy in high-risk patients such as with tumours >5cm (pT3), metastatic axillary disease and/or presence of lymphovascular invasion.^{421, 422} Ninety-one percent (181/197) of cases received adjuvant radiotherapy following BCT. Post-mastectomy radiotherapy was given in 69/141 (49%) cases. In keeping with the ESMO guidelines⁴²², it was given on the basis of high stage in 33.33% (23/69), positive axillary nodes in 37.68% (26/69) and the presence of lymphovascular invasion in 1.45% (1/69); while, the reason was unclear in the remaining 19 cases (27.5%).

3.3.4. Chemotherapy

In the TNBC series, nearly half of the patients received adjuvant chemotherapy (168/355, 47.32%) and a quarter of the patients received NACT (97/355, 27.32%). A minority (6/355, 1.69%) received both neoadjuvant and adjuvant therapy. One fifth of the patients (68/355) did not receive chemotherapeutic treatment, and details of the chemotherapy regimen was not available for the remaining 22 cases (6.2%).

Where adjuvant therapy was given, taxane was the most common drug used, either alone (64/168; 38.1%) or in conjunction with anthracycline (60/168; 35.71%). Anthracycline alone was used in 17.85% (30/168).

From 2004 onwards, there has been a gradual increase in the use of the NACT, with a noticeable shift from adjuvant chemotherapy in favour of the NACT in 2010 as shown in Figure 3.8.



Figure 3.8. Pattern of chemotherapy administration for the TNBC

3.3.4.1. NACT

The clinical features of the TNBC patients who received NACT are summarised in Table 3.1. The median age was 48 years (range: 24 -73 years) and was lower than the age of those who did not received chemotherapy (median: 58.5; range: 29 - 92). The pathological features of the TNBC tumours (n=104) for the patients who underwent NACT are summarised in Table 3.2. In cases with residual invasive tumour, the median tumour size at resection after NACT was 17.5 mm (range, <1 - 100 mm). The most common type was ductal (n=93/104, 89.42%), followed by metaplastic subtype (n=5/104, 4.8%). The majority of the tumours were grade 3 (n=76/104, 73%), and the remainder of the tumours (n=28/104, 27%) were grade 2.

Most patients who received NACT (n=80/97, 82.4%) were given combination anthracycline and taxane therapy, and carboplatin was given in addition to 24 (24%) patients who were diagnosed from 2014 onwards. Data for the regimens used for the remaining 17 (17.6%) patients was not available at the time of this analysis. The median follow-up was 30 months (range, 3 - 126 months). Three patients who received NACT were metastatic at diagnosis. A further twenty (20.6%) patients experienced disease recurrence and one patient developed a new non-TNBC primary. Overall, nineteen (19.6%) patients died over the course of the follow-up.

3.3.4.2. Nodal status in NACT treated cases

The axillary status was assessed in 96/97 patients (99%). Two-thirds of the cases (63/79) had negative lymph nodes, while one third of the cases (33/97) had node positive disease either at pre-treatment or post-treatment assessment (Table 3.1).

Fifty-three out of the ninety-seven patients (55%) had pre-treatment axillary evaluation. Two-thirds of these cases (37/53) were positive for metastatic carcinoma. Post NACT axillary sampling confirmed metastatic disease in half of them (17/37) with treatment response seen in seven of these positive cases. For those with positive pre-treatment axillary evaluation and negative post NACT axillary sampling (20/37), chemotherapy effect was seen in 13 cases (13/20; 65%).

3.4. The outcome in the TNBC cohort.

At a median follow-up of 42 months, 74 patients (21%) died from their disease, including the 13 patients who were metastatic at diagnosis (Table 3.1.). Twothirds of the BC-specific fatalities (52/74) occurred in the first three years after TNBC diagnosis, with a quarter of the deaths (20/74) happening in the first year (Table 3.1.). The 3-year BCSS was 85% (303/355). This is not far from other studies, which showed that up to 70% of the deaths in TNBC occur in the first five years after diagnosis.^{295, 322}

A quarter of the patients, excluding those who presented with stage IV disease, experienced local and/or distant metastases (77/338) (Table 3.1.). The majority of these events (65/77; 84%) occurred in the initial three years after diagnosis. More than half of the cases that acquired distant disease progression developed it at multiple sites. Bone, distant lymph nodes and CNS were the most affected sites (Table 3.1.). Other studies have shown a propensity of TNBC metastases to the viscera, brain and lungs.^{267, 270, 274} Excluding the patients who presented with stage IV disease, the 3-year DFS was 80% (273/338).

The outcome for patients with TNBC is similar to that reported for other series. The pattern of relapse is similar to the pattern reported for TNBCs with relapse occurring as metastatic disease as opposed to local recurrences, followed by a short time from first recurrence to death.²⁹⁵

3.5. Expression of the biomarkers in TNBC

One of the goals of this work is to evaluate different markers that might be of prognostic importance and/or involved in the biological pathways of TNBCs. We examined six markers: EGFR, CK5/6, CK14, AR, p53 and Bcl-2. The scoring method and the cut-off values are detailed previously (Materials and methods, section 2.2.2.). The overall number of positive and negative cases for each marker is shown in Table 3.10.

Biomarker (n ^a)		n (%)	
A D	Positive	31 (12)	
AK	Negative	227 (88)	
ECED	Positive	108 (45)	
LGFK	Negative	134 (55)	
CV5/6	Positive	85 (34)	
CK5/0	Negative	163 (66)	
CK14	Positive	52 (22)	
CK14	Negative	188 (78)	
n53	Positive	146 (60)	
p55	Negative	94 (40)	
Rel 2	Positive	78 (32)	
DU-2	Negative	165 (68)	

Table 3.10. Expression of biomarkers in TNBC series

3.5.1. AR in TNBC

Previous work by Burstein *et al.*³⁵¹ and Lehmann *et al.*^{326, 352} identified the luminal androgen receptor subtype by gene expression analysis during the attempts to sub-classify TNBC. It represents a small proportion of the TNBC. However given the fact that TNBC lacks targeted therapy and that anti-androgen receptor therapies had been used successfully in prostatic cancer, this may have potential as an effective treatment for this small subgroup.

In our study, AR was assessed in 270 TMA tumour cores from 258 patients. With a cut-off of 10%, AR was positive in 31 (12.02%) and negative in 227 (87.98%) cases. This is in agreement with other studies. The published data has variable frequencies of expression of AR in TNBC ranging from 12.6% to 51.7%^{359, 475-477} (Table 3.12.), however this may be partially influenced by the inconsistent cut-off thresholds for positivity (1% versus 10%), the variability of the applied anti-androgen antibodies as well as the variations in studied populations. Association between the clinicopathological features and AR was tested by the Chi squared test (Table 3.11.). AR effect on survival was tested using the COX regression test.

		AR	AR			
Parameter		positive negative		n	~2	n value
1 11 1110001		(n=31)	(n= 228)		λ	p fuiture
		n (%)	n (%)			
Menopausal	Pre-menopausal	3 (4)	79 (96)	82		
status	Post-menopausal	27 (16)	143 (84)	166	8.20	0.004*
	Unknown	1 (14)	6 (86)	7		
Tumour grada	1	0 (0)	1 (100)	1		
Tumour grade	2	12 (32)	26 (68)	38	15.84	<0.0001*
	3	19 (9)	197 (91)	216		
Tubula	1	0 (0)	2 (100)	2		
I ubule	2	5 (23)	17 (77)	22	2.75	0.252
Iormation	3	26 (11)	205 (89)	231		
Nuclear	1	0 (0)	1 (100)	1		
Pleomorphism	2	4 (31)	9 (69)	13	4.56	0.102
	3	27 (11)	214 (89)	241		
	1	12 (35)	22 (65)	34	24.25	
.	2	9 (17)	44 (83)	53		0.00014
Mitotic count	3	10 (6)	158 (94)	168		<0.0001*
	х	1 (20)	4 (80)	5		
	Ductal	19 (9)	188 (90)	207		
	Lobular	5 (29)	12 (71)	17		
_	Metaplastic	1 (8)	11 (92)	12		0.0004.
Tumour type	Medullary#	1 (10)	9 (90)	10	35.54	<0.0001*
	Apocrine	5 (83)	1 (17)	6		
	Others	0 (0)	2 (100)	2		
	1	7 (9)	70 (91)	77		
Tumour stage	2	15 (12)	107 (88)	122		
(pT)	3	3 (21)	11 (79)	14	2.19	0.533
	4	2 (18)	9 (82)	11		
	0	13 (9)	127 (91)	140		
Nodal stage	1	5 (11)	38 (89)	43		
(pN)	2	4 (22)	14 (78)	18	6.35	0.095
	3	4 (29)	10 (71)	14		
	Х	1 (11)	8 (98)	9		
#Medullary types	s including the classi	cal and atvoi	cal medullary	, p valu	es in bold i	ndicate

Table 3.11. Association	between .	AR exp	oression	and	clinicopa	thologica	ıl
features in TNBC							

#Medullary types including the classical and atypical medullary. p values in bold indicate statistically significant associations

AR positivity was associated with post-menopausal status (p= 0.004), lowergrade (p= 0.004) and slowly proliferative tumours (<0.0001) (Table 3.11.). Previous studies had also depicted the AR unregulated BC, across all subtypes, is more likely to be associated with older age at diagnosis^{478, 479} and lower nuclear grade.^{480, 481} Similarly, in TNBC, a high AR level is mostly seen in postmenopausal^{438, 477} or older age women.^{435, 476, 482} Our results support the concept that quadruple negative BC (AR negative TNBC) have more aggressive features. Likewise, there is an agreement in most of the published literature that, in TNBC, the AR expression is inversely correlated to the grade^{359, 435, 438, 475-477,} ⁴⁸¹ and proliferation index.^{476, 483} Confirmatory to our data, a meta-analysis by Wang *et al.* for 2826 TNBCs showed that AR presence paralleled the postmenopausal status and lower tumour grade.⁴⁸⁴ On the contrary, Hu *et al.* recently published an odd observation, that AR positive TNBC was associated with high grade and low proliferation index.⁴³⁷

As expected, AR expression was significantly associated with the histological morphology of apocrine carcinoma (<0.0001) (Table 3.11.). Our results confirmed those by Choi *et al.* who observed that 77.8% of the tumours with apocrine morphology express AR positivity.⁴³⁵ Similarly, Safarpour *et al.* reported that 55% of AR positive TNBC displayed classic apocrine morphology.⁴⁸⁵

COX regression analysis showed that AR expression in TNBC is not associated with DFS (HR= 1.263, 95% CI: 0.665 - 2.405, p=0.475). There is controversy in the literature regarding the AR impact on outcome. Some studies^{359, 437, 438, 477, 486}, but not all^{435, 482, 483}, recognized AR as an independent prognostic indicator of better survival. McGhan *et al.*⁴⁸² and Pistelli *et al.*⁴⁸³, analogous to our research, did not find an association between AR positivity and survival rates. On the contrary, Choi *et al.* reported that AR expression was associated with increased probability of death, yet not associated with disease recurrence.⁵⁷ Wang *et al.* meta-analytical study of 2826 TNBCs showed significant association with DFS, but not with OS, on UVA and MVA.⁴⁸⁴ The discrepancies in the AR relation with survival might be due to the small numbers of TNBC included in most studies, variability of the used antibodies and positivity threshold with different

proportions of the AR positive cases in the cohort, dissimilarities in the adjuvant and neo-adjuvant treatment with different sensitivities to drugs. The length of follow-up may be also important. The median follow-up period was 28.8 and 52.4 months in the studies by McGhan *et al.*⁴⁸² and Pistelli *et al.*⁴⁸³ respectively. The median follow-up in our study is 40 months, which is within this range. However some of the studies, which showed survival significance for AR, had longer follow-up e.g. the median follow-up for the studies done by He *et al.*⁴³⁶ and Hu *et al.*⁴³⁷ were 72 and 64 months respectively.

A limitation of this work was that the analysis of AR was not possible in patients who had a pCR post NACT. Sakata *et al.* investigated 145 TNBCs and highlighted that AR positivity predicted lower pCR.⁴⁷⁶ The small numbers of patients with AR status who were treated with NACT precluded assessment of the association between AR and response to NACT.

In summary, our results suggest that AR can be used to classify a subset of TNBC patients that might benefit from anti-androgen targeted therapy. However, it did not show a prognostic significance.

Chapter 3: Characterization of a TNBC series and evaluation of the prognostic role for histopathological and immunohistochemical variables

Study year	n	AR antibody	Cut-off for AR positivity	Frequency of AR positivity	Parameters examined	Significant association with parameters for AR positivity	Follow up period (months)	Impact of AR expression on outcome
Rakha <i>et al</i> ., 2007 ³⁵⁹	282	BioGenex F39.4.1 1:30	≥0%	36 (12.8%)	Grade, LN status, tumour size, LVI	Lower histologic grade	Median OS = 73 (1-206)	Improved RFS (p = 0.038) and MFS (p = 0.049)
Luo <i>et al.</i> , 2010 ⁴³⁸	137	Zymed PV6000G 1:100	H score	38 (28%)	Menopausal status, tumour grade, LN status	Postmenopausal status, lower grade, lack of LN metastasis	NR	Improved DFS and OS
Park <i>et al.</i> , 2010 ⁴⁸¹	63	Dako AR441	≥10%	22 (35%)	Age, menopause, BMI, tumour grade, size, TNM, LN status	Smaller tumours, lower grade	NR	NR
Tang <i>et al.</i> , 2012 ⁴⁷⁷	127	Dako AR441 1:100	≥10%	16 (12.6%)	Age, Menopause, tumour grade, stage, size, LVI, LN status, ALDH1, e-cadherin	Lower grade, postmenopausal status	Median DFS = 35 Median OS = 44	Improved DFI on UVA but not on MVA. Improved OS on UVA and MVA
He <i>et al.</i> , 2012 ⁴³⁶	287	Dako AR441 1:500	≥5%	74 (25.8 %)	Age, tumour grade, size, LN metastases, number of positive nodes, type of surgery	LN metastases	Median = 72	Improved DFS on UVA and MVA
McGhan <i>et al.</i> , 2014 ⁴⁸²	94	Dako AR441 1:50	≥10%	22 (23 %)	Age, menopause, BMI, tumour grade, LVI, LN status	Older age, higher tumour stage, LN metastases	Median= 28.8 (0–118.8)	No association with RFS or OS

Table 3.12. Reports of associations between AR expression and clinicopathological parameters and outcome in TNBC

Chapter 3: Characterization of a TNBC series and evaluation of the prognostic role for histopathological and immunohistochemical variables

Table 3.12. (Cont'd.)

Study year	n	AR antibody	Cut-off for AR positivity	Frequency of AR positivity	Parameters examined	Significant association with parameters for AR positivity	Follow up period (months)	Impact of AR expression on outcome		
Pistelli <i>et al.</i> , 2014 ⁴⁸³	81	BioGenex F39.4.1 1:60	≥10%	15 (18.8%)	Age, menopause, tumour grade, stage, size, LVI, LN status, Ki67, necrosis, lymphocytic infiltrate	Lower Ki67, presence of LVI	52.4 (2.5-95)	No association with DFS or OS on UVA		
Abd-Elazeem et al., 2014 ⁴⁷⁵	56	Santa Cruz sc-816 1:15	≥10%	29 (51.78%)	Age, tumour size,grade, LN status , Ki67, Claudin 4	Younger age, smaller tumour size, lower grade, lack of metastases	NR	NR		
Choi <i>et al.</i> , 2015 ⁴³⁵	492	Epitomics ER179 (2) 1:200	≥1%	87 (17.7%)	Age, tumour size, LN status, grade, LVI	Older age, apocrine subtypt, lower grade	Median= 72 (1–202)	No association with DFS. Worse OS		
Collina <i>et al.</i> , 2016 ⁴⁸⁶	207	Dako AR441 1:75	≥1%	49 (23%)	Age, menopause, tumour grade, size, LN status, Ki67, BMI, Diabetes	Diabetes	NR	Improved OS on UVA		
Hu <i>et al.</i> , 2017 ⁴³⁷	360	NR	≥10%	113 (31.4%)	Age, menopause, tumour grade, size, LN status , LVI, Ki67, p53, ck5/6	Postmenopausal status, high grade, p53 positivity, ck5/6 negativity, low ki-67	64	Improved DFS and OS		
Sakata <i>et al</i> ., 2017 ⁴⁷⁶	145	NR	≥10%	49 (33.8%)	Age, nuclear grade, Ki-67 index, pCR	Older age, low nuclear grade, low Ki-67 index, lower pCR	Median = 56	NR		
AR: androgen red metastases free st	eptor; L' urvival; I	AR: androgen receptor; LVI: Lymphovascular invasion; LN: lymph node; pCR: pathological complete response; NR: not reported; RFS: recurrence free survival; MFS: metastases free survival: DFS: disease free survival: DFI: disease free interval: OS: overall survival: UVA: univariate analysis: MVA: multivariate analysis								

3.5.2. Basal status

Previous work by Burstein *et al.*³⁵¹ and Lehmann *et al.*^{326, 352} identified two subsets within the basal subtype of the TNBC that behave differently. In addition to the expression of one of the basal markers, BL1 tumours also express genes associated with proliferation, represented by high Ki67 indices on mRNA and immunohistochemical levels.^{326, 352} The rapid proliferation within this subtype suggests that this subset within the basal TNBCs would respond well to antimitotic agents.^{326, 352}

The basal markers were positive in less than half of the TNBC series. The immunohistochemical expression for EGFR, CK5/6 and CK14 were assessable in 242, 248 and 240 cases on the TMA. EGFR, the most frequently expressed basal marker, was expressed in 108 cases (44.63%). CK5/6 was positive in 85 cases (34.27%), while CK14, the least expressed basal marker, was expressed in (21.67%). The association between these markers 52 cases and clinicopathological data and outcome is presented in Appendices V-VIII. None of these markers showed an association with any of the clinicopathological features or with outcome. Sobande et al. demonstrated that EGFR was not linked with pathological features or with survival.487

In total, two-thirds (171/262) of the TNBC tumours were classified as basal, while a third (91/262) were non-basal. There was no association between basal status and any of the endpoints, although some studies pointed towards an inferior outcome associated with basal markers,^{206, 282} others did not reproduce the same findings. Rakha *et al.* identified a prognostic influence for the basal phenotype only if the nodes are clear, but it did not affect outcome in TNBC with nodal metastases.³⁵⁹

This supports the hypothesis by Burstein *et al.* that the basal phenotype alone might not have prognostic significance.³⁵¹ They identified within the basal tumours a subgroup that has intense immune response responsible for a better outcome while the subset that has weak immune response was associated with the worst outcome.³⁵¹ Recently, Milioli *et al.* detected different survival

outcomes for the two basal-like subtypes that they segregated through genomic profiling.⁴⁸⁷

Further subtyping of the TNBC according to AR status and sTILs, in addition to the basal status, did not reveal a prognostic value (Appendix IX).

3.5.3. Bcl-2 and p53

Bcl-2 is an established positive prognostic factor in BC⁴⁸⁸, across all subtypes.⁴⁸⁹ Bcl-2 expression was scorable in 243 TMA cores. Expression of Bcl-2 in 10% or more of the tumour cells was considered positive. Nearly one third of the assessed cases showed Bcl-2 positivity (n=78; 32.1%), while the rest were negative (n=165, 67.9%). The association between the clinicopathological features and Bcl-2 was tested by the Chi squared test (Appendix X). Bcl-2 positivity was significantly associated with postmenopausal status (p= 0.016) (Appendix X).

With regards to outcome, univariate COX regression revealed that Bcl-2 expression was associated with reduced likelihood of recurrence (HR 0.54, 95%CI: 0.32-0.93, p = 0.026), metastases (HR 0.52, 95%CI: 0.27-0.98, p = 0.045), and BC specific death (HR 0.43, 95%CI: 0.23-0.80, p = 0.008) (Table 3.13). This effect was maintained when adjusted for age at diagnosis, tumour grade, and menopausal status on multivariate analysis for MFS and BCSS (HR 0.51, 95% CI 0.26-0.99, p = 0.049 and HR 0.44, 95% CI 0.23-0.85, p = 0.014 respectively) (Table 3.13), but not for nodal status or tumour size.

Using the Kaplan-Meier curves with log rank test, Bcl-2 expression was associated with longer DFS (p=0.022), MFS (p=0.040) and BCSS (p=0.006) compared with Bcl-2 negativity (Figures 3.9A, 3.9B and 3.9C respectively). Our results are in line with published data regarding Bcl-2 in TNBC.^{490, 491}

p53 mutations had been shown in the literature to be expressed in higher rates in TNBC than non-TNBC.³⁹⁶ In our study, p53 expression was scorable in 240 TMA cores, and was considered positive if expressed in 10% or more of the tumour cells. Similar to the literature, p53 was expressed in a high proportion of the TNBC cohort (n=146, 60%). There was no association between p53 and clinicopathological parameters (Appendix XI) or outcome (Appendix VIII).

Variable	HR	95% CI	p value	n		
DFS						
Univariate Analysis				233		
Bcl-2	0.549	0.32-0.93	0.026*			
Multivariate Analysis				225		
Bcl-2	0.58	0.33-1.00	0.052			
Age at diagnosis	1.01	0.99-1.04	0.222			
Tumour grade	0.96	0.52-1.76	0.900			
Menopausal status	0.76	0.35-1.63	0.485			
MFS						
Univariate Analysis				233		
Bcl-2	0.52	0.27-0.98	0.045*			
Multivariate Analysis				225		
Bcl-2	0.51	0.26-0.99	0.049*			
Age at diagnosis	1.01	0.98-1.04	0.376			
Tumour grade	1.05	0.49-2.25	0.895			
Menopausal status	0.75	0.3-1.87	0.542			
BCSS						
Univariate Analysis				230		
Bcl-2	0.43	0.23-0.80	0.008*			
Multivariate Analysis				222		
Bcl-2	0.44	0.23-0.85	0.014*			
Age at diagnosis	1.03	1.00-1.07	0.015*			
Tumour grade	1.35	0.62-2.89	0.441			
Menopausal status	0.51	0.20-1.27	0.150			
p values in bold indicate statistically significant associations						

Table 3.13. Univariate and multivariate analysis of association of Bcl-2 with survival

Chapter 3: Characterization of a TNBC series and evaluation of the prognostic role for histopathological and immunohistochemical variables









3.6. Summary

In this work, a retrospective review of clinical, pathological and outcome data for 355 TNBC patients, managed mainly in GUH between January 2000 and January 2016, is presented. This is one of the largest reviews of outcome for TNBCs outside of the clinical trial settings.

The overall outcome for TNCB was similar to that reported by others with 22% relapse and 21% death from disease, after a median follow-up of 42 months.

In patients who had no NACT treatment, nodal status was an independent predictor of DFS and MFS but not of BCSS; and tumour size was an independent predictor of MFS and BCSS.

In patients who received NACT, a pCR was the only independent predictor of all outcome endpoints. This highlights the importance of accurate assessment of the post-NACT specimens. This includes the proper grossing and adequate sampling, which can be challenging particularly when no remaining mass can be identified macroscopically. Therefore, the insertion of a clip and accessibility of radiological information, about the site and size of the pre- and post-treatment tumour, to the pathologist are essential. Guidelines are published, but characterization and quantification of the degrees of non pCR remain difficult and subject to variation between pathologists.⁴⁹² There are many grading systems for NACT response described in the literature, yet there is no consensus between breast pathologists and oncologists regarding a system that proved superior in terms of clinical relevance. The amount of residual tumour can vary from the presence of few viable tumour cells up to entirely resistant tumour with no response or change in its original size or cellularity. Including the residual tumour burden provides a measurable parameter that would be useful for testing the differences in outcome for various degrees of NACT response.⁴⁹³ In summary, there is an essential need for a universally accepted standardized reporting protocol for the macroscopic and microscopic assessment of the post-NACT BC, to ensure the validity of the survival analyses in such cohorts.

Other pathological features of grade and tumour type were not independent predictors of outcome.

None of the other biomarkers examined by immunohistochemistry i.e. basal markers, AR and p53 was independent predictors of outcome. The basal phenotype as well as the four subtypes of TNBC, based on the stated markers in addition to the sTILs amount, did not show a clinical importance in this cohort. Only Bcl-2 showed a potential independent prognostic role for MFS and BCSS. TNBC tumours with high expression of Bcl-2 were associated with a longer survival rate on univariate and multivariate analyses, but not with nodal status or tumour size which were included in the model.

Due to the relatively low incidence of TNBC, the majority of single institutional studies include small number of patients. Our series is larger than other cohorts, yet the number of patients is still limited (n=355). To increase the statistical power, pooling of studies and multi-centric studies are warranted. Our group aims to prospectively increase the TNBC series across the coming years.

A longer follow-up time might be beneficial as a minority of the cases in this series had a short follow-up. Yet, the median follow-up at the time of this analysis was 42 months, and for TNBC the incidence of distant recurrence peaks between the first and third years after its diagnosis.

4. THE ROLE OF STILS IN TNBC

4.1. Introduction

The development of normal tissue growth patterns in malignancies changes the inherent structure of the tissue, thereby prompting the body's immune response in an attempt to eradicate the cells that have transformed. In some instances, not all of these cells are eradicated and can become resistant to the immune system. This is known as immunoediting. If the body can effectively generate tumour-specific immune responses, the cancer can be prevented or controlled.⁴⁹⁴

Immunoediting is the process of immunosurveillance and tumour progression based on three phases: (1) elimination, also known as immunosurveillance, where tumour cells are eliminated by the immune system; (2) equilibrium, where tumour cells that escaped during phase one are selected for growth because they have acquired immune resistance; and (3) escape, where tumour cell escape the immune system entirely, further demonstrating their immune resistance. BC produces an immune response by promoting tumourigenesis as well as suppression via immune surveillance.⁴⁹⁵

Tumour cells can suppress TILs by directly suppressing antitumour immune cells or by recruiting immunosuppressive subgroups. Previous studies show that T cells, CD4⁺ Th1 cells, CD8⁺ cytotoxic T cells, NK cells, M1 macrophages, and dendritic cells suppress tumour growth, however CD4⁺ forkhead box P3 (FOXP3⁺), CD4⁺ Th2 cells, M2 macrophages, and myeloid-derived suppressor cells promote tumour growth.⁴⁹⁴⁻⁴⁹⁷

Studies show that T-lymphocytes make up 75% of TILs, B-lymphocytes make up less than 20%, monocytes make up less than 10%, and natural killer/natural killer T cells make up less than 5% of all TILs.¹⁰⁴⁻¹⁰⁶ T cells have the ability to move from the tumour to the peritumoural sites and can in turn control differentiation of M2 macrophages, which promote tumour growth or antitumour M1 macrophages, which suppress tumour growth.⁴⁹⁸

Many studies in the literature have indicated that TILs are important antitumour biomarkers in different types of cancer including BC.^{107, 376, 377, 499-501} TILs can be

found within the tumour itself but their relative amount is reliant on the type and location of the cancer.⁹⁹ Furthermore, innovative targeted immunocell therapies such as CTLA-4, PD-1, and PD-L1, with/without chemotherapy, have shown an increased immune response in patients with melanoma and non–small cell lung cancer.⁵⁰² Quantitative analysis of TIL subpopulations will aid prediction of treatment response and ultimately prognosis.¹⁰² It also generates hope for the use of new individualized immunotherapy treatment in TNBC patients.

TILs can be classified into two types, which is determined by the site they ultimately infiltrate e.g. in the tumour stroma (i.e. sTILs) or tumour cell islets (i.e. iTILs). iTILs, as their name suggests, are found within the tumour itself, and are in direct contact with the tumour cells.¹⁰³ While sTILs and iTILs are closely correlated, sTILs show a more consistent association with outcome than iTILs which is likely due to their greater number when compared to intratumoural TILs.⁴²⁷

Published data points to the variability of the quantities and populations of TILs according to the histo-morphologic and immunohistochemical types of BC molecular and histological subtypes. ^{107-109, 111} Marked lymphocytic infiltration defines one of characteristics of medullary carcinoma; while noticeable infiltrates are reported also in significant proportions of invasive ductal carcinomas. Sparseness of TILs was observed with metaplastic and lobular carcinoma.^{391, 503} Surveying the published studies confirmed that intense sTILs are seen more frequently in TNBC and HER-2-positive versus hormone dependent tumours.³⁹⁴

The main aims of this work are:

- 1. To investigate the association between sTILs and clinicopathological factors and outcome in TNBC
- 2. To examine the effect of NACT on sTILs in TNBC

4.2. Study of sTILs in TNBC

4.2.1. Characteristics of TNBC series for sTILs assessment

sTILs were assessable in 303 cases of TNBC from 290 patients in our series. Cases where there had been a pCR in the breast or where the THE was not available were not assessed. Therefore, the characteristics of those patients suitable for sTIL assessment are summarised in Table 4.1.

Demographics, treatment and follow-up outcome status for the 290 patients are summarized in Table 4.1. The median age at diagnosis was 56 years (range 24-92 years), with the majority of the patients being over 45 years (n=232/290, 80%) and postmenopausal (n=182/290, 63%). Although a quarter of the cohort had a family history of BC (n=75/290; 26%), only four percent of the patients were BRCA carriers (n=12/290, 4%). Two thirds of the patients had breast conservation while a third of the patients underwent mastectomies. Most of the patients received adjuvant radiotherapy (n=208/290; 72%). Adjuvant chemotherapy was given in 58% (n=169/290) while NACT was given in 17% (n=50/290) of the cases. This cohort included 50 patients who had received NACT and had residual disease post-NACT.

The histopathological details for the 303 tumours are given in Table 4.2. As expected, the most common tumour type was invasive ductal carcinoma (n= 219/303; 72%). The majority of the tumours were high grade (n= 249/303; 82%), and showed a high rate of nodal involvement (178/303; 59%). Overall, the median invasive tumour size was 24mm (range: 1-120 mm, mean: 27.5 mm). In NACT naiive tumours the median tumour size was 25 (range 1-120 mm), while in post-NACT tumours the median tumour size was 19.5 (range 1-100 mm).

At the time of this analysis, the median length of follow-up was 29.5 months (range <1 month – 176 months). Both the DFS and the OS ranged from <1 to 176 months with a median of 27 and 32 months, respectively. Among the 290 cases, nine patients had metastatic disease at presentation. Sixty-seven deaths (23%) were reported. There were 64 events of local and/or distant recurrence. Of these, 59 patients acquired distant metastases with or without local recurrence.

Parameter		TNBC cohort
(n= 290)		n (%)
Age at diagnosis	<45 years	58 (20)
Range: 24-92		
Median: 56	>45 years	232 (80)
Mean±SD: 57.6±14.31		
Menopausal status	Pre-menopausal	94 (32)
	Post-menopausal	182 (63)
	Unknown	14 (5)
BRCA status	BRCA-1 Mutated	8 (3)
	BRCA-2 Mutated	3 (1)
	BRCA unspecified mutated	1 (<1)
	No BRCA mutation	208 (72)
	Unknown BRCA status	70 (24)
Family history of BC	Yes	75 (26)
	No	105 (36)
	Unknown	110 (38)
Surgery	Breast conservative surgery	197 (68)
	Mastectomy	93 (32)
Chemotherapy	NACT only	44 (15)
	NACT and adjuvant chemotherapy	6 (2)
	Adjuvant chemotherapy only	163 (56)
	None	57 (20)
	Unknown	20 (7)
Adjuvant	Yes	208 (72)
Radiotherapy	No	59 (20)
	Unknown	23 (8)
Survival	Alive, no disease	207 (71)
	Alive, disease progression	16 (5)
	Dead, with disease progression	55 (19)
	Dead, with no disease progression	12 (4)
Distant metastases	Yes	59 (20)
	No	231 (80)

Table 4.1. Characteristics of TNBC series for sTILs assessment

Parameter		TNBC cohort
(n= 303)		n (%)
Tumour typeDu	ctal (NST)	219 (72)
Me	taplastic	27 (9)
Tyj	pical medullary	7 (2)
Aty	pical medullary	20 (7)
Lol	oular	14 (5)
Ар	ocrine	12 (4)
Oth	ners	4 (1)
Invasive tumour size (mm) <20)	125 (41)
21-	50	149 (49)
>50)	28 (9)
Un	known	1 (<1)
Tumour grade 1		2 (1)
2		52 (17)
3		249 (82)
Tubule formation1		3 (1)
2		25 (8)
3		275 (91)
Nuclear pleomorphism 1		1 (<1)
2		19 (6)
3		283 (93)
Mitotic count 1		47 (16)
2		67 (22)
3		189 (62)
Vascular invasion Yes	5	106 (35)
No		196 (65)
Un	known	1 (<1)
Nodal status Pos	sitive	178 (58.7%)
Ne	gative	111 (36.6%)
Un	known	14 (4.6%)
Skin involvement Yes	3	7 (2.3%)
Pag	get's disease	2 (0.7%)
No		294 (97%)

Table 4.2. Pathological characteristics of the TNBC series for sTILs assessment

4.2.2. Evaluation of sTILs in the therapeutic resections of TNBC

sTILs were scored according to the recommendation of the International TIL working Group (TILs IWG).⁴²⁷ This was carried out by two pathologists (GC and AS) on a multihead microscope on a single representative H&E slide from each resected tumour. An average percentage of the tumour stromal area occupied by lymphocytic inflammatory cells was graded on a continuous scale (0-100), then categorised on a scale 0-4 as follows: (0= no mononuclear infiltrate, 1= <10%, 2= 10-24\%, 3= 25-49\%, and 4= \geq 50%). The assessment excluded areas of necrosis, DCIS, cavity or previous biopsy sites.

Scores were recorded for 291 tumours. sTILs could not be scored in 12 tumours due to the nature of the tumour with minimal stroma i.e. metaplastic carcinoma, or if the tumour was so small or extremely hypocellular after neoadjuvant therapy. sTIL scores in the resection specimens ranged from 0 to 90% with a median and mean of 15% and 21.58%, respectively.

sTIL counts in TNBCs were categorised in four different ways. First, as increments of 10% because many reports have reported an association between an incremental increase of sTILs and outcome in TNBC.^{389, 392, 504} Second, sTILs were represented as categorical variables as four sTIL categories (C1: sTILs 0-9%; C2: sTILs 10 - 24%; C3: sTILs 25 - 49%; C4: \geq 50%). The distribution and frequency of cases according to the four sTIL categories is illustrated in Figure 4.1. Third, cases with sTILs <25% (category 1 and 2) were also considered sTILs low, while cases with \geq 25% (category 3 and 4) were considered sTILs high (Figure 4.2.). The distribution and frequency of cases according to Figure 4.3. Finally, a threshold of 50% sTILs was used to define lymphocyte predominate cancer (LPBC).^{389, 504, 505} Therefore, cases with sTILs <50% were also categorised as "non-LPBC" while cases with \geq 50% was named 'LPBC'. The distribution and frequency of LPBC and non-LPBC is illustrated in Table 4.3.



Figure 4.1. Distribution of cases according to four sTILs categories



Figure 4.2. Representative areas for lymphocyte-low TNBC (A) and lymphocyte-high TNBC (B) (Olympus scanner)



Figure 4.3. Distribution and frequency of sTILs low (sTILs<25%) and sTILs high (sTILs \geq 25%) n = number of tumours within each sTILs category

sTIL Category	n (%) (n=303)
sTILs non-predominant (<50%)	243 (80)
sTILs predominant (≥50%)	48 (16)
Not assessable	12 (4)
Total	303 (100)

Table 4.3. Distribution and frequency of LPBC

4.2.3. Associations between sTILs and pathological variables

Associations between sTILs high (sTILs $\geq 25\%$) and pathological variables in TNBC are shown in Table 4.4. Associations between sTILs high and biomarkers in TNBC are shown in Appendix XII. Associations between LPBC (sTILs $\geq 50\%$) and pathological variables in TNBC are shown in Table 4.5. Associations between sTILs LPBC and biomarkers in TNBC are shown in Appendix XIII.

sTILs high status and LPBC showed an association with histological tumour type (p= <0.001), with frequent positivity in the typical and atypical medullary carcinomas and negativity in invasive lobular, metaplastic and apocrine carcinomas. The median sTILs within the typical and atypical medullary subtypes were 70% and 60% respectively. All the medullary carcinomas showed high sTILs (>25%), while 85.7% showed LPBC (sTILs >50%). Two thirds of the atypical medullary carcinomas showed high sTILs within store a significant strong association between the tumour subtype and sTILs using the two cut-offs (p=<0.001, Chi square test). sTILs high status and LPBC were significantly associated with marked nuclear pleomorphism score 3 (p= 0.001 and p= 0.029, respectively). However, a significant association with the higher tumour grade and absent lymphovascular invasion was only observed with LPBC (p= 0.047 and p=0.003 respectively).

Variable (n ^a)		sTILs Low	sTILs High	Total	χ^2	p value
		n (%)	n (%)			
Tumour	Ductal	148 (70)	63 (30)	211	35.3	<0.001*
histological	Metaplastic	20 (83)	4 (17)	24		
type (291)	T. Medullary	0 (0)	7 (100)	7		
	At. Medullary	7 (37)	12 (63)	19		
	Lobular	13 (93)	1 (7)	14		
	Apocrine	9 (75)	3 (25)	12		
	Others	4 (100)	0 (0)	4		
Tumour grade	1	2 (100)	0 (0)	2	4.51	0.152
(291)	2	38 (80)	10 (20)	48		
	3	161 (67)	80 (33)	241		
Tubule	1	3 (100)	0 (0)	3	5.11	0.078
formation	2	20 (83)	4 (17)	24		
(291)	3	178 (67)	86 (33)	264		
Nuclear	1	1 (100)	0 (0)	1	14.6	0.001*
pleomorphism	2	18 (100)	0 (0)	18		
(291)	3	182 (67)	90 (33)	272		
Mitosis	1	34 (77)	10 (22)	44	1.64	0.439
(291)	2	43 (68)	20 (32)	63		
	3	124 (67)	60 (33)	184		
Invasive	≤20mm	77 (66)	39 (34)	116	0.72	0.694
tumour size	20-50mm	104 (71)	42 (29)	146		
(mm) (290)	>50mm	19 (68)	9 (32)	28		
LVI (290)	Absent	123 (66)	64 (34)	187	3.09	0.079
	Present	78 (76)	25 (24)	103		
LN status	Absent	120 (71)	49 (29)	169	1.54	0.215
(277)	Present	69 (64)	39 (36)	108		

Table 4.4. Association between sTILs high and pathological variables inTNBC

T. Medullary: typical medullary; At. Medullary: atypical medullary; LVI: Lymphovascular invasion; LN: lymph node. p values in bold indicate statistically significant associations,

Non-LPBCLPBCn (%)n (%)TumourDuctal180 (85)31 (15)21145.5<0.001*
n (%)n (%)TumourDuctal $180 (85)$ $31 (15)$ 211 45.5 $<0.001*$ histologicalMetaplastic 24 (100) 0 (0) 24 type (291)T. medullary1 (14) 6 (86) 7 At. medullary9 (47) $10 (53)$ 19 Lobular14 (100) 0 (0) 14 Apocrine 11 (92) 1 (8) 12 Others 4 (100) 0 0 0 4 Tumour grade1 2 (100) 0 0 2 3 $196 (81)$ $45 (19)$ 241 Tubule1 3 (100) 0 0 3 1.08 0.581
TumourDuctal $180 (85)$ $31 (15)$ 211 45.5 $<0.001*$ histologicalMetaplastic 24 (100) 0 (0) 24 type (291)T. medullary 1 (14) 6 (86) 7 At. medullary 9 (47) $10 (53)$ 19 Lobular 14 (100) 0 (0) 14 Apocrine 11 (92) 1 (8) 12 Others 4 (100) 0 (0) 4 Tumour grade 1 2 (100) 0 0 2 3 $196 (81)$ $45 (19)$ 241 Tubule 1 3 (100) 0 0 3 1.08 0.581
histological type (291)Metaplastic 24 (100) 0 (0) 24 type (291)T. medullary1(14) 6 (86)7At. medullary9(47)10 (53)19Lobular14(100) 0 (0)14Apocrine11(92)1(8)12Others4(100) 0 (0)4Tumour grade12(100) 0 (0)2 3 196 (81)45 (19)241Tubule13(100) 0 (0)31.08 3 100 0 (0)241
type (291)T. medullary1 (14) 6 (86) 7At. medullary9 (47) 10 (53)19Lobular14 (100) 0 (0) 14Apocrine11 (92) 1 (8) 12Others4 (100) 0 (0) 4Tumour grade12 (100) 0 (0) 2 2 45 (94) 3 (6) 48 3 196 (81)45 (19)241Tubule1 3 (100) 0 (0) 3 1.08 0.581
At. medullary9 (47) 10 (53)19Lobular14 (100) 0 (0) 14Apocrine11 (92) 1 (8) 12Others4 (100) 0 (0) 4Tumour grade12 (100) 0 (0) 2 (291) 245 (94) 3 (6) 483196 (81)45 (19)241Tubule13 (100) 0 (0) 3 1.08 0.581
Lobular14 (100)0 (0)14Apocrine11 (92)1 (8)12Others4 (100)0 (0)4Tumour grade12 (100)0 (0)26.110.047*(291)245 (94)3 (6)483196 (81)45 (19)241Tubule13 (100)0 (0)31.086.11 $3 (100)$ 0 (0) $3 (108$ 0.581
Apocrine11 (92)1 (8)12Others4 (100)0 (0)4Tumour grade12 (100)0 (0)2 (291) 245 (94)3 (6)483196 (81)45 (19)241Tubule13 (100)0 (0)3 $formation$ 2 (29) (29) (29)
Others4(100)0(0)4Tumour grade12(100)0(0)2 6.11 $0.047*$ (291)245(94)3(6)483196(81)45(19)241Tubule13(100)0(0)3 1.08 0.581
Tumour grade 1 2 (100) 0 (0) 2 6.11 0.047* (291) 2 45 (94) 3 (6) 48 3 196 (81) 45 (19) 241 Tubule 1 3 (100) 0 (0) 3 1.08 0.581
$\begin{array}{c ccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccc$
3 196 (81) 45 (19) 241 Tubule 1 3 (100) 0 (0) 3 1.08 0.581 formation 2 20 (82) 4 (17) 24
Tubule 1 3 (100) 0 (0) 3 1.08 0.581 formation 2 20 (82) 4 (17) 24
formation 2 20 (82) 4 (17) 24
2 20 (83) 4 (17) 24
(291) 3 220 (83) 44 (17) 264
Nuclear 1 1 (100) 0 (0) 1 7.10 0.029*
pleomorphism 2 18 (100) 0 (0) 18
(291) 3 224 (82) 48 (18) 272
Mitosis 1 41 (93) 3 (7) 44 5.39 0.067
(291) 2 55 (87) 8 (13) 63
3 147 (80) 37 (20) 184
Invasive ≤20mm 93 (80) 23 (20) 116 1.50 0.472
tumour size 20-50mm 125 (86) 21 (14) 146
(mm) (290) >50mm 24 (86) 4 (14) 28
LVI (290) Absent 147 (78) 40 (22) 187 8.92 0.003*
Present 95 (92) 8 (8) 103
LN status Absent 141 (83) 28 (17) 169 <0.1
(277) Present 90 (83) 18 (17) 108

Table 4.5. Association between LPBC and pathological variables in TNBC

LVI: Lymphovascular invasion; LN: lymph node. p values in bold indicate statistically significant associations

4.2.4 Associations between sTILs and outcome

For analyses of the association between sTILs and outcome, the following four sTILS categories were examined:

- 1. sTILs increments of 10%.
- Four sTILs categories (C1: sTILs 0-9%; C2: sTILs 10-24%; C3: sTILs 25-49%; C4: ≥50%).
- 3. sTILs high (sTILs \geq 25%) and low (sTILs <25%).
- 4. LPBCs (TILs \geq 50%) and non-LPBCs (sTILs <50%).

DFS and OS were estimated by univariate analysis by the Kaplan-Meier survival analysis method, and were compared by the log-rank test and test for trend to assess the significance.

On UVA, sTILs were associated with both DFS and OS when sTILs were evaluated in increments of 10% (Table 4.6). Each 10% incremental increase in sTILs count was associated with a reduction in DFS in the order of 18% (HR 0.82, 95% CI 0.72-0.94, p = 0.003). This effect was maintained on multivariate analysis when adjusted for age at diagnosis, nodal status and tumour grade (HR 0.82, 95% CI 0.71-0.94, p = 0.005). Similarly, each 10% incremental increase in sTILs was associated with an improved overall survival by UVA (HR 0.85, 95% CI 0.74-0.97, p = 0.017 and HR 0.84, 95% CI 0.73-0.96, p = 0.012 respectively) adjusted for the same variables (Table 4.6).

Decreasing numbers of TILs in 10% increments were associated with a significant trend toward poor DFS (p=0.199, Log rank test) and poor OS (p=0.394, Log rank test).

Variable	HR	95% CI	p value	n	
DFS					
Univariate Analysis				282	
sTILs	0.82	0.72-0.94	0.003*		
Multivariate Analysis				268	
sTILs	0.82	0.71-0.94	0.005*		
Age at diagnosis	1.00	0.98-1.02	0.598		
Nodal Status	2.33	1.41-3.83	0.001*		
Tumour grade	0.86	0.47-1.57	0.628		
OS					
Univariate Analysis				282	
sTILs	0.85	0.74-0.97	0.017*		
Multivariate Analysis				264	
sTILs	0.84	0.73-0.96	0.012*		
Age	1.02	1.00-1.04	0.023		
Nodal Status	2.73	1.61-4.61	<0.001*		
Tumour grade	1.21	0.60-2.45	0.578		
p values in bold indicate statistically significant associations					

Table 4.6. Univariate and multivariate analysis of association of sTILs (per10% increase) with DFS and OS

Analysis of the association between sTILs and outcome, when sTILs were expressed as four categories (C1: sTILs 0-9%; C2: sTILs 10-14%; C3: sTILs 25-49%; C4: \geq 50%), revealed that sTILs had an independent association with both DFS and OS (HR 0.71, 95% CI 0.55-0.91, p = 0.007 and HR 0.78, 95% CI 0.61-0.99, p = 0.043 respectively) (Table 4.7.). This effect was maintained when adjusted for age at diagnosis, nodal status and tumour grade on MVA (HR 0.70, 95% CI 0.54-0.90, p = 0.006 and HR 0.74, 95% CI 0.57-0.96, p = 0.022 respectively) (Table 4.7.).
Variable	HR	95% CI	p value	n
DFS				
Univariate Analysis				282
sTILs	0.71	0.55-0.91	0.007*	
Multivariate Analysis				268
sTILs categories	0.70	0.54-0.90	0.006*	
Age at diagnosis	1.00	0.98-1.03	0.598	
Nodal Status	2.33	1.42-3.83	0.001*	
Tumour grade	0.86	0.47-1.57	0.628	
OS				
Univariate Analysis				277
sTILs categories	0.78	0.61-0.99	0.043*	
Multivariate Analysis				265
sTILs	0.74	0.57-0.96	0.022*	
Age at diagnosis	1.02	1.00-1.04	0.028	
Nodal Status	2.75	1.62-4.65	<0.0001*	
Tumour grade	1.18	0.58-2.37	0.642	
p values in bold indicate statistical	y significant	associations		

Table 4.7. Univariate and multivariate analysis of association of sTILs (fourcategories) with DFS and OS

The Kaplan Meier graphs show an association between the four categories of TILs and DFS (p=0.042, Log rank test) but not with OS (p=0.190, Log rank test) (Figures 4.4A and 4.4B respectively).





Figure 4.4. Association between sTILs four category groups and DFS (A) and OS (B) sTILs categories [Category 1 (C1): sTILs 0-9%; Category 2 (C1):: sTILs 10-14%; Category 3(C1):: sTILs 25-49%; Category 4 (C4)]

Multivariate Cox proportional hazard regression analysis, expressing sTILs as sTIL-low (< 25%) and those with sTIL> 25% as sTIL-high and adjusting for age, lymph node status and tumour grade, revealed that sTIL-high was an independent predictor of DFS (HR 0.44, 95% CI 0.25-0.79, p = 0.007) and OS (HR 0.56, 95% CI 0.32-0.99, p = 0.047) (Table 4.8.). The magnitude of the effect on DFS was greater for this categorization than when sTILs were treated in increments of 10% or divided into four categories. Using the log rank test, sTILs-high cases were associated with a significantly better DFS (p=0.004), but non-significant longer OS (p=0.057) (Figures 4.5A and 4.5B respectively).

Table 4.8. Multivariate analysis of association of sTILs high (sTILs <25%)</th>with DFS and OS

Variable	HR	95% CI	p value	n
DFS				268
sTILs	0.44	0.25-0.79	0.007*	
Age at diagnosis	1.00	0.98-1.02	0.685	
Nodal Status	2.29	1.40-3.76	0.001*	
Tumour grade	0.81	0.44-1.47	0.491	
OS				264
sTILs	0.56	0.32-0.99	0.047*	
Age at diagnosis	1.02	1.00-1.04	0.030	
Nodal Status	2.52	1.51-4.21	<0.001*	
Tumour grade	1.15	0.57-2.29	0.698	
p values in bold indicate statistical	ly significan	t associations		



Figure 4.5. Kaplan-Meier curves for DFS (A) and OS (B) in TNBC labelled according to the sTILs high (sTILs >25%)

Finally, MVA of the association between LPBC (sTILs \geq 50%) and both DFS and OS was examined adjusting for the same co-variables (age at diagnosis, node positivity, tumour grade). Nodal status was, as expected, the strongest independent predictor of both DFS and OS. Patients who had non-LPBC had a reduced DFS and OS reflected by a HR of 52% (95% CI 0.22-1.06, p = 0.07) and 41% (95% CI 0.28-1.23, p = 0.162) respectively. While this did not maintain significance, nonetheless LPBC remained in the final model (Table 4.9.). Using the log rank test, sTILs predominant TNBC showed significantly better DFS (p=0.036), yet with OS the difference was not significant (p=0.209) (Figures 4.6A and 4.6B respectively).

Variable	HR	95% CI	p value	n
DFS				268
sTILs (LPBC vs non-LPBC)	0.48	0.22-1.06	0.070	
Age at diagnosis	1.01	0.99-1.03	0.531	
Nodal Status	2.18	1.33-3.56	0.002	
Tumour grade	0.82	0.45-1.50	0.529	
OS				264
sTILs (LPBC vs non-LPBC)	0.59	0.28-1.23	0.162	
Age at diagnosis	1.02	1.00-1.04	0.021	
Nodal Status	2.44	1.46-4.06	0.001	
Tumour grade	1.15	0.57-2.31	0.690	
p values in bold indicate statistical	lly significa	ant associations		

Table 4.9. Multivariate analysis of the association of LPBC (sTILs >50%) with DFS and OS



Figure 4.6. Kaplan-Meier curves for DFS (A) and OS (B) in TNBC labelled according to the sTILs predominance (sTILs >50%)

4.3. Comparison of sTILs in pre-NACT needle-core biopsies and surgical resection specimens

4.3.1. Correlation of sTILs proportions in pre-treatment needle-core biopsies and post-treatment surgical resection specimens

As we included in this study TNBC cases from patients who had partial response to NACT on THE with others who did not receive NACT, it was imperative to investigate whether the degree of the sTILs in the THE corresponds to pre-NACT NCB.

Twenty-six paired pre-treatment NCB and their post-treatment residual disease on surgical THE were examined for the degree of the sTILs infiltrate on H&E stained slides. The median number of biopsy cores taken was 3 and the range was between 1 to 7 cores/case.

The median residual post-neoadjuvant tumour size was 25mm (range: 0.5-100mm) and 15 tumours (57.7 %) were grade 3 while 11 (42.3%) were grade 2. The majority of the tumours (80.7%, n=21/26) were invasive ductal carcinoma (NST), two tumours (7.7%) were metaplastic carcinoma, two tumours (7.7%) were atypical medullary carcinoma and one tumour (3.9%) was classified as apocrine carcinoma. Seventeen cases (65.4%) were treated with anthracycline and taxane. Six cases (23.1%) were treated with platinum in addition to anthracycle and taxane regimen. The records of the neoadjuvant regimen could not be retrieved for 3 cases (11.5%).

There was no difference between sTILs counts in NCBs and the corresponding THE specimens. The median sTIL count was the same in both (10%) with a range of 0 % to 90% observed in NCBs and 0 % to 80% in THEs specimens. There was no difference in the mean sTILs in NCBs and THE specimens (mean = 15.25% and 18.77% respectively, p = 0.317, paired t-test). Figure 4.7. shows the spread of sTILs counts in biopsy and THE samples.



Figure 4.7. Parallel boxplots of sTILs counts in biopsy and resection samples sTILs NCB: stromal tumour infiltrating lymphocytes in needle core biopsy; sTILs THE: stromal tumour infiltrating lymphocytes in therapeutic excision specimen.

For all cases, the difference in the absolute sTILs values between the paired NCB and THE for each case was low, and ranged from 0 to 45% with a median and mean of 5% and 11.31% respectively. There was a strong correlation between the sTILs values in NCB and subsequent THE specimen (Pearson's correlation coefficient (R) of 0.67, p=0.002). The explained variance (R2) showed that 45% of the excision results for sTILs can be predicted by the NCB results.

The sTILs in the NCB and the corresponding resection are shown in Figure 4.9. A change in the sTIL count $\geq 20\%$ was observed in 4 cases (15.38%). the sTIL count was higher in the resection than it was in the corresponding NCB in three cases, and was lower in the other. There was no difference between the number of cores examined in these four cases (median 3) and the median number of cores taken for all 26 cases, suggesting that the difference was not related to the number of cores examined.



Figure 4.8. Differences in paired biopsy and resection sTILs percentages

sTILs NCB: stromal tumour infiltrating lymphocytes in needle core biopsy; sTILs THE: stromal tumour infiltrating lymphocytes in therapeutic excision specimen.

Therefore, in this pilot series there was no appreciable difference in sTIL counts in NCBs pre and post NACT treatment in those cases for whom a pCR was not achieved.

4.4. Discussion

sTILs have been proposed as a potential measure of the immune response to the presence of neoplastic cells. A number of studies support sTILs, assessed by light microscopy, as a potential predictor of outcome in women with TNBC. However, sTILs have been evaluated by a small number of groups. The assessment of sTILs is not routinely used in diagnostic practice and as with many markers is likely to be subject to variation in interpretation. Over the last few years, many groups have suggested different scoring systems for semi-quantitative assessment of sTILs. In 2014, the international TILs working group recommended assessment of sTILs on a continuous scale, upon examining the entire invasive tumour area on a single representative full-face H&E stained slide. The assessment includes but is not exclusive to the hotspots.⁴²⁷

In this work, sTILs were assessed in our series of TNBC with the aim of investigating its relationship with clinico-pathological features and outcome. In TNBC, sTILs high and LPBC was significantly associated with tumour type, being more common in medullary and atypical medullary cancers. sTILs LPBC was also associated with higher tumour grade, higher nuclear pleomorphism and absent lymphovascular invasion. An increasing level of sTILs, as 10% increments, was a significant predictor of outcome both DFS and OS on both uni- and multi-variate analysis. The magnitude of the effect on outcome was greater when sTILs was treated as a categorical variable and when a 25% threshold was used, sTIL high tumours had a significantly worse DFS and OS compared with those with sTILs <25% (reflected in a HR of 0.44 and 0.56 respectively) that was maintained on multivariate analysis. Those cases where the sTIL infiltrate reached the level of LPBC showed a similar association with DFS and OS however this did not attain statistical significance. For those who were treated with NACT, there was no significant difference in the sTIL counts in paired pre- and post-NACT samples.

4.4.1. Reported associations of sTILs in cancer

TILs are commonly observed in several tumour types. Increased TILs, particularly CD8+ lymphocytes, were associated with better prognostic features in cancers of the colon,^{374, 375} ovary,³⁷⁶ lung³⁷⁷ and in malignant melanomas.^{378, 379} Tumour regression can be accomplished just by the activation of the immune system (through administration of T-cell growth factors as interleukin-2). This was first described in melanomas.^{380, 381} More recently, clinical studies revealed enhanced survival for melanoma patients on administration of the T-cell checkpoint inhibitor ipilimumab, alone or in combination with other drugs.^{382, 383}

Over the last thirty years, several studies examined the presence of inflammation as a prognostic marker within BC. However, most of the earliest reports lacked the detailed documentation about the methodology used for the assessment of tumour-associated inflammation.^{384-386, 506} An association between prominent inflammation and better prognosis was outlined by some studies³⁸⁴⁻³⁸⁶ but not all.⁵⁰⁶ Fifteen years ago, unveiling the molecular heterogeneity of BC was gained through gene expression profiling, which disclosed the fact that BC is not a single disease.²⁴⁹ At the same time, the insights about the role of the tumour's immune microenvironment were expanded substantially and subsequent development of immune cell-therapy commenced an era for new therapeutic strategies.^{382, 383} This led to revisiting the role of TILs and investigating it more comprehensively within different BC molecular subtypes. The recent research on BC emphasizes that some of its molecular subtypes are immunogenic. This is predominantly shown in the TN and HER-2-positive BCs, in which higher TILs prevalence was observed.^{108, 110, 391, 394, 507} A recent systematic review which included 13,914 BCs confirmed that intense sTILs are seen more frequently in TNBC and HER-2-positive BC than in ER-positive tumours (median: 20% and 16% versus 6% respectively).³⁹⁴ This had been attributed to the higher genomic instability of these two subtypes, particularly the TNBC. TNBC displays a complex mutational pattern with numerous genetic alterations.⁵⁰⁸ Similarly, the HER-2-positive and luminal B subtypes are characterized by genetic instability centered on focal elevated DNA amplifications while luminal A showed low degree of genetic instability and did not portray a complex mutational pattern.⁵⁰⁸

Genetic mutations can lead to production of innovated abnormal amino acids that can be expressed and presented on the surface of the oncogenic cells (tumour neoantigens). Fortunately, the immune system can recognize it as non-self and initiate its fight to destroy it.⁵⁰⁹ This is postulated to gather the TILs, which in turn modulate the prognosis for those tumours.

Large cohorts of BC patients were examined for iTILs and sTILs. As noted by the IWG, iTILS are usually associated with sTILs.⁴²⁷ A prognostic value for the iTILs has not been demonstrated. In the BIG 02-98 trial, Loi and colleagues studied the TILs in both compartments within >2000 BC, including 256 TNBCs, enrolled in a randomized trial. They described that linear increase in iTILs was significantly paralleled with an improvement in the survival of TNBC but not in luminal and HER-2-positive BC.¹¹⁰ This parallel association remained existent, although non-significant, within 481 TNBCs examined by Adams et al.⁵⁰⁴ A contradictory result, with no association between iTILs and prognosis in 425 TNBCs, was published by Chinese investigators.⁵¹⁰ There may be several reasons for this. One element is that there are scant numbers of cases incorporating iTILs and so the dynamic range for evaluation of iTILs is low. Also, the investigators noted that more effort is exerted to identify the iTILs on H&E, which might be a contributory factor.⁴²⁷ On the other hand, data about the prognostic value of sTILs in BC was more homogeneous, particularly within the TNBC. This will be discussed in section 4.4.3.

Recently, a Korean group conducted an observational study focusing on sTILs among 447 HER-2-positive BCs. Interestingly, their analysis revealed that high TILs was prognostic within hormone receptor negative HER-2-positive BC but not within hormone receptor positive HER-2-positive BC.⁵¹¹ Other studies demonstrated that women with HER-2-positive BC, treated with trastuzumab and chemotherapy, in which their tumours harboured abundant TILs, were less likely to develop recurrence ^{389, 512} and more likely to have pCR.⁵¹² On the contrary, the results from the N9831 trial confined the prognostic value of TILs to the patients treated with chemotherapy alone without trastuzumab.⁵¹³

Lastly, a recent meta-analysis which investigated 13,100 BC patients confirmed that hormone independent and poorly differentiated tumours were coupled with

high sTILs. Moreover, superior survival rates and pCR were significantly linked to prominent TILs within the entire analyzed BC population.¹⁰⁷

4.4.2. Reported frequencies of sTILs in TNBC

In our analysis, the median sTILs value was 15%, which is comparable with other studies published. Recorded sTILs median value levels varied in the literature between $10\%^{352,504}$ and $25\%^{389}$ (Table 4.10.). Our result is similar to Dieci *et al.* (2014)³⁸⁸ and Tian *et al.* (2016)⁵¹⁰ (median 15% and 14.2% respectively), and slighly lower than a recent Italian study done on 897 TNBCs ⁵⁰⁵ who outlined equal median (20%) to that reported in the BIG 02-98 trial.¹¹⁰

Different thresholds for the cut-off to distinguish LPBC have been used globally and there is no agreed threshold yet. As recommended by the IWG, a continuous scale should be measured.⁴²⁷ Cut-offs used to designate lymphocyte-rich BC or LPBC differed widely between 10%^{514, 515} and 60%,^{373, 516} while most studies used a 50%^{392, 504, 505} threshold. Similar to our study, two published reports examined the significance of two or more cut-off values in a trial, to pinpoint a meaningful cut-off percentage that can be used in a clinical setting.^{391, 510} Kotoula et al. evaluated sTILs in 2618 BCs including 327 TNBCs. They tested the prognostic significance of sTILs at three different thresholds (>25%, >35% and >50%) and the three cut-offs were associated with significant statistical results. The association between sTILs and DFS with the > 25% and >50% cutoffs (HR= 0.15, log rank p=0.010 and HR= 0.12, log rank p=0.011 respectively) were slightly stronger than >35% cut-off (HR= 0.36, log rank p=0.02).³⁹¹ Tian et al. analyzed the impact of sTILs in 425 TNBCs on survival when using the cutoffs of >20% and >50%. They found that the >20% is a more useful cut-off. sTILs >20% were associated with better DFS and OS on univariate (HR 0.24; 95% CI: 0.10–0.60, p = 0.002 and HR 0.16; 95% CI 0.05–0.51, p = 0.002respectively and multivariate models ((HR 0.17; 95% CI 0.05–0.53, p = 0.003, HR 0.26; 95% CI 0.08–0.84, p = 0.02 respectively). While there was no significant association with survival at sTILs >50% threshold.⁵¹⁰ LPBC (sTILs \geq 50%) constituted 15.8% of our cohort, which is an intermediate value between the proportions described by Loi et al. and Kreike B et al. (11.6 and 12% respectively)^{353, 389} and Pruneri et al. and Hida et al. (21.9% and 20.77%)

respectively).^{505, 517} The highest density of sTILs was conveyed in a Korean study in which 32.5% of 769 TNBCs displayed \geq 70% sTILs³⁹⁰ while within a German population 36.5% of 313 TNBCs presented with \geq 50%⁵¹⁶. On the contrary, much lower frequencies of LPBC (sTILs \geq 50%) were documented by Beckers *et al.*, Adams *et al.* and Dieci *et al.* (3.7%, 4.4% and 5% respectively).^{392, 504, 518}

The dissimilarities in the sTILs median values and the frequency of LPBC in TNBC might be influenced by several factors such as the ethnic differences of the studied populations with different immunological profiles, different nature and quantity of the assessed material (whether it is TMA, core biopsy or full-face of one or more H&E slide, H&E versus IHC). Different cut-offs and interobserver variability in the assessment of TILs may also play a role.

4.4.3. Reported clinicopathological and prognostic associations with sTILs in TNBC

Our investigation demonstrated that LPBC (sTILs \geq 50%) was associated with poor differentiation (higher grade), increased nuclear pleomorphism, certain histological subtypes and absence of lymphovascular invasion. The available data regarding the relationship of sTILs, within the TNBC subtype, with other clinicopathological parameters are limited. Similar to our data, there is evidence highlighting the significant prevalence of elevated sTILs within the high grade TNBC tumours in many cohorts.^{107, 110, 386-392} The numbers of the special histological subtypes within the TNBC cohort was small in other studies as well as in ours. Yet keeping with the limited literature, carcinomas with medullary features were associated with high sTILs counts, while ILC and metaplastic carcinomas had low to absent sTILs.^{386, 390, 503}

The association with LVI was significant only in two studies,^{390, 519} however it conflicts with our data in which LPBC is associated with absent LVI. Tian *et al.* described an inverse association between age and concentration of sTILs.⁵¹⁰ A similar correlation was noted by the Nottingham group when CD8+ lymphocytes were investigated in BC.⁵²⁰ Loi and collaborators presented, of the 2015 San Antonio BC Symposium, the results of a pooled analysis of sTILs in 991 TNBC

patients. They found no association between sTILs with either age or lymph node status.⁵²¹ Further large-scale studies and meta-analysis are needed to explore the relationship between sTIL and different clinicopathological parameters with the aim of understanding their interactions and tailor the individualized proposed immunotherapy.

In our study, sTILs were associated with improved DFS and OS when sTILs were evaluated in increments of 10%, both on UVA and MVA. The four-scale categorization of sTILs showed a greater prognostic impact on both DFS and OS than that with an incremental increase of sTILs. The magnitude of the sTILs effect was even more significant when we used the > 25% cut-off to define high sTILs. Using the univariate log rank test, sTILs-high cases were associated with a significantly better DFS but non-significant longer OS. While on MVA, sTIL-high was an independent predictor of DFS and OS. Finally, the association between DFS and LPBC was significant on the univariate log rank test, but not on the MVA. There was no association between LPBC and OS neither on the logrank UVA nor on the MVA.

All^{110, 353, 389-392, 504, 510, 517, 518, 522, 523} published studies except two^{393, 524} have reported the presence of sTILs, assessed on H&E, is associated with an improved prognosis in operable TNBC. The characteristics and findings of these studies are summarized in Table 4.9. Park et al. studied the sTILs on FF H&E slides for 121 NACT naïve TNBC tumours in which the majority of the tumours were low stage (pT1/2 = 96%; pN0= 87%).⁵²⁴ Interestingly, a detailed investigation of the relationship of sTILs with different BC stages was recently researched through a large-scaled Korean study. The enhanced outcome was significantly associated with the advanced stages but not with stage I.390 This highlights the need for more studies and analysis of sTILs in TBNC according to the disease burden. While Polónia et al. evaluated sTILs on TMA for 536 BCs including 79 TNBCs and detected a better prognostic influence for elevated sTILs (>30%) in ERnegative and vimentin positive BCs.³⁹³ They also noticed a non-significant trend between sTILs and survival in TNBC.³⁹³ The limitations of this study include the small number of TNBCs and the nature of the evaluated material being a TMA core, instead of the FF sections as recommended by the IWG. Mori et al. studied

a moderately sized cohort of TNBC (n= 248) and observed that the high sTILs did not affect the recurrence free survival (RFS) but significantly improved the OS on univariate and multivariate analysis.⁵²⁵ Krishnamurt *et al.*, proposed that the location of the sTILs indicates prognostic importance. They concluded that the risk of recurrence and death were influenced by the peripheral sTILs, but not the overall sTILs.⁵²⁶

This work presented in this thesis showed that dicotomization of sTILs into two categories had a stronger association with outcome that when sTILs was evaluated as 10% increments. On multivariate analysis, women with sTIL-high (sTILs \geq 25%) tumours were significantly less likely to develop a disease relapse and had an improved OS than those with sTIL-low tumours. This was independent of age at diagnosis, tumour grade and nodal status. However, when the LPBC status (sTILs \geq 50%) was analysed, as stratified in the BIG02-98 study, the associations between LPBC status and DFS and OS were observed and LPBC remained in the final multivariate model with age at diagnosis, nodal status and tumour grade but did not reach statistical significance (p=0.070 and p=0.162 respectively, multivariate cox regression test). Although this result contradicts those of Loi *et al.*¹¹⁰, it concurs with those of Adams *et al.*⁵⁰⁴ and Tian *et al.*⁵¹⁰

Our findings, in line with previous published data, support the concept that some TNBC tumours are associated with a successful immune response that modulates their prognosis. It further supports the consensus that sTILs have prognostic significance in TNBC and that tumours with a high level of sTILs have a better outcome. The precise threshold for a prognostic role for sTILs in clinical practice is uncertain. This work suggests that the magnitude of the prognostic effect of sTILs is greater when a threshold of 25% is used. As with other series, the size of our series of TNBC patients is too small to have the power to detect the strength of the association between LPBC (i.e. a threshold of 50%) and outcome in TNBC.

Study yoon	Method of Study, year n sTILs		Median sTILs	Example: of sTH s	Follow-up	Significa for sTII	ant associa 28	tion with	outcome
Study, year	n	SIILS assassment	(Range)	Frequency of STILS	(months)	Univaria	ate	Multivariate	
		assessment				DFS	OS	DFS	OS
Kreike <i>et al.</i> , 2007 ³⁵³	97	H&E (2-6 FF slides per tumour)	NR	None= 8.24% Minimal*= 41.23% Moderate**= 34% Extensive*** = 12.37% Non-scorable= 4.12%	61	Yes ^{a,b}		Yes ^{a,b}	
Loi <i>et al.</i> , 2013 (BIG 02-98 trial) ¹¹⁰	256	H&E (FF section)	20% (2.5-75%)	LPBC sTILs (>50%) = 10.6%	96	Yes ^c	Yes ^c	Yes ^c	Yes ^c
Loi <i>et al.</i> , 2014 (FinHer trial) ³⁸⁹	134	H&E (FF section)	25% (3-85%)	LPBC sTILs (>50%) = 11.6%	62	Yes		Yes	
Adams <i>et al.</i> , 2014 (ECOG 2197 ECOG 1199 trial) ⁵⁰⁴	481	H&E (FF section)	10%	sTILs (0%) = 20% sTILs (10%) = 49% sTILs (20-40%) = 26.6% sTILs (>50%) = 4.4%	127	Yes ^{a,d,e}	Yes ^{a,d,e}	Yes ^{a,d,e} No ^c	Yes ^{a,d,e} No ^c
Dieci <i>et al.</i> , 2015 ³⁹²	199	H&E (FF section)	15% (0-90%)	Low sTILs (<50%) = 85% High sTILs (>50%) = 15%	152				Yes ^d
Kotoala <i>et al.</i> , 2015 ³⁹¹	327	H&E (FF section)	NR	Three cut-offs tested sTILs (>25%) = 23.8% sTILs (>35%) = 13.6% sTILs (>50%) = 8%	NR	Yes ^f		Yes ^f	
Beckers <i>et al.</i> , 2016 ⁵¹⁸	161	H&E (TMA)	NR	Mild (<30%) = 45% Moderate (30-60%) = 21.3% Marked (>60%) = 3.7%	55		Yes ^{g,h}		Yes ^{g,h}
Pruneri <i>et al.</i> , 2016 ⁵⁰⁵	897	H&E (FF section, 3 slides)	20%	LPBC sTILs (>50%) = 21.9%	98	Yes ^{c,d}	Yes ^{c,d}	Yes ^{c,d}	Yes ^{c,d}

Table 4.10. Reports of association between sTILs (on H&E) and outcome in TNBC

Table 4.10. (Cont'd)

Met Study, year n sTII		Method of	Median sTILs	Fragments of sTH s	Follow-up	Significant association with outcome for sTILs			
Study, year	п	STILS assessment	(Range)	Frequency of stills	(months)	Univariate		Multivariate	
		assessment				DFS	OS	DFS	OS
Park <i>et al.</i> , 2016 ⁵²²	767	H&E (FF all tumour slides)	NR	Low sTILs (<10%) = 23% High sTILs (<10%) = 74%	NR	Yes ^b	Yes ^b	Yes ^b	Yes ^b
Lee et al., 2016 ³⁹⁰	769	H&E (FF section)	NR	sTILs (<10%) = 24.4% sTILs (20-30%) = 22.2% sTILs (40-60%) = 20.8% sTILs (70-100%) =32.5%	NR	Yes ^d	Yes ^d	Yes ^d	Yes ^d
Park <i>et al.</i> , 2016 ⁵²⁴	121	H&E (FF section)	NR	Positive sTILs (>10%) = 62% LPBC (>60%) = 19%	NR	No ^{b,c}	No ^{b,c}	No ^{b,c}	No ^{b,c}
Tian <i>et al.</i> , 2016 ⁵¹⁰	425	H&E (FF section)	14.2% (0-90%)	sTILs 0-10% = 65.3% sTILs 11- 30% = 23.2% sTILs 31-50% =7% LPBCs (50%)= 3.5%	48	Yes ^{d,i} No ^c	Yes ^{d,i} No ^c	Yes ^{d,i} No ^c	Yes ^{d,i} No ^c
Hida <i>et al.</i> , 2016 ⁵¹⁷	154	H&E (FF section)	NR	Low sTILs (<10%) = 12.33% Intermediate (10-50%) = 66.89% High sTILs (>50%) = 20.77%	45	Yes ^{b,j}		Yes ^{b,j}	
Mori et al., 2017 ⁵²⁵	248	H&E (FF section)	NR	LPBC (>50%) = 47.6%	68	No ^{c,k}	Yes ^c	No ^{c,k}	Yes ^c
Polónia <i>et al.</i> , 2017 ³⁹³	79	H&E (TMA)	NR	sTIL<30%: 81% sTIL<30: 19%	120	No ^h	No ^h		
Krishnamurt <i>et al.</i> , 2017 ⁵²⁶	157	H&E (FF section)	NR	sTILs <5% = 39% sTILs 5-10% = 30% sTILs 10-50% =25% LPBCs (>50%)= 6%	NR	Yes ^{d,1} No ^{d,m}	Yes ^{d,l} No ^{d,m}	Yes ^{d,l} No ^{d,m}	Yes ^{d,l} No ^{d,m}

*:<10 lymphocytes/HPF, ** :easily identified lymphocytes but no large aggregates, ***: Big aggregates in >50% of the tumour; a: Distant-disease free survival, b: analysis at10% cut-off, c: analysis at 50% cut-off, d: analysis as continuous variable with 10% increments, e: analysis at (0% vs >0%), f: cut-off at 25%,35% and 50%, g; Breast cancer specific survival, h; analysis at 30% cut-off, i: analysis at 20% cut-off, j: analysis at 3 grade system, k: Recurrence-free survival, l: Peripheral TILs, m: overall TILs

4.4.4. Limitations of our study and future directions

Our study had several limitations. At the time of this analysis, the follow up time was short for some cases because we undertook the analysis on THE specimens and some of the patients had a short follow-up as their therapeutic procedures were performed at the beginning of last year (2016). However, the median follow up was 36 months that was reached by 145 patients and for TNBC the risk of relapse is highest in the first 3 years.⁵²⁷ The follow-up of 2548 women diagnosed with TNBC in a Dutch study showed that nearly 75% of the events occur in the first 3 years.⁵²⁸

We included cases from patients who had received NACT prior to their resection with those treated with adjuvant chemotherapy and so the study cohort comprised chemotherapy naïve tumours as well as tumours treated with NACT. However we noted that there was no difference in the sTILs scores in the pilot study of 26 paired pre-treatment NCBs and corresponding post-NACT excision specimens. Neither was stratification of the prognostic value of sTILs according to the treatment regimens or agents given tested in this work. However, sTILs was a strong prognostic factor within the entire cohort regardless of the treatment differences, and this corresponded to previous published data in the adjuvant^{110, 389, 504, 505} and neoadjuvant setting.^{392, 517}

The effect of NACT on sTILs has been studied sparsely with few published data including small numbers of cases and presenting conflicting results. Demaria *et al.* exerted a comparative study for TILs in pre-treatment and post-treatment tissue for a small cohort (n=25) of all types of BC who completed taxane-based NACT (paclitaxel). They concluded that anti-tumour lymphocytic response can result from the exposure to NACT, as there was a rise in the TILs within one third of the post-treatment residual tumours which did not show TILs on the pre-treatment tissue (7/21).⁵²⁹ A further study by Dieci *et al.* focused on analysis of paired specimens for tumours with high-TIL on post-chemotherapy specimens (n=27). They demonstrated that an intensification of the immune reaction was observed in 96% of these tumours, which was additionally associated with better prognosis.³⁸⁸ In our study, we analyzed a small number of unselected cases including those with both low and high sTILs counts, while Demaria *et al.*

exclusively studied the cases with low-TILs on pre-treatment cores and Dieci *et al.* limited their investigation to the post-treatment specimens with high-TILs scores. Nevertheless, we are in partial agreement that a proportion of the BC tumours can experience an increase in sTILs due to the NACT effect. Additional evidence was supplemented by a French study that explored the counts of different T-cell subtypes on 56 paired tumours using immunohistochemical staining. Their research concluded that the NACT had no effect on the amounts of the CD3 and CD8 lymphocytes but significantly reduced the Foxp3 immunosuppressive T cell counts.⁵³⁰ Hida *et al.* reported that 11/26 TNBC cases showed higher sTILs in the excision, 7/26 had equivalent amounts while 8/26 revealed lower sTILs post-chemotherapy. However, they categorized the sTILs into three categories (Low: <10; Intermediate: 10-50%; High: >50%) and compared the cases that changed from a category to another.⁵¹⁷

Treatment differences between studied groups could provide an explanation for differences in sTILs pre and post treatment, and it would be interesting to explore the sTILs counts in relation to specific therapeutic agents e.g. platinum.

Another limitation of this work was that a small number of co-variables were included in the multivariate analysis of sTILs: age at diagnosis, nodal status and tumour grade. We were unable to test tumour type as an independent variable because most cases were ductal (NST) type. There was a strong association between typical and atypical medullary types and sTILs. However, there were insufficient cases to examine if the prognostic effect of sTILs was independent of medullary type (or medullary-like) phenotype. As expected nodal status was the strongest predictor of outcome by multivariate analysis in our series and determination of the significance of sTILs in the different nodal groups should be determined in a larger series.

Interobserver variability was not adequately tested in this study as the two observers assessed sTILs together on a multiheaded microscope. A further study within our group is in progress to study the inter-observer variability of sTILs. Swisher *et al.*, assessed the interobserver variability for sTILs on H&E stained pre-treatment core biopsies from 75 TNBC tumours, by four breast pathologists. There was moderate agreement (kappa=0.57) when the sTILs were categorized

i.e. (<10%, 10-50% and >50%), however a continuous scale was not evaluated in this analysis.⁵³¹

Counting of sTILs proportions is a relatively subjective method in which 'eyeball' estimates are used. Computer based image analysis may represent an objective method. It had been used successfully in evaluation of the biomarker expression.⁵³² A recent comparative study between computerized versus manual scoring for sTILs on BC revealed excellent correlation results on 377 samples.⁵³³ The manual approach was used in most of the published sTILs studies to date and yielded promising results even on H&E alone. Moreover, it is a method that can be used by most pathologists during routine practice. On the other hand, it is challenging and time-consuming to outline the boundaries of the tumour stroma using the image analysis software. The pathologists' examination of sTILs can be done in a timely-manner during routine histological examination using the proposed four-scale grading system. An equivalent three-scale grading system for TILs is used in clinical practice and is integrated in the recommended datasets for reporting malignant melanoma.534 A validation for the use of a comparable grading system for sTILs is supported by Swisher et al..⁵³¹ This can be applied in the clinical setting with an acceptable degree of reproducibility, however the limited sample size and small number of participating pathologists limit its predictive power. We followed the recommendations of IWG, averaging the sTILs on a representative FF H&E slide, however we noted that the density of the sTILs varies in different fields of the tumour with higher concentration (hot spots) at the edges of the invasive tumour.

Tumour heterogeneity and the effect of sampling impacts on the evaluation of many prognostic and therapeutic factors in BC. The NCB is a small fraction of the overall tumour while the resection tissue full-face slide represents a larger proportion from the tumour. Notwithstanding, in most cases of TNBC tissue will only be available in the form of a NCB because NACT is now the standard of care for TNBC. The heterogeneity of the tumour stroma had been described recently⁵³⁵⁻⁵³⁷ and the effect of sampling has been established in many studies, exposing the heterogeneity of the BC grade as well as the immunohistochemical expression.⁵³⁸⁻⁵⁴¹ Heterogeneity of sTILs scores was noted on the excision

specimens in other studies.^{391, 526, 542} Although the IWG had no consensus regarding this issue, they favoured examination of whole tissue tissue sections over NCB.⁴²⁷ A recent American study emphasized the heterogenous distribution of sTILs within BC. They examined the prognostic influence of the location of sTILs (peripheral versus overall) in TNBC and ER-positive tumours. They perceived that longer survival was associated with higher peripheral but not overall sTILs in TNBC. While sTILs, regardless to their location, did not impact survival in ER-positive tumours.⁵²⁶

Our pilot study compared sTILs in paired biopsy and surgical excision specimens in a 26 cases of TNBC who received NACT and while it examined tissue heterogeneity to a degree, it was confounded by the fact that the resection was post NACT. There were very few discordances between the paired samples in the pilot study. While it would seem that a better representation of the tumour might be expected when more cores were examined, the four cases where a >20% difference in sTILs was observed had the same number of cores as the 26 cases overall (median = 3). However, a statistical comparison was not applicable because of the small number of discrepancies and the limited number of cases in this study.

Cohort size was also a limitation. TNBCs comprise less than 20% of all cancers and so most single institution TNBC series are small. The size of the TNBC in this work was too small to have the power to accurately evaluate the most appropriate threshold for a cut-off for sTILs or to determine if the prognostic effect of sTILs was independent of the medullary type.

Lastly, we examined sTILs on only H&E without further immunohistochemical characterization of the functional subsets of the lymphocytes, however it was proved to be adequate for prediction of the outcome with consistent results across the published studies done on TNBC. Determining the subtyping of infiltrating lymphocytes may provide additional information that might help understanding the mechanisms behind the tumour's immune microenvironment in TBNC.

5. CHARACTERIZATION OF COX-2 AND INOS EXPRESSION IN BC

5.1. Introduction

Inflammation associated carcinogenesis is incited through the inflammatory cells and the inflammatory cytokines secreted into the tumour microenvironment.^{69, 70} The combined effect of these can direct the host inflammatory response to be either anti-tumourigenic or pro-tumourigenic.^{69, 70} Two inflammation-associated enzymes that had been under the spotlight for researchers to explore their role in tumour initiation, progression and prognosis, are the COX-2 and the iNOS. These enzymes (COX-2 and iNOS) are subjected to cross-talk with NF- κ B, ^{72, 543} which is also regulated by estradiol.⁸¹ Abnormal production of COX-2 and iNOS in turn leads to overproduction of pro-inflammatory mediators, prostaglandins and NO, and are found in many precancerous and malignant lesions.^{199, 544} Previous animal studies on both COX-2 and iNOS have revealed that targeted inhibition of COX-2 and iNOS can prevent inflammation-associated carcinogenesis.²⁰⁰⁻²⁰² The role of COX-2 in colonic tumourigenesis is established in earlier studies.¹⁵⁴⁵⁴⁵ However its role in BC and its subtypes remains questionable. Whereas iNOS potentiates the production of nitric oxide, which is described by some authors as a double-edged sword due to opposing functions in cancer biology influenced by its concentration.¹⁸⁷ The value of iNOS detection in BC is still unclear and controversial. In particular, studies by Glynn et al.^{191,429} showed that COX-2 and iNOS expression is associated with worse BC specific survival in ER-negative breast tumours. Therefore, we aimed in this work to investigate the association between COX-2 and iNOS immunohistochemical expression in BC cells and its pathological parameters and outcome.

5.2. Evaluation of COX-2 and iNOS IHC in BC

COX-2 and iNOS were evaluated on 450 and 422 of 666 BC using the WOI BC series. This cohort included all types of BCs and 8% were TNBC (52/666). This was used because the expression of these markers remains largely unknown in all subtypes of BC. After excluding the uninformative TMA cores from the study, tumours were scored for COX-2 within 450 cores by AS. Twenty-five percent of the informative TMA cores were additionally double-scored by GC. There was agreement on COX-2 staining intensity in 81.2% of the double-scored cores (kappa value = 0.74). Also, there was very good agreement on TOX-2 staining percentage categories (kappa value = 0.7) with agreement on 77.7% of the double-scored cores.

Tumours were scored for iNOS within 422 cores by AS and twenty-five percent of the informative TMA cores were additionally double-scored by GC. For these cases, there was good agreement for scoring intensity with concordant scores recorded in 75.5% of cases (kappa value = 0.65). Scoring the percentage of the positive was more heterogeneous than scoring the iNOS intensity with agreement between both scores reached for 70.5% of cases (kappa value = 0.55), which indicated a moderate level of agreement. Discordant cases were reviewed and a consensus score assigned.

5.2.1. Expression of COX-2 in BC

Within the WOI BC series, 450 informative cores were assessed for COX-2 immunohistochemical staining. Overall, 48/450 cores (10.7%) revealed no staining while diffuse cytoplasmic staining was seen in 402/450 (89.3%). Different staining intensities and their distribution within the cases are shown in Figures 5.1 and 5.2. The cases were dichotomized into COX-2 positive and COX-2 negative depending on the sum score for the intensity of the staining and the proportion of the tumour cells expressing the protein. Fifty one percent (230/450 cores) were COX-2 positive while approximately 49% (220/450 cores) were COX-2 negative.



Figure 5.1. COX-2 cytoplasmic staining in BC Representative images of the spectrum of the cytoplasmic intensity observed for COX-2 in BC where A = weak, B= moderate and C= strong (x200)



Figure 5.2. COX-2 expressions in BC

5.2.3. Associations between COX-2 expression and pathological parameters in BC

Associations between COX-2 expression and pathological variables in BC are shown in Table 5.1. In the entire cohort, a significant reverse association was observed between COX-2 positivity and tumour grade (p= <0.001) (Table 5.1). There was no association between COX-2 expression and tumour size, nodal status or stage.

Variable		COX-2	COX-2	n	χ^2	p value
		negative	positive			
		n(%)	n(%)			
Tumour grade	1	17 (30)	39 (70)	56	15.41	<0.001*
	2	85 (42)	114 (58)	198		
	3	92 (58)	67 (42)	159		
T stage	pT1	50 (41)	73 (59)	123	6.08	0.108
	pT2	117 (45)	141 (55)	258		
	pT3	34 (60)	23 (40)	57		
N stage	pN0	94 (45)	115 (55)	209	0.41	0.937
	pN1	57 (48)	61 (52)	118		
	pN2	28 (46)	33 (54)	61		
	pT3	17 (49)	18 (51)	35		
M stage	pM0	174 (46)	202 (54)	376	1.05	0.591
	pM1	21 (43)	28 (57)	426		
a, number of ca	ases for which data	was availa	ble; p value	es in bo	ld indicate	statistically

Table 5.1. Association between COX-2 and tumour variables in BC

COX-2 positivity was seen in a significantly higher proportion of ER and PgRpositive BC as compared to ER-negative and PgR-negative BC (p=<0.0001) (Table 5.2). There was a significant association between COX-2 positivity and higher Bcl-2 expression (p=0.04), lower EGFR, Ki67, p53 and E-cadherin expressions (p=0.026, p=0.035, p=<0.001, p=0.008 respectively) (Table 5.2).

The associations with the pathological variables were examined in ER-positive and ER-negative tumours. Within ER- BC, the significant relationship between COX-2 positivity and Bcl-2, p53 and E-cadherin were retained (p=0.04, p=0.015 and p=0.036 respectively) (Table 5.3) while in ER-positive tumours, no significant association was observed (Appendix XIV).

Variable		COX-2	COX-2	Total	χ^2	p value
		negative	positive			
		n(%)	n(%)			
ER	Negative	83 (63)	48 (37)	131	22.36	<0.001*
	Positive	116 (39)	184 (61)	300		
PgR	Negative	87 (61)	55 (39)	142	19.86	<0.001*
	Positive	110 (38)	176 (62)	286		
HER-2	Negative	192	178	370	3.89	0.143
	Positive	33	31	64		
Bcl-2	Negative	110 (56)	85 (44)	195	17.69	<0.001*
	Positive	80 (36)	143 (64)	223		
CK5/6	Negative	137 (45)	166 (55)	303	1.61	0.204
	Positive	32 (54)	27 (46)	59		
EGFR	Negative	149 (43)	194 (57)	343	4.92	0.026*
	Positive	39 (58)	28 (42)	67		
CK14	Negative	131 (49)	137 (51)	268	0.38	0.533
	Positive	35 (45)	43 (55)	78		
Ki67	Negative	123 (44)	160 (56)	283	4.43	0.035*
	Positive	72 (55)	60 (45)	132		
p53	Negative	136 (42)	185 (58)	321	14.97	<0.001*
	Positive	60 (65)	32 (35)	92	-	
E-cadherin	Negative	14 (29)	34 (71)	48	7.00	0.008*
	Positive	181 (49)	185 (51)	366	-	

Table 5.2. Association between COX-2 and other biomarkers in BC

significant associations

Variable		COX-2	COX-2	Total	χ^2	p value
		negative	positive			
		n(%)	n(%)			
Tumour grade	1	3 (43)	4 (57)	7	1.39	0.498
	2	18 (65)	10 (35)	28		
	3	56 (65)	30 (35)	86		
HER-2	Negative	62	35	97	0.64	0.422
	Positive	25	19	44		
Bcl-2	Negative	65 (68.)	30 (32)	95	4.23	0.040*
	Positive	11 (46)	13 (54)	24		
CK5/6	Negative	48 (61)	30 (39)	78	< 0.001	1.00
	Positive	16 (62)	10 (38)	26		
EGFR	Negative	44 (59)	30 (41)	74	1.24	0.265
	Positive	30 (70)	13 (30)	43		
CK14	Negative	48 (67)	24 (33)	72	0.58	0.445
	Positive	17 (59)	12 (41)	29		
Ki67	Negative	34 (60)	23 (40)	57	1.22	0.268
	Positive	43 (69)	19 (31)	62		
p53	Negative	39 (57)	30 (43)	69	5.92	0.015*
	Positive	39 (78)	11 (22)	50		
E-cadherin	Negative	3 (33)	6 (67)	9	4.38	0.036*
	Positive	76 (68)	36 (32)	112		

Table 5.3. Association between COX-2 and tumour variables in ER-negativeBC

significant associations

5.2.4. Association between COX-2 and patient outcome in BC

On UVA, COX-2 positivity did not indicate a difference in DFS or OS (p=0.866 and p=0.836, log rank test) neither in the entire BC cohort nor if grouped according to ER status (Appendices XV and XVI).

5.2.5. Expression of iNOS in BC

Within the WOI BC series, 417 informative cores were assessed for iNOS immunohistochemical staining. Overall within all the TMAs, only 12.7% (53/417) revealed no staining while 87.3% (364/417) revealed iNOS cytoplasmic immunohistochemical expression. The distribution of different staining intensities within the cases is shown in Figure 5.3. The cases were dichotomized into iNOS positive and iNOS negative depending on the sum score for the intensity of the staining and the proportion of the tumour cells expressing the protein. Nearly forty-five percent (189/417 cores) were iNOS positive while approximately 55% (228/417 cores) were iNOS negative.



Figure 5.3. iNOS expression in BC

5.2.6. Association between iNOS and pathological parameters in BC

Associations between iNOS expression and pathological variables in BC are shown in Tables 5.4. to 5.7. In the entire cohort, a significant inverse association was observed between iNOS expression and tumour grade (p=0.026) (Table 5.4.). There was a significant association between iNOS positivity and ER, PgR and CK14 expression (p=0.006, p=0.003 and p=0.016 respectively) (Table 5.5.). Within ER-negative BC, the significant relationship between iNOS expression and tumour grade was retained (p=0.019) (Table 5.6.) while in ER-positive tumours, significant association between iNOS expression and CK14 was still observed (Table 5.7.).

Variable		iNOS	iNOS	n	χ^2	p value
		negative	positive			
		n(%)	n(%)			
Tumour grade	1	31 (58)	23 (43)	54	7.26	0.026*
	2	98 (54)	84 (46)	182		
	3	103 (68)	48 (32)	151		
T stage	pT1	72 (63)	42 (37)	114	0.31	0.957
	pT2	150 (61)	96 (39)	246		
	pT3	30 (59)	21 (41)	51		
N stage	pN0	129 (64)	72 (36)	201	1.50	0.681
	pN1	66 (59)	46 (41)	112		
	pN2	31 (58)	23 (43)	54		
	pT3	19 (58)	14 (42)	33		
M stage	pM0	212 (60)	144 (40)	356	5.82	0.054
	pM1	35 (78)	10 (23)	45		

Table 5.4. Association between iNOS and tumour variables in BC.

a, number of cases for which data was available; p values in bold indicate statistically significant associations.

Variable		iNOS	iNOS	Total	χ^2	p value
		negative	positive			
		n(%)	n(%)			
ER	Negative	94 (71)	39 (29)	133	7.69	0.006*
	Positive	141 (56)	110 (44)	251		
PgR	Negative	122 (70)	53 (30)	175	9.10	0.003*
	Positive	116 (55)	96 (45)	212		
HER-2	Negative	104 (45)	129 (55)	233	2.19	0.334
	Positive	26 (57)	20 (43)	46		
Bcl-2	Negative	118 (65)	64 (35)	182	1.56	0.211
	Positive	125 (59)	88 (41)	213		
CK5/6	Negative	171 (61)	108 (39)	279	1.20	0.272
	Positive	40 (69)	18 (31)	58		
EGFR	Negative	195 (60)	128 (40)	323	0.91	0.338
	Positive	44 (67)	22 (33)	66		
CK14	Negative	153 (60)	102 (40)	255	5.75	0.016*
	Positive	55 (75)	18 (25)	73		
Ki67	Negative	158 (59)	112 (41)	270	3.44	0.064
	Positive	86 (68)	40 (32)	126		
p53	Negative	188 (62)	116 (38)	304	0.29	0.587
	Positive	51 (59)	36 (41)	87		
E-cadherin	Negative	27 (64)	15 (36)	42	0.22	0.637
	Positive	210 (61)	137 (39)	347		

Table 5.5. Association between iNOS and other biomarkers in BC

a, number of cases for which data was available; p values in bold indicate statistically significant associations

Variable		iNOS	iNOS	Total	χ^2	p value
		negative	positive			
		n(%)	n(%)			
Tumour grade	1	1 (17)	5 (83)	6	7.96	0.019*
	2	16 (59)	11 (41)	27		
	3	57 (71)	23 (29)	80		
HER-2	Negative	33 (49)	35 (51)	68	1.02	0.311
	Positive	19 (59)	13 (41)	32		
Bcl-2	Negative	65 (70)	28 (30)	93	2.91	0.088
	Positive	10 (50)	10 (50)	20		
CK5/6	Negative	49 (69)	22 (31)	71	0.11	0.734
	Positive	17 (65)	9 (35)	26		
EGFR	Negative	48 (70)	21 (30)	69	0.10	0.750
	Positive	28 (67)	14 (33)	42		
CK14	Negative	43 (64)	24 (36)	67	2.70	0.100
	Positive	22 (81)	5 (19)	27		
Ki67	Negative	33 (61)	21 (39)	54	2.35	0.125
	Positive	44 (75)	15 (25)	59		
p53	Negative	46 (71)	19 (29)	65	1.32	0.250
	Positive	29 (60)	19 (40)	38		
E-cadherin	Negative	6 (75)	2 (25)	8	0.40	0.523
	Positive	67 (64)	38 (36)	105		

Table 5.6. Association between iNOS and tumour variables in ER-negativeBC

152

Variable		iNOS	iNOS	Total	χ^2	p value
		negative	positive			
		n(%)	n(%)			
Tumour grade	1	29 (62)	18 (38)	47	3.78	0.151
	2	78 (53)	71 (47)	149		
	3	44 (66)	23 (34)	67		
HER-2	Negative	62 (44)	79 (56)	141	1.27	0.528
	Positive	7 (54)	6 (46)	13		
Bcl-2	Negative	49 (59)	34 (41)	83	0.01	0.895
	Positive	109 (60)	73 (40)	182		
CK5/6	Negative	114 (58)	83 (42)	197	2.99	0.083
	Positive	21 (75)	7 (25)	28		
EGFR	Negative	140 (58)	102 (42)	242	0.81	0.368
	Positive	13 (68)	6 (32)	19		
CK14	Negative	102 (57)	77 (43)	179	4.40	0.036*
	Positive	32 (74)	11 (26)	43		
Ki67	Negative	119 (58)	86 (42)	205	0.35	0.554
	Positive	38 (62)	23 (38)	61		
p53	Negative	133 (59)	91 (41)	224	0.09	0.764
	Positive	21 (57)	16 (43)	37		
E-cadherin	Negative	19 (59)	13 (41)	32	< 0.01	0.976

Table 5.7.	Association	between	iNOS	expression	and	tumour	variables	in
ER-positiv	e BC.							

5.2.7. Association between iNOS and patient outcome in BC

On univariate analysis using Kaplan-Meier survival curves, iNOS positivity did not indicate a difference in DFS or OS (p= 0.799 and p=0.501, log rank test) neither in the entire BC cohort nor if grouped according to ER status. (Appendices XVII and XVIII).

5.3 Discussion

We examined the expression of COX-2 protein in BC. This enzyme is involved in inflammation as well as in the promotion of tumourgenesis and progression of some types of cancer. Cytoplasmic expression of COX-2 was present in 89.3% of cases, however using the detailed scoring system COX-2 was positive in 51.12% of the entire cohort. Within the entire BC cohort, COX-2 protein was associated with positive prognostic factors such as ER and PgR positivity and high Bcl-2 expression. COX-2 positivity was inversely associated with tumour grade and expression of EGFR, p53, Ki67 and E-Cadherin. These associations were not observed between COX-2 positivity and ER-positive tumours, while the association between COX-2 positivity and high Bcl-2, low p53 and reduced Ecadherin was retained in ER-negative tumours. In terms of outcome, COX-2 had no prognostic impact, neither in the entire cohort nor in the subgroups stratified according to ER status.

5.3.1. COX-2 expression in BC

This work demostrated that a high proportion of BC expresses the COX-2 protein (51.12%). This is consistent with previous reports, although there was a wide range (28-95%) within those studies.¹⁵⁵⁻¹⁵⁷ This may reflect the non-uniformity in the staining protocols and antibodies used, differences in the examined cohorts, and scoring systems. Nevertheless these findings support a role for COX-2 deregulation in BC. A summary of the publications of COX-2 immunohistochemical expression and its associations with clinicopathological parameters and outcome are presented in Table 5.8.

Study year	n	COX-2 antibody	Scoring system	Cut-off for COX-2 positivity	Frequency of COX-2 positivity	Parameters examined	Significant association with parameters for AR positivity	Follow up period (months)	Impact of AR expression on outcome
Ristimäki <i>et</i> al., 2002 ¹⁶⁰	1576 TMA	Cayman mouse monoclonal (2.5 µg/ml)	Proportion and intensity ^a	Score ≥2	37%	Age, tumour size, grade, type, ER, PgR, HER-2, Ki67, p53	Larger tumour, high grade, ER and PgR negativity, HER-2 positivity, high Ki67, high p53, LN positivity, ductal phenotype	Median 6.8 years	Decreased DDFS in the entire cohort and in ER positive tumours on UVA, but not on MVA
Kelly <i>et al.</i> , 2003 ⁵⁴⁶	106 WTS	Cayman polyclonal 1:500	Product score of percentage and intensity ^b	Analysis for 4 categories ^c	85%	Tumour size, grade, type, ER, PgR, LN status	None	Mean 1.92 years	No correlation with survival
Denkert <i>et</i> <i>al.</i> , 2003 ⁵⁴⁷	221 WTS	Cayman mouse monoclonal 1:1000	Product score of percentage and intensity ^b	Score >7	36%	Age, tumour size, grade, type, ER, HER- 2, Ki67, LVI, LN status	Larger tumour, high grade, ER negativity, LVI positivity, LN positivity	Median 7.25 years	Reduced DFS and OS on UVA. Borderline association with DFS. No association with OS on MVA
Wülfing <i>et al.</i> , 2003 ⁵⁴⁸	192 TMA	Cayman mouse monoclonal 1:200	Proportion and intensity ^d	Score ≥2	40.6%	Tumour stage, grade, ER, PgR, HER-2, Ki67, LVI, LN status	Advanced stage, high grade, ER and PgR negativity, high Ki67, LVI positivity, LN positivity	Median 5.92 years	No impact on DFS or OS
Nakopoulou et al., 2005 ⁵⁴⁹	175 WTS	Santa Cruz polyclonal 1:120	Proportion/ intensity score	Moderate staining in >20%	68%	Menopause, tumour size, grade, type, stage, ER, PgR, HER-2, p53, topoIIα, PPARγ	Low grade, low nuclear grade, PgR positivity, low p53, low topoIIα, high PPARγ	Mean 9.25 years	No correlation with DFS or OS in UVA or MVA

 Table 5.8. Reports of associations between COX-2 IHC expression and clinicopathological parameters and outcome in BC

Chapter 5: Characterization of COX-2 and iNOS expression in BC

Study year	n	COX-2 antibody	COX-2 scoring system	Cut-off for COX-2 positivity	Frequency of COX-2 positivity	Parameters examined	Significant association with parameters for AR positivity	Follow up period (months)	Impact of AR expression on outcome
Holmes <i>et</i> <i>al.</i> , 2011 ¹⁵⁷	2001 TMA	Labvision Rabbit monoclonal	Intensity/ Percentage (negative, 1-3) ^e	Score ≥1	28%	Tumour size, grade, stage, type, ER, PgR, HER-2, LN status	Larger size, advanced stage, lobular subtype, ER positivity, PR positivity, LN metatsases	NR	Worse prognosis
Park <i>et al.</i> , 2012 ⁵⁵⁰	861 TMA	SP21, 1:200; Biocare Medical,	Percentage score	>>10%	57.3%	Age, tumour size, grade, type, stage, ER, PgR, HER-2, Ki67	Older age, smaller tumour size, low grade, ER positivity, PgR positivity, low Ki67	Median 5.9 years	No association with survival in entire cohort or according to ER status. Worse survival is restricted to COX-2 positivity in proliferative tumours
Misron <i>et</i> <i>al.</i> , 2014 ¹⁵⁹	144 TMA	LabVision- RM-9121-S Clone SP21 Rabbit monoclonal) at 1:50	Product score of percentage and intensity ^b	Score ≥5	75%	Age, tumour size, grade, ER, PgR, HER-2, LVI, LN invasion,	Low grade, ER positivity, PgR positivity	NR	Not examined
Simonsson <i>et al.</i> , 2017 ⁵⁵¹	911 TMA	Abcam, polyclonal rabbit 1:750	Intensity score	Moderate staining intensity	39%	Tumour size, grade, ER. PgR, HER-2, Ki67, LN status	Older age, lower grade, ER positivity, PgR positivity, low Ki67	5 years	Association with lower risk for any BC event in the UVA but not in MVA. Not associated with DMFS or OS

Table 5.8. (Cont'd)

a. 0: no staining, 1: weak diffuse staining or strong stain in <10%, 2: moderate/strong stain in 10–90%, 3: strong 90%; b. percentage (0–4) X intensity (0–3); c. Four categories: None (0) Low (1–4) Medium (5–8) High (9–12); d. 0: no staining, 1: weak, 2: moderate 10–90%, 3: strong 90%; e: Negative: no staining, 1: weak diffuse staining, 2: moderate/strong staining, 3: >90% strong intensity; LN: lymph node; LVI: lymphovascular; DDFS: distant disease free survival; UVA: univariate analysis; MVA: multivariate analysis; DFS: disease free survival; OS: overall survival; DMFS: distant metastases free survival
5.3.2. COX-2 and its relation to oestrogen in BC

In this work, COX-2 positivity was strongly associated with hormone positivity. This suggests that COX-2 deregulation may play a role in the pathogenesis of ER-positive BC. This is in agreement with the conclusions illustrated by several investigators.^{157, 159, 552} Holmes and colleagues confirmed the existence of this correlation in a study that was done on 2001 BCs.¹⁵⁷ Moreover, this had been supported by transcriptional studies. Zhao et al. quantified COX-2 mRNA by reverse transcription-polymerase chain reaction in benign and malignant breast tissue.¹⁶⁴ The authors perceived noticeably higher COX-2 levels in ER-positive than in ER-negative breast tumours.¹⁶⁴ Nevertheless, in a British study, a direct association was present between COX-2 mRNA and PgR positivity; but not with ER status.¹⁶⁵ Previous research illustrated that COX-2 upregulation stimulates the conversion of androgen to oestrogen in breast tissue through prostaglandin production and aromatase activation^{166-169, 553} (Figure 1.7). This can explain the bond between COX-2 and ER. Generally, most of the ER-positive breast tumours are associated with a better prognosis and less aggressive phenotype as well as differentiation and low proliferation rate, 554, 555 which agrees with our results that COX-2 was associated with ER-positive tumours, low histological grade and low Ki67. In addition, observations similar to ours were also reported by Park et al.⁵⁵⁰ and Misron et al.¹⁵⁹ on analysis of 861 and 144 BCs respectively.

Moreover, inline with our results, a recently published Swedish study done on 911 patients assured that more favourable BC tumour characteristics such as small tumour size, hormone receptor positivity, low Ki67 in addition to HER-2 negativity were paralleled with COX-2 protein presence.⁵⁵¹ These results were not observed in the study by Glynn *et al.*,⁴²⁹ who did not find any association between COX-2 expression and hormone receptor status or tumour grade.⁴²⁹ Additional studies done on small number of BC tumours (maximum of 50 tumours) revealed no association between COX-2 expression and tumour grade or ER status.^{556164,165}

In contrast to our result, Lui *et al.* stated that COX-2 protein level in oestrogenindependent MDA-MD-231 cells was higher than in oestrogen-dependent MCF-7 cells.⁵⁵⁷ This was further described by investigations done on TMAs.^{160, 548} The latter studies and others also reported that COX-2 expression is associated with higher histological grade and larger tumour size.^{155, 160, 548, 558}

Several factors can contribute to these contradictory conclusions. The absence of uniform criteria for positivity of COX-2 can result in divergent 'COX-2-positive' tumour samples across these studies. For example, van Nes *et al.* used a histogram (H-score) with a cut-off score of 148 for positivity.⁵⁵⁸ The threshold used by Nakopoulou *et al.* was 20% moderate cytoplasmic expression while Ristimäki *et al.*¹⁶⁰ and Boland *et al.*⁵⁵⁹ considered 10% moderate cytoplasmic expression as positive. A lower limit (5% cytoplasmic expression regardless of the intensity) was even used by other investigators.⁵⁶⁰ In our study we used a scoring system based on summation of the intensity of the staining and proportion of the tumour cells expressing the marker, similar to that used in Glynn *et al.*,⁴²⁹ with a cut-off score of \geq 4. Adding to the diversity of the results are the differences in the sensitivity and specificity of several commercial COX-2 antibodies and the variability between the studied populations.

5.3.3. COX-2 and its association with other biomarkers and the possible role in BC carcinogenesis

Consistent with the key role of COX-2 in carcinogenesis and its putative role in the control of apoptosis, our work indicated a correlation between the presence of COX-2 and BCL-2 in BC. This is inline with previous published studies.^{561, 562} A study by Singh *et al.* demonstrated that COX-2 markedly increased BCL-2 expression on MCF-7 cells⁵⁶² and additionally selective COX-2 blockers reversed this effect in an in vivo oncogenic mouse model of BC.⁵⁶³ Similar findings of COX-2/BCL-2 co-expression were seen in TNBC and non-TNBC breast tumours,⁵⁶¹ suggesting that correlation is present independent of BC molecular subtype. Notably, many experiments revealed that upstreaming of BCL-2 mRNA and protein expression is also associated with the exposure to oestrogen,^{564, 565} which is consistent with our finding that COX-2 was associated with both ER and BCL-2 positivity. Only one study reported a contradictory result, in which the researchers observed an enhancement of the BCL-2 levels, measured by western blot, after oral administraion of a selective COX-2 inhibitor in experimental rats.⁵⁶⁶

Moreover, a significant inverse association between COX-2 and E-Cadherin expression was apparent in our analysis. This raises the possibility that COX-2 may play a role in BC tumourigenesis. Bocca. *et al.* reported that COX-2 overexpression leads to E-cadherin reduction in MDA-MB-231 and MCF-7 BC cells.⁵⁶⁷ In contrast COX-2 knockdown led to upregulation of E-cadherin,^{568, 569} reduction of cell migration and invasion in different cancers in vitro.^{570, 571} Moreover, this inverse association between COX-2 and E-cadherin was described in different types of cancers such as lung and bladder cancers.^{572, 573} However, an association between COX-2 expression and nodal metastases was not observed in this work. A possible verification is that E-Cadherin downstreaming is an earlier event within the invasion/metastases sequence, which ensues before the establishment of nodal metastases.

5.3.4. COX-2 and outcome in BC

Many investigators have examined the clinical significance of COX-2 overexpression in BC. However, the results of these reports are still conflicting as shown in Table 5.8. Glynn *et al.*⁴²⁹ previously noted a worse survival rates in ER-negative tumours. Our analysis did not show a significant association between survival and COX-2 expression. However, we noted a possible time effect for the COX-2 positivity in ER-negative disease (Figure 5.6 C and 5.7 C). Perhaps a longer follow up would detect evidence of such an association.

Overall, we hypothesize that the effects of COX-2 are context dependent and that the pathways involved in the COX-2 associated cancer development and progression may depend on BC subtypes. Further studies and meta-analysis are recommended.

5.3.5. iNOS in BC

In this cohort, iNOS expression in BC showed a significant inverse association with tumour grade. Furthermore, iNOS positivity was more common in ERpositive tumours compared with ER-negative ones. Similarly, there was high concurrence between iNOS expression and PgR and CK14 expression. Within ER-negative BC, the significant relationship between iNOS expression and tumour grade was retained while in ER-positive tumours, significant association between iNOS expression and CK14 was still observed.

There is no consensus in the literature regarding the relationship between iNOS and oestrogen. Some studies in rat models suggest that oestrogen has a positive regulatory effect on the iNOS levels in different cells^{574, 575} while other experiments revealed the opposite effect.^{576, 577} In 2009, Ostad *et al.* investigated the effect of estradiol on the expression of iNOS in 2 BC cell lines.⁵⁷⁸ They observed a direct effect of estradiol levels on iNOS titres.⁵⁷⁸ This is consistent with our finding that iNOS expression was associated with ER-positive tumours. Furthermore, Karpuzoglu and Ahmed stated that COX-2 and other genes can be induced by iNOS-derived nitric oxide,⁵⁷⁹ which can be by itself a link to its association with ER-positive BC. Vakkala *et al.* examined iNOS expression in both the tumour and stromal cells and concluded that their sum score is correlated with the PgR positivity.⁵⁸⁰ On the contrary, other studies on human BC did not show similar association between iNOS and TN phenotype,⁵⁸² however this study investigated a small number of breast tumours (*27*).

iNOS staining was directly associated with hormone receptor status in this study and it is not surprising that it also shows an inverse affiliation with tumour grade. A similar observation was reported in Austrian⁵⁸³ and French⁵⁸⁴ studies. Contradictory to our data, Glynn *et al.*¹⁹¹ and Dabbeche-Bouricha *et al.*⁵⁸² reported a proportional relationship between the tumour differentiation and iNOS expression. These differences might be related to the differences in the studied populations, interobserver variability and the sensitivity of the antibodies used. Moreover, the effects of NO on the cells are known to be contradictory according to its concentration. The NO within the tumour microenvironment can be sourced not only from iNOS enzyme present within the tumour cells, but also from the iNOS enzyme present in the tumour-associated inflammatory cells and stromal cells. Thus, iNOS expression was assessed in the concomitant inflammatory infiltrate, however most of the cores showed a deficient number of inflammatory cells or none. This is not surprising as our study was done on TMA, which typically aims to obtain the most cellular areas of the tumour. Therefore, it was difficult to get a real estimate of the NO amount in the tumour microenvironment.

In summary, this work revealed that COX-2 and iNOS were expressed more often in hormone receptor positive tumours and in low grade tumours, supporting the hypothesis that COX-2 may have a tumourigenic role in hormone dependent BC. Such a role could be through the PGE2 pathway, which can increase aromatase activity in breast cells with subsequent oestrogen production. An additional mechanism might be linked to the interactions between the anti-apoptotic protein Bcl-2 and COX-2. However, an association between either iNOS and COX-2 and outcome in all BCs, in hormone receptor positive or hormone receptor negative subsets was not observed.

5.3.6. Limitations of our study and future directions

IHC is a relatively simple technique that has been proven to be practically useful for decades. However, this method is liable to reaction bias and interpretation bias.585 Therefore. the reliability and validity of the manual immunohistochemical technique for COX-2 and iNOS detection can represent potentially limiting factors in this study. We attempted to decrease run-to-run variation in expression by adhering to a standardized protocol that was initially optimized. Whole tissue sections of appropriate external controls were used during optimization and during immunohistochemical staining of the TMAs. These often showed a relatively homogeneous staining pattern for COX-2 and iNOS. Concordance of expression in duplicated cases, for COX-2 and iNOS, located on different TMAs showed a fair agreement. Tissue heterogeneity, intraobserver variability and technical factors might contribute to the disconcordance in scores.

Although the TMA allows the evaluation of large number of tumours in an identical standardized method, the cores constitute a small proportion of each tumour that might not be representative of the entire tumour. Therefore, it may represent a possible limiting factor in our work. However, several studies validated the use of the immunohistochemical methods on TMAs. These studies confirmed that the results of biomarker expression were highly concordant in TMA cores and whole tissue sections.^{425, 586, 587}

6. SUMMARY AND FUTURE PRESPECTIVE

TNBCs constitute a subset of BC that lacks targeted treatment despite the recent advances in cancer therapy. Comprehensive genomic and expression array studies have revealed that TNBCs exhibit considerable molecular heterogeneity. This diversity has hindered the identification of predictive markers and targeted therapies.

This work analysed the clinical and detailed pathological characteristics of a TNBC series diagnosed at GUH from January 2000 to January 2016. This is one of the largest retrospective cohorts of TNBCs outside a clinical trial setting. The analysis particularly focused on the evaluation of the clinicopathological and immunohistochemical parameters in TNBC and their association with outcome.

The prognostic importance of the traditional parameters of tumour size and nodal status was confirmed. On MVA, nodal status was an independent predictor of DFS and MFS but not for BCSS in the chemo naïve group. Tumour size was an independent predictor of MFS and BCSS. In the post NACT setting, pCR was the only independent predictor of DFS, MFS and BCSS.

A range of parameters was examined as potential prognostic indicators. Only sTILs was an independent prognostic factor for both DFS and OS. The significance of incremental increases in sTILs in its association with an improved outcome shown by others was confirmed. The prognostic value of sTILs was maintained when it was expressed as a binary variable with a 25% cut-off.

None of the other biomarkers examined - AR, basal phenotype (EGFR, CK5/6, CK14), p53 - was independently predictive of outcome and neither were patient age, menopausal status or BRCA mutation status. Expression of Bcl-2 - a marker associated with good outcome in BC overall - was associated with a longer survival, MFS and BCSS, on multivariate analysis with age, grade and menopausal status, but not with nodal status or tumour size - as co-variables. The two inflammation associated enzymes COX-2 and iNOS, while associated with hormone receptor positive tumours, were not associated with outcome.

This work highlights the difficulty in identifying patients with subtypes of TNBC who will follow a different course and who may benefit from different treatment options. TNBC accounts for less than 20% of BCs and most published series are small. International consortia that pool the data from their respective TNBCs series would increase the power of studies to validate potential predictive markers. The follow up for patients who were treated with NACT was short. Most TNBC relapses occur within the first three to five years after diagnosis and an update of follow up on these patients within the coming years will be very informative.

In the absence of validated predictive markers in TNBC, a lot of research has been directed at modifying the chemotherapeutic regime. Incorporation of platinum agents into the standard anthracycline taxane backbone in the NACT setting has shown promising results with higher rates of pCR reported. Data on treatment regimes was not incorporated into this work and treatment will be crucial for future studies, and in particular the outcome for those patients who received carboplatin is eagerly awaited.

The validation of TILs as a potential prognostic marker for clinical use will require methodological studies designed to test different cut off points and carefully designed inter-observer and intra-observer studies. Also, it would be interesting to classify the functional types of the inflammatory infiltrate using immunohistochemical markers such as CD3, CD8 and FOXP3 and evaluate the roles of each subtype. This would also provide a better understanding of the mechanisms behind the tumour's immune microenvironment in TBNC. As well, with the emergence of immunoherapies such as a promising class of drugs to treat patients with different tumour types, markers such as PD1, PDL1 and CTLA4 should be investigated in TNBC.

Finally, the importance of a pCR as a consistent predictor of outcome has been confirmed in many studies as well as in this work. It is crucial that a consistent approach for the grossing and sampling of post NACT specimens is adopted. This will facilitate the comparison of pCR and of treatment response between studies

7. REFERENCES

1. Torre LA, Bray F, Siegel RL, Ferlay J, Lortet-Tieulent J and Jemal A. Global cancer statistics, 2012. *CA Cancer J Clin*. 2015; 65: 87-108.

2. Siegel R, Ma J, Zou Z and Jemal A. Cancer statistics, 2014. *CA Cancer J Clin.* 2014; 64: 9-29.

3. Ferlay J, Steliarova-Foucher E, Lortet-Tieulent J, et al. Cancer incidence and mortality patterns in Europe: estimates for 40 countries in 2012. *Eur J Cancer*. 2013; 49: 1374-403.

4. Cancer in Ireland 1994-2013: Annual Report of the National Cancer Registry. National Cancer Registry (2015): National Cancer Registry. Cork, Ireland., 2015.

5. Dumitrescu RG and Cotarla I. Understanding breast cancer risk - where do we stand in 2005? *J Cell Mol Med*. 2005; 9: 208-21.

6. Olsson H. Cell of origin of breast cancer: an updated hypothesis merging epidemiological data with molecular biology. *J Carcinogene. Mutagene.* 2013; 4: 139.

7. Cunha GR. Role of mesenchymal-epithelial interactions in normal and abnormal development of the mammary gland and prostate. *Cancer*. 1994; 74: 1030-44.

8. Gusterson BA, Ross DT, Heath VJ and Stein T. Basal cytokeratins and their relationship to the cellular origin and functional classification of breast cancer. *Breast Cancer Res.* 2005; 7: 143.

9. Grigoriadis A, Mackay A, Reis-Filho JS, et al. Establishment of the epithelial-specific transcriptome of normal and malignant human breast cells based on MPSS and array expression data. *Breast Cancer Res.* 2006; 8: R56.

10. Hamperl H. The myothelia (myoepithelial cells). Normal state; regressive changes; hyperplasia; tumors. *Curr Top Pathol.* 1970; 53: 161-220.

11. Jones C, Mackay A, Grigoriadis A, et al. Expression profiling of purified normal human luminal and myoepithelial breast cells: identification of novel prognostic markers for breast cancer. *Cancer Res.* 2004; 64: 3037-45.

12. Page MJ, Amess B, Townsend RR, et al. Proteomic definition of normal human luminal and myoepithelial breast cells purified from reduction mammoplasties. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A*. 1999; 96: 12589-94.

13. Parker JS, Mullins M, Cheang MC, et al. Supervised risk predictor of breast cancer based on intrinsic subtypes. *J Clin Oncol*. 2009; 27: 1160-7.

14. Cheang MC, Chia SK, Voduc D, et al. Ki67 index, HER2 status, and prognosis of patients with luminal B breast cancer. *J Natl Cancer Inst.* 2009; 101: 736-50.

15. Liu S, Cong Y, Wang D, et al. Breast Cancer Stem Cells Transition between Epithelial and Mesenchymal States Reflective of their Normal Counterparts. *Stem Cell Reports*. 2013; 2: 78-91.

16. Campbell LL and Polyak K. Breast tumor heterogeneity: cancer stem cells or clonal evolution? *Cell cycle*. 2007; 6: 2332-8.

17. Lim E, Vaillant F, Wu D, et al. Aberrant luminal progenitors as the candidate target population for basal tumor development in BRCA1 mutation carriers. *Nat Med.* 2009; 15: 907-13.

18. Shackney SE and Silverman JF. Molecular evolutionary patterns in breast cancer. *Adv Anat Pathol.* 2003; 10: 278-90.

19. Yokota J. Tumor progression and metastasis. *Carcinogenesis*. 2000; 21: 497-503.

20. Cowell CF, Weigelt B, Sakr RA, et al. Progression from ductal carcinoma in situ to invasive breast cancer: revisited. *Mol Oncol*. 2013; 7: 859-69.

21. EP G and Y N. Low-grade and high-grade invasive ductal carcinomas of the breast follow divergent routes of progression. *Clin Oncol Cancer Res.* 2011; 8: 5.

22. Masuda S. Breast cancer pathology: the impact of molecular taxonomy on morphological taxonomy. *Pathol Int.* 2012; 62: 295-302.

23. Ellsworth RE, Hooke JA, Shriver CD and Ellsworth DL. Genomic heterogeneity of breast tumor pathogenesis. *Clin Med Oncol.* 2009; 3: 77-85.

24. Sgroi DC. Preinvasive breast cancer. *Annu Rev Pathol.* 2010; 5: 193-221.

25. Bombonati A and Sgroi DC. The molecular pathology of breast cancer progression. *J Pathol.* 2011; 223: 307-17.

26. Lee EY and Muller WJ. Oncogenes and tumor suppressor genes. *Cold Spring Harb Perspect Biol.* 2010; 2: a003236.

27. Curiel DT. Gene therapy for carcinoma of the breast: Genetic ablation strategies. *Breast Cancer Res.* 2000; 2: 45-9.

28. Easton DF, Pooley KA, Dunning AM, et al. Genome-wide association study identifies novel breast cancer susceptibility loci. *Nature*. 2007; 447: 1087-93.

29. Lichtenstein P, Holm NV, Verkasalo PK, et al. Environmental and heritable factors in the causation of cancer--analyses of cohorts of twins from Sweden, Denmark, and Finland. *N Engl J Med.* 2000; 343: 78-85.

30. Ford D, Easton DF, Stratton M, et al. Genetic heterogeneity and penetrance analysis of the BRCA1 and BRCA2 genes in breast cancer families. The Breast Cancer Linkage Consortium. *Am J Hum Genet*. 1998; 62: 676-89.

31. Easton DF, Ford D and Bishop DT. Breast and ovarian cancer incidence in BRCA1-mutation carriers. Breast Cancer Linkage Consortium. *Am J Hum Genet.* 1995; 56: 265-71.

32. Daly MB, Pilarski R, Alxibund JE, et al. *J. Natl Compr Canc Netw.* 2016; 14: 153-62.

33. Eerola H, Heikkilä P, Tamminen A, Aittomäki K, Blomqvist C and Nevanlinna H. Histopathological features of breast tumours in BRCA1, BRCA2 and mutation-negative breast cancer families. *Breast Cancer Res.* 2005; 7: R93-R100.

34. Rakha EA, Reis-Filho JS and Ellis IO. Basal-like breast cancer: a critical review. *J Clin Oncol.* 2008; 26: 2568-81.

35. Lacroix M and Leclercq G. The "portrait" of hereditary breast cancer. *Breast Cancer Res Treat.* 2005; 89: 297-304.

36. Foulkes WD, Stefansson IM, Chappuis PO, et al. Germline BRCA1 mutations and a basal epithelial phenotype in breast cancer. *J Natl Cancer Inst.* 2003; 95: 1482-5.

37. Lips EH, Mulder L, Hannemann J, et al. Indicators of homologous recombination deficiency in breast cancer and association with response to neoadjuvant chemotherapy. *Ann Oncology*. 2010; 22: 870-6.

38. Lips EH, Mulder L, Oonk A, et al. Triple-negative breast cancer: BRCAness and concordance of clinical features with BRCA1-mutation carriers. *Br J Cancer*. 2013; 108: 2172.

39. Deng CX. BRCA1: cell cycle checkpoint, genetic instability, DNA damage response and cancer evolution. *Nucleic Acids Res.* 2006; 34: 1416-26.

40. Rosen EM, Fan S and Ma Y. BRCA1 regulation of transcription. *Cancer Lett.* 2006; 236: 175-85.

41. Deng CX. Tumor formation in Brca1 conditional mutant mice. *Environ Mol Mutagen*. 2002; 39: 171-7.

42. Venkitaraman AR. Cancer susceptibility and the functions of BRCA1 and BRCA2. *Cell*. 2002; 108: 171-82.

43. Zhang H, Tombline G and Weber BL. BRCA1, BRCA2, and DNA damage response: collision or collusion? *Cell*. 1998; 92: 433-6.

44. Armes JE, Egan AJ, Southey MC, et al. The histologic phenotypes of breast carcinoma occurring before age 40 years in women with and without BRCA1 or BRCA2 germline mutations. *Cancer*. 1998; 83: 2335-45.

45. Marcus JN, Watson P, Page DL, et al. Hereditary breast cancer: pathobiology, prognosis, and BRCA1 and BRCA2 gene linkage. *Cancer*. 1996; 77: 697-709.

46. Simpson PT, Reis-Filho JS, Lambros MB, et al. Molecular profiling pleomorphic lobular carcinomas of the breast: evidence for a common molecular genetic pathway with classic lobular carcinomas. *J Pathol.* 2008; 215: 231-44.

47. Bane AL, Beck JC, Bleiweiss I, et al. BRCA2 mutation-associated breast cancers exhibit a distinguishing phenotype based on morphology and molecular profiles from tissue microarrays. *Am J Surg Pathol.* 2007; 31: 121-8.

48. Lakhani SR, Jacquemier J, Sloane JP, et al. Multifactorial analysis of differences between sporadic breast cancers and cancers involving BRCA1 and BRCA2 mutations. *J Natl Cancer Inst.* 1998; 90: 1138-45.

49. Walsh T and King MC. Ten genes for inherited breast cancer. *Cancer Cell*. 2007; 11: 103-5.

50. Ahmed M and Rahman N. ATM and breast cancer susceptibility. *Oncogene*. 2006; 25: 5906-11.

51. Hunt KK, Robb GL, Strom EA and Ueno NT. *Breast Cancer*. 2 ed. New York: Springer Science & Business Media, 2007, p.XVI, 561.

52. Masciari S, Dillon DA, Rath M, et al. Breast cancer phenotype in women with TP53 germline mutations: a Li-Fraumeni syndrome consortium effort. *Breast Cancer Res Treat*. 2012; 133: 1125-30.

53. Lowe SW, Bodis S, McClatchey A, et al. p53 status and the efficacy of cancer therapy in vivo. *Science*. 1994: 807-10.

54. Hisada M, Garber JE, Li FP, Fung CY and Fraumeni JF. Multiple primary cancers in families with Li-Fraumeni syndrome. *J Natl Cancer Inst.* 1998; 90: 606-11.

55. Olivier M, Langerod A, Carrieri P, et al. The clinical value of somatic TP53 gene mutations in 1,794 patients with breast cancer. *Clin Cancer Res.* 2006; 12: 1157-67.

56. Curtis C, Shah SP, Chin SF, et al. The genomic and transcriptomic architecture of 2,000 breast tumours reveals novel subgroups. *Nature*. 2012; 486: 346-52.

57. Key TJ, Verkasalo PK and Banks E. Epidemiology of breast cancer. *Lancet Oncol.* 2001; 2: 133-40.

58. McPherson K, Steel C and Dixon JM. ABC of breast diseases: breast cancer—epidemiology, risk factors, and genetics. *BMJ*. 2000; 321: 624.

59. Morimoto LM, White E, Chen Z, et al. Obesity, body size, and risk of postmenopausal breast cancer: the Women's Health Initiative (United States). *Cancer Causes Control*. 2002; 13: 741-51.

60. Irigaray P, Newby JA, Clapp R, et al. Lifestyle-related factors and environmental agents causing cancer: an overview. *Biomed Pharmacother*. 2007; 61: 640-58.

61. Key T, Appleby P, Barnes I, Reeves G, Endogenous H and Breast Cancer Collaborative G. Endogenous sex hormones and breast cancer in postmenopausal women: reanalysis of nine prospective studies. *J Natl Cancer Inst.* 2002; 94: 606-16.

62. Rinaldi S, Key TJ, Peeters PH, et al. Anthropometric measures, endogenous sex steroids and breast cancer risk in postmenopausal women: a study within the EPIC cohort. *Int J Cancer*. 2006; 118: 2832-9.

63. Hartmann LC, Sellers TA, Frost MH, et al. Benign breast disease and the risk of breast cancer. *N Engl J Med.* 2005; 353: 229-37.

64. Lv M, Zhu X, Zhong S, et al. Radial scars and subsequent breast cancer risk: a meta-analysis. *PloS one*. 2014; 9: e102503.

65. Marshall LM, Hunter DJ, Connolly JL, et al. Risk of breast cancer associated with atypical hyperplasia of lobular and ductal types. *Cancer Epidemiol Biomarkers Prev.* 1997; 6: 297-301.

66. Geyer FC, Kushner YB, Lambros MB, et al. Microglandular adenosis or microglandular adenoma? A molecular genetic analysis of a case associated with atypia and invasive carcinoma. *Histopathology*. 2009; 55: 732-43.

67. Shin SJ, Simpson PT, Da Silva L, et al. Molecular Evidence for Progression of Microglandular Adenosis (MGA) to Invasive Carcinoma. *Am J Surg Pathol.* 2009; 33: 496-504.

68. Guerini-Rocco E, Piscuoglio S, Ng CKY, et al. Microglandular adenosis associated with triple-negative breast cancer is a neoplastic lesion of triple-negative phenotype harbouring TP53 somatic mutations. *J Pathol.* 2016; 238: 677-88.

69. Taddei ML, Giannoni E, Comito G and Chiarugi P. Microenvironment and tumor cell plasticity: an easy way out. *Cancer Lett.* 2013; 341: 80-96.

70. Catalano V, Turdo A, Di Franco S, Dieli F, Todaro M and Stassi G. Tumor and its microenvironment: a synergistic interplay. *Semin Cancer Biol.* 2013; 23: 522-32.

71. Mantovani A, Garlanda C and Allavena P. Molecular pathways and targets in cancer-related inflammation. *Ann Med.* 2010; 42: 161-70.

72. Kundu JK and Surh Y-J. Inflammation: gearing the journey to cancer. *Mutat Res.* 2008; 659: 15-30.

73. Balkwill F and Mantovani A. Inflammation and cancer: back to Virchow? *Lancet*. 2001; 357: 539-45.

74. Mantovani A, Allavena P, Sica A and Balkwill F. Cancer-related inflammation. *Nature*. 2008; 454: 436-44.

75. Balkwill FR and Mantovani A. Cancer-related inflammation: common themes and therapeutic opportunities. *Semin Cancer Biol.* 2012; 22: 33-40.

76. Scarpa M, Castagliuolo I, Castoro C, et al. Inflammatory colonic carcinogenesis: a review on pathogenesis and immunosurveillance mechanisms in ulcerative colitis. *World J Gastroenterol*. 2014; 20: 6774-85.

77. El-Serag HB. Epidemiology of viral hepatitis and hepatocellular carcinoma. *Gastroenterology*. 2012; 142: 1264-73 e1.

78. Granot Z, Henke E, Comen EA, King TA, Norton L and Benezra R. Tumor entrained neutrophils inhibit seeding in the premetastatic lung. *Cancer Cell*. 2011; 20: 300-14.

79. Yang D, de la Rosa G, Tewary P and Oppenheim JJ. Alarmins link neutrophils and dendritic cells. *Trends Immunol*. 2009; 30: 531-7.

80. Beshir AB, Ren G, Magpusao AN, Barone LM, Yeung KC and Fenteany G. Raf kinase inhibitor protein suppresses nuclear factor-kappaB-dependent cancer cell invasion through negative regulation of matrix metalloproteinase expression. *Cancer Lett.* 2010; 299: 137-49.

81. Frasor J, Weaver A, Pradhan M, et al. Positive cross-talk between estrogen receptor and NF-kappaB in breast cancer. *Cancer Res.* 2009; 69: 8918-25.

82. Perkins ND and Gilmore TD. Good cop, bad cop: the different faces of NF-kappaB. *Cell Death Differ*. 2006; 13: 759-72.

83. Dajee M, Lazarov M, Zhang JY, et al. NF-kappaB blockade and oncogenic Ras trigger invasive human epidermal neoplasia. *Nature*. 2003; 421: 639-43.

84. Qian BZ and Pollard JW. Macrophage diversity enhances tumor progression and metastasis. *Cell*. 2010; 141: 39-51.

85. Quatromoni JG and Eruslanov E. Tumor-associated macrophages: function, phenotype, and link to prognosis in human lung cancer. *Am J Transl Res.* 2012; 4: 376-89.

86. Esquivel-Velazquez M, Ostoa-Saloma P, Palacios-Arreola MI, Nava-Castro KE, Castro JI and Morales-Montor J. The role of cytokines in breast cancer development and progression. *J Interferon Cytokine Res.* 2015; 35: 1-16.

87. Muller AJ and Scherle PA. Targeting the mechanisms of tumoral immune tolerance with small-molecule inhibitors. *Nat Rev Cancer*. 2006; 6: 613-25.

88. DeNardo DG and Coussens LM. Inflammation and breast cancer. Balancing immune response: crosstalk between adaptive and innate immune cells during breast cancer progression. *Breast Cancer Res.* 2007; 9: 212.

89. Sun X, Casbas-Hernandez P, Bigelow C, et al. Normal breast tissue of obese women is enriched for macrophage markers and macrophage-associated gene expression. *Breast Cancer Res Treat*. 2012; 131: 1003-12.

90. Morris PG, Hudis CA, Giri D, et al. Inflammation and increased aromatase expression occur in the breast tissue of obese women with breast cancer. *Cancer Prev Res (Phila)*. 2011; 4: 1021-9.

91. Snoussi K, Strosberg AD, Bouaouina N, Ben Ahmed S and Chouchane L. Genetic variation in pro-inflammatory cytokines (interleukin-1beta, interleukin-1alpha and interleukin-6) associated with the aggressive forms, survival, and relapse prediction of breast carcinoma. *Eur Cytokine Netw.* 2005; 16: 253-60.

92. Allen IC, TeKippe EM, Woodford RM, et al. The NLRP3 inflammasome functions as a negative regulator of tumorigenesis during colitis-associated cancer. *J Exp Med.* 2010; 207: 1045-56.

93. Hu B, Elinav E and Flavell RA. Inflammasome-mediated suppression of inflammation-induced colorectal cancer progression is mediated by direct regulation of epithelial cell proliferation. *Cell Cycle*. 2011; 10: 1936-9.

94. Verfaillie T, Garg AD and Agostinis P. Targeting ER stress induced apoptosis and inflammation in cancer. *Cancer Lett.* 2013; 332: 249-64.

95. Grivennikov SI, Greten FR and Karin M. Immunity, inflammation, and cancer. *Cell*. 2010; 140: 883-99.

96. Garg AD, Nowis D, Golab J, Vandenabeele P, Krysko DV and Agostinis P. Immunogenic cell death, DAMPs and anticancer therapeutics: an emerging amalgamation. *Biochim Biophys Acta*. 2010; 1805: 53-71.

97. Kepp O, Tesniere A, Zitvogel L and Kroemer G. The immunogenicity of tumor cell death. *Curr Opin Oncol.* 2009; 21: 71-6.

98. Garg AD, Krysko DV, Vandenabeele P and Agostinis P. The emergence of phox-ER stress induced immunogenic apoptosis. *Oncoimmunology*. 2012; 1: 786-8.

99. Galon J, Angell HK, Bedognetti D and Marincola FM. The continuum of cancer immunosurveillance: prognostic, predictive, and mechanistic signatures. *Immunity*. 2013; 39: 11-26.

100. Sharma SH, Thulasingam S and Nagarajan S. Chemopreventive agents targeting tumor microenvironment. *Life Sci.* 2016; 145: 74-84.

101. Marabelle A, Kohrt H, Caux C and Levy R. Intratumoral immunization: a new paradigm for cancer therapy. *Clin Cancer Res.* 2014; 20: 1747-56.

102. Garcia-Teijido P, Cabal ML, Fernandez IP and Perez YF. Tumor-Infiltrating Lymphocytes in Triple Negative Breast Cancer: The Future of Immune Targeting. *Clin Med Insights Oncol.* 2016; 10: 31-9.

103. Hornychova H, Melichar B, Tomsova M, Mergancova J, Urminska H and Ryska A. Tumor-infiltrating lymphocytes predict response to neoadjuvant chemotherapy in patients with breast carcinoma. *Cancer Invest.* 2008; 26: 1024-31.

104. Gobert M, Treilleux I, Bendriss-Vermare N, et al. Regulatory T cells recruited through CCL22/CCR4 are selectively activated in lymphoid infiltrates surrounding primary breast tumors and lead to an adverse clinical outcome. *Cancer Res.* 2009; 69: 2000-9.

105. Gu-Trantien C, Loi S, Garaud S, et al. CD4(+) follicular helper T cell infiltration predicts breast cancer survival. *J Clin Invest*. 2013; 123: 2873-92.

106. Ruffell B, Au A, Rugo HS, Esserman LJ, Hwang ES and Coussens LM. Leukocyte composition of human breast cancer. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A*. 2012; 109: 2796-801.

107. Wang K, Xu J, Zhang T and Xue D. Tumor-infiltrating lymphocytes in breast cancer predict the response to chemotherapy and survival outcome: A meta-analysis. *Oncotarget*. 2016; 7: 44288-98.

108. Mao Y, Qu Q, Chen X, Huang O, Wu J and Shen K. The Prognostic Value of Tumor-Infiltrating Lymphocytes in Breast Cancer: A Systematic Review and Meta-Analysis. *PLoS One*. 2016; 11: e0152500.

109. Yu X, Zhang Z, Wang Z, Wu P, Qiu F and Huang J. Prognostic and predictive value of tumor-infiltrating lymphocytes in breast cancer: a systematic review and meta-analysis. *Clin Transl Oncol.* 2016; 18: 497-506.

110. Loi S, Sirtaine N, Piette F, et al. Prognostic and predictive value of tumor-infiltrating lymphocytes in a phase III randomized adjuvant breast cancer trial in node-positive breast cancer comparing the addition of docetaxel to doxorubicin with doxorubicin-based chemotherapy: BIG 02-98. *J Clin Oncol.* 2013; 31: 860-7.

111. Stanton SE, Adams S and Disis ML. Variation in the Incidence and Magnitude of Tumor-Infiltrating Lymphocytes in Breast Cancer Subtypes: A Systematic Review. *JAMA Oncol.* 2016; 2: 1354-1360.

112. Denkert C, Loibl S, Noske A, et al. Tumor-associated lymphocytes as an independent predictor of response to neoadjuvant chemotherapy in breast cancer. *J Clin Oncol.* 2010; 28: 105-13.

113. Golubovskaya V and Wu L. Different Subsets of T Cells, Memory, Effector Functions, and CAR-T Immunotherapy. *Cancers (Basel)*. 2016; 8.

114. Raphael J, Massard C, Gong IY, et al. Detection of circulating tumour cells in peripheral blood of patients with malignant pleural mesothelioma. *Cancer Biomark*. 2015; 15: 151-6.

115. Oderup C, Cederbom L, Makowska A, Cilio CM and Ivars F. Cytotoxic T lymphocyte antigen-4-dependent down-modulation of costimulatory molecules on dendritic cells in CD4+ CD25+ regulatory T-cell-mediated suppression. *Immunology*. 2006; 118: 240-9.

116. Serra P, Amrani A, Yamanouchi J, et al. CD40 ligation releases immature dendritic cells from the control of regulatory CD4+CD25+ T cells. *Immunity*. 2003; 19: 877-89.

117. Li Z, Li D, Tsun A and Li B. FOXP3+ regulatory T cells and their functional regulation. *Cell Mol Immunol*. 2015; 12: 558-65.

118. Curiel TJ, Coukos G, Zou L, et al. Specific recruitment of regulatory T cells in ovarian carcinoma fosters immune privilege and predicts reduced survival. *Nat Med.* 2004; 10: 942-9.

119. Zitvogel L and Kroemer G. Cancer: Antibodies regulate antitumour immunity. *Nature*. 2015; 521: 35-7.

120. Marsigliante S, Biscozzo L, Marra A, et al. Computerised counting of tumour infiltrating lymphocytes in 90 breast cancer specimens. *Cancer Lett.* 1999; 139: 33-41.

121. Balch CM, Riley LB, Bae YJ, et al. Patterns of human tumor-infiltrating lymphocytes in 120 human cancers. *Arch Surg.* 1990; 125: 200-5.

122. Mahmoud SM, Lee AH, Paish EC, Macmillan RD, Ellis IO and Green AR. The prognostic significance of B lymphocytes in invasive carcinoma of the breast. *Breast Cancer Res Treat.* 2012; 132: 545-53.

123. Lee AH, Happerfield LC, Bobrow LG and Millis RR. Angiogenesis and inflammation in invasive carcinoma of the breast. *J Clin Pathol*. 1997; 50: 669-73.

124. Abu-Shakra M, Buskila D, Ehrenfeld M, Conrad K and Shoenfeld Y. Cancer and autoimmunity: autoimmune and rheumatic features in patients with malignancies. *Ann Rheum Dis.* 2001; 60: 433-41.

125. Disis ML, Pupa SM, Gralow JR, Dittadi R, Menard S and Cheever MA. High-titer HER-2/neu protein-specific antibody can be detected in patients with early-stage breast cancer. *J Clin Oncol*. 1997; 15: 3363-7.

126. Chapman C, Murray A, Chakrabarti J, et al. Autoantibodies in breast cancer: their use as an aid to early diagnosis. *Ann Oncol.* 2007; 18: 868-73.

127. De Giovanni C, Nicoletti G, Quaglino E, et al. Vaccines against human HER2 prevent mammary carcinoma in mice transgenic for human HER2. *Breast Cancer Res.* 2014; 16: R10.

128. Ren XR, Wei J, Lei G, et al. Polyclonal HER2-specific antibodies induced by vaccination mediate receptor internalization and degradation in tumor cells. *Breast Cancer Res.* 2012; 14: R89.

129. Guan H, Lan Y, Wan Y, et al. PD-L1 mediated the differentiation of tumor-infiltrating CD19+ B lymphocytes and T cells in Invasive breast cancer. *Oncoimmunology*. 2016; 5: e1075112.

130. Mantovani A and Sica A. Macrophages, innate immunity and cancer: balance, tolerance, and diversity. *Curr Opin Immunol.* 2010; 22: 231-7.

131. Coffelt SB, Hughes R and Lewis CE. Tumor-associated macrophages: effectors of angiogenesis and tumor progression. *Biochim Biophys Acta*. 2009; 1796: 11-8.

132. Boyland E. Tumour initiators, promoters, and complete carcinogens. *Br J Ind Med.* 1985; 42: 716-8.

133. Chandrasekharan NV, Dai H, Roos KLT, et al. COX-3, a cyclooxygenase-1 variant inhibited by acetaminophen and other analgesic/antipyretic drugs: cloning, structure, and expression. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A*. 2002; 99: 13926-31.

134. Garavito RM and DeWitt DL. The cyclooxygenase isoforms: structural insights into the conversion of arachidonic acid to prostaglandins. *Biochim Biophys Acta*. 1999; 1441: 278-87.

135. Snipes JA, Kis B, Shelness GS, Hewett JA and Busija DW. Cloning and characterization of cyclooxygenase-1b (putative cyclooxygenase-3) in rat. *J Pharmacol Exp Ther.* 2005; 313: 668-76.

136. Witsch E, Sela M and Yarden Y. Roles for growth factors in cancer progression. *Physiology (Bethesda)*. 2010; 25: 85-101.

137. Chandrasekharan NV and Simmons DL. The cyclooxygenases. *Genome Biol.* 2004; 5: 241.

138. Howe LR, Subbaramaiah K, Chung WJ, Dannenberg AJ and Brown AMC. Transcriptional Activation of Cyclooxygenase-2in Wnt-1-transformed Mouse Mammary Epithelial Cells. *Cancer Res.* 1999; 59: 1572-7.

139. Vadlamudi R, Mandal M, Adam L, Steinbach G, Mendelsohn J and Kumar R. Regulation of cyclooxygenase-2 pathway by HER2 receptor. *Oncogene*. 1999; 18 : 305-14.

140. Harizi H, Corcuff J-B and Gualde N. Arachidonic-acid-derived eicosanoids: roles in biology and immunopathology. *Trends Mol Med.* 2008; 14: 461-9.

141. Peskar BM. Role of cyclooxygenase isoforms in gastric mucosal defence. *J Physiol Paris*. 2001; 95: 3-9.

142. Chen F, Castranova V and Shi X. New insights into the role of nuclear factor-κB in cell growth regulation. *Am J Pathol*. 2001; 159: 387-97.

143. Jiang X. Harnessing the immune system for the treatment of breast cancer. *J Zhejiang Univ Sci B*. 2014; 15: 1-15.

144. Hanahan D and Folkman J. Patterns and emerging mechanisms of the angiogenic switch during tumorigenesis. *Cell*. 1996; 86: 353-64.

145. Sobolewski C, Cerella C, Dicato M, Ghibelli L and Diederich M. The role of cyclooxygenase-2 in cell proliferation and cell death in human malignancies. *Int J Cell Biol.* 2010; 2010.

146. Yiu GK and Toker A. NFAT induces breast cancer cell invasion by promoting the induction of cyclooxygenase-2. *J Biol Chem.* 2006; 281: 12210-7.

147. Sade A, Tunçay S, Çimen İ, Severcan F and Banerjee S. Celecoxib reduces fluidity and decreases metastatic potential of colon cancer cell lines irrespective of COX-2 expression. *Biosci Rep.* 2011; 32: 35-44.

148. Yao M, Kargman S, Lam EC, et al. Inhibition of cyclooxygenase-2 by rofecoxib attenuates the growth and metastatic potential of colorectal carcinoma in mice. *Cancer Res.* 2003; 63: 586-92.

149. Dohadwala M, Batra RK, Luo J, et al. Autocrine/paracrine prostaglandin E2 production by non-small cell lung cancer cells regulates matrix metalloproteinase-2 and CD44 in cyclooxygenase-2-dependent invasion. *J Biol Chem.* 2002; 277: 50828-33.

150. Attiga FA, Fernandez PM, Weeraratna AT, Manyak MJ and Patierno SR. Inhibitors of prostaglandin synthesis inhibit human prostate tumor cell

invasiveness and reduce the release of matrix metalloproteinases. *Cancer Res.* 2000; 60: 4629-37.

151. Wang D and DuBois RN. The role of COX-2 in intestinal inflammation and colorectal cancer. *Oncogene*. 2010; 29: 781-8.

152. Liu CH, Chang SH, Narko K, et al. Overexpression of cyclooxygenase-2 is sufficient to induce tumorigenesis in transgenic mice. *J Biol Chem.* 2001; 276: 18563-9.

153. Rozic JG, Chakraborty C and Lala PK. Cyclooxygenase inhibitors retard murine mammary tumor progression by reducing tumor cell migration, invasiveness and angiogenesis. *Int J Cancer*. 2001; 93: 497-506.

154. Mayoral R, Fernandez-Martinez A, Bosca L and Martin-Sanz P. Prostaglandin E2 promotes migration and adhesion in hepatocellular carcinoma cells. *Carcinogenesis*. 2005; 26: 753-61.

155. Denkert C, Winzer KJ, Muller BM, et al. Elevated expression of cyclooxygenase-2 is a negative prognostic factor for disease free survival and overall survival in patients with breast carcinoma. *Cancer.* 2003; 97: 2978-87.

156. Nassar A, Radhakrishnan A, Cabrero IA, Cotsonis G and Cohen C. COX-2 expression in invasive breast cancer: correlation with prognostic parameters and outcome. *Appl Immunohistochem Mol Morphol.* 2007; 15: 255-9.

157. Holmes MD, Chen WY, Schnitt SJ, et al. COX-2 expression predicts worse breast cancer prognosis and does not modify the association with aspirin. *Breast Cancer Res Treat*. 2011; 130: 657-62.

158. Thill M, Fischer D, Becker S, et al. Prostaglandin metabolizing enzymes in correlation with vitamin D receptor in benign and malignant breast cell lines. *Anticancer Res.* 2009; 29: 3619-25.

159. Misron NA, Looi L-M and Nik Mustapha NR. Cyclooxygenase-2 expression in invasive breast carcinomas of no special type and correlation with pathological profiles suggest a role in tumorigenesis rather than cancer progression. *Asian Pac J Cancer Prev.* 2015; 16: 1553-8.

160. Ristimäki A, Sivula A, Lundin J, et al. Prognostic significance of elevated cyclooxygenase-2 expression in breast cancer. *Cancer Res.* 2002; 62: 632-5.

161. Jana D, Sarkar DK, Ganguly S, et al. Role of Cyclooxygenase 2 (COX-2) in Prognosis of Breast Cancer. *Indian J Surg Oncol.* 2014; 5: 59-65.

162. Sun L, Yu DH, Sun SY, Zhuo SC, Cao SS and Wei L. Expressions of ER, PR, HER-2, COX-2, and VEGF in primary and relapsed/metastatic breast cancers. *Cell Biochem Biophys.* 2014; 68: 511-6.

163. Leo C, Faber S, Hentschel B, Hockel M and Horn LC. The status of cyclooxygenase-2 expression in ductal carcinoma in situ lesions and invasive breast cancer correlates to cyclooxygenase-2 expression in normal breast tissue. *Ann Diagn Pathol.* 2006; 10: 327-32.

164. Zhao XQ, Pang D and Xue YW. [Expression of the cyclooxygenase-2 gene in human breast carcinoma]. *Zhonghua Wai Ke Za Zhi*. 2003; 41: 427-9.

165. Singh-Ranger G, Kirkpatrick KL, Clark GM and Mokbel K. Cyclooxygenase-2 (COX-2) mRNA expression correlates with progesterone receptor positivity in human breast cancer. *Curr Med Res Opin*. 2003; 19: 131-4.

166. Fowler JM, Ramirez N, Cohn DE, et al. Correlation of cyclooxygenase-2 (COX-2) and aromatase expression in human endometrial cancer: tissue microarray analysis. *Am J Obstet Gynecol*. 2005; 192: 1262-71.

167. Salhab M, Singh-Ranger G, Mokbel R, Jouhra F, Jiang WG and Mokbel K. Cyclooxygenase-2 mRNA expression correlates with aromatase expression in human breast cancer. *J Surg Oncol*. 2007; 96: 424-8.

168. Davies G, Martin LA, Sacks N and Dowsett M. Cyclooxygenase-2 (COX-2), aromatase and breast cancer: a possible role for COX-2 inhibitors in breast cancer chemoprevention. *Ann Oncol.* 2002; 13: 669-78.

169. Ferrara CM, Lynch NA, Nicklas BJ, Ryan AS and Berman DM. Differences in adipose tissue metabolism between postmenopausal and perimenopausal women. *J Clin Endocrinol Metab.* 2002; 87: 4166-70.

170. Falandry C, Canney PA, Freyer G and Dirix LY. Role of combination therapy with aromatase and cyclooxygenase-2 inhibitors in patients with metastatic breast cancer. *Ann Oncol.* 2009; 20: 615-20.

171. O'Neill JS, Elton RA and Miller WR. Aromatase activity in adipose tissue from breast quadrants: a link with tumour site. *Br Med J (Clin Res Ed)*. 1988; 296: 741-3.

172. Bulun SE, Price TM, Aitken J, Mahendroo MS and Simpson ER. A link between breast cancer and local estrogen biosynthesis suggested by quantification of breast adipose tissue aromatase cytochrome P450 transcripts using competitive polymerase chain reaction after reverse transcription. *J Clin Endocrinol Metab.* 1993; 77: 1622-8.

173. Dowsett M, Lee K, Macaulay VM, Detre S, Rowlands M and Grimshaw R. The control and biological importance of intratumoural aromatase in breast cancer. *J Steroid Biochem Mol Biol.* 1996; 56: 145-50.

174. Li Y and Brown PH. Prevention of ER-negative breast cancer. *Recent Results Cancer Res.* 2009; 181: 121-34.

175. Taketo MM. Cyclooxygenase-2 inhibitors in tumorigenesis (Part II). J Natl Cancer Inst. 1998; 90: 1609-20.

176. Harris RE, Beebe-Donk J and Alshafie GA. Reduction in the risk of human breast cancer by selective cyclooxygenase-2 (COX-2) inhibitors. *BMC cancer*. 2006; 6: 27.

177. Arun B and Goss P. The role of COX-2 inhibition in breast cancer treatment and prevention. *Semin Oncol.* 2004; 31: 22-9.

178. Masferrer JL, Leahy KM, Koki AT, et al. Antiangiogenic and antitumor activities of cyclooxygenase-2 inhibitors. *Cancer Res.* 2000; 60: 1306-11.

179. Williams CS, Sheng H, Brockman JA, et al. A cyclooxygenase-2 inhibitor (SC-58125) blocks growth of established human colon cancer xenografts. *Neoplasia*. 2001; 3: 428-36.

180. Knowles RG and Moncada S. Nitric oxide synthases in mammals. *Biochem J.* 1994; 298 (Pt 2): 249-58.

181. Forstermann U and Sessa WC. Nitric oxide synthases: regulation and function. *Eur Heart J.* 2012; 33: 829-37, 37a-37d.

182. Vannini F, Kashfi K and Nath N. The dual role of iNOS in cancer. *Redox Biol.* 2015; 6: 334-43.

183. Lowenstein CJ and Padalko E. iNOS (NOS2) at a glance. J Cell Sci. 2004; 117: 2865-7.

184. Pervin S, Singh R and Chaudhuri G. Nitric oxide-induced cytostasis and cell cycle arrest of a human breast cancer cell line (MDA-MB-231): potential role of cyclin D1. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A*. 2001; 98: 3583-8.

185. Krischel V, Bruch-Gerharz D, Suschek C, Kroncke KD, Ruzicka T and Kolb-Bachofen V. Biphasic effect of exogenous nitric oxide on proliferation and

differentiation in skin derived keratinocytes but not fibroblasts. J Invest Dermatol. 1998; 111: 286-91.

186. Fukumura D, Kashiwagi S and Jain RK. The role of nitric oxide in tumour progression. *Nat Rev Cancer*. 2006; 6: 521-34.

187. Burke AJ, Sullivan FJ, Giles FJ and Glynn SA. The yin and yang of nitric oxide in cancer progression. *Carcinogenesis*. 2013; 34: 503-12.

188. Choudhari SK, Chaudhary M, Bagde S, Gadbail AR and Joshi V. Nitric oxide and cancer: a review. *World journal of surgical oncology*. 2013; 11: 118.

189. Wei L, Gravitt PE, Song H, Maldonado AM and Ozbun MA. Nitric oxide induces early viral transcription coincident with increased DNA damage and mutation rates in human papillomavirus-infected cells. *Cancer Res.* 2009; 69: 4878-84.

190. Nam KT, Oh SY, Ahn B, et al. Decreased Helicobacter pylori associated gastric carcinogenesis in mice lacking inducible nitric oxide synthase. *Gut.* 2004; 53: 1250-5.

191. Glynn SA, Boersma BJ, Dorsey TH, et al. Increased NOS2 predicts poor survival in estrogen receptor-negative breast cancer patients. *J Clin Invest*. 2010; 120: 3843-54.

192. Cui S, Reichner JS, Mateo RB and Albina JE. Activated murine macrophages induce apoptosis in tumor cells through nitric oxide-dependent orindependent mechanisms. *Cancer Res.* 1994; 54: 2462-7.

193. Xie K, Huang S, Dong Z, et al. Transfection with the inducible nitric oxide synthase gene suppresses tumorigenicity and abrogates metastasis by K-1735 murine melanoma cells. *J Exp Med.* 1995; 181: 1333-43.

194. Higuchi M, Higashi N, Taki H and Osawa T. Cytolytic mechanisms of activated macrophages. Tumor necrosis factor and L-arginine-dependent mechanisms act synergistically as the major cytolytic mechanisms of activated macrophages. *J Immunol*. 1990; 144: 1425-31.

195. Pipili-Synetos E, Papageorgiou A, Sakkoula E, et al. Inhibition of angiogenesis, tumour growth and metastasis by the NO-releasing vasodilators, isosorbide mononitrate and dinitrate. *Br J Pharmacol.* 1995; 116: 1829-34.

196. Dueñas-Gonzalez A, Isales CM, del Mar A-HM, Gonzalez-Sarmiento R, Sangueza O and Rodriguez-Commes J. Expression of inducible nitric oxide synthase in breast cancer correlates with metastatic disease. *Mod Pathology*. 1997; 10: 645-9.

197. Thomsen LL, Lawton FG, Knowles RG, Beesley JE, Riveros-Moreno V and Moncada S. Nitric oxide synthase activity in human gynecological cancer. *Cancer Res.* 1994; 54: 1352-4.

198. Edwards P, Cendan JC, Topping DB, et al. Tumor Cell Nitric Oxide Inhibits Cell Growthin Vitro, but Stimulates Tumorigenesis and Experimental Lung Metastasisin Vivo. *J Surg Res.* 1996; 63: 49-52.

199. Kundu JK and Surh YJ. Emerging avenues linking inflammation and cancer. *Free Radic Biol Med.* 2012; 52: 2013-37.

200. Tiano HF, Loftin CD, Akunda J, et al. Deficiency of either cyclooxygenase (COX)-1 or COX-2 alters epidermal differentiation and reduces mouse skin tumorigenesis. *Cancer Res.* 2002; 62: 3395-401.

201. Chun KS, Kundu JK, Park KK, Chung WY and Surh YJ. Inhibition of phorbol ester-induced mouse skin tumor promotion and COX-2 expression by celecoxib: C/EBP as a potential molecular target. *Cancer Res Treat*. 2006; 38: 152-8.

202. Chun KS, Cha HH, Shin JW, et al. Nitric oxide induces expression of cyclooxygenase-2 in mouse skin through activation of NF-kappaB. *Carcinogenesis*. 2004; 25: 445-54.

203. Lakhani SR, Ellis. IO, Schnitt SJ, Tan PH and van de Vijver MJ. WHO Classification of Tumours of the Breast. Fourth Revised edition ed. Lyon, France: International Agency for Research on Cancer, 2012, p. 240.

204. Rosai J, Ackerman LV and Rosai J. Rosai and Ackerman's surgical pathology. Tenth ed. Edinburgh: Elsevier, 2011, p. 2892.

205. Louwman MW, Vriezen M, van Beek MW, et al. Uncommon breast tumors in perspective: incidence, treatment and survival in the Netherlands. *Int J Cancer*. 2007; 121: 127-35.

206. Rakha EA, Putti TC, Abd El-Rehim DM, et al. Morphological and immunophenotypic analysis of breast carcinomas with basal and myoepithelial differentiation. *J Pathol.* 2006; 208: 495-506.

207. Li CI, Uribe DJ and Daling JR. Clinical characteristics of different histologic types of breast cancer. *Br J Cancer*. 2005; 93: 1046-52.

208. Santiago RJ, Harris EE, Qin L, Hwang WT and Solin LJ. Similar longterm results of breast-conservation treatment for Stage I and II invasive lobular carcinoma compared with invasive ductal carcinoma of the breast: The University of Pennsylvania experience. *Cancer*. 2005; 103: 2447-54.

209. Li D, Xiao X, Yang W, et al. Secretory breast carcinoma: a clinicopathological and immunophenotypic study of 15 cases with a review of the literature. *Mod Pathol*. 2012; 25: 567-75.

210. Cong Y, Qiao G, Zou H, et al. Invasive cribriform carcinoma of the breast: A report of nine cases and a review of the literature. *Oncol Lett.* 2015; 9: 1753-8.

211. Huober J, Gelber S, Goldhirsch A, et al. Prognosis of medullary breast cancer: analysis of 13 International Breast Cancer Study Group (IBCSG) trials. *Ann Oncol.* 2012; 23: 2843-51.

212. Thurman SA, Schnitt SJ, Connolly JL, et al. Outcome after breastconserving therapy for patients with stage I or II mucinous, medullary, or tubular breast carcinoma. *Int J Radiat Oncol Biol Phys.* 2004; 59: 152-9.

213. Vranic S, Bender R, Palazzo J and Gatalica Z. A review of adenoid cystic carcinoma of the breast with emphasis on its molecular and genetic characteristics. *Hum Pathol.* 2013; 44: 301-9.

214. Liu GF, Yang Q, Haffty BG and Moran MS. Clinical-pathologic features and long-term outcomes of tubular carcinoma of the breast compared with invasive ductal carcinoma treated with breast conservation therapy. *Int J Radiat Oncol Biol Phys.* 2009; 75: 1304-8.

215. Dreyer G, Vandorpe T, Smeets A, et al. Triple negative breast cancer: clinical characteristics in the different histological subtypes. *Breast.* 2013; 22: 761-6.

216. Jung SY, Kim HY, Nam BH, et al. Worse prognosis of metaplastic breast cancer patients than other patients with triple-negative breast cancer. *Breast Cancer Res Treat*. 2010; 120: 627-37.

217. Nassar H, Wallis T, Andea A, Dey J, Adsay V and Visscher D. Clinicopathologic analysis of invasive micropapillary differentiation in breast carcinoma. *Mod Pathol*. 2001; 14: 836-41.

218. Pettinato G, Manivel CJ, Panico L, Sparano L and Petrella G. Invasive micropapillary carcinoma of the breast: clinicopathologic study of 62 cases of a

poorly recognized variant with highly aggressive behavior. *Am J Clin Pathol.* 2004; 121: 857-66.

219. Chen AC, Paulino AC, Schwartz MR, et al. Prognostic markers for invasive micropapillary carcinoma of the breast: a population-based analysis. *Clin Breast Cancer*. 2013; 13: 133-9.

220. Miremadi A, Pinder SE, Lee AH, et al. Neuroendocrine differentiation and prognosis in breast adenocarcinoma. *Histopathology*. 2002; 40: 215-22.

221. Wei B, Ding T, Xing Y, et al. Invasive neuroendocrine carcinoma of the breast: a distinctive subtype of aggressive mammary carcinoma. *Cancer*. 2010; 116: 4463-73.

222. Sinn HP and Kreipe H. A Brief Overview of the WHO Classification of Breast Tumors, 4th Edition, Focusing on Issues and Updates from the 3rd Edition. *Breast Care (Basel)*. 2013; 8: 149-54.

223. Chen L, Fan Y, Lang RG, et al. Breast carcinoma with micropapillary features: clinicopathologic study and long-term follow-up of 100 cases. *Int J Surg Pathol.* 2008; 16: 155-63.

224. Mardi K and Sharma S. "Pure" invasive apocrine carcinoma of the breast with psammoma bodies. *Clinical Cancer Invest J*. 2012; 1: 37-9.

225. Japaze H, Emina J, Diaz C, et al. 'Pure'invasive apocrine carcinoma of the breast: a new clinicopathological entity? *Breast*. 2005; 14: 3-10.

226. Vranic S, Tawfik O, Palazzo J, et al. EGFR and HER-2/neu expression in invasive apocrine carcinoma of the breast. *Mod Pathol*. 2010; 23: 644-53.

227. Rakha EA, Reis-Filho JS, Baehner F, et al. Breast cancer prognostic classification in the molecular era: the role of histological grade. *Breast Cancer Res.* 2010; 12: 207.

228. Elston CW and Ellis IO. Pathological prognostic factors in breast cancer. I. The value of histological grade in breast cancer: experience from a large study with long-term follow-up. *Histopathology*. 1991; 19: 403-10.

229. Narod SA. Tumour size predicts long-term survival among women with lymph node-positive breast cancer. *Curr Oncol.* 2012; 19: 249.

230. Carter CL, Allen C and Henson DE. Relation of tumor size, lymph node status, and survival in 24,740 breast cancer cases. *Cancer*. 1989; 63: 181-7.

231. Fisher B, Slack NH and Bross ID. Cancer of the breast: size of neoplasm and prognosis. *Cancer*. 1969; 24: 1071-80.

232. Littleford S and Carder PJ. Measurement of whole tumour size in breast cancer specimens. *Histopathology*. 2005; 47: 543-4.

233. Seidman JD, Schnaper LA and Aisner SC. Relationship of the size of the invasive component of the primary breast carcinoma to axillary lymph node metastasis. *Cancer.* 1995; 75: 65-71.

234. Jatoi I, Hilsenbeck SG, Clark GM and Osborne CK. Significance of axillary lymph node metastasis in primary breast cancer. *J Clin Oncol.* 1999; 17: 2334-40.

235. Saez RA, McGuire WL and Clark GM. Prognostic factors in breast cancer. *Semin Surg Oncol.* 1989; 5: 102-10.

236. Beenken SW, Urist MM, Zhang Y, et al. Axillary lymph node status, but not tumor size, predicts locoregional recurrence and overall survival after mastectomy for breast cancer. *Ann Surg.* 2003; 237: 732.

237. Zhang Y, Mo M, Li JW, et al. Better predictive value of axillary lymph node (ALN) status after systemic therapy for operable HER2-overexpressing

breast cancer: A single-institution retrospective study. *Eur J Surg Oncol.* 2016; 42: 1146-52.

238. Fisher B, Bauer M, Wickerham DL, et al. Relation of number of positive axillary nodes to the prognosis of patients with primary breast cancer. An NSABP update. *Cancer*. 1983; 52: 1551-7.

239. Fitzgibbons PL, Page DL, Weaver D, et al. Prognostic factors in breast cancer. College of American Pathologists Consensus Statement 1999. *Arch Pathol Lab Med.* 2000; 124: 966-78.

240. Rosen PP, Saigo PE, Braun DW, Weathers E, Fracchia AA and Kinne DW. Axillary micro- and macrometastases in breast cancer: prognostic significance of tumor size. *Ann Surg.* 1981; 194: 585-91.

241. Colleoni M, Rotmensz N, Peruzzotti G, et al. Size of breast cancer metastases in axillary lymph nodes: clinical relevance of minimal lymph node involvement. *J Clin Oncol*. 2005; 23: 1379-89.

242. Mohammed ZM, McMillan DC, Edwards J, et al. The relationship between lymphovascular invasion and angiogenesis, hormone receptors, cell proliferation and survival in patients with primary operable invasive ductal breast cancer. *BMC Clin Pathol.* 2013; 13: 31.

243. Song YJ, Shin SH, Cho JS, Park MH, Yoon JH and Jegal YJ. The role of lymphovascular invasion as a prognostic factor in patients with lymph node-positive operable invasive breast cancer. *J Breast Cancer*. 2011; 14: 198-203.

244. Ellis IO, Galea M, Broughton N, Locker A, Blamey RW and Elston CW. Pathological prognostic factors in breast cancer. II. Histological type. Relationship with survival in a large study with long-term follow-up. *Histopathology*. 1992; 20: 479-89.

245. Blamey RW, Ellis IO, Pinder SE, et al. Survival of invasive breast cancer according to the Nottingham Prognostic Index in cases diagnosed in 1990-1999. *Eur J Cancer*. 2007; 43: 1548-55.

246. Gross JM and Yee D. How does the estrogen receptor work? *Breast Cancer Res.* 2002; 4: 62-4.

247. Allred DC, Brown P and Medina D. The origins of estrogen receptor alpha-positive and estrogen receptor alpha-negative human breast cancer. *Breast Cancer Res.* 2004; 6: 240-5.

248. Talman ML, Rasmussen BB, Andersen J and Christensen IJ. Estrogen Receptor analyses in the Danish Breast Cancer Cooperative Group. History, methods, prognosis and clinical implications. *Acta Oncol.* 2008; 47: 789-94.

249. Perou CM, Sorlie T, Eisen MB, et al. Molecular portraits of human breast tumours. *Nature*. 2000; 406: 747-52.

250. Sorlie T, Perou CM, Tibshirani R, et al. Gene expression patterns of breast carcinomas distinguish tumor subclasses with clinical implications. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A*. 2001; 98: 10869-74.

251. van 't Veer LJ, Dai H, van de Vijver MJ, et al. Gene expression profiling predicts clinical outcome of breast cancer. *Nature*. 2002; 415: 530-6.

252. Dvorkin-Gheva A and Hassell JA. Identification of a novel luminal molecular subtype of breast cancer. *PLoS One*. 2014; 9: e103514.

253. Sorlie T, Tibshirani R, Parker J, et al. Repeated observation of breast tumor subtypes in independent gene expression data sets. *Proc Natl Acad Sci US A*. 2003; 100: 8418-23.

254. Tran B and Bedard PL. Luminal-B breast cancer and novel therapeutic targets. *Breast Cancer Res.* 2011; 13: 221.

255. Prat A, Cheang MCU, Martín M, et al. Prognostic significance of progesterone receptor–positive tumor cells within immunohistochemically defined luminal A breast cancer. *J Clin Oncol.* 2012; 31: 203-9.

256. Cheang MC, Chia SK, Voduc D, et al. Ki67 index, HER2 status, and prognosis of patients with luminal B breast cancer. *J Natl Cancer Inst.* 2009; 101.

257. Maisonneuve P, Disalvatore D, Rotmensz N, et al. Proposed new clinicopathological surrogate definitions of luminal A and luminal B (HER2-negative) intrinsic breast cancer subtypes. *Breast Cancer Res.* 2014; 16: R65.

258. Goldhirsch A, Winer EP, Coates AS, et al. Personalizing the treatment of women with early breast cancer: highlights of the St Gallen International Expert Consensus on the Primary Therapy of Early Breast Cancer 2013. *Ann Oncol.* 2013; 24: 2206-23.

259. Shawarby M, Al-Tamimi D and Ahmed A. Molecular classification of breast cancer: An overview with emphasis on ethnic variations and future perspectives. *S J Med Med Sci.* 2013; 1: 14-9.

260. Carey LA, Perou CM, Livasy CA, et al. Race, breast cancer subtypes, and survival in the Carolina Breast Cancer Study. *JAMA*. 2006; 295: 2492-502.

261. Rastelli F and Crispino S. Factors predictive of response to hormone therapy in breast cancer. *Tumori*. 2008; 94: 370-83.

262. Green AR, Powe DG, Rakha EA, et al. Identification of key clinical phenotypes of breast cancer using a reduced panel of protein biomarkers. *Br J Cancer*. 2013; 109: 1886.

263. Slamon DJ, Clark GM, Wong SG, Levin WJ, Ullrich A and McGuire WL. Human breast cancer: correlation of relapse and survival with amplification of the HER-2/neu oncogene. *Science*. 1987; 235: 177-82.

264. Witton CJ, Reeves JR, Going JJ, Cooke TG and Bartlett JM. Expression of the HER1-4 family of receptor tyrosine kinases in breast cancer. *J Pathol.* 2003; 200: 290-7.

265. Iqbal N and Iqbal N. Human epidermal growth factor receptor 2 (HER2) in cancers: overexpression and therapeutic implications. *Mol Biol Int.* 2014; 2014: 852748.

266. Liu E, Thor A, He M, Barcos M, Ljung BM and Benz C. The HER2 (cerbB-2) oncogene is frequently amplified in in situcarcinoma. *Oncogene*. 1992; 7: 1057-32.

267. Kennecke H, Yerushalmi R, Woods R, et al. Metastatic behavior of breast cancer subtypes. *J Clin Oncol*. 2010; 28: 3271-7.

268. Engel RH and Kaklamani VG. HER2-positive breast cancer: current and future treatment strategies. *Drugs*. 2007; 67: 1329-41.

269. Prat A, Pineda E, Adamo B, et al. Clinical implications of the intrinsic molecular subtypes of breast cancer. *Breast*. 2015; 24: S26-35.

270. Sotiriou C, Neo SY, McShane LM, et al. Breast cancer classification and prognosis based on gene expression profiles from a population-based study. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A*. 2003; 100: 10393-8.

271. Holm K, Hegardt C, Staaf J, et al. Molecular subtypes of breast cancer are associated with characteristic DNA methylation patterns. *Breast Cancer Res.* 2010; 12: R36.

272. Perou CM. Molecular stratification of triple-negative breast cancers. *Oncologist*. 2010; 15: 39-48.

273. Putti TC, El-Rehim DMA, Rakha EA, et al. Estrogen receptor-negative breast carcinomas: a review of morphology and immunophenotypical analysis. *Mod Pathol.* 2005; 18: 26-35.

274. Banerjee S, Reis-Filho JS, Ashley S, et al. Basal-like breast carcinomas: clinical outcome and response to chemotherapy. *J Clin Pathol.* 2006; 59: 729-35.

275. Paredes J, Lopes N, Milanezi F and Schmitt FC. P-cadherin and cytokeratin 5: useful adjunct markers to distinguish basal-like ductal carcinomas in situ. *Virchows Arch.* 2007; 450: 73-80.

276. Anders C and Carey LA. Understanding and treating triple-negative breast cancer. *Oncology (Williston Park)*. 2008; 22: 1233-43.

277. Alshareeda AT, Soria D, Garibaldi JM, et al. Characteristics of basal cytokeratin expression in breast cancer. *Breast Cancer Res Treat*. 2013; 139: 23-37.

278. Mohammadizadeh F, Naimi A, Rajabi P, Ghasemibasir H and Eftekhari A. Expression of basal and luminal cytokeratins in breast cancer and their correlation with clinicopathological prognostic variables. *Indian J Med Sci.* 2009; 63: 152-62.

279. Hanahan D and Weinberg RA. The hallmarks of cancer. *Cell*. 2000; 100: 57-70.

280. Rakha EA, El-Sayed ME, Reis-Filho J and Ellis IO. Patho-biological aspects of basal-like breast cancer. *Breast Cancer Res Treat*. 2009; 113: 411-22.

281. Sorlie T, Wang Y, Xiao C, et al. Distinct molecular mechanisms underlying clinically relevant subtypes of breast cancer: gene expression analyses across three different platforms. *BMC Genomics*. 2006; 7: 127.

282. Nielsen TO, Hsu FD, Jensen K, et al. Immunohistochemical and clinical characterization of the basal-like subtype of invasive breast carcinoma. *Clin Cancer Res.* 2004; 10: 5367-74.

283. Wang Y, Waters J, Leung ML, et al. Clonal evolution in breast cancer revealed by single nucleus genome sequencing. *Nature*. 2014; 512: 155-60.

284. Cleator S, Heller W and Coombes RC. Triple-negative breast cancer: therapeutic options. *Lancet Oncol*. 2007; 8: 235-44.

285. Rakha EA and Ellis IO. Triple-negative/basal-like breast cancer: review. *Pathology*. 2009; 41: 40-7.

286. Gazinska P, Grigoriadis A, Brown JP, et al. Comparison of basal-like triple-negative breast cancer defined by morphology, immunohistochemistry and transcriptional profiles. *Mod Pathol.* 2013; 26: 955-66.

287. Cheang MCU, Voduc D, Bajdik C, et al. Basal-like breast cancer defined by five biomarkers has superior prognostic value than triple-negative phenotype. *Clin Cancer Res.* 2008; 14: 1368-76.

288. Calza S, Hall P, Auer G, et al. Intrinsic molecular signature of breast cancer in a population-based cohort of 412 patients. *Breast Cancer Res.* 2006; 8: R34.

289. Rakha E and Reis-Filho JS. Basal-like breast carcinoma: from expression profiling to routine practice. *Arch Pathol Lab Med.* 2009; 133: 860-8.

290. Rakha EA, Tan DS, Foulkes WD, et al. Are triple-negative tumours and basal-like breast cancer synonymous? *Breast Cancer Res.* 2007; 9: 404.

291. Rouzier R, Perou CM, Symmans WF, et al. Breast cancer molecular subtypes respond differently to preoperative chemotherapy. *Clin Cancer Res.* 2005; 11: 5678-85.

292. Bertucci F, Finetti P, Cervera N, et al. How basal are triple-negative breast cancers? *Int J Cancer*. 2008; 123: 236-40.

293. Blows FM, Driver KE, Schmidt MK, et al. Subtyping of breast cancer by immunohistochemistry to investigate a relationship between subtype and short and long term survival: a collaborative analysis of data for 10,159 cases from 12 studies. *PLoS medicine*. 2010; 7: e1000279.

294. Brenton JD, Carey LA, Ahmed AA and Caldas C. Molecular classification and molecular forecasting of breast cancer: ready for clinical application? *J Clin Oncol*. 2005; 23: 7350-60.

295. Dent R, Trudeau M, Pritchard KL, et al. Triple-negative breast cancer: clinical features and patterns of recurrence. *Clin Cancer Res.* 2007; 13:4429-34.

296. Jafarzadeh N, Ashraf H, Khoshroo F, Sepehri Shamloo A, Bidouei F and Ghaffarzadehgan K. Triple Negative Breast Cancer: Molecular Classification, Prognostic Markers and Targeted Therapies. *Razavi Int J Med.* 2015; 3: e24992.

297. El-Hawary AK, Abbas AS, Elsayed AA and Zalata KR. Molecular subtypes of breast carcinoma in Egyptian women: clinicopathological features. *Pathol Res Pract.* 2012; 208: 382-6.

298. Stark A, Kleer CG, Martin I, et al. African ancestry and higher prevalence of triple-negative breast cancer. *Cancer*. 2010; 116: 4926-32.

299. Eiermann W and Vallis KA. Locoregional treatments for triple-negative breast cancer. *Ann Oncology*. 2012; 23: vi30-vi4.

300. Wang S-L, Li Y-X, Song Y-W, et al. Triple-negative or HER2-positive status predicts higher rates of locoregional recurrence in node-positive breast cancer patients after mastectomy. *Int Jf Radiat Oncol Biol Phys.* 2011; 80: 1095-101.

301. Rauh C, Gass P, Heusinger K, et al. Association of molecular subtypes with breast cancer risk factors: a case-only analysis. *Eur J Cancer Prev.* 2015; 24: 484-90.

302. Millikan RC, Newman B, Tse C-K, et al. Epidemiology of basal-like breast cancer. *Breast Cancer Res Treat*. 2008; 109: 123-39.

303. Ma H, Bernstein L, Pike MC and Ursin G. Reproductive factors and breast cancer risk according to joint estrogen and progesterone receptor status: a meta-analysis of epidemiological studies. *Breast Cancer Res.* 2006; 8: R43.

304. Phipps AI, Chlebowski RT, Prentice R, et al. Reproductive history and oral contraceptive use in relation to risk of triple-negative breast cancer. *J Natl Cancer Inst.* 2011; 103: 470-7.

305. Dolle JM, Daling JR, White E, et al. Risk factors for triple-negative breast cancer in women under the age of 45 years. *Cancer Epidemiol Biomarkers Prev.* 2009; 18: 1157-66.

306. Kabat GC, Kim M, Phipps AI, et al. Smoking and alcohol consumption in relation to risk of triple-negative breast cancer in a cohort of postmenopausal women. *Cancer Causes Control*. 2011; 22: 775-83.

307. Pichard C, Plu-Bureau G, Castro MN-E and Gompel A. Insulin resistance, obesity and breast cancer risk. *Maturitas*. 2008; 60: 19-30.

308. Maiti B, Kundranda MN, Spiro TP and Daw HA. The association of metabolic syndrome with triple-negative breast cancer. *Breast Cancer Res Treat.* 2010; 121: 479-83.

309. Couch FJ, Hart SN, Sharma P, et al. Inherited mutations in 17 breast cancer susceptibility genes among a large triple-negative breast cancer cohort unselected for family history of breast cancer. *J Clin Oncol.* 2015; 33: 304-11.

310. Portha H, Jankowski C, Cortet M, et al. [Non-metastatic triple-negative breast cancer in 2016: Definitions and management]. Gynecol Obstet Fertil. 2016; 44: 492-504.

311. Turner N, Tutt A and Ashworth A. Hallmarks of 'BRCAness' in sporadic cancers. Nat Rev Cancer. 2004; 4: 814-9.

312. de Ruijter TC, Veeck J, de Hoon JPJ, van Engeland M and Tjan-Heijnen VC. Characteristics of triple-negative breast cancer. *J Cancer Res Clin Oncol.* 2011; 137: 183-92.

313. Osako T, Nishimura R, Okumura Y and Hayashi M. Current status of treatment of local recurrence and distant metastasis of triple negative breast cancer in Japanese population. *J Clin Oncol.* 2009; 27: e11548.

314. Brouckaert O, Wildiers H, Floris G and Neven P. Update on triplenegative breast cancer: prognosis and management strategies. *Int J Womens Health*. 2012; 4: 511-20.

315. Collett K, Stefansonn IM, Eide J, et al. A basal epithelial phenotype is more frequent in interval breast cancer compared with screen detected tumors. *Cancer Epidemiol Biomarkers Prev.* 2005; 14: 1108-12.

316. Chacón RD and Costanzo MV. Triple-negative breast cancer. *Breast Cancer Res.* 2010; 12: S3.

317. Bauer KR, Brown M, Cress RD, Parise CA and Caggiano V. Descriptive analysis of estrogen receptor (ER)-negative, progesterone receptor (PR) negative, and HER-2 negative invasive breast cancer, the so-called triple-negative phenotype: a population-based study from the California Cancer Registry. *Cancer.* 2007; 109: 1721-8.

318. Foulkes WD. Size surprise? Tumour size, nodal status, and outcome after breast cancer. *Curr Oncol.* 2012; 19: 241-3.

319. Kaplan HG, Malmgren JA and Atwood M. T1N0 triple negative breast cancer: risk of recurrence and adjuvant chemotherapy. *Breast J.* 2009; 15: 454-60.

320. Weisman PS, Ng CKY, Brogi E, et al. Genetic Alterations of Triple Negative Breast Cancer By Targeted Next Generation Sequencing And Correlation With Tumor Morphology. *Mod pathol.* 2016; 29: 476-88.

321. Foulkes WD, Smith IE and Reis-Filho JS. Triple-negative breast cancer. *N Engl J Med.* 2010; 363: 1938-48.

322. Badve S, Dabbs DJ, Schnitt SJ, et al. Basal-like and triple-negative breast cancers: a critical review with an emphasis on the implications for pathologists and oncologists. *Mod Pathol.* 2011; 24: 157-67.

323. Carey LA, Dees EC, Sawyer L, et al. The triple negative paradox: primary tumor chemosensitivity of breast cancer subtypes. *Clin Cancer Res.* 2007; 13: 2329-34.

324. Weigelt B and Reis-Filho JS. Histological and molecular types of breast cancer: is there a unifying taxonomy? *Nat Rev Clin Oncology*. 2009; 6: 718-30.

325. Tse GM, Tan PH, Putti TC, Lui PCW, Chaiwun B and Law BKB. Metaplastic carcinoma of the breast: a clinicopathological review. *J Clin Pathol.* 2006; 59: 1079-83.

326. Lehmann BD, Bauer JA, Chen X, et al. Identification of human triplenegative breast cancer subtypes and preclinical models for selection of targeted therapies. *J Clin Invest*. 2011; 121: 2750-67. 327. Prat A, Parker JS, Karginova O, et al. Phenotypic and molecular characterization of the claudin-low intrinsic subtype of breast cancer. *Breast Cancer Res.* 2010; 12: R68.

328. Hennessy BT, Giordano S, Broglio K, et al. Biphasic metaplastic sarcomatoid carcinoma of the breast. *Ann Oncol.* 2006; 17: 605-13.

329. Turner NC, Reis-Filho JS, Russell AM, et al. BRCA1 dysfunction in sporadic basal-like breast cancer. *Oncogene*. 2007; 26: 2126-32.

330. Dendale R, Vincent-Salomon A, Mouret-Fourme E, et al. Medullary breast carcinoma: prognostic implications of p53 expression. *Int J Biol Markers*. 2003; 18: 99-105.

331. Ellis IO, Al-Sam S, Anderson N, et al. Pathology reporting of breast disease in surgical excision specimens incorporating the dataset for histological reporting of breast cancer. 2 ed.. London. The Royal college of Pathologists., 2016.

332. Bhargava R, Striebel J, Beriwal S, et al. Prevalence, morphologic features and proliferation indices of breast carcinoma molecular classes using immunohistochemical surrogate markers. *Int J Clin Expl Pathol.* 2009; 2: 444-55.

333. Ridolfi RL, Rosen PP, Port A, Kinne D and Miké V. Medullary carcinoma of the breast. A clinicopathologic study with 10 year follow-up. *Cancer*. 1977; 40: 1365-85.

334. Fourquet A, Vilcoq JR, Zafrani B, Schlienger P and Jullien D. Medullary breast carcinoma: the role of radiotherapy as primary treatment. *Radiother Oncol.* 1987; 10: 1-6.

335. Vincent-Salomon A, Gruel N, Lucchesi C, et al. Identification of typical medullary breast carcinoma as a genomic sub-group of basal-like carcinomas, a heterogeneous new molecular entity. *Breast Cancer Res.* 2007; 9: R24.

336. Bertucci F, Finetti P, Cervera N, et al. Gene expression profiling shows medullary breast cancer is a subgroup of basal breast cancers. *Cancer Res.* 2006; 66: 4636-44.

337. Mossler JA, Barton TK, Brinkhous AD, McCarty KS, Moylan JA and McCarty KS, Jr. Apocrine differentiation in human mammary carcinoma. *Cancer*. 1980; 46: 2463-71.

338. Vranic S, Schmitt F, Sapino A, et al. Apocrine carcinoma of the breast: a comprehensive review. Histol Histopathol. 2013; 28: 1393-409.

339. Honma N, Takubo K, Akiyama F, et al. Expression of GCDFP-15 and AR decreases in larger or node-positive apocrine carcinomas of the breast. *Histopathology*. 2005; 47: 195-201.

340. Barroso-Sousa R and Metzger-Filho O. Differences between invasive lobular and invasive ductal carcinoma of the breast: results and therapeutic implications. *Ther Adv Med Oncol.* 2016; 8: 261-6.

341. Rakha EA and Ellis IO. Lobular breast carcinoma and its variants. Semin Diagn Pathol. 2010; 27: 49-61.

342. Koo JS and Jung W. Clinicopathlogic and Immunohistochemical Characteristics of Triple Negative Invasive Lobular Carcinoma. *Yonsei Med J.* 2011; 52: 89-97.

343. Pia-Foschini M, Reis-Filho JS, Eusebi V and Lakhani SR. Salivary glandlike tumours of the breast: surgical and molecular pathology. *J Clin pathol*. 2003; 56: 497-506. 344. Connor A, Perez-Ordoñez B, Shago M, Skálová A and Weinreb I. Mammary analog secretory carcinoma of salivary gland origin with the ETV6 gene rearrangement by FISH: expanded morphologic and immunohistochemical spectrum of a recently described entity. *Am J Surg Pathol.* 2012; 36: 27-34.

345. Godge P, Sharma S and Yadav M. Adenoid cystic carcinoma of the parotid gland. *Contemp Clin Dent.* 2012; 3: 223-6.

346. Ghabach B, Anderson WF, Curtis RE, Huycke MM, Lavigne JA and Dores GM. Adenoid cystic carcinoma of the breast in the United States (1977 to 2006): a population-based cohort study. *Breast Cancer Res.* 2010; 12: R54.

347. Canyilmaz E, Uslu GH, MemİŞ Y, Bahat Z, Yildiz K and Yoney A. Adenoid cystic carcinoma of the breast: A case report and literature review. *Oncol Lett.* 2014; 7: 1599-601.

348. Norberg-Spaak L, Dardick I and Ledin T. Adenoid cystic carcinoma: Use of cell proliferation, BCL-2 expression, histologic grade, and clinical stage as predictors of clinical outcome. *Head Neck.* 2000; 22: 489-97.

349. Higgins MJ and Baselga J. Targeted therapies for breast cancer. *J Clin Invest.* 2011; 121: 3797-803.

350. Vasudev P and Onuma K. Secretory breast carcinoma: unique, triplenegative carcinoma with a favorable prognosis and characteristic molecular expression. *Arch Pathol Lab Med.* 2011; 135: 1606-10.

351. Burstein MD, Tsimelzon A, Poage GM, et al. Comprehensive genomic analysis identifies novel subtypes and targets of triple-negative breast cancer. *Clin Cancer Res.* 2015; 21:1688-98.

352. Lehmann BD, Jovanović B, Chen X, et al. Refinement of Triple-Negative Breast Cancer Molecular Subtypes: Implications for Neoadjuvant Chemotherapy Selection. *PLoS One*. 2016; 11: e0157368.

353. Kreike B, van Kouwenhove M, Horlings H, et al. Gene expression profiling and histopathological characterization of triple-negative/basal-like breast carcinomas. *Breast Cancer Res.* 2007; 9: R65.

354. Honeth G, Bendahl PO, Ringner M, et al. The CD44+/CD24- phenotype is enriched in basal-like breast tumors. Breast Cancer Res. 2008; 10: R53.

355. Conforti R, Bidard F, Michiels S, et al. Discrepancy between triple negative phenotype and basal-like tumor: an immunohistochemical analysis based on 150 "triple-negative" breast cancers. *Breast Cancer Res Treat*. 2007; 106: S135-S6.

356. Herschkowitz JI, Simin K, Weigman Vj, et al. Identification of conserved gene expression features between murine mammary carcinoma models and human breast tumors. Genome Biol. 2007; 8: R76.

357. Yang M-H and Wu K-J. TWIST activation by hypoxia inducible factor-1 (HIF-1): implications in metastasis and development. *Cell cycle*. 2008; 7: 2090-6.

358. Desmedt C, Haibe-Kains B, Wirapati P, et al. Biological processes associated with breast cancer clinical outcome depend on the molecular subtypes. *Clin Cancer Res.* 2008; 14: 5158-65.

359. Rakha EA, El-Sayed ME, Green AR, Lee AH, Robertson JF and Ellis IO. Prognostic markers in triple-negative breast cancer. *Cancer*. 2007; 109: 25-32.

360. von Minckwitz G, Untch M, Blohmer JU, et al. Definition and impact of pathologic complete response on prognosis after neoadjuvant chemotherapy in various intrinsic breast cancer subtypes. *J Clin Oncol*. 2012; 30: 1796-1804.

361. Hernandez-Aya LF, Chavez-MacGregor M, Lei X, et al. Nodal Status and Clinical Outcomes in a Large Cohort of Patients With Triple-Negative Breast Cancer. *J Clin Oncol.* 2011; 29: 2628-34.

362. Colleoni M, Rotmensz N, Peruzzotti G, et al. Size of breast cancer metastases in axillary lymph nodes: clinical relevance of minimal lymph node involvement. *J Clin Oncol.* 2005; 23: 1379-89.

363. Arvold ND, Taghian AG, Niemierko A, et al. Age, breast cancer subtype approximation, and local recurrence after breast-conserving therapy. *J Clin Oncol.* 2011; 29: 3885-91.

364. Hurley J, Reis IM, Rodgers SE, et al. The use of neoadjuvant platinumbased chemotherapy in locally advanced breast cancer that is triple negative: retrospective analysis of 144 patients. *Breast Cancer Res Treat*. 2013; 138: 783-94.

365. Administration FaD and (CDER) CfDEaR. Guidance for Industry

Pathological Complete Response in Neoadjuvant Treatment of High-Risk Early-Stage Breast Cancer: Use as an Endpoint to Support Accelerated Approval. <u>http://www.fda.gov/Drugs/GuidanceComplianceRegulatoryInformation/Guidances/default.htm</u>. In: Services USDoHaH, (ed.). October 2014.

366. Balko JM, Giltnane JM, Wang K, et al. Molecular profiling of the residual disease of triple-negative breast cancers after neoadjuvant chemotherapy identifies actionable therapeutic targets. *Cancer Discov.* 2014; 4: 232-45.

367. Huober J, von Minckwitz G, Denkert C, et al. Effect of neoadjuvant anthracycline–taxane-based chemotherapy in different biological breast cancer phenotypes: overall results from the GeparTrio study. *Breast Cancer Res Treat*. 2010; 124: 133-40.

368. Lehmann BD and Pietenpol JA. Clinical implications of molecular heterogeneity in triple negative breast cancer. *Breast (Edinburgh, Scotland)*. 2015; 24: S36-S40.

369. Spring L, Greenup R, Reynolds K, Smith BL, Moy B and Bardia A. Abstract 1439: Pathological complete response after neoadjuvant chemotherapy predicts improved survival in all major subtypes of breast cancer: systematic review and meta-analyses of over 18,000 patients. *Cancer Res.* 2016; 76: 1439.

370. Liedtke C, Mazouni C, Hess KR, et al. Response to neoadyuvant therapy and long-term survival in patients with triple-negative breast cancer. *J Clin Oncol.* 2008; 26: 1275-81.

371. Masuda H, Masuda N, Kodama Y, et al. Predictive factors for the effectiveness of neoadjuvant chemotherapy and prognosis in triple-negative breast cancer patients. *Cancer chemother pharmacol.* 2011; 67: 911-7.

372. von Minckwitz G, Untch M, Blohmer J-U, et al. Definition and impact of pathologic complete response on prognosis after neoadjuvant chemotherapy in various intrinsic breast cancer subtypes. *J Clin Oncol*. 2012; 30: 1796-804.

373. Denkert C, von Minckwitz G, Brase JC, et al. Tumor-infiltrating lymphocytes and response to neoadjuvant chemotherapy with or without carboplatin in human epidermal growth factor receptor 2-positive and triple-negative primary breast cancers. *J Clin Oncol.* 2015; 33: 983-91.

374. Huh JW, Lee JH and Kim HR. Prognostic significance of tumorinfiltrating lymphocytes for patients with colorectal cancer. *Arch Surg.* 2012; 147: 366-72. 375. Guidoboni M, Gafa R, Viel A, et al. Microsatellite instability and high content of activated cytotoxic lymphocytes identify colon cancer patients with a favorable prognosis. *Am J Pathol.* 2001; 159: 297-304.

376. Tomsova M, Melichar B, Sedlakova I and Steiner I. Prognostic significance of CD3+ tumor-infiltrating lymphocytes in ovarian carcinoma. *Gynecol Oncol.* 2008; 108: 415-20.

377. Brambilla E, Le Teuff G, Marguet S, et al. Prognostic Effect of Tumor Lymphocytic Infiltration in Resectable Non-Small-Cell Lung Cancer. *J Clin Oncol.* 2016; 34: 1223-30.

378. Spatz A., Gimotty P.A., Cook M.G., et al. Protective effect of a brisk tumor infiltrating lymphocyte infiltrate in melanoma: An EORTC melanoma group study. *J Clin Oncol*. 2007; 25: s476. (abst 8519).

379. Erdag G, Schaefer JT, Smolkin ME, et al. Immunotype and immunohistologic characteristics of tumor-infiltrating immune cells are associated with clinical outcome in metastatic melanoma. *Cancer Res.* 2012; 72: 1070-80.

380. Lotze MT, Chang AE, Seipp CA, Simpson C, Vetto JT and Rosenberg SA. High-dose recombinant interleukin 2 in the treatment of patients with disseminated cancer. Responses, treatment-related morbidity, and histologic findings. *JAMA*. 1986; 256: 3117-24.

381. Rosenberg SA, Lotze MT, Muul LM, et al. Observations on the systemic administration of autologous lymphokine-activated killer cells and recombinant interleukin-2 to patients with metastatic cancer. *N Engl J Med.* 1985; 313: 1485-92.

382. Hodi FS, O'Day SJ, McDermott DF, et al. Improved survival with ipilimumab in patients with metastatic melanoma. *N Engl J Med.* 2010; 363: 711-23.

383. Tsai KK and Daud AI. Nivolumab plus ipilimumab in the treatment of advanced melanoma. *J Hematol Oncol.* 2015; 8: 123.

384. Marques LA, Franco El, Torloni H, Brentani MM, da Silva-Neto JB, Brentani RR. Independent prognostic value of laminin receptor expression in breast cancer survival. *Cancer Res.* 1990; 50: 1479-83.

385. Nixon AJ, Neuberg D, Hayes DF, et al. Relationship of patient age to pathologic features of the tumor and prognosis for patients with stage I or II breast cancer. *J Clin Oncol.* 1994; 12: 888-94.

386. Lee AH, Gillett CE, Ryder K, Fentiman IS, Miles DW and Millis RR. Different patterns of inflammation and prognosis in invasive carcinoma of the breast. *Histopathology*. 2006; 48: 692-701.

387. Ohtani H, Mori-Shiraishi K, Nakajima M and Ueki H. Defining lymphocyte-predominant breast cancer by the proportion of lymphocyte-rich stroma and its significance in routine histopathological diagnosis. *Pathol Int.* 2015; 65: 644-51.

388. Dieci MV, Criscitiello C, Goubar A, et al. Prognostic value of tumorinfiltrating lymphocytes on residual disease after primary chemotherapy for triple-negative breast cancer: a retrospective multicenter study. *Ann Oncol.* 2014; 25: 611-8.

389. Loi S, Michiels S, Salgado R, et al. Tumor infiltrating lymphocytes are prognostic in triple negative breast cancer and predictive for trastuzumab benefit in early breast cancer: results from the FinHER trial. *Ann Oncol.* 2014; 25: 1544-50.

390. Lee HJ, Park IA, Song IH, et al. Tertiary lymphoid structures: prognostic significance and relationship with tumour-infiltrating lymphocytes in triple-negative breast cancer. *J Clin Pathol.* 2016; 69: 422-30.

391. Kotoula V, Chatzopoulos K, Lakis S, et al. Tumors with high-density tumor infiltrating lymphocytes constitute a favorable entity in breast cancer: a pooled analysis of four prospective adjuvant trials. *Oncotarget*. 2016; 7: 5074-87.

392. Dieci MV, Mathieu MC, Guarneri V, et al. Prognostic and predictive value of tumor-infiltrating lymphocytes in two phase III randomized adjuvant breast cancer trials. *Ann Oncol.* 2015; 26: 1698-704.

393. Polónia A, Pinto R, Cameselle-Teijeiro JF, Schmitt FC and Paredes J. Prognostic value of stromal tumour infiltrating lymphocytes and programmed cell death-ligand 1 expression in breast cancer. *J Clin Pathol.* 2017; 70: 860-7.

394. Stanton SE, Adams S and Disis ML. Variation in the incidence and magnitude of tumor-infiltrating lymphocytes in breast cancer subtypes: a systematic review. *JAMA Oncol.* 2016; 2: 1354-60.

395. Montagna E, Maisonneuve P, Rotmensz N, et al. Heterogeneity of triplenegative breast cancer: histologic subtyping to inform the outcome. *Clin Breast Cancer*. 2013; 13: 31-9.

396. Yerushalmi R, Woods R, Ravdin PM, Hayes MM and Gelmon KA. Ki67 in breast cancer: prognostic and predictive potential. *Lancet Oncol.* 2010; 11: 174-83.

397. Fasching PA, Heusinger K, Haeberle L, et al. Ki67, chemotherapy response, and prognosis in breast cancer patients receiving neoadjuvant treatment. *BMC Cancer*. 2011; 11: 486.

398. Peng Y. Potential prognostic tumor biomarkers in triple-negative breast carcinoma. *Beijing da xue xue bao Yi xue ban.* 2012; 44: 666-72.

399. Jatoi I, Anderson WF, Jeong J-H and Redmond CK. Breast cancer adjuvant therapy: time to consider its time-dependent effects. *J Clin Oncol*. 2011; 29: 2301-4.

400. Kumar P and Aggarwal R. An overview of triple-negative breast cancer. *Arch Gynecol Obstet.* 2016; 293: 247-69.

401. Kaufmann M, Von Minckwitz G, Bear HD, et al. Recommendations from an international expert panel on the use of neoadjuvant (primary) systemic treatment of operable breast cancer: new perspectives 2006. *Ann Oncol.* 2007; 18: 1927-34.

402. de Paz LMM, Bernal AT, Merino MLA and de Juan VC. Breast MR imaging changes after neoadjuvant chemotherapy: correlation with molecular subtypes. *Radiología (English Edition)*. 2012; 54: 442-8.

403. Venkitaraman R. Triple-negative/basal-like breast cancer: clinical, pathologic and molecular features. *Expert Rev Anticancer Ther.* 2010; 10: 199-207.

404. Metzger-Filho O, Tutt A, de Azambuja E, et al. Dissecting the Heterogeneity of Triple-Negative Breast Cancer. *J Clin Oncol.* 2012; 30: 1879-87.

405. Wahba HA and El-Hadaad HA. Current approaches in treatment of triplenegative breast cancer. *Cancer Biol Med.* 2015; 12: 106-16.

406. Wang S, Yang H, Tong F, et al. Response to neoadjuvant therapy and disease free survival in patients with triple-negative breast cancer. *Gan To Kagaku Ryoho*. 2009; 36: 255-8.

407. Isakoff SJ. Triple-negative breast cancer: role of specific chemotherapy agents. *Cancer J*. 2010; 16: 53-61.

408. von Minckwitz G, Schneeweiss A, Loibl S, et al. Neoadjuvant carboplatin in patients with triple-negative and HER2-positive early breast cancer (GeparSixto; GBG 66): a randomised phase 2 trial. *Lancet Oncol.* 2014; 15: 747-56.

409. Farmer H, McCabe N, Lord CJ, et al. Targeting the DNA repair defect in BRCA mutant cells as a therapeutic strategy. *Nature*. 2005; 434: 917-21.

410. Livraghi L and Garber JE. PARP inhibitors in the management of breast cancer: current data and future prospects. *BMC Medicine*. 2015; 13: 188.

411. Sandhu SK, Schelman WR, Wilding G, et al. The poly(ADP-ribose) polymerase inhibitor niraparib (MK4827) in BRCA mutation carriers and patients with sporadic cancer: a phase 1 dose-escalation trial. *Lancet Oncol.* 2013; 14: 882-92.

412. Traina TA, Shaughnessy J, Nanda R, et al. Abstract P5-19-09: Preliminary results from a phase 2 single-arm study of enzalutamide, an androgen receptor (AR) inhibitor, in advanced AR+ triple-negative breast cancer (TNBC). *Cancer Res.* 2015; 75: P5-19-09.

413. Scaltriti M and Baselga J. The epidermal growth factor receptor pathway: a model for targeted therapy. *Clin Cancer Res.* 2006; 12: 5268-72.

414. Baselga J, Gomez P, Greil R, et al. Randomized phase II study of the anti-epidermal growth factor receptor monoclonal antibody cetuximab with cisplatin versus cisplatin alone in patients with metastatic triple-negative breast cancer. *J Clin Oncol.* 2013; 31: 2586-92.

415. McMahon G. VEGF receptor signaling in tumor angiogenesis. *Oncologist.* 2000; 5(Sup 1): 3-10.

416. Robert NJ, Dieras V, Glaspy J, et al. RIBBON-1: randomized, doubleblind, placebo-controlled, phase III trial of chemotherapy with or without bevacizumab for first-line treatment of human epidermal growth factor receptor 2-negative, locally recurrent or metastatic breast cancer. *J Clin Oncol.* 2011; 29: 1252-60.

417. Gerber B, Loibl S, Eidtmann H, et al. Neoadjuvant bevacizumab and anthracycline-taxane-based chemotherapy in 678 triple-negative primary breast cancers; results from the geparquinto study (GBG 44). *Ann Oncol.* 2013; 24: 2978-84.

418. Saal LH, Holm K, Maurer M, et al. PIK3CA mutations correlate with hormone receptors, node metastasis, and ERBB2, and are mutually exclusive with PTEN loss in human breast carcinoma. *Cancer Res.* 2005; 65: 2554.

419. Singh JC, Novik Y, Stein S, et al. Phase 2 trial of everolimus and carboplatin combination in patients with triple negative metastatic breast cancer. *Breast Cancer Res.* 2014; 16: R32.

420. von Minckwitz G, Untch M, Nuesch E, et al. Impact of treatment characteristics on response of different breast cancer phenotypes: pooled analysis of the German neo-adjuvant chemotherapy trials. *Breast Cancer Res Treat*. 2011; 125: 145-56.

421. Steward LT, Gao F, Taylor MA and Margenthaler JA. Impact of radiation therapy on survival in patients with triple-negative breast cancer. *Oncol Lett.* 2014; 7: 548-52.

422. Senkus E, Kyriakides S, Penault-Llorca F, et al. Primary breast cancer: ESMO Clinical Practice Guidelines for diagnosis, treatment and follow-up. *Ann Oncol.* 2013; 24 (Sup 6): vi7-23.

423. Early Breast Cancer Trialists' Collaborative G. Effects of radiotherapy and of differences in the extent of surgery for early breast cancer on local recurrence and 15-year survival: an overview of the randomised trials. *Lancet*. 2006; 366: 2087-106.

424. Bartelink H, Horiot J-C, Poortmans P, et al. Recurrence Rates after Treatment of Breast Cancer with Standard Radiotherapy with or without Additional Radiation. *N Engl J Med.* 2001; 345: 1378-87.

425. Kononen J, Bubendorf L, Kallioniemi A, et al. Tissue microarrays for high-throughput molecular profiling of tumor specimens. *Nat Med.* 1998; 4: 844-7.

426. Dushyanthen S, Beavis PA, Savas P, et al. Relevance of tumorinfiltrating lymphocytes in breast cancer. *BMC Med.* 2015; 13: 202.

427. Salgado R, Denkert C, Demaria S, et al. The evaluation of tumorinfiltrating lymphocytes (TILs) in breast cancer: recommendations by an International TILs Working Group 2014. *Ann Oncol.* 2015; 26: 259-71.

428. Caffrey E, Ingoldsby H, Wall D, et al. Prognostic significance of deregulated dicer expression in breast cancer. *PloS one*. 2013; 8: e83724.

429. Glynn SA, Prueitt RL, Ridnour LA, et al. COX-2 activation is associated with Akt phosphorylation and poor survival in ER-negative, HER2-positive breast cancer. *BMC Cancer*. 2010; 10: 626.

430. Allred DC, Harvey JM, Berardo M and Clark GM. Prognostic and predictive factors in breast cancer by immunohistochemical analysis. *Mod Pathol.* 1998; 11: 155-68.

431. Leake R, Barnes D, Pinder S, et al. Immunohistochemical detection of steroid receptors in breast cancer: a working protocol. UK Receptor Group, UK NEQAS, The Scottish Breast Cancer Pathology Group, and The Receptor and Biomarker Study Group of the EORTC. *J Clin Pathol.* 2000; 53: 634-5.

432. Hammond ME, Hayes DF, Dowsett M, et al. American Society of Clinical Oncology/College Of American Pathologists guideline recommendations for immunohistochemical testing of estrogen and progesterone receptors in breast cancer. *J Clin Oncol.* 2010; 28: 2784-95.

433. Wolff AC, Hammond ME, Hicks DG, et al. Recommendations for human epidermal growth factor receptor 2 testing in breast cancer: American Society of Clinical Oncology/College of American Pathologists clinical practice guideline update. *J Clin Oncol.* 2013; 31: 3997-4013.

434. Rakha EA, Elsheikh SE, Aleskandarany MA, et al. Triple-negative breast cancer: distinguishing between basal and nonbasal subtypes. *Clin Cancer Res.* 2009; 15: 2302-10.

435. Choi JE, Kang SH, Lee SJ and Bae YK. Androgen Receptor Expression Predicts Decreased Survival in Early Stage Triple-Negative Breast Cancer. *Ann Surg Oncol.* 2015; 22: 82-9.

436. He J, Peng R, Yuan Z, et al. Prognostic value of androgen receptor expression in operable triple-negative breast cancer: a retrospective analysis based on a tissue microarray. *Med Oncol.* 2012; 29: 406-10.

437. Hu XQ, Chen WL, Ma HG and Jiang K. Androgen receptor expression identifies patient with favorable outcome in operable triple negative breast cancer. *Oncotarget*. 2017; 8: 56364-56374.

438. Luo X, Shi YX, Li ZM and Jiang WQ. Expression and clinical significance of androgen receptor in triple negative breast cancer. *Chin J Cancer*. 2010; 29: 585-90.

439. Moran MS, Yang Q and Haffty BG. The Yale University experience of early-stage invasive lobular carcinoma (ILC) and invasive ductal carcinoma (IDC) treated with breast conservation treatment (BCT): analysis of clinical-pathologic features, long-term outcomes, and molecular expression of COX-2, Bcl-2, and p53 as a function of histology. *Breast J.* 2009; 15: 571-8.

440. Osanai T, Takagi Y, Toriya Y, et al. Inverse correlation between the expression of O6-methylguanine-DNA methyl transferase (MGMT) and p53 in breast cancer. *Jpn J Clin Oncol*. 2005; 35: 121-5.

441. Coates AS, Millar EK, O'Toole SA, et al. Prognostic interaction between expression of p53 and estrogen receptor in patients with node-negative breast cancer: results from IBCSG Trials VIII and IX. *Breast Cancer Res.* 2012; 14: R143.

442. Yang P, Du CW, Kwan M, Liang SX and Zhang GJ. The impact of p53 in predicting clinical outcome of breast cancer patients with visceral metastasis. *Sci Rep.* 2013; 3: 2246.

443. Wong-Brown MW, Meldrum CJ, Carpenter JE, et al. Prevalence of BRCA1 and BRCA2 germline mutations in patients with triple-negative breast cancer. *Breast Cancer Res Treat.* 2015; 150: 71-80.

444. Ovcaricek T, Frkovic SG, Matos E, Mozina B and Borstnar S. Triple negative breast cancer – prognostic factors and survival. *Radiol Oncol.* 2011; 45: 46-52.

445. Gonzalez-Angulo AM, Timms KM, Liu S, et al. Incidence and outcome of BRCA mutations in unselected patients with triple receptor-negative breast cancer. *Clin Cancer Res.* 2011; 17: 1082-9.

446. Liu Y, Xin T, Huang D-y, et al. Prognosis in very young women with triple-negative breast cancer: retrospective study of 216 cases. *Med Oncol.* 2014; 31: 222.

447. Qiu J, Xue X, Hu C, et al. Comparison of clinicopathological features and prognosis in triple-negative and non-triple negative breast cancer. *J Cancer*. 2016; 7: 167.

448. Lin C, Chien S-Y, Kuo S-J, et al. A 10-year Follow-up of Triple-negative Breast Cancer Patients in Taiwan. *Jpn J Clin Oncol*. 2012; 42: 161-7.

449. Yuan NA, Meng MIN, Liu C, et al. Clinical characteristics and prognostic analysis of triple-negative breast cancer patients. *Mol Clin Oncol*. 2014; 2: 245-51.

450. NCCN Clinical Practice Guidelines in Oncology (NCCN Guidelines). Genetics/Familial High-Risk Assessment: Breast/Ovarian Cancer. Version 2.2016. Accessed 5/8/2017. https://www.trikobe.org/nccn/guideline/gynecological/english/genetic familial.pdf.

451. Greenup R, Buchanan A, Lorizio W, et al. Prevalence of BRCA mutations among women with triple-negative breast cancer (TNBC) in a genetic counseling cohort. *Ann Surg Oncol.* 2013; 20: 3254-8.

452. Rashid MU, Muhammad N, Bajwa S, et al. High prevalence and predominance of BRCA1 germline mutations in Pakistani triple-negative breast cancer patients. *BMC Cancer*. 2016; 16: 673.

453. Hartman A-R, Kaldate RR, Sailer LM, et al. Prevalence of BRCA mutations in an unselected population of triple-negative breast cancer. *Cancer*. 2012; 118: 2787-95.

454. Rashid M, Bajwa S, Muhammad N, et al. Prevalence of BRCA1 and BRCA2 Germline Mutations Among Pakistani Patients With Triple Negative Breast Cancer. revalence of BRCA1 and BRCA2 Germline Mutations Among Pakistani Patients With Triple Negative Breast Cancer. *Eur. J. Cancer.* 2011; 47: S254-S5.

455. Peshkin BN, Alabek ML and Isaacs C. BRCA1/2 mutations and triple negative breast cancers. *Breast disease*. 2010; 32: 10.3233/BD-2010-0306.

456. Kandel MJ, Stadler Z, Masciari S, et al. Prevalence of BRCA1 mutations in triple negative breast cancer (BC). *J Clin Oncol*. 2006; 24: 508.

457. Suresh P, Batra U and Doval DC. Epidemiological and clinical profile of triple negative breast cancer at a cancer hospital in North India. *Indian J Med Paediatr Oncol.* 2013; 34: 89-95.

458. Rack B, Janni W, Gerber B, et al. Patients with recurrent breast cancer: does the primary axillary lymph node status predict more aggressive tumor progression? *Breast Cancer Res Treat*. 2003; 82: 83-92.

459. Beenken SW, Urist MM, Zhang Y, et al. Axillary lymph node status, but not tumor size, predicts locoregional recurrence and overall survival after mastectomy for breast cancer. *Ann Surg.* 2003; 237: 738-9.

460. Huang L, Liu Z, Chen S, Liu Y and Shao Z. A prognostic model for triple-negative breast cancer patients based on node status, cathepsin-D and Ki-67 index. *PLos One*. 2013; 8: e83081.

461. Sun W, Li C, Liu M, Liu W, Yang C and Cai LI. Prognostic analysis of triple-negative breast cancer patients treated with adjuvant chemotherapy of fluorouracil, epirubicin and cyclophosphamide. *Oncol Lett.* 2016; 11: 2320-26.

462. Agarwal G, Nanda G, Lal P, et al. Outcomes of Triple-Negative Breast Cancers (TNBC) Compared with Non-TNBC: Does the Survival Vary for All Stages? *World J Surg.* 2016; 40: 1362-72.

463. Thike AA, Cheok PY, Jara-Lazaro AR, Tan B, Tan P and Tan PH. Triple-negative breast cancer: clinicopathological characteristics and relationship with basal-like breast cancer. *Mod Pathol.* 2010; 23: 123.

464. Ishikawa Y, Horiguchi J, Toya H, et al. Triple-negative breast cancer: Histological subtypes and immunohistochemical and clinicopathological features. *Cancer Sci.* 2011; 102: 656-62.

465. Eichhorn JH. Medullary carcinoma, provocative now as then. *Semin Diagn Pathol.* 2004; 21: 65-73.

466. Pedersen L, Holck S, Mouridsen HT, Schodt T and Zedeler K. Prognostic comparison of three classifications for medullary carcinoma of the breast. *Histopathology*. 1999; 34: 175-8.

467. Cook DL and Weaver DL. Comparison of DNA content, S-phase fraction, and survival between medullary and ductal carcinoma of the breast. *Am J Clin Pathol.* 1995; 104: 17-22.

468. Fisher ER, Kenny JP, Sass R, Dimitrov NV, Siderits RH and Fisher B. Medullary cancer of the breast revisited. *Breast Cancer Res Treat*. 1990; 16: 215-29.

469. Zamecnik MA-O, Jando D and Kascak P. Ovarian basaloid carcinoma with shadow cell differentiation. *Case Rep Pathol*. 2014; 2014: 391947.

470. Moro-Sibilot D, Lantuejoul S, Diab S, et al. Lung carcinomas with a basaloid pattern: a study of 90 cases focusing on their poor prognosis. *Eur Respir J*. 2008; 31: 854-9.

471. Shin SJ and Rosen PP. Solid variant of mammary adenoid cystic carcinoma with basaloid features: a study of nine cases. *Am J Surg Pathol*. 2002; 26: 413-20.

472. Luo C, Guo W, Yang J, et al. Comparison of Mastoscopic and Conventional Axillary Lymph Node Dissection in Breast Cancer: Long-term Results From a Randomized, Multicenter Trial. *Mayo Clinic Proc.* 2012; 87: 1153-61.

473. Kapteijn BA, Nieweg OE, Petersen JL, et al. Identification and biopsy of the sentinel lymph node in breast cancer. *Eur J Surg Oncol.1998; 24: 427-430*.

474. Giuliano AE, McCall L Fau - Beitsch P, Beitsch P Fau - Whitworth PW, et al. Locoregional recurrence after sentinel lymph node dissection with or without axillary dissection in patients with sentinel lymph node metastases: the American College of Surgeons Oncology Group Z0011 randomized trial.

475. Abd-Elazeem MA and Abd-Elazeem MA. Claudin 4 expression in triplenegative breast cancer: correlation with androgen receptors and Ki-67 expression. *Ann Diagn Pathol.* 2015; 19: 37-42.

476. Sakata E, Makino A, Miyahira H, et al. P066 - Clinical significance of immunohistochemical androgen receptor expression in triple negative breast cancer. *Breast.* 2017; 32: S45-S6.

477. Tang D, Xu S, Zhang Q and Zhao W. The expression and clinical significance of the androgen receptor and E-cadherin in triple-negative breast cancer. *Med Oncol.* 2012; 29: 526-33.

478. Gonzalez-Angulo AM, Stemke-Hale K, Palla SL, et al. Androgen receptor levels and association with PIK3CA mutations and prognosis in breast cancer. *Clin Cancer Res.* 2009; 15: 2472-8.

479. Nicolas Diaz-Chico B, German Rodriguez F, Gonzalez A, et al. Androgens and androgen receptors in breast cancer. *J Steroid Biochem Mol Biol.* 2007; 105: 1-15.

480. Collins LC, Cole KS, Marotti JD, Hu R, Schnitt SJ, and Tamimi RM. Androgen receptor expression in breast cancer in relation to molecular phenotype: results from the Nurses' Health Study. *Mod Pathol.* 2011; 24: 924-31.

481. Park S, Koo J, Park HS, et al. Expression of androgen receptors in primary breast cancer. *Ann Oncol.* 2010; 21: 488-92.

482. McGhan LJ, McCullough AE, Protheroe CA, Dueck AC, et al. Androgen receptor-positive triple negative breast cancer: a unique breast cancer subtype. *Ann Surg Oncol.* 2014; 21:361-7.

483. Pistelli M, Caramanti M, Biscotti T, et al. Androgen Receptor Expression in Early Triple-Negative Breast Cancer: Clinical Significance and Prognostic Associations. *Cancers*. 2014; 6: 1351-62.

484. Wang C, Pan B, Zhu H, et al. Prognostic value of androgen receptor in triple negative breast cancer: A meta-analysis. *Oncotarget*. 2016; 7:46482-91.

485. Safarpour D, Pakneshan S and Tavassoli FA. Androgen receptor (AR) expression in 400 breast carcinomas: is routine AR assessment justified? *Am J Cancer Res.* 2014; 4:353-68.

486. Collina F, Cerrone M, Peluso V, et al. Downregulation of androgen receptor is strongly associated with diabetes in triple negative breast cancer patients. *Am J Transl Res.* 2016; 8: 3530-9.
487. Milioli HH, Tishchenko I, Riveros C, Berretta R and Moscato P. Basallike breast cancer: molecular profiles, clinical features and survival outcomes. *BMC Med Genomics*. 2017; 10: 19.

488. Callagy GM, Webber MJ, Pharoah PD and Caldas C. Meta-analysis confirms BCL2 is an independent prognostic marker in breast cancer. *BMC Cancer*. 2008; 8: 153.

489. Abd El-Hafez A, Shawky Mohamed Ael A and Elesawy BH. Different prognostic factors correlate with Bcl-2 expression among triple negative and non-triple negative breast cancers. *Asian Pac J Cancer Prev.* 2013; 14: 1037-41.

490. Abdel-Fatah TMA, Perry C, Dickinson P, et al. Bcl2 is an independent prognostic marker of triple negative breast cancer (TNBC) and predicts response to anthracycline combination (ATC) chemotherapy (CT) in adjuvant and neoadjuvant settings. *Ann Oncol.* 2013; 24: 2801-7.

491. Abdel-Fatah TMA, Dickinson PD, Moseley P, et al. Bcl2 as a surrogate prognostic and predictive marker in triple-negative breast cancer. *J Clin Oncol.* 2011; 29: 1024.

492. Provenzano E, Bossuyt V, Viale G, et al. Standardization of pathologic evaluation and reporting of postneoadjuvant specimens in clinical trials of breast cancer: recommendations from an international working group. *Mod Pathol.* 2015; 28: 1185-201.

493. Symmans WF, Peintinger F, Hatzis C, et al. Measurement of residual breast cancer burden to predict survival after neoadjuvant chemotherapy. *J Clin Oncol.* 2007; 25: 4414-22.

494. Schreiber RD, Old LJ and Smyth MJ. Cancer immunoediting: integrating immunity's roles in cancer suppression and promotion. *Science*. 2011; 331: 1565-70.

495. Emens LA. Breast cancer immunobiology driving immunotherapy: vaccines and immune checkpoint blockade. *Expert Rev Anticancer Ther.* 2012; 12: 1597-611.

496. O'Sullivan T, Saddawi-Konefka R, Vermi W, et al. Cancer immunoediting by the innate immune system in the absence of adaptive immunity. *J Exp Med.* 2012; 209: 1869-82.

497. Quezada SA, Peggs KS, Simpson TR and Allison JP. Shifting the equilibrium in cancer immunoediting: from tumor tolerance to eradication. *Immunol Rev.* 2011; 241: 104-18.

498. Coussens LM and Pollard JW. Leukocytes in mammary development and cancer. *Cold Spring Harb Perspect Biol.* 2011; 3.

499. Kinoshita T, Muramatsu R, Fujita T, et al. Prognostic value of tumorinfiltrating lymphocytes differs depending on histological type and smoking habit in completely resected non-small cell lung cancer. *Ann Oncol.* 2016; 27: 2117-23.

500. Weiss SA, Han SW, Lui K, et al. Immunologic heterogeneity of tumor infiltrating lymphocyte composition in primary melanoma. *Hum Pathol.* 2016; 57: 116-25.

501. Zhang L, Conejo-Garcia JR, Katsaros D, et al. Intratumoral T cells, recurrence, and survival in epithelial ovarian cancer. *N Engl J Med.* 2003; 348: 203-13.

502. Brahmer JR. Harnessing the immune system for the treatment of non-small-cell lung cancer. *J Clin Oncol.* 2013; 31: 1021-8.

503. Huszno J, Nozynska E and Nowara E. The association of tumour lymphocyte infiltration with clinicopathological features in breast cancer. *Annals of Oncology*. 2014; 25: iv569.

504. Adams S, Gray RJ, Demaria S, et al. Prognostic value of tumorinfiltrating lymphocytes in triple-negative breast cancers from two phase III randomized adjuvant breast cancer trials: ECOG 2197 and ECOG 1199. *J Clin Oncol.* 2014; 32: 2959-66.

505. Pruneri G, Vingiani A, Bagnardi V, et al. Clinical validity of tumorinfiltrating lymphocytes analysis in patients with triple-negative breast cancer. *Ann Oncol.* 2016; 27: 249-56.

506. Carlomagno C, Perrone F Fau - Lauria R, Lauria R Fau - de Laurentiis M, et al. Prognostic significance of necrosis, elastosis, fibrosis and inflammatory cell reaction in operable breast cancer. *Oncology*. 1995; 52: 272-7.

507. Mao Y, Qu Q, Zhang Y, Liu J, Chen X and Shen K. The value of tumor infiltrating lymphocytes (TILs) for predicting response to neoadjuvant chemotherapy in breast cancer: a systematic review and meta-analysis. *PLoS One*. 2014; 9: e115103.

508. Kwei KA, Kung Y, Salari K, Holcomb IN and Pollack JR. Genomic instability in breast cancer: pathogenesis and clinical implications. *Mol Oncol.* 2010; 4: 255-66.

509. Hacohen N, Fritsch EF, Carter TA, Lander ES and Wu CJ. Getting personal with neoantigen-based therapeutic cancer vaccines. *Cancer Immunol Res.* 2013; 1: 11-5.

510. Tian T, Ruan M, Yang W and Shui R. Evaluation of the prognostic value of tumor-infiltrating lymphocytes in triple-negative breast cancers. *Oncotarget*. 2016; 7: 44395.

511. Lee HJ, Kim JY, Park IA, et al. Prognostic Significance of Tumor-Infiltrating Lymphocytes and the Tertiary Lymphoid Structures in HER2-Positive Breast Cancer Treated With Adjuvant Trastuzumab. *Am J Clin Pathol.* 2015; 144: 278-88.

512. Salgado R, Denkert C, Campbell C, et al. Tumor-Infiltrating Lymphocytes and Associations With Pathological Complete Response and Event-Free Survival in HER2-Positive Early-Stage Breast Cancer Treated With Lapatinib and Trastuzumab: A Secondary Analysis of the NeoALTTO Trial. *JAMA Oncol.* 2015; 1: 448-54.

513. Perez EA, Ballman KV, Tenner KS, et al. Association of Stromal Tumor-Infiltrating Lymphocytes With Recurrence-Free Survival in the N9831 Adjuvant Trial in Patients With Early-Stage HER2-Positive Breast Cancer. *JAMA Oncol.* 2016; 2: 56-64.

514. Sherwell-Cabello S, Maffuz-Aziz A, Camacho-Ramírez D, et al. Prognostic impact of tumor-infiltrating lymphocytes (TIL's) and stromal-infiltrating lymphocytes (SIL's) in triple-negative breast cancer. *J Clin Oncol.* 2015, 33 (Supp 83): 83.

515. Pearson A, Justine P, Diakos C, et al. Prognostic utility of tumour infiltrating lymphocytes (TILs) and neutrophil-to-lymphocyte ratio (NLR) in early-stage triple negative breast cancer (TNBC). *J Clin Oncol*. 2016; 34: 1075.

516. Issa-Nummer Y, Darb-Esfahani S, Loibl S, et al. Prospective validation of immunological infiltrate for prediction of response to neoadjuvant chemotherapy in HER2-negative breast cancer--a substudy of the neoadjuvant GeparQuinto trial. *PLoS One.* 2013; 8: e79775.

517. Hida AI, Sagara Y, Yotsumoto D, et al. Prognostic and predictive impacts of tumor-infiltrating lymphocytes differ between Triple-negative and HER2-positive breast cancers treated with standard systemic therapies. *Breast Cancer Res Treat.* 2016; 158: 1-9.

518. Beckers RK, Selinger CI, Vilain R, et al. Programmed death ligand 1 expression in triple-negative breast cancer is associated with tumour-infiltrating lymphocytes and improved outcome. *Histopathology*. 2016; 69: 25-34.

519. Mohammed ZM, Going JJ, Edwards J, Elsberger B, Doughty JC and McMillan DC. The relationship between components of tumour inflammatory cell infiltrate and clinicopathological factors and survival in patients with primary operable invasive ductal breast cancer. *Br J Cancer*. 2012; 107: 864-73.

520. Mahmoud SM, Paish EC, Powe DG, et al. Tumor-infiltrating CD8+ lymphocytes predict clinical outcome in breast cancer. *J Clin Oncol.* 2011; 29: 1949-55.

521. Loi S, Drubay D, Adams S, et al. Pooled individual patient data analysis of stromal tumor infiltrating lymphocytes in primary triple negative breast cancer treated with anthracycline-based chemotherapy. *Cancer Res.* 2016; 76: S1-03.

522. Park IA, Heo SH, Song IH, et al. Endoplasmic reticulum stress induces secretion of high-mobility group proteins and is associated with tumor-infiltrating lymphocytes in triple-negative breast cancer. *Oncotarget*. 2016; 7: 59957-64.

523. Tian T, Ruan M, Yang W and Shui R. Evaluation of the prognostic value of tumor-infiltrating lymphocytes in triple-negative breast cancers. *Oncotarget*. 2016; 7: 44395-405.

524. Park HS, Heo I, Kim JY, et al. No effect of tumor-infiltrating lymphocytes (TILs) on prognosis in patients with early triple-negative breast cancer: Validation of recommendations by the International TILs Working Group 2014. *J Surg Oncol.* 2016; 114: 17-21.

525. Mori H, Kubo M, Yamaguchi R, et al. The combination of PD-L1 expression and decreased tumor-infiltrating lymphocytes is associated with a poor prognosis in triple-negative breast cancer. *Oncotarget*. 2017; 8: 15584.

526. Krishnamurti U, Wetherilt CS, Yang J, Peng L and Li X. Tumorinfiltrating lymphocytes are significantly associated with better overall survival and disease-free survival in triple-negative but not estrogen receptor–positive breast cancers. *Hum Pathol.* 2017; 64: 7-12.

527. André F and Zielinski CC. Optimal strategies for the treatment of metastatic triple-negative breast cancer with currently approved agents. *Ann Oncol.* 2012; 23: vi46-51.

528. van Roozendaal LM, Smit LHM, Duijsens GHNM, et al. Risk of regional recurrence in triple-negative breast cancer patients: a Dutch cohort study. *Breast Cancer Res Treat*. 2016; 156: 465-72.

529. Demaria S, Volm MD, Shapiro RL, et al. Development of tumorinfiltrating lymphocytes in breast cancer after neoadjuvant paclitaxel chemotherapy. *Clin Cancer Res.* 2001; 7: 3025-30.

530. Ladoire S, Arnould L, Apetoh L, et al. Pathologic complete response to neoadjuvant chemotherapy of breast carcinoma is associated with the disappearance of tumor-infiltrating foxp3+ regulatory T cells. *Clin Cancer Res.* 2008; 14: 2413-20.

531. Swisher SK, Wu Y, Castaneda CA, et al. Interobserver Agreement Between Pathologists Assessing Tumor-Infiltrating Lymphocytes (TILs) in Breast Cancer Using Methodology Proposed by the International TILs Working Group. *Ann Surgical Oncol.* 2016; 23: 2242-8.

532. Tuominen VJ, Ruotoistenmäki S, Viitanen A, Jumppanen M and Isola J. ImmunoRatio: a publicly available web application for quantitative image analysis of estrogen receptor (ER), progesterone receptor (PR), and Ki-67. *Breast Cancer Res.* 2010; 12: R56.

533. Ali HR, Dariush A, Provenzano E, et al. Computational pathology of pretreatment biopsies identifies lymphocyte density as a predictor of response to neoadjuvant chemotherapy in breast cancer. *Breast Cancer Res.* 2016; 18: 21.

534. Scolyer RA, Judge MJ, Evans A, et al. Data set for pathology reporting of cutaneous invasive melanoma: recommendations from the international collaboration on cancer reporting (ICCR). *Am J Surg Pathol.* 2013; 37: 1797-814.

535. Junttila MR and de Sauvage FJ. Influence of tumour micro-environment heterogeneity on therapeutic response. *Nature*. 2013; 501: 346-54.

536. Sugimoto H, Mundel TM, Kieran MW and Kalluri R. Identification of fibroblast heterogeneity in the tumor microenvironment. *Cancer Biol Ther.* 2006; 5: 1640-6.

537. Hasebe T. Tumor-stromal interactions in breast tumor progression--significance of histological heterogeneity of tumor-stromal fibroblasts. *Expert Opin Ther Targets*. 2013; 17: 449-60.

538. McIlhenny C, Doughty JC, George WD and Mallon EA. Optimum number of core biopsies for accurate assessment of histological grade in breast cancer. *Br J Surg.* 2002; 89: 84-5.

539. Mann GB, Fahey VD, Feleppa F and Buchanan MR. Reliance on hormone receptor assays of surgical specimens may compromise outcome in patients with breast cancer. *J Clin Oncol.* 2005; 23: 5148-54.

540. Chung GG, Zerkowski MP, Ghosh S, Camp RL and Rimm DL. Quantitative analysis of estrogen receptor heterogeneity in breast cancer. *Lab Invest.* 2007; 87: 662-9.

541. Ohlschlegel C, Zahel K, Kradolfer D, Hell M and Jochum W. HER2 genetic heterogeneity in breast carcinoma. *J Clin Pathol*. 2011; 64: 1112-6.

542. Nawaz S, Heindl A, Koelble K and Yuan Y. Beyond immune density: critical role of spatial heterogeneity in estrogen receptor-negative breast cancer. *Mod Pathol.* 2015; 28: 766-77.

543. Morgan MJ and Liu Z-g. Crosstalk of reactive oxygen species and NF-κB signaling. *Cell Res.* 2011; 21: 103-15.

544. Ambs S and Glynn SA. Candidate pathways linking inducible nitric oxide synthase to a basal-like transcription pattern and tumor progression in human breast cancer. *Cell Cycle*. 2011; 10: 619-24.

545. Wu A-W, Gu J, Li Z-F, Ji J-F and Xu G-W. COX-2 expression and tumor angiogenesis in colorectal cancer. *World J Gastroenterol*. 2004; 10: 2323-6.

546. Kelly LM, Hill ADK, Kennedy S, et al. Lack of prognostic effect of Cox-2 expression in primary breast cancer on short-term follow-up. *Eur J Surg Oncol.* 2003; 29: 707-10.

547. Denkert C, Winzer K-J and Hauptmann S. Prognostic impact of cyclooxygenase-2 in breast cancer. *Clinl Breast Cancer*. 2004; 4: 428-33.

548. Wülfing P, Diallo R, Müller C, et al. Analysis of cyclooxygenase-2 expression in human breast cancer: high throughput tissue microarray analysis. *J Cancer Res Clin Oncol.* 2003; 129: 375-82.

549. Nakopoulou L, Mylona E, Papadaki I, et al. Overexpression of cyclooxygenase-2 is associated with a favorable prognostic phenotype in breast carcinoma. *Pathobiology*. 2005; 72: 241-9.

550. Park B-W, Park S, Park HS, et al. Cyclooxygenase-2 expression in proliferative Ki-67-positive breast cancers is associated with poor outcomes. *Breast Cancer Res Treat*. 2012; 133: 741-51.

551. Simonsson M, Björner S, Markkula A, et al. The prognostic impact of COX-2 expression in breast cancer depends on oral contraceptive history, preoperative NSAID use, and tumor size. *Int J Cancer*. 2017; 140: 163-75.

552. Dhakal HP, Naume B, Synnestvedt M, et al. Expression of cyclooxygenase-2 in invasive breast carcinomas and its prognostic impact. *Histol Histopathol*. 2012; 27: 1315-25.

553. Falandry C, Canney PA, Freyer G and Dirix LY. Role of combination therapy with aromatase and cyclooxygenase-2 inhibitors in patients with metastatic breast cancer. *Ann Oncol.* 2009; 20: 615-20.

554. Zhang MH, Man HT, Zhao XD, Dong N and Ma SL. Estrogen receptorpositive breast cancer molecular signatures and therapeutic potentials. *Biomed Rep.* 2014; 2: 41-52.

555. Dunnwald LK, Rossing MA and Li CI. Hormone receptor status, tumor characteristics, and prognosis: a prospective cohort of breast cancer patients. *Breast Cancer Res.* 2007; 9: R6.

556. Costa C, Soares R, Reis-Filho JS, Leitao D, Amendoeira I and Schmitt FC. Cyclo-oxygenase 2 expression is associated with angiogenesis and lymph node metastasis in human breast cancer. *J Clinical Pathol*. 2002; 55: 429-34.

557. Liu X-H and Rose DP. Differential expression and regulation of cyclooxygenase-1 and-2 in two human breast cancer cell lines. *Cancer Res.* 1996; 56: 5125-7.

558. van Nes JGH, de Kruijf EM, Faratian D, et al. COX2 expression in prognosis and in prediction to endocrine therapy in early breast cancer patients. *Breast Cancer Res Treat*. 2011; 125: 671-85.

559. Boland GP, Butt IS, Prasad R, Knox WF and Bundred NJ. COX-2 expression is associated with an aggressive phenotype in ductal carcinoma in situ. *Br J Cancer*. 2004; 90: 423-9.

560. Lucci A, Krishnamurthy S, Singh B, et al. Cyclooxygenase-2 expression in primary breast cancers predicts dissemination of cancer cells to the bone marrow. *Breast Cancer Res Treat*. 2009; 117: 61-8.

561. Alikanoglu AS, Yildirim M, Suren D, et al. Expression of cyclooxygenase-2 and Bcl-2 in breast cancer and their relationship with triple-negative disease. *J BUON*. 2014; 19: 430-4.

562. Singh B, Cook KR, Vincent L, et al. Cyclooxygenase-2 induces genomic instability, BCL2 expression, doxorubicin resistance, and altered cancer-initiating cell phenotype in MCF7 breast cancer cells. *J Surg Res.* 2008; 147: 240-6.

563. Basu GD, Pathangey LB, Tinder TL, LaGioia M, Gendler SJ and Mukherjee P. Cyclooxygenase-2 inhibitor induces apoptosis in breast cancer cells in an in vivo model of spontaneous metastatic breast cancer. *Mol Cancer Res.* 2004; 2: 632-42.

564. Huang Y, Ray S, Reed JC, et al. Estrogen increases intracellular p26Bcl-2 to p21Bax ratios and inhibits taxol-induced apoptosis of human breast cancer MCF-7 cells. *Breast Cancer Res Treat*. 1997; 42: 73-81.

565. Kandouz M, Siromachkova M, Jacob D, Marquet BC, Therwath A and Gompel A. Antagonism between estradiol and progestin on Bcl-2 expression in breast-cancer cells. *Int J Cancer*. 1996; 68: 120-5.

566. T-K K, I-J P and OJ P. Modulation of Apoptosis-related Signal Transduction by Celecoxib, a Selective COX-2 Inhibitor in Comparison with Estrogen in Perimenopausal Mammary Glands. *J Korean Assoc Cancer Prev.* 2004; 9: 154-61.

567. Bocca C, Ievolella M, Autelli R, et al. Expression of Cox-2 in human breast cancer cells as a critical determinant of epithelial-to-mesenchymal transition and invasiveness. *Expert Opin Ther Targets*. 2014; 18: 121-35.

568. Noda M, Tatsumi Y, Tomizawa M, et al. Effects of etodolac, a selective cyclooxygenase-2 inhibitor, on the expression of E-cadherin-catenin complexes in gastrointestinal cell lines. *J Gastroenterol*. 2002; 37: 896-904.

569. Okamoto A, Shirakawa T, Bito T, et al. Etodolac, a selective cyclooxygenase-2 inhibitor, induces upregulation of E-cadherin and has antitumor effect on human bladder cancer cells in vitro and in vivo. *Urology*. 2008; 71: 156-60.

570. Larkins TL, Nowell M, Singh S and Sanford GL. Inhibition of cyclooxygenase-2 decreases breast cancer cell motility, invasion and matrix metalloproteinase expression. *BMC cancer*. 2006; 6: 181.

571. Fujii R, Imanishi Y, Shibata K, et al. Restoration of E-cadherin expression by selective Cox-2 inhibition and the clinical relevance of the epithelial-to-mesenchymal transition in head and neck squamous cell carcinoma. *J Exp Clin Cancer Res.* 2014; 33: 40.

572. Dohadwala M, Yang SC, Luo J, et al. Cyclooxygenase-2-dependent regulation of E-cadherin: prostaglandin E (2) induces transcriptional repressors ZEB1 and snail in non-small cell lung cancer. *Cancer Res.* 2006; 66: 5338-45.

573. Jang TJ, Cha WH and Lee KS. Reciprocal correlation between the expression of cyclooxygenase-2 and E-cadherin in human bladder transitional cell carcinomas. *Virchows Arch.* 2010; 457: 319-28.

574. Nweze IC, Smith JW, Zhang B, Lakshmanan J, Klinge CM and Harbrecht BG. 17β-Estradiol attenuates cytokine-induced nitric oxide production in rat hepatocyte. *J Trauma Acute Care Surg*. 2012; 73: 408-12.

575. Ogando D, Farina M, Ribeiro ML, et al. Steroid hormones augment nitric oxide synthase activity and expression in rat uterus. *Reprod Fertil Dev.* 2003; 15: 269-74.

576. Baker AE, Brautigam VM and Watters JJ. Estrogen modulates microglial inflammatory mediator production via interactions with estrogen receptor β . *Endocrinology*. 2004; 145: 5021-32.

577. Kauser K, Sonnenberg D, Diel P and Rubanyi GM. Effect of 17β -oestradiol on cytokine-induced nitric oxide production in rat isolated aorta. *Br J Pharmacol.* 1998; 123: 1089-96.

578. Ostad SN, Maneshi A, Sharifzadeh M and Azizi E. Effect of 17- β Estradiol on the Expression of Inducible Nitric oxide Synthase in Parent and Tamoxifen Resistant T47D Breast Cancer Cells. *Iran J Pharm Res.* 2010; 8: 125-33.

579. Karpuzoglu E and Ahmed SA. Estrogen regulation of nitric oxide and inducible nitric oxide synthase (iNOS) in immune cells: implications for immunity, autoimmune diseases, and apoptosis. *Nitric oxide*. 2006; 15: 177-86.

580. Vakkala M, Kahlos K, Lakari E, Pääkkö P, Kinnula V and Soini Y. Inducible nitric oxide synthase expression, apoptosis, and angiogenesis in in situ and invasive breast carcinomas. *Clin Cancer Res.* 2000; 6: 2408-16.

581. Bulut AS, Erden E, Sak SD, Doruk H, Kursun N and Dincol D. Significance of inducible nitric oxide synthase expression in benign and malignant breast epithelium: an immunohistochemical study of 151 cases. *Virchows Arch.* 2005; 447: 24-30.

582. Dabbeche-Bouricha E, Hadiji-Abbes N, Abdelmaksoud-Damak R, et al. Quantitative measurement of iNOS expression in melanoma, nasopharyngeal, colorectal, and breast tumors of Tunisian patients: comparative study and clinical significance. *Tumor Biol.* 2016; 37: 5153-64.

583. Tschugguel W, Schneeberger C, Unfried G, et al. Expression of inducible nitric oxide synthase in human breast cancer depends on tumor grade. *Breast Cancer Res Treat*. 1999; 56: 143-9.

584. Reveneau S, Arnould L, Jolimoy G, et al. Nitric oxide synthase in human breast cancer is associated with tumor grade, proliferation rate, and expression of progesterone receptors. *Lab Invest.* 1999; 79: 1215-25.

585. Matos LL, Trufelli DC, de Matos MGL and da Silva Pinhal MA. Immunohistochemistry as an important tool in biomarkers detection and clinical practice. *Biomark Insights*. 2010; 5: 9-20.

586. Torhorst J, Bucher C, Kononen J, et al. Tissue microarrays for rapid linking of molecular changes to clinical endpoints. *Am J Pathol.* 2001; 159: 2249-56.

587. Khouja MH, Baekelandt M, Sarab A, Nesland JM and Holm R. Limitations of tissue microarrays compared with whole tissue sections in survival analysis. *Oncol Lett.* 2010; 1: 827-31.

Appendix I

Parameter	Stage		Description				
	Tx		Primary tumour cannot be assessed				
T stage	Т0		No evidence of primary tumour				
	T1	T(mi)	Tumour ≤1mm in largest extent				
	II (The state	T1a	Tumour greatest dimension (>1mm but \leq 5 mm)				
	$(1 \text{ umour } \leq 20 \text{ mm})$	T1b	Tumour greatest dimension (> 5mm but \leq 10 mm)				
	20 mm)	T1c	Tumour greatest dimension (>10mm but \leq 20mm)				
	T2		Tumour greatest dimension (>20mm but \leq 50 mm)				
	Т3		Tumour > 50 mm in largest extent				
			Any size tumour with direct extension to chest wall				
	T4		(4a) or skin (4b) or both (4c) or inflammatory				
			carcinoma (4d)				
	Nx		Regional LNs cannot be assessed				
	N0		No regional LN metastasis identified histologically				
	N(C+)		Isolated tumour cells (ITC): clusters of cells ($\leq 0.2 \text{ mm}$				
	N(1+)		or <200 cells)				
		N1(mi)	Micrometastasis (>0.2mm to <2mm) in 1-3 axillary LN				
		Nla	Metastases in 1-3 axillary LNs with macrometastasis				
			(>2mm) in at least 1 LN				
	N1	NIL	Metastasis in clinically occult internal mammary LN				
		INID	(detected by SLN)				
			Metastases in 1-3 axillary LNs + Metastasis in				
N stago		N1c	clinically occult internal mammary LN (detected by				
11 stage			SLN)				
		N2a	Metastases in 4-9 axillary LN				
	N2	N2b	Metastases in clinically apparent internal mammary LN				
		1120	in the absence of axillary LN metastases				
		N3a	Metastases in ≥10 axillary LNs OR infractavicular LN				
			Metastases in clinically apparent internal mammary LN				
			+ axillary LN metastases				
	N3	N3b	OR				
			Metastases in >3 axillary LNs + Metastasis in clinically				
			occult internal mammary LN (detected by SLN)				
		N3c	Metastasis in ipsilateral supraclavicular LN				
M stago	M0		No distant metastasis				
ivi stage	M1		Distant metastasis				

Table A.1. Summary of the TNM staging system (7th edition)

Appendix II

Biomarker	n ^a	Status	n ^a (%)	Cut-off for positivity
(manfacturer, clone, dilution)				
ER	522	Positive	344 (66)	>10% nuclear positivity -
(Neomarker, clone SP, 1:100)*		Negative	178 (34)	
PgR	534	Positive	297 (56)	>10% nuclear positivity
(Leica, clone 16, 1:200)*		Negative	237 (44)	
HER-2	602	Positive	85 (14)	2+ with positive FISH
(Dako)		Negative	517 (86)	result/3+ ***
EGFR	527	Positive	77 (14)	Any membranous/cytoplasmic
(Dako, pharmDx kit)*		Negative	450 (85)	positivity
CK14	444	Positive	94 (21)	Any membranous/cytoplasmic
(Novo- castra, LL002, 1:20)**		Negative	350 (79)	positivity
CK5/6	463	Positive	42 (9)	Any membranous/cytoplasmic
(Dako, D5/16, 1:100)*		Negative	421 (91)	positivity
BCL-2	534	Positive	290 (54)	>10% cytoplasmic positivity
(Novocastra, bcl-2/100/D5,		Negative	244 (46)	
1:200)**				
p53	523	Positive	105 (20)	>10% nuclear positivity
(Dako, DO-7, 1:100)*		Negative	418 (80)	
Ki67	540	Positive	163 (30)	>10% nuclear positivity
(Dako, MIB-1, 1:200)*		Negative	377 (70)	

Table A.2. Source and dilution of the antibodies used and the biomarker profile ofthe WOI BC series

n^a : number of cases for which data is available

*Antigen retrieval was done using CC1 protocol for 30 minutes

** Antigen retrieval was done using ER2 protocol for 20 minutes

*** Scoring for HER-2 (ASCO/CAP recommendation, 2013) 0 = no staining; 1 + = weak, incomplete membrane staining in >10% of tumour cells; 2+= weak to moderately complete membrane staining in >10% of tumour cells; 3+= strong complete membrane staining in >30%

Appendix III

	HR	95% CI	p value		
DFS (329)	0.918	0.525-1.6	0.765		
MFS (330)	0.776	0.412-1.46	0.433		
DFS (328)	0.918	0.525-1.6	0.765		
p values in bold indicate statistically significant associations					

Table A.3.1 Univariate analysis of association between tumour grade and survival in TNBC

 Table A.3.2. Univariate analysis of association between tumour tubule formation,

nuclear pleomorphism and mitotic count with DFS in TNB
--

		HR	95% CI	p value		
Tubula formation (220)	2	0.451	0.05-4.04	0.477		
Tubule Ionnation (329)	3	0.86	0.119-6.2	0.881		
Nuclear Diagmorphism (220)	2	0.54	0.065-4.52	0.573		
Nuclear Pleomorphism (329)	3	0.402	0.055-2.89	0.055		
Mitatia agunt (228)	2	0.908	0.468-1.764	0.78		
Mitoue count (328)	3	0.796	0.796-0.234	0.44		
p values in bold indicate statistically significant associations						

Appendix IV

.

Table A.4.	Follow-up	of cases	who h	ad positive	result on	diagnostic	lymph	node
procedures	within the	TNBC co	ohort					

Diagnostia I N	Follow-up	Follow-up	
Diagnostic LIN	therapeutic LN	therapeutic LN	Comment
procedure	procedure (type)	procedure (Result)	
	ALND (n=35)	Positive (n= 26)	The 11 cases with
	SLN & ALND	Negative (n=11)	negative ALN had NACT,
ALN NCB (n=40)	excisions (n=3)	No lymph nodes	and 10 of them showed
	Awaited (n=1)*	retrieved (n=1)	effect to treatment in
	None (n=1)	Unknown (n=2)	uninvolved nodes.
ALN FNA (n=14)	ALND (n=14)	Positive (n=8) Negative (n=5) No lymph nodes retrieved (n=1)	The 5 cases with negative ALN had NACT, and 4 of them showed effect to treatment in uninvolved nodes.
SLN excision (n=5)	ALND (n=5)	Positive (n= 3) Negative (n=2)	
ALN NCB ALN FNAC (n=1)	SLN excision (n=1)	Negative (n=1)	This case had NACT, and showed effect to treatment in uninvolved nodes.
ALN NCB SLN Excision (n=1)	None (n=1)		
SLN excision ALN excision (n=1)	ALND (n=1)	Negative (n=1)	
ALN NCB: axillary lyn	nph node needle core	biopsy; ALN FNAC: ax	illary lymph node fine

needle aspiration cytology; ALN excision: axillary lymph node excisional biopsy; ALND: axillary lymph node dissection(clearance); SLN excision: sentinel lymph node excision; SC FNAC: supraclavicular fine needle aspiration cytology.

Appendix V

Table A.5. Association	between]	EGFR	expression	and	clinicopathological	features
in TNBC						

		EGFR	EGFR		2	
Donomotor		positive	negative	n		n valua
rarameter		(n=134)	(n= 108)		χ2	p value
		n (%)	n (%)			
Menopausal	Pre-menopausal	42 (52)	38 (58)	80		
status	Post-menopausal	87 (47)	67 (43)	154	0.339	0.560
	Unknown	14 (82)	3 (18)	17		
	1	1 (100)	0 (0)	1		
Tumour grade	2	17 (59)	12 (41)	29	0.020	0.625
	3	116 (55)	95 (45)	211	0.939	0.625
	х	0 (0)	1 (100)	1		
	1	1 (100)	0 (0)	1		
Tubule	2	8 (38)	13 (62)	21	2 500	0.165
formation	3	125 (57)	94 (43)	219	3.598	0.165
	х	0 (0)	1 (100)	1		
	1	1 (100)	0 (0)	1		
Nuclear	2	8 (73)	3 (28)	11	0 001	0.000
Pleomorphism	3	125 (55)	104 (45)	229	2.201	0.333
	х	0 (0)	1 (100)	1		
	1	15 (58)	11 (42)	26		
	2	26 (33)	23 (47)	49	0.407	
Mitotic count	3	93 (56)	73 (44)	166	0.186	0.911
	х	0 (0)	1 (100)	1		
	Ductal	109 (56)	87 (44)	196		
	Lobular	10 (77)	3 (23)	13		0.001
T	Metaplastic	4 (36)	7 (64)	11	10 (50	
Tumour type	Medullary#	5 (50)	5 (50)	10	10.672	0.221
	Apocrine	2 (29)	5 (71)	7		
	Others	4 (80)	1 (20)	5		
	1	32 (47)	36 (53)	68		
The second second second second second second second second second second second second second second second se	2	76 (63)	45 (37)	121		
Tumour stage	3	7 (58)	5 (42)	12	4.426	0.219
(pT)	4	7 (58)	5 (42)	12		
	х	12 (41)	17 (59)	29		
	0	72 (55)	58 (45)	130		
Nodal stage	1	27 (64)	15 (36)	42		
(pN)	2	10 (59)	7 (41)	17	1.145	0.766
`	3	8 (53)	7 (47)	15		
	х	17 (45)	21 (55)	38		
	0	40 (53)	36 (47)	67		
sTILs	1	52 (58)	37 (42)	89		0.000
categories	2	20 (56)	16 (44)	36	0.616	0.893
8	3	22 (54)	19 (46)	41		
#Medullary types	including the classi	cal and atyp	ical medullary	. p valu	es in bold ir	ndicate

Appendix VI

Table A.6. Association	between	CK5/6	expression	and	clinicopathological	features
in TNBC						

		CK5/6	CK5/6			
Davamatar		positive	negative		χ ²	n valua
		(n=163)	(n= 85)	11		p value
		n (%)	n (%)			
Menopausal	Pre-menopausal	52 (67)	26 (33)	78		
status	Post-menopausal	105 (65)	57 (35)	162	0.0798	0.778
	Unknown	6 (75)	2 (25)	8		
	1	0 (0)	1 (100)	1		
Tumour grade	2	21 (66)	11 (34)	32	1 01/15	0 384
	3	141 (66)	73 (34)	214	1.7145	0.384
	Х	1 (100)	0 (0)	1		
	1	1 (50)	1 (50)	2		
Tubule	2	19 (86)	3 (14)	22	1 7022	0.001
formation	3	142 (64)	81 (36)	223	4./833	0.091
	Х	1 (100)	0 (0)	1		
Nacalaan	1	0 (0)	1 (100)	1		
Nuclear	2	8 (67)	4 (33)	21	1 0172	0.292
Pleomorphism	3	154 (66)	80 (34)	234	1.91/3	0.385
	х	1 (100)	0 (0)	1		
	1	16 (57)	12 (43)	28		
.	2	34 (64)	19 (36)	53	1 1027	0.551
Mitotic count	3	112 (67)	54 (33)	166	1.1937	0.551
	х	1 (100)	0 (0)	1		
	Ductal	131 (65)	70 (35)	201		
	Lobular 10 (67) 5 (34) 15					
T (Metaplastic	6 (55)	5 (45)	11	2 22 42	0.912
l umour type	Medullary#	7 (70)	3 (30)	10	3.3342	
	Apocrine	5 (83)	1 (17)	6		
	Others	3 (75)	1 (25)	4		
-	1	44 (63)	26 (37)	70		
T	2	79 (65)	43 (35)	122		
1 umour stage	3	12 (92)	1 (8)	13	6.0157	0.111
(p1)	4	10 (83)	2 (17)	12		
	х	83 (63)	48 (37)	131		
	0	33 (73)	12 (27)	45		
Nodal stage	1	14 (78)	4 (22)	18		
(pN)	2	8 (80)	7 (20)	15	3.6648	0.300
	3	1 (7)	14 (93)	15		
	х	44 (63)	26 (37)	70		
	0	48 (63)	28 (37)	76		
sTILs	1	60 (67)	29 (33)	89	0 4007	0.040
categories	2	26 (67)	13 (33)	39	0.4006	0.940
	3	29 (67)	14 (33)	43		
#Medullary types	including the classi	cal and atypic	cal medullary	. p valu	es in bold ir	ndicate

Appendix VII

Table A.7. Association	between	CK14	expression	and	clinicopathological	features
in TNBC						

		CK14	CK14			
Davamatar		positive	negative		2	n valua
rarameter		(n=188)	(n= 52)	11	χ^2	p value
		n (%)	n (%)			
Menopausal	Pre-menopausal	58 (77)	17 (23)	75		
status	Post-menopausal	124 (79)	33 (21)	157	0.0815	0.775
	Unknown	6 (75)	2 (25)	8		
	1	1 (100)	0 (0)	1		
Tumour grade	2	23 (77)	7 (23)	30	0 2 2 2 7	0.851
	3	163 (78)	45 (22)	208	0.3237	0.851
	Х	1 (100)	0 (0)	1		
	1	1 (100)	0 (0)	1		
Tubule	2	16 (84)	3 (16)	19	0 7246	0.606
formation	3	170 (78)	49 (22)	219	0.7240	0.090
	Х	1 (100)	0 (0)	1		
Nuclear	1	1 (100)	0 (0)	1		
Nuclear	2	8 (80)	2 (20)	10	0 2002	0.961
Pieomorpinsii	3	178 (78)	50 (22)	228	0.3002	0.801
	Х	1 (100)	0 (0)	1		
	1	21 (75)	7 (25)	28		
Mitatia againt	2	38 (79)	10 (20)	48	0 2049	0.002
Mitotic count	3	128 (79)	35 (21)	163	0.2048	0.903
	Х	1 (100)	0 (0)	1		
	Ductal	149 (77)	44 (23)	193		
	Lobular	13 (81)	3 (19)	16		
T	Metaplastic	7 (64)	4 (36)	11	5 1026	0.727
I umour type	Medullary#	9 (90)	1 (10)	10	5.1936	0./3/
	Apocrine	6 (100)	0 (0)	6		
	Others	3 (100)	0 (0)	3		
-	1	53 (77)	16 (23)	69		
T	2	92 (78)	26 (22)	118		
1 umour stage	3	13 (100)	0 (0)	13	4.9514	0.175
(p1)	4	11 (92)	1 (8)	12		
	х	98 (75)	32 (25)	130		
	0	35 (85)	6 (15)	41		
Nodal stage	1	15 (88)	2 (12)	17		
(pN)	2	14 (88)	2 (12)	16	3.6283	0.305
	3	53 (77)	16 (23)	69		
	х					
	0	54 (74)	19 (26)	73		
sTILs	1	68 (26)	21 (24)	89	2 2 4 4 7	0.241
categories	2	30 (81)	7 (19)	37	3.3447	0.341
-	3	36 (88)	5 (12)	41		
#Medullary types	s including the classic	cal and atypic	cal medullary	. p valu	es in bold in	ndicate

Appendix VIII

Table A.8.1. Univariate analysis of association between EGFR expression with DFS In TNBC

	HR	95% CI	p value
EGFR (233)	0.6991	0.428-1.1402	0.152
p values in bold indicate statistically significant	associations		

Table A.8.2. Univariate analysis of association between biomarkers expression with BCSS in TNBC

	HR	95% CI	p value
CK5/6 (234)	0.9019	0.498-1.6318	0.733
CK14 (226)	0.9293	0.468-1.8455	0.834
P53 (226)	0.9556	0.5532-1.6508	0.871
p values in bold indicate statistically significan	t associations		

Appendix IX

Variable	HR	95% CI	p value
DFS			
BLIS	1.25	0.74-2.10	0.398
BLIA	0.74	0.35-1.53	0.418
AR	1.10	0.51-2.38	0.799
OS			
BLIS	1.52	0.88 - 2.65	0.135
BLIA	1.04	0.50 - 2.15	0.909
AR	1.54	0.73 - 3.26	0.262

Table A.9. Univariate analysis of the association between the four TNBC subtypes and survival

p values in bold indicate statistically significant associations



Figure A.9. Kaplan-Meier curves for DFS (A) and OS (B) of the TNBC subtypes

Appendix X

Table A.10.	Association	between	Bcl-2	expression	and	clinicopathological	features
in TNBC							

		Bcl-2	Bcl-2			
Davamatar		positive	negative		2	n valua
rarameter		(n=165)	(n= 78)	n	χ2	p value
		n (%)	n (%)			
Menopausal	Pre-menopausal	45 (58)	33 (42)	78		
status	Post-menopausal	115 (73)	42 (27)	75	5.8034	0.016
	Unknown	5 (63)	3 (37)	8		
	1	1 (100)	0 (0)	1		
Tumour grade	2	22 (69)	10 (31)	32	0 4010	0.702
	3	142 (68)	68 (32)	219	0.4910	0.782
	х	0 (0)	0 (0)	0		
	1	2 (100)	0 (0)	2		
Tubule	2	18 (82)	4 (18)	22	2 1070	0.000
formation	3	145 (66)	74 (34)	219	3.18/8	0.203
	х	0 (0)	0 (0)	0		
	1	1 (100)	0 (0)	1		
Nuclear	2	7 (64)	4 (36)	11	0.5650	0.754
Pleomorphism	3	157 (68)	74 (32)	231	0.5650	0.754
	х	0 (0)	0 (0)	0		
	1	19 (68)	9 (32)	28		
	2	38 (74)	13 (26)	51		
Mitotic count	3	108 (66)	56 (34)	164	1.3374	0.512
	х	0 (0)	0 (0)	0		
	Ductal	132 (67)	65 (33)	197		
	Lobular	10 (71)	4 (29)	14		
T	Metaplastic	9 (75)	3 (25)	12	0.0700	0.000
Tumour type	Medullary#	5 (50)	5 (50)	10	8.2702	0.309
	Apocrine	6 (100)	0 (0)	6		
	Others	3 (75)	1 (25)	4		
	1	48 (71)	20 (30)	68		
T (2	77 (65)	42 (35)	119		
Tumour stage	3	11 (78)	3 (21)	14	3.1609	0.367
(pT)	4	11 (85)	2 (15)	13		
	х	18 (62)	11 (38)	29		
	0	83 (64)	47 (36)	130		
Nodal stage	1	28 (69)	13 (31)	41		
(pN)	2	17 (94)	1 (6)	18	7.2046	0.066
	3	12 (75)	4 (25)	16		
	х	25 (66)	13 (34)	38		
	0	50 (63)	29 (37)	79		
sTILs	1	61 (72)	24 (28)	85		0.505
categories	2	26 (72)	10 (28)	36	1.9066	0.592
9	3	27 (64)	15 (36)	42		
#Medullary types	including the classic	cal and atypic	cal medullary	y. p valu	es in bold ir	ndicate

Appendix XI

Table A.11.	Association	between	p53 (expression	and	clinicopathological	features in
TNBC							

		p53	pa53			
Donomotor		positive	negative		2	n valua
rarameter		(n=94)	(n= 146)	п	χ^2	p value
		n (%)	n (%)			
Menopausal	Pre-menopausal	29 (36)	52 (64)	81		
status	Post-menopausal	63 (6)	88 (58)	151	0.7719	0.380
	Unknown	2 (25)	6 (75)	8		
	1	0 (0)	1 (100)	1		
Tumour grade	2	13 (40)	19 (60)	32	0 (770	0.712
	3	80 (39)	126 (61)	206	0.6770	0./13
	х	1 (100)	0 (0)	1		
	1	0 (0)	1 (100)	1		
Tubule	2	7 (33)	14 (67)	21	0.0000	0.020
formation	3	85 (39)	131 (61)	216	0.3960	0.820
	х	1 (100)	0 (0)	1		
	1	0 (0)	1 (100)	1		
Nuclear	2	6 (55)	5 (45)	11	1 0000	0.407
Pleomorphism	3	87 (38)	140 (62)	227	1.8008	0.406
	х	1 (100)	0 (0)	1		
	1	9 (32)	19 (68)	28		
	2	24 (44)	31 (56)	55	1.0.005	0.500
Mitotic count	3	60 (38)	96 (62)	156	1.0695	0.586
	х	1 (100)	0 (0)	1		
-	Ductal	78 (40)	115 (60)	193		
	Lobular	4 (29)	10 (71)	14		
T (Metaplastic	5 (38)	8 (62)	13	5 1026	0.727
I umour type	Medullary#	3 (33)	6 (67)	9	5.1936	0./3/
	Apocrine	2 (33)	4 (67)	6		
	Others	2 (50)	2 (50)	4		
	1	26 (38)	43 (62)	69		
T	2	44 (38)	70 (62)	114		
Tumour stage	3	6 (46)	7 (54)	13	0.5284	0.913
(p1)	4	5 (45)	6 (55)	11		
	х	51 (40)	75 (60)	126		
-	0	15 (37)	26 (63)	41		
Nodal stage	1	6 (35)	11 (65)	17		
(pN)	2	5 (36)	9 (64)	14	0.3769	0.945
	3	26 (38)	43 (62)	69		
	х	44 (38)	70 (62)	114		
	0	31 (40)	47 (60)	78		
sTILs	1	30 (36)	54 (64)	84	1 5705	
categories	2	17 (47)	19 (53)	36	1.5795	0.664
	3	14 (36)	25 (64)	39		
#Medullary types	s including the classic	cal and atypi	cal medullary	. p valu	es in bold ir	ndicate

Appendix XII

Variable		sTILs	sTILs	Total	χ^2	p value
		low	high			
		n(%)	n(%)			
AR	Negative	156 (68)	72 (32)	228	0.426	0.514
	Positive	23 (74)	8 (26)	31		
EGFR	Negative	95 (68)	44 (32)	139	0.30	0.862
	Positive	77 (70)	34 (30)	111		
CK5/6	Negative	115 (68)	54 (32)	169	0.025	0.874
	Positive	57 (67)	28 (33)	85		
CK14	Negative	128 (66)	65 (34)	193	2.356	0.125
	Positive	41 (77)	12 (16)	53		
Bcl-2	Negative	114 (69)	52 (31)	166	0.004	0.951
	Positive	56 (68)	26 (32)	82		
COX-2	Negative	99 (71)	41 (29)	140	0.006	0.937
	Positive	52 (71)	21 (29)	73		
iNOS	Negative	106 (69)	47 (31)	153	0.264	0.607
	Positive	43 (73)	16 (17)	59		
p53	Negative	66 (68)	31 (32)	97	0.113	0.737
	Positive	103 (70)	44 (30)	147		

Appendix XIII

Variable		sTILs	sTILs	Total	χ^2	p value
		non-LPBC	LPBC			
		n(%)				
			n(%)			
AR	Negative	189 (83)	39 (17)	228	0.018	0.892
	Positive	26 (84)	5 (16)	31		
EGFR	Negative	115 (83)	24 (17)	139	0.049	0.825
	Positive	93 (84)	18 (16)	111		
CK5/6	Negative	140 (83)	29 (17)	169	0.009	0.923
	Positive	70 (82)	15 (18)	85		
CK14	Negative	157 (81)	36 (18)	193	2.544	0.111
	Positive	48 (91)	5 (9)	53		
BCL-2	Negative	139 (84)	27 (16)	166	0.404	0.525
	Positive	66 (80)	16 (20)	82		
COX-2	Negative	119 (85)	21 (15)	140	0.610	0.435
	Positive	59 (81)	14 (19)	73		
iNOS	Negative	127 (83)	26 (17)	153	0.852	0.356
	Positive	52 (88)	7 (12)	59		
p53	Negative	83 (86)	14 (14)	97	0.451	0.502
	Positive	121 (82)	26 (18)	147		

a, number of cases for which data was available. p values in bold indicate statistically significant associations

Appendix XIV

Table A.14. Association between	COX-2 and tumour va	ariables in ER-	positive BC
---------------------------------	---------------------	-----------------	-------------

Variable		COX-2	COX-2	Total	χ^2	p value
		negative	positive			
		n(%)	n(%)			
Tumour grade	1	13 (27)	35 (73)	48	5.1358	0.077
	2	63 (39)	100 (61)	163		
	3	33 (48)	36 (52)	69		
HER-2	Negative	113 (48)	121 (52)	234	1.933	0.380
	Positive	8 (44)	10 (66)	18		
BCL-2	Negative	42 (48)	46 (52)	88	3.1781	0.075
	Positive	70 (85)	12 (15)	82		
CK5/6	Negative	85 (40)	129 (60)	214	0.2769	0.599
	Positive	13 (45)	16 (55)	29		
EGFR	Negative	100 (39)	157 (61)	257	0.4020	0.526
	Positive	6 (32)	13 (68)	19		
CK14	Negative	78 (42)	109 (58)	187	0.7364	0.391
	Positive	16 (35)	30 (65)	46		
KI67	Negative	84 (39)	131 (61)	215	0.0499	0.823
	Positive	26 (41)	38 (59)	64		
р53	Negative	91 (38)	146 (62)	237	1.1846	0.276
	Positive	19 (47)	21 (53)	40		
E-cadherin	Negative	9 (26)	26 (74)	35	3.0290	0.082
	Positive	99 (41)	142 (59)	241		

significant associations



Figure A.15. Kaplan-Meier curves for DFS in BC according to COX-2 expression (A) the entire cohort, (B) ER-positive and (C) ER-negative





Figure A.16. Kaplan-Meier curves for OS in BC according to COX-2 expression (A) the entire cohort, (B) ER-positive and (C) ER-negative





Figure A.17. Kaplan-Meier curves for DFS in BC according to iNOS expression (A) the entire cohort, (B) ER-positive and (C) ER-negative





Figure A.18. Kaplan-Meier curves for OS in BC according to iNOS expression (A) The entire cohort, (B) ER-positive and (C) ER-negative